
           

Mitchell Jordan, Mayor
Sean Conner, Council District #1
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James Smith, Council District #3
Kenneth Davidson, Council District #4 
Angela Woodard, Council District #5
Christopher Gibbs, Council District #6 

Teresa Herrera, City Manager
April Jackson, City Secretary
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 NOTICE OF MEETING 
CITY COUNCIL AGENDA

July 14, 2025
 Work Session at 3:00 p.m. 

 Regular Meeting at 5:30 p.m.
City Council Chambers

504 N. Queen Street
Palestine, Texas

 

Zoom Link:
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81007184585?pwd=r56PzZ9wPMoLTniG62cq083Ddsk8ak.1

Meeting ID: 810 0718 4585
Passcode: 134556

One tap mobile
+13462487799,,81007184585#,,,,*134556# US
 
Note: when you are joining a Zoom meeting by phone, you can use your phone’s dial pad to enter the
commands *6 for toggling mute/unmute and *9 to “raise your hand.” Learn more here.

Follow us live at: facebook.com/palestinetx
           

WORK SESSION
1. Discussion regarding drainage issues. James Smith, Council Member   

2. Discussion regarding residency requirements for members of City boards, commissions,
and committees. Christopher Gibbs, Council Member

  

3. Discussion regarding a proposed round-up donation program for fixed-income senior
citizens. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor

  

4. Discussion regarding the Huey Helicopter Project. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor   

5. Discussion regarding a possible bond election for Reagan School and City Hall
improvements. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor

  

6. Discussion regarding the proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2025-2026. Andrew Sibai,
Finance Director
 

  

REGULAR MEETING
A. CALL TO ORDER

 
  

B. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE
 

  

C. PROPOSED CHANGES OF AGENDA ITEMS
 

  

D. PUBLIC RECOGNITION, PUBLIC COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS   

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/81007184585?pwd=r56PzZ9wPMoLTniG62cq083Ddsk8ak.1
http://support.zoom.us/hc/en-us/articles/201362663-Joining-a-meeting-by-phone
http://www.facebook.com/palestinetx/


D. PUBLIC RECOGNITION, PUBLIC COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS
Any citizen wishing to speak during public comments regarding an item on or off the agenda
may do so after completing the required Request to Speak form. All comments must be no
more than five minutes in length. Any comments regarding items not on the posted agenda
may not be discussed or responded to by the City Council. Members of the public may join
via Zoom or in person.

It is not the intention of the City of Palestine to provide a public forum for the embarrassment
or demeaning of an individual or group. Neither is it the intention of the Council to allow a
member of the public to slur the performance, honesty, and/or integrity of any person or
threaten any person. Accordingly, profane, insulting, or threatening language will not be read
aloud at the meeting.  
 

  

E. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES
 

  

F. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT   

1. June 2025 Fire Monthly Report
2. June 2025 Library Monthly Report
3. June 2025 Municipal Court Monthly Report
4. June 2025 Parks and Recreation/Facility Maintenance Monthly Report
5. June 2025 Public Works Monthly Report

 
G. BOARD APPOINTMENTS   

1. Consider the appointment of Laura Harston to fill vacant Place 7 on the Historical Landmarks
Commission, with a term to expire on September 30, 2027. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor

2. Consider the appointment of Anja Cline to replace Ly Sath in Place 4 on the Main Street
Advisory Board, with a term to expire on September 30, 2027. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor

3. Consider the appointment of Ross Dickerson to serve as Alternate 2 on the Zoning Board of
Adjustments and Appeals for a term to expire on September 30, 2026. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor
 

H. CONSENT AGENDA
The following items may be acted upon in one motion. No separate discussion or action is
necessary unless requested by the Mayor or a Council Member, in which event those items
will be pulled for separate consideration. Approval of the consent agenda authorizes the City
Manager to implement each item in accordance with staff recommendations.

  

1. Consider approval of the minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of June 23, 2025.
April Jackson, City Secretary

2. Consider approval of a resolution suspending the July 31, 2025, effective date of Oncor
Electric Delivery Company's requested rate change to permit the City time to study the request
and establish reasonable rates; approving cooperation with the Steering Committee of Cities
Served by Oncor to hire legal and consulting services and to negotiate with company and
direct any necessary litigation and appeals. Teresa Herrera, City Manager

3. Consider approval of an interlocal agreement with Palestine I.S.D. for the assignment of two
School Resource Officers. Mark Harcrow, Police Department

4. Consider approval of a resolution authorizing the City of Palestine to become a participant in
the Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) Trust. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

5. Consider approval of amendments to the City of Palestine Travel and Training Card
Agreement. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

6. Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a Sanitary Sewer Easement Agreement
between Atwood Distributing, LP, and the City of Palestine relating to the new construction of
Atwoods Ranch and Home at 804 East Newman Street. Susan Davis, Planning Technician



7. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Wastewater Treatment Plant
Chemicals. Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works Director

8. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Water Treatment Plant
Chemicals. Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works Director

9. Consider approval of an emergency purchase of three 300-horsepower drives from Timberlake
& Dickson, Inc. in the amount of $59,900.00 for the Raw Water Pump Station. Jason Shelton,
Interim Public Works Director

10. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on
Woodland Drive, from Rambling Road to Lakeshore Drive. Jason Shelton, Interim Public
Works Director

11. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on
Sunset Road, from Sandy Lane to Crockett Road. Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works
Director

12. Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on Sandy
Lane, from Sunset Road to Crockett Road. Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works Director

13. Consider approval of Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Agreements for Palestine I.S.D. and
Palestine YMCA. Cassie Ham, Tourism Marketing Manager
 

I. REGULAR AGENDA   

1. Discussion and possible action regarding acceptance of the Fiscal Year 2024 Audit and
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

2. Discussion and possible action regarding a Community Development Grant Performance
Agreement between the Palestine Economic Development Corporation and ICEE Success
Foundation for a grant not to exceed $32,000.00 for architectural services for the Curious
Museum expansion project. Christophe Trahan, EDC Director

3. Discussion and possible action regarding a proposed round-up donation program for
fixed-income senior citizens. Mitchell Jordan, Mayor

  

4. Discussion and possible action regarding the Huey Helicopter Project. Mitchell Jordan,
Mayor

  

5. Discussion and possible action regarding the start times of work sessions. Mitchell Jordan,
Mayor 
 

  

J. ITEMS FROM COUNCIL
 

  

K. MAYOR'S REPORT
 

  

L. CLOSED SESSION
Council will go into Closed Session pursuant to Texas Government Code, Chapter 551,
Subchapter D.

  

1. Section 551.087 deliberation regarding Economic Development negotiations: Chapter 380
Agreement related to, and Special Warranty Deed for, the sale of Hangar 7 at Palestine
Municipal Airport.

  

2. Section 551.074 Personnel Matters: To deliberate the appointment, employment,
evaluation, reassignment, duties, discipline, or dismissal of a public officer or employee: City
Manager's Contract.
 

  

M. RECONVENE IN REGULAR SESSION   

1. Take any action necessary regarding the Chapter 380 Economic Development Agreement
and authorize the Mayor to execute the Special Warranty Deed for the sale of Hangar 7 at
Palestine Municipal Airport.

  

2. Take any action necessary regarding the appointment, employment, evaluation,   



2. Take any action necessary regarding the appointment, employment, evaluation,
reassignment, duties, discipline, or dismissal of a public officer or employee: City Manager's
Contract.
 

  

N. ADJOURNMENT
 

  

The Palestine City Council reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any time during
the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by Texas
Government Code Sections 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberations about
Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberations about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel Matters),
551.076 (Deliberations about Security Devices), and 551.087 (Economic Development), and
§551.086 (Competitive Matters regarding Electric Utility).

I certify that the above Notice of Meeting was posted on the outdoor bulletin board at the main entrance to
City Hall, 504 N. Queen Street, Palestine, Texas, in compliance with Chapter 551 of the Texas
Government Code on  Friday, July 11, 2025, at 2:00 p.m.

April Jackson, City Secretary

IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)
PERSONS IN NEED OF SPECIAL ACCOMMODATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THIS PROCEEDING
SHALL, CONTACT THE CITY SECRETARY'S OFFICE VIA EMAIL AT citysecretary@palestine-tx.org or
903-731-8414.

mailto:cmadmin@palestine-tx.org


Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Shannon Davis, Fire Department Chief
Agenda Item: June 2025 Fire Monthly Report
Date Submitted: 07/08/2025

SUMMARY:
Monthly Fire Report June 2025

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action is required.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Fire Report 



Palestine Fire Department

Address: 2201 W Spring St, Palestine, TX, 75803

Monthly Call Report - 2025

INCIDENT TYPE COL_1

100 - Fire, other 1

118 - Trash or rubbish fire, contained 1

138 - Off-road vehicle or heavy equipment fire 1

311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew 85

320 - Emergency medical service incident, other 23

322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries 7

324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries. 18

356 - High-angle rescue 1

400 - Hazardous condition, other 2

412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG) 2

440 - Electrical wiring/equipment problem, other 1

444 - Power line down 9

445 - Arcing, shorted electrical equipment 3

480 - Attempted burning, illegal action, other 1

500 - Service Call, other 4

510 - Person in distress, other 1

511 - Lock-out 2

520 - Water problem, other 3

550 - Public service assistance, other 7

554 - Assist invalid 2

600 - Good intent call, other 1

611 - Dispatched & canceled en route 3

622 - No incident found on arrival at dispatch address 3

651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke 2

661 - EMS call, party transported by non-fire agency 1

700 - False alarm or false call, other 27

735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction 1

745 - Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional 1

746 - Carbon monoxide detector activation, no CO 1

812 - Flood assessment 1

Total 215
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  Monthly Call Report - 2025 Palestine Fire Department

Address: 2201 W Spring St, Palestine, TX,
75803

  Criteria: Creation Date from 2025-06-01 00:00:00 to 2025-07-01 00:00:00 AND Incident Type in (100 - Fire, other, 111 - Building fire, 112 -

Fires in structure other than in a building, 113 - Cooking fire, confined to container, 114 - Chimney or flue fire, confined to chimney or flue, 115 -

Incinerator overload or malfunction, fire confined, 116 - Fuel burner/boiler malfunction, fire confined, 117 - Commercial Compactor fire, confined to

rubbish, 118 - Trash or rubbish fire, contained, 120 - Fire in mobile prop. used as a fixed struc., other, 121 - Fire in mobile home used as fixed

residence, 122 - Fire in motor home, camper, recreational vehicle, 123 - Fire in portable building, fixed location, 130 - Mobile property (vehicle)

fire, other, 131 - Passenger vehicle fire, 132 - Road freight or transport vehicle fire, 133 - Rail vehicle fire, 134 - Water vehicle fire, 135 - Aircraft

fire, 136 - Self-propelled motor home or recreational vehicle, 137 - Camper or recreational vehicle (RV) fire, 138 - Off-road vehicle or heavy

equipment fire, 140 - Natural vegetation fire, other, 141 - Forest, woods or wildland fire, 142 - Brush or brush-and-grass mixture fire, 143 - Grass

fire, 150 - Outside rubbish fire, other, 151 - Outside rubbish, trash or waste fire, 152 - Garbage dump or sanitary landfill fire, 153 - Construction or

demolition landfill fire, 154 - Dumpster or other outside trash receptacle fire, 155 - Outside stationary compactor/compacted trash fire, 160 -

Special outside fire, other, 161 - Outside storage fire, 162 - Outside equipment fire, 163 - Outside gas or vapor combustion explosion, 164 -

Outside mailbox fire, 170 - Cultivated vegetation, crop fire, other, 171 - Cultivated grain or crop fire, 172 - Cultivated orchard or vineyard fire, 173 -

Cultivated trees or nursery stock fire, 200 - Overpressure rupture, explosion, overheat other, 210 - Overpressure rupture from steam, other, 211 -

Overpressure rupture of steam pipe or pipeline, 212 - Overpressure rupture of steam boiler, 213 - Steam rupture of pressure or process vessel,

220 - Overpressure rupture from air or gas, other, 221 - Overpressure rupture of air or gas pipe/pipeline, 222 - Overpressure rupture of boiler from

air or gas, 223 - Air or gas rupture of pressure or process vessel, 231 - Chemical reaction rupture of process vessel, 240 - Explosion (no fire),

other, 241 - Munitions or bomb explosion (no fire), 242 - Blasting agent explosion (no fire), 243 - Fireworks explosion (no fire), 244 - Dust

explosion (no fire), 251 - Excessive heat, scorch burns with no ignition, 300 - Rescue, EMS incident, other, 311 - Medical assist, assist EMS crew,

320 - Emergency medical service incident, other, 321 - EMS call, excluding vehicle accident with injury, 322 - Motor vehicle accident with injuries,

323 - Motor vehicle/pedestrian accident (MV Ped), 324 - Motor vehicle accident with no injuries., 331 - Lock-in (if lock out , use 511 ), 340 -

Search for lost person, other, 341 - Search for person on land, 342 - Search for person in water, 343 - Search for person underground, 350 -

Extrication, rescue, other, 351 - Extrication of victim(s) from building/structure, 352 - Extrication of victim(s) from vehicle, 353 - Removal of

victim(s) from stalled elevator, 354 - Trench/below-grade rescue, 355 - Confined space rescue, 356 - High-angle rescue, 357 - Extrication of

victim(s) from machinery, 360 - Water & ice-related rescue, other, 361 - Swimming/recreational water areas rescue, 362 - Ice rescue, 363 - Swift

water rescue, 364 - Surf rescue, 365 - Watercraft rescue, 370 - Electrical rescue, other, 371 - Electrocution or potential electrocution, 372 -

Trapped by power lines, 381 - Rescue or EMS standby, 400 - Hazardous condition, other, 410 - Combustible/flammable gas/liquid condition,

other, 411 - Gasoline or other flammable liquid spill, 412 - Gas leak (natural gas or LPG), 413 - Oil or other combustible liquid spill, 420 - Toxic

condition, other, 421 - Chemical hazard (no spill or leak), 422 - Chemical spill or leak, 423 - Refrigeration leak, 424 - Carbon monoxide incident,

430 - Radioactive condition, other, 431 - Radiation leak, radioactive material, 440 - Electrical wiring/equipment problem, other, 441 - Heat from

short circuit (wiring), defective/worn, 442 - Overheated motor, 443 - Breakdown of light ballast, 444 - Power line down, 445 - Arcing, shorted

electrical equipment, 451 - Biological hazard, confirmed or suspected, 460 - Accident, potential accident, other, 461 - Building or structure

weakened or collapsed, 462 - Aircraft standby, 463 - Vehicle accident, general cleanup, 471 - Explosive, bomb removal (for bomb scare, use

721), 480 - Attempted burning, illegal action, other, 481 - Attempt to burn, 482 - Threat to burn, 500 - Service Call, other, 510 - Person in distress,

other, 511 - Lock-out, 512 - Ring or jewelry removal, 520 - Water problem, other, 521 - Water evacuation, 522 - Water or steam leak, 531 - Smoke

or odor removal, 540 - Animal problem, other, 541 - Animal problem, 542 - Animal rescue, 550 - Public service assistance, other, 551 - Assist

police or other governmental agency, 552 - Police matter, 553 - Public service, 554 - Assist invalid, 555 - Defective elevator, no occupants, 561 -

Unauthorized burning, 571 - Cover assignment, standby, moveup, 600 - Good intent call, other, 611 - Dispatched & canceled en route, 621 -

Wrong location, 622 - No incident found on arrival at dispatch address, 631 - Authorized controlled burning, 632 - Prescribed fire, 641 - Vicinity

alarm (incident in other location), 650 - Steam, other gas mistaken for smoke, other, 651 - Smoke scare, odor of smoke, 652 - Steam, vapor, fog

or dust thought to be smoke, 653 - Smoke from barbecue, tar kettle, 661 - EMS call, party transported by non-fire agency, 671 - HazMat release

investigation w/no HazMat, 672 - Biological hazard investigation, none found, 700 - False alarm or false call, other, 710 - Malicious, mischievous

false call, other, 711 - Municipal alarm system, malicious false alarm, 712 - Direct tie to FD, malicious false alarm, 713 - Telephone, malicious

false alarm, 714 - Central station, malicious false alarm, 715 - Local alarm system, malicious false alarm, 721 - Bomb scare - no bomb, 730 -

System malfunction, other, 731 - Sprinkler activation due to malfunction, 732 - Extinguishing system activation due to malfunction, 733 - Smoke

detector activation due to malfunction, 734 - Heat detector activation due to malfunction, 735 - Alarm system sounded due to malfunction, 736 -

CO detector activation due to malfunction, 740 - Unintentional transmission of alarm, other, 741 - Sprinkler activation, no fire - unintentional, 742 -

Extinguishing system activation, 743 - Smoke detector activation, no fire - unintentional, 744 - Detector activation, no fire - unintentional, 745 -

Alarm system activation, no fire - unintentional, 746 - Carbon monoxide detector activation, no CO, 751 - Biological hazard, malicious false report,
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  Monthly Call Report - 2025 Palestine Fire Department

Address: 2201 W Spring St, Palestine, TX,
75803

800 - Severe weather or natural disaster, other, 811 - Earthquake assessment, 812 - Flood assessment, 813 - Wind storm, tornado/hurricane

assessment, 814 - Lightning strike (no fire), 815 - Severe weather or natural disaster standby, 900 - Special type of incident, other, 911 - Citizen

complaint)

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)
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Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Ana Sanchez, Library Director
Agenda Item: June 2025 Library Report
Date Submitted: 07/03/2025

SUMMARY:
Review the Library Director's report, including the statistics and charts usage report for June 2025.
Included is the Summer Reading Club Reading total minutes from the Readerzone report.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action required.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
JUL92025 
JUN25ST 
JUN25CH 





  

JUNE 2025

Operating Statistics JUN JUL AUG SEP OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUNE TOTAL

Items circulated-Physical Materials

 (includes check out, check in, 

renewals, in-house) 7,205      6,924      6,093       5,141      4,788      4,893      4,449      4,769      4,366      4,475      4,966      4,920      6,142      69,131    

 Print 6,245      5,865      5,183       4,199      3,917      3,470      3,609      3,770      3,750      3,840      3,389      4,252      5,449      56,938    

 Audio 189         157         126          141         144         119         122         113         130         102         132         139         103         1,717      

 Video 771         902         784          801         727         522         718         886         486         533         447         529         590         8,696      

Downloadable audio/ebook usage 2,975      2,966      2,893       2,828      2,708      2,441      2,499      2,776      2,487      2,749      2,658      2,861      2,798      35,639    

Total Circulation Transactions 10,180 9,890 8,986 7,969 7,496 6,552 6,948 7,545 6,853 7,224 6,626 7,781 8,940 58,021    

Downloadable checkouts

 as %  of total checkouts 29.22% 29.99% 32.19% 35.49% 36.13% 37.26% 35.97% 36.79% 36.29% 38.05% 40.11% 36.77% 31.30% 61.42%

In-House Use 568 440 359 253 361 340 359 413 507 497 338 432 384 5,251      

Holds placed on items 29 35 32 23 24 37 20 28 44 25 26 19 41 383         

Fines paid 671.99$  708.70$  377.99$   329.46$  343.19$  266.84$  479.05$  406.52$  385.54$  $263.86 $383.70 $437.64 $500.49 5,555      

Overdue notices sent 286         426         279          240         308         192         123         86           90           250         109         115         350         2,854      

Items added 75           67           52            32           74           49           64           93           96           126         137         39           55           959         

Items deleted 8             191         234          184         4             18           24           12           43           127         10           43           2             900         

New library cards issued 145         105         77            85           74           64           53           100         79           86           73           138         144         1,223      

Reference questions answered 1,793      1,631      1,325       1,071      1,037      782         880         1,139      1,039      1,002      998         1,378      1,560      15,635    

Interlibrary Loan Borrow/Loan 6             6             13            10           15           11           10           11           20           16           14           6             20           158         

Library visits 3,443      3,033      2,668       2,368      2,757      2,216      2,290      2,510      2,319      2,653      2,468      2,889      3,782      35,396    

Youth/Family programs attendance 1,141      77           75            190         238         252         137         183         110         178         192         213         1,246      4,232      

Adult programs attendance 29           50           51            78           153         83           229         77           155         90           111         117         94           1,317      

Computer usage 546         511         427          476         480         347         459         527         507         407         476         468         454         6,085      

Wireless usage 5,937      6,357      4,771       3,789      7,415      8,172      6,425      7,059      6,666      8,831      8,325      11,195    11,742    96,684    

 

83              

Youth-Passive 52

Youth -Active 1181 223

Total 1233  33

Teen-Passive 0 120

Teen Active 13 130
Total 13 182

Adult-Passive 10 Total 771

Adult Active 84

Total 94

Total Programs Attendance 1340

  

Texas Snakes and More

GED Class attendance

SUMMER PERFORMERS

Library Usage Statistics

Program Attendance

2024 2025

Ms. Maria

Wild Things Zoofari

The Ramazinis

TX A&M Chemistry Roadshow



2024-2025 USAGE REPORT
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Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Courtney Acklin, Court Administrator
Agenda Item: Municipal Court Report for June 2025
Date Submitted: 07/03/2025

SUMMARY:
A monthly detailed report is attached, which provides the types of citations, dispositions, and total
fines/fees collected. Brief highlights for the month are listed below. 

    June’s volume (charges filed) increased, but revenue decreased from the previous month, as
shown in the attached activity graphs. 

    39 warrants were issued.
     85 warrants were cleared.
     1 trial was conducted. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action is required. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Municipal Court Report for June 2025 



Non-Parking Parking State Law Ordinance

2 Dispositions Prior to Trial:

A Bonds Forfeited 0 0 0 0 0

B Fined 51 0 18 5 74

C Cases Dismissed 1 0 2 2 5

Total Dispositions Prior to Trial 52 0 20 7 79

3 Dispositions at Trial:

A Plea of Guilty or Nolo Contendere 84 0 24 10 118

B1 Guilty by Judge 0 0 0 0 0

B2 Not Guilty by Judge 0 0 0 0 0

C1 Guilty by Jury 1 0 0 0 1

C2 Not Guilty by Jury 0 0 0 0 0

D Dismissed at Trial 4 0 3 3 10

Total Dispositions at Trial 89 0 27 13 129

4 Cases Dismissed:

A After Driver Safety Course 8 0 0 0 8

B After Deferred Disposition 6 0 2 0 8

C After Proof of Financial Responsibility 0 0 0 0 0

D Compliance Dismissal 23 0 2 0 25

Total Categorized Dismissals 37 0 4 0 41

5 Community Service Ordered: 0 0 1 0 1

6 Cases Appealed 0 0 0 0 0

Totals 2,3,4,5 178 0 52 20 250

7 Total Warrants Issued 39 Value of Warrants Issued $12,824.83

8 Total Warrants Cleared 85 Value of Warrants Cleared $36,261.56

9 Juvenile Activity

10.  DL Suspension Hearings 0

A ABC Code Offenses (Non-Driving) 3 11. Property Hearings 0

B DUI Alcohol 1 12.  Search Warrants Issued 0

C Health and Safety Code (Tobacco) 4 13. Total Magistrate Warnings Given 17

D Transportation Code 2      A.  Class C Misdemeanors Only 17

E Non-Traffic Offenses 0      B.  Felonies/A and B Misdemeanors 0

F Waive Jurisdiction on Non-Traffic 0

G Drug Paraphernalia 0 Total Court Fines and Fees 40,151.34$  

The Total Court Fine and Fees amount includes both City Revenue and State Revenue.

1

Juvenile Activity and Other Magistrate Functions

Caseload Reporting - Primary Activity of the Court

New Cases Filed During Month 209 0 66 48 323

Warrant Activity

City of Palestine

Official Municipal Court Monthly Report

Month of June 2025

Traffic Misdemeanors Non-Traffic Misdemeanors
Total



22-23 23-24 24-25 22-23 23-24 24-25

October 219 354 205 October 37,620.46$   49,619.84$      37,033.64$   

November 333 269 203 November 43,003.81$   40,377.93$      24,876.73$   

December 208 235 341 December 39,549.76$   34,022.00$      26,746.80$   

January 311 213 319 January 49,458.48$   41,034.04$      52,154.53$   

February 247 231 370 February 67,843.30$   50,782.19$      66,477.73$   

March 264 335 302 March 55,648.71$   53,497.58$      75,060.85$   

April 216 341 279 April 56,502.49$   43,584.43$      45,311.31$   

May 242 251 272 May 40,308.43$   54,059.13$      41,414.23$   

June 250 213 323 June 49,331.30$   34,928.90$      40,151.34$   

July 197 285 July 35,699.02$   31,068.54$      

August 272 293 August 37,304.07$   38,726.26$      

September 195 253 September 35,107.46$   40,918.55$      

Total 2954 3273 2614 Total 547,377.29$ 512,619.39$    409,227.16$ 

City of Palestine Municipal Court

Activity Report - FY 2024 - 2025

Charges Filed

All Tickets and Other Complaints 
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Where the Money Goes:

State of Texas 11,129.52$       

City of Palestine 26,620.64$       

Collection Agency 2,262.52$         

OMNI 138.66$            

Total Collections 40,151.34$       

28%

66%

6% 0%

State of Texas

City of Palestine

Collection Agency

OMNI



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Patsy Smith, Parks and Recreation Director
Agenda Item: June 2025 Monthly Report for Parks and Recreation/Facility Maintenance
Date Submitted: 06/14/2025

SUMMARY:
June 2025 Parks and Recreation/Facility Maintenance Monthly Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action is required.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
June 2025 Monthly Report 



 

Parks and Recreation Department 
JUNE 2025 

 
Overview  
 
The Parks and Recreation Department incorporates the following divisions. 
   

                              Parks 
                              Cemeteries 
                              Lakes 
                              Facilities Maintenance 
                                                       

The department includes 7 full time employees. The division oversees 38 individual 
locations totaling approximately 400 acres that are mowed and weedeated. We also 
clean 12 park restrooms (This includes toilets and sinks in all locations) daily M-F and 
handle all trash detail in the parks, cemeteries and Lakes including downtown.  
 
Administration 
 

• Prepared timesheets and turned in invoices for month 

• Was contacted by individual who showed me a video of a massive fight at Willie 
Myers Park 

• Met with Susan Davis in Development Services to discuss cemetery mapping 
briefing 

• Monday June 2, 2025 did 7 interviews for Parks Foreman position with Richard 
Johnson, Courtney Acklin, HR, Casey and Susan Davis 

• Completed monthly report for month of May to have on agenda 

• Met with CM regarding Huey Helicopter project and information obtained from 
engineer advised to send to Mayor as this is not a city project 

• Met with Mary Ann at Farmer’s Market in regards to a new Lion water fountain 
possibly being installed in July 

• Spoke to PD Dispatcher on Saturday May 31 about a visitor being locked in the 
Texas State Railroad park, was advised they did not have a key holder, I reached 
out to Steven Presley to have him unlock gate for patron 

• Was contacted by PD Dispatch concerning the splash pad not working, found 
that the patrons at location did not push activator 

• Attended staff meeting on Tuesday June 3rd 

• Spoke to Nicole regarding restrooms not being opened before 7 AM Reagan 
Park 

• Called and spoke to David McCoy with McCoy funeral home regarding an open 
grave at Memorial Cemetery, was advised that due to rain the grave kept 
collapsing and they postponed burial till following Monday. Had parks guys to put 
up barriers around grave 

• Called Town and Country regarding door install PD and that it was unacceptable 
and needed to be fixed 



 

• Worked on Council float with David and Casey 

• Was advised of an extension cord being plugged into power pole at Veteran’s 
Park and found that the company next door was taking power, called PD to 
report 

• Called J&K Electrical on seeing about repairing or replacing box so that it could 
be locked down at Veteran’s Park 

• Began mowing back half of warehouse until mower broke 

• Drove to Lower Lake to look at some trees that are hanging over a property at 
2127 and owner requested trees be removed from over property 

• Spoke to Mike in Streets about getting a bid for repaving roads in City Cemetery 

• Went to City Hall to meet with PTX and Cassie and CM, PTX failed to show for 
meeting 

• Attended Mpact meeting for final walk through for Juneteenth festival and parade 

• Reached out to JT Warthog’s, and Big Dub’s BBQ for being vendors at fireworks 
show 

• Contacted Depend A Can to secure porta johns for fireworks show 

• Spoke with Beam Shaved Ice who requested to be apart of the fireworks show 

• Cleaned out rest of Asst. Directors office so that the foreman could get settled 

• Attended council meeting on Monday June 9 

• Did retirement celebration at warehouse for Richard Dorsey 

• Made request to PD to have extra patrol at Upper Lake due to drug 
paraphernalia being located in pavilion area 

• Sent two sight complaints to code enforcement 

• Sent email to Nancy Malone regarding ADA parking at complex over weekend 
with softball tournament 

• Sat down and met with new foreman for Parks and discussed projects for 
upcoming week 

• Made contact with Rick at Computer Land on getting him setup with computer 

• Met with Andrew in Finance to see about getting Santee a city cell phone 

• Attended meeting with PISD Jason Marshall, Jacob Wheeler, CM and Mayor and 
Councilman Conner on update for complex 

• Reached out to Jacob Wheeler to see about getting physical copy of soil 
sampling report 

• Reached out to Nelson Garcia for quote to fix rock wall city cemetery 

• Finished putting garland around hoops on council float 

• Met with Ron Stanley regarding him putting in application for parks 

• Went to take photos of debris piled up at Steven Bennett Park and had parks 
guys to put caution tape around playground equipment 

• Sent email to Mike in Streets regarding washout behind fire station 1 where they 
park personal vehicles 

• Called Del’s Masonry to get a bid for repair of rock wall city cemetery 

• Went to city hall where water was leaking into door frame of back entrance, 
noticed water was going down behind trim will need to caulk 

• Met with Peace of Mind to look at gate at warehouse found that mother board for 
controller was fried from lightening strike 



 

• Spoke to Casey CM Admin to put out email to police and fire about gate not 
working currently at warehouse 

• Met with Nelson Garcia at city cemetery to come up with plan for a makeshift 
berm to divert water flow to creek 

• Went to library to look at water flow by stair well saw water running heavily but 
was going into drain 

• Spoke to Jason in Public Works about setting out some sandbags in case they 
needed them 

• Water to Reagan Park turned off due to emergency asked Casey to post on 
Facebook for temporarily being down 

• Called Mark with Town and Country to see about flooring and doors at animal 
control  

• Made phone contact with Stream Foundation regarding library flooding and 
getting quote for French drain 

• Made phone contact with Sarah Losh with Veritas regarding vendors for 
upcoming July fireworks show 

• Met with Mike at City Cemetery to discuss adding drainage to roadway to divert 
water to creek 

• Met with Mike in Streets regarding large washout at Upper Lake Dam 

• Met with Riteway Foundation at library to get idea of quote for French drain 

• Attended hot pepper meeting 

• Called J&K Electrical to convert ballast from regular to LED for copier room 

• Met with Carolyn with Delayn’s Specialty advised her to contact Veritas for 
temporary permit for fireworks show 

• Completed PO for repair of rock wall at city cemetery was advised Corp of 
Engineers will be getting involved with repair 

• Attended meeting with CM and M&M Pest Control 

• Mowed soccer field where pyro will setup fireworks display 

• Brush hogged southeast portion of steven bennett park 

• Assisted with mowing front half of city cemetery  

• Picked up 7 boxes of plastic fence posts from city hall 

• Picked up 4 catfish plates for parks guys for lunch 

• Picked up two burnt bulbs from table outside HR office city hall 

• Met Peace of Mind at warehouse for new computer board to be installed for 
warehouse gate 

• Put 2 boxes of caution tape up for fireworks show 

• Put up 4 boxes of absorbent pads for library in warehouse 

• Attended council meeting on Monday June 23 

• Met with Andrew regarding 911 phone repair for pool 

• Began dismantling float for council 
 
 
 
 

 



 

Goals: To place ADA equipment in all major parks. 
  

Parks 

• REPLACE BROKEN BORDERS WILLIE MYERS PARK 

• PURCHASE NEW ADA SWING REAGAN PARK 

• SHADE CLOTH REAGAN PARK EQUIPMENT 
 

Lakes 

• Have dead trees removed from forestry area at Upper and Lower 

• Remove excess vegetation from all lakes 
 

Cemeteries 

• Get brick walls repaired due to damage over years 

• Make signs for sections of cemeteries to make it easier for families to find 
loved ones: (LONG TERM GOAL). 

• Finish clearing creek bed on westside of cemetery 

• Complete cemetery mapping for all areas 
 
Parks, Cemeteries, Lakes 
 

• Future Projects: 

• Put up solar powered outdoor lights at Basketball court Greens Park (Will look at 
2025) 

• Restripe lines on Basketball court Green’s Park and Steven Bennett  (SHORT 
TERM GOAL) 

• Tear out drive area at Willie Meyers Parks by pavilion and put-up ballers around 
park area (WINTER 2026) 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

PARKS MONTHLY REPORT JUNE 2025 

LOCATIONS MOWED 

 

Calhoun Park x 2 Greens Park x 1 

Crestline x 1 Fitzhugh Park x 1 

Reagan Park x 2 Gateways x 1 

Farmers Market x 1 Vaughn @ Crockett x 1 

Spring Street x 1 Visitor Center x 1 

Library x 2 Larry Street Park x 1 

Mitchell Campbell x 1 Willie Myers x 1 

Lorraine x 1 Phillips Park x 1 

Inwood x 1 Veterans Park x 1 

City Hall/PD x 2 TDCJ Monument x 1 

Blue Lake x 1  Upper Lake x 1 

Wolf Creek Lake x 1 Lower Lake x 1 

Statue Park x 1 Memorial Cemetery x 1 

Easthill Cemetery x 1 City Cemetery x 1 

Athletic Complex x 1 Steven Bennett x 1 

PD Impound Yard x  City Barn x 1 

Fire Station 4 x 1 Two Lots Between City/Easthill x 1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

PARKS PROJECTS COMPLETED JUNE 2025 

 

2 parks guys removed broken steps at Reagan 
Park due to safety concerns  

2 parks guys detailed former Asst. Director 
truck so it would be ready for new foreman 

Parks guys put out barricades at bridge city 
cemetery due to bridge washing out  

Parks guys put down heavy plastic over 
washout to try and prevent further washing 

Parks guys put new reflective tape on barricades Parks guys put out barriers and caution 
tape around washout Wolf Creek 

Parks guys began cutting tops out of plastic 
barrels to make new trash cans  

Parks Foreman began sorting through 
numerous keys trying to figure them out 

Parks guys sanitized splash pad every day  Parks guys cut and removed fallen trees at 
Upper lake road 

Parks Foreman found water was eroding around 
concrete at Upper Lake dam 

Parks Foreman found large washout at 
Upper Lake Dam 

Parks Foreman completed weekly report Parks Foreman has implemented new 
morning meetings with parks guys 

Parks guys put out barricades Memorial Cemetery 
due to road washing out 

Foreman put in new batteries in flushers 
and sink upper restrooms Reagan Park 

Foreman took a box of C and D batteries to 
cleaning person city hall 

Foreman replaced 4 light bulbs in copier 
room city hall 

Foreman called Streets to place barricades at 
MLK and water works road due to flooding 

Foreman went to Fastenal and picked up 2 
boxes of absorbent towels for library 

Foreman placed trash can liners in each barrel 
downtown for Juneteenth Festival 

Parks guys power washed pavilion 2 for 
flag ceremony 

Parks guys cleaned out window seals library Parks guys put out barriers for festival and 
parade 

Parks guys detailed trucks for parade and festival Entire crew worked parade with 1 driving 
float 

Foreman went over applicants and setup 
interviews with HR 

1 parks guy met with Facilities and helped 
move tables from PEDC to storage 

Parks crew filled in sunken graves Memorial Parks crew filled in washouts at Memorial 
with base 

Parks crew trimmed trees at Reagan School due 
to complaint of limbs hitting vehicles 

Foreman took Scag mower to Jacksonville 
Sadler Marina 

Parks guys cut and removed at Willie Myers Parks guys attended cyber security 
training at city hall 

Parks guys put out additional trash cans Calhoun 
Park for small festival 

Parks guys picked up barriers, trash cans 
from downtown area from festival 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

MAJOR ISSUES WHERE CONTRACTORS USED 

Town and Country repaired doors at 
Animal Control Building 

J&K Electrical repaired ballast in copier 
room city hall  

Town and Country replaced door PD office Henry AC Fire Station 1 AC unit 

Peace of Mind door Library due to 
condensation in control button 

Neches Plumbing to fix toilet city hall front 
lobby area 

Clear Choice Glass to fix leaks in windows 
PD records 

Neches Plumbing sump pumps Library 

 
 

SAFETY ISSUES 
  

 
Rentals and Special Events 

 

Rentals: 
 

Facilities Number of Rentals 

Pavilion Rentals 17 

Pavilion Non-Payment/Cancelled  

Athletic Fields (Mitchell 
Campbell/Calhoun) 

 

Total Rentals Paid 14 

Refunds Given  

Total Revenue Collected $760.00 

Activities: 
 
Special Events:    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Facility Maintenance Projects Completed JUNE 2025 
 

• Went to lower lake boat dock and sprayed a hornets nest due to complaints 

• Took boxes of trash bags to city hall customer service 

• Met Town and Country at PD to see about getting door replaced 

• Went to library to look at door controller and called Peace of Mind to fix 

• Called elevator company about doing inspection on elevator library 

• Called East Texas Fire Extinguisher to check fire alarm on elevator library 

• Assisted with doing float with director and Casey 

• Met Henry AC at PD on ac unit outside for 4th time 

• Went to Visitor Center to put chair together and hung up white board 

• Went to Willie Myers and sprayed WD-40 in door lock to get it functioning again 

• Met with Director and J&K Electrical at Veteran’s Park on how to fix fuse box 

• Went to Memorial Cemetery and made sure to place caution tape around open 
grave 

• Met with Ryan’s Tree Service on removal of trees on property line at lower lake 
and 2127 MLK 

• Contacted Henry AC to look at Fire Station 1 unit as it is having condensation 
building up and dripping  

• Picked up trash barrel from complex and brought back to warehouse 

• Met Calvary at city hall to get bid on revamping the restrooms in front lobby 

• Called Neches Plumbing to fix toilet in women’s restroom city hall 

• Took water to city secretary 

• Went to Visitor Center to look at ceiling fan and found remote needed new 
batteries 

• Left half day on 6-10 

• Called in on Wednesday 6-11 

• Dropped off supplies to library and annex 

• Assisted Director with decorating for retirement party  

• Went to Hobby Lobby and picked up some table cloths 

• Met with elevator company at library 

• Met with Fire Marshal at library regarding fire suppression system 

• Unlocked and locked splash pad controller box for parks guys 

• Assisted with tear down of retirement party decorations 

• Took water to visitor center as per Cassie 

• Went to library used wet vac to clean up flood water from heavy rains for two 
days 

• Attended safety meeting city hall 

• With help from parks guys moved tables from PEDC to warehouse 

• Got supplies for cleaning crew for public works 

• Assisted parks guys with mowing city cemetery 

• Met with Clear Choice Glass PD to look at windows in records room 

• Met with Town and Country to get invoice for repairs done at Animal Control 
Building 



 

• Went to Green’s Park to repair swing that was flipped over and not usable at the 
time 

• Called Henry AC to unclog line on AC unit warehouse 

• Changed air filter warehouse 

• Went to City hall and unclogged toilet in women’s restroom 

• Met Neches Plumbing at library to check sump pumps under elevator and ramp 
 
 
 

 
 

 
Bridge Washout City Cemetery 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 



 

Retirement Celebration 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

Flooding Stevent Bennett 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

Damaged Equipment Removal Reagan Park 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Plastic Cover Bridge City Cemetery 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Debris Steven Bennett 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Juneteenth Float Council 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

Washout Memorial Cemetery 
 

 
 

 
 

Washout Wolf Creek Lake 
 

 
 



 

Temporary Fix Bridge City Cemetery 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 



 

Trees Reagan Park Front of Museum 
 

 
 
 

Washout Reagan  
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Public Works June 2025 Monthly Report
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
June 2025 Public Works Monthly Report

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
No action is required.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
June 2025 PW Monthly Report 



AIRPORT MONTHLY REPORT – JUNE 2025

Jet-A: 1,181,256.9

Avgas: 47,466

Avgas (Total Gallons dispensed) Jet-A (Total Gallons dispensed)
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PUBLIC WORKS REPAIR AND MAINTENANCE REQUESTS – JUNE 2025

DEPARTMENT NUMBER OF REPORTS

 SIGNS 2
 STREETS 84
 UTILITIES 15
 WATER TREATMENT PLANT 5
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Utilities Monthly Report     June 2025
Water Distribution
Call Outs: 32
Taps Made: 4
Taps Repaired: 1
Feet of Lines Placed:
Water Leaks Repaired: 5
Fire Hydrants Flushed / Gal. ; Water Loss: 65,000 gal
Fire Hydrants Repaired / Installed:
Valve box located: 3
Valve box installed:
Incerta Valve installed:
Gate Valve replaced / Installed:
Meters
Meter Valves replaced / Installed:
Meter box Replaced / Installed: 6
On Call Meters turned off: 3
On Call Meters turned on: 5
Meters Located:
Meters Installed:
¾’’
1’’ 1
1 ½’’ 1
2’’ 11
Bigger than 2’’
Wastewater Collection
Sewer Basin’s Cleaned: 9,612 feet
Sewer lines camera: 1
Trouble spots ran: 3
Sewer Mains Repaired: 2
Manhole Installed:
Manholes Changed/Repaired:
Sewer Stoppage City: 4
Sewer Stoppage Private: 7
New Sewer Tap Installed:
Sewer Services Repaired: 1
Sewer pipe installed (ft): 60’
Haul Dirt / Concrete Rip Rap: 59
ROW Mowed / Cleared:
On Call Trees: 3
Vegetation Management:



Hydro Excavate: 2
Engineering:
Line Locates (ft): 8,100 feet
Tap application: 0

STREETS MONTHLY REPORT      June
Asphalt
Square feet of Asphalt Laid 1399
Utility Cuts 10
Potholes filled 855
Square Feet of Chipseal Laid 0
Right of Way’s
Feet mowed of Street Right of Way 41,776’ /8 miles
Utility Right of Ways mowed / cleared 0
Trees removed from road / Right of Way 20
Compost Sight
Number of Customers                        712
Number of loads of Concrete Hauled 0
Number of loads of Illegal dumping Hauled 0
Number of loads of Dirt Hauled 0
Drainage
Feet of drainage repaired 500
Feet of Drainage Installed 90
Feet of ditches dug out 0
Sweeping
Feet of Street’s Swept                                       04110,993/21 miles

2425421,53383303348,
Day’s assisting other Departments
Utilities 0
Parks 0
Water Treatment Plant 0
Wastewater Treatment Plant 0
Code Enforcement 0



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Appointment to the Historical Landmarks Commission
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider the appointment of Laura Harston to fill vacant Place 7 on the Historical Landmarks
Commission, with a term to expire on September 30, 2027.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that City Council consider the appointment of Laura Harston to the vacant Place 7 on
the Historical Landmarks Commission, with a term to expire on September 30, 2027.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Laura Harston - Board Application 



From: noreply@civicplus.com
To: April Jackson
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Board or Commission Application
Date: Wednesday, June 25, 2025 11:58:52 AM

Board or Commission Application

BOARD OR COMMISSION APPLICATION
First Name Laura

Last Name Harston

Date of Application 6/25/2025

Home Address 1115 N Link Palestine Tx 75801

Home Phone Field not completed.

Office Phone Field not completed.

Cell Phone

Email

Are you a resident of
Palestine?

Yes

How Many Years? 2

What is your
Occupation?

Retired

What is Your Place of
Employment?

None

I would like to serve on
the following Board(s)
and Commission(s):

Historic Landmarks Commission

Do you currently serve
on any Boards or
Commissions?

No

Will you submit to a
background check and
complete protective
training if your Board or

Yes



Commission interacts
with children?

Do you have any
outstanding debts
owed to the City of
Palestine?

No

*Only citizens without outstanding taxes, permits, fees, or fines may serve on a
Board or Commission*

Experiences and
qualifications that you
feel would make a
contribution to a City of
Palestine Board or
Commission:

I have acquired knowledge through various means while we have
been restoring our 1907 Victorian. I would like for Palestine to
continue to save our historic buildings before they are gone.

The City Council will use this application for their selection of individuals for
appointments to specific Boards and Commissions. All appointments are made
by the Mayor and confirmed by Council. All information provided in this
application is public information pursuant to the Texas Public Information Act. All
individuals appointed to serve will be required to complete training relative to the
Texas Open Meetings Act and to the Public Information Act .

Electronic Signature
Agreement

I agree.

Electronic Signature Laura L Harston

504 N. QUEEN STREET – PALESTINE, TEXAS 75801 – (903) 731-8414 – Email:
citysecretary@palestine-tx.org

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Appointment to the Main Street Advisory Board
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider the appointment of Anja Cline to replace Ly Sath in Place 4 on the Main Street Advisory Board,
with a term to expire on September 30, 2027.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that City Council consider the appointment of Anja Cline to replace Ly Sath in Place 4
on the Main Street Advisory Board, with a term to expire on September 30, 2027.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Anja Cline - Board Application 





Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Appointment to Zoning Board of Adjustments and Appeals
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider the appointment of Ross Dickerson to serve as Alternate 2 on the Zoning Board of Adjustments
and Appeals for a term to expire on September 30, 2026.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council consider the appointment.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Ross Dickerson - Board Application 



From: noreply@civicplus.com
To: April Jackson
Subject: Online Form Submittal: Board or Commission Application
Date: Wednesday, June 25, 2025 3:24:17 PM

Board or Commission Application

BOARD OR COMMISSION APPLICATION
First Name Ross

Last Name Dickerson

Date of Application 6/25/2025

Home Address 822 Range Rd

Home Phone Field not completed.

Office Phone Field not completed.

Cell Phone

Email

Are you a resident of
Palestine?

Yes

How Many Years? 43

What is your
Occupation?

Real Estate Agent

What is Your Place of
Employment?

Pineywoods RE

I would like to serve on
the following Board(s)
and Commission(s):

Zoning Board of Adjustment and Appeals

Do you currently serve
on any Boards or
Commissions?

No

Will you submit to a
background check and
complete protective
training if your Board or

Yes



Commission interacts
with children?

Do you have any
outstanding debts
owed to the City of
Palestine?

No

*Only citizens without outstanding taxes, permits, fees, or fines may serve on a
Board or Commission*

Experiences and
qualifications that you
feel would make a
contribution to a City of
Palestine Board or
Commission:

Field not completed.

The City Council will use this application for their selection of individuals for
appointments to specific Boards and Commissions. All appointments are made
by the Mayor and confirmed by Council. All information provided in this
application is public information pursuant to the Texas Public Information Act. All
individuals appointed to serve will be required to complete training relative to the
Texas Open Meetings Act and to the Public Information Act .

Electronic Signature
Agreement

I agree.

Electronic Signature Ross Dickerson

504 N. QUEEN STREET – PALESTINE, TEXAS 75801 – (903) 731-8414 – Email:
citysecretary@palestine-tx.org

Email not displaying correctly? View it in your browser.



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Approval of Minutes
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of the minutes of the Work Session and Regular Agenda of June 23, 2025.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the minutes as presented. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
June 23, 2025, Minutes 



D R A F T

MINUTES
The City Council of the City of Palestine convened for a regular meeting on June 23, 2025, at 3:30 p.m.
for the Work Session, and at 5:30 p.m. for the Regular Meeting in the Council Chambers at City
Hall, 504 N. Queen Street, Palestine, Texas, with the following members present:

Mayor Jordan arrived at 5:03 p.m.
Council Member Smith arrived at 4:03 p.m.
 

Present: Mitchell Jordan, Mayor; Ava Harmon, Mayor Pro Tem; James Smith, Council Member;
Kenneth Davidson, Council Member; Angela Woodard, Council Member; Christopher
Gibbs, Council Member 

Absent: Sean Conner, Council Member 
Also
Present:

Teresa Herrera, City Manager; April Jackson, City Secretary; Rezzin Pullum, City
Attorney; Christophe Trahan, EDC Director; Andrew Sibai, Finance Director; Shannon
Davis, Fire Chief; Lisa Cariker, Human Resource Director; Ana Sanchez, Library
Director; Patsy Smith, Parks & Recreation Director; Susan Davis, Planning Tech.; Mark
Harcrow, Police Chief; Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works Director 

               
WORK SESSION

With a quorum present, Mayor Pro Tem Harmon called the Work Session to order at 3:35 p.m.
 

1. Discussion regarding plan review and building inspection services provided by Bureau
Veritas, including the minimum codes adopted by the City of Palestine. Susan Davis,
Planning Technician

Michael Olson with Bureau Veritas provided an overview of the company’s plan review
and inspection services, including related fees. He also discussed the building codes
currently adopted by the City of Palestine and when to engage an architect or approved
engineer for design and construction observation. 

Planning Technician Susan Davis advised Council that staff would begin the process of
updating the adopted building codes, starting with review by the Building and Standards
Commission before moving to City Council for approval. Staff addressed questions from
Council regarding complaints, implementing electronic forms for residential permitting,
and hosting a builder's roundtable.
 

  

2. Discussion regarding renovations to the athletic complex. Patsy Smith, Parks and
Recreation Director

Parks and Recreation Director Patsy Smith requested guidance from Council on how to
proceed with renovations to the athletic complex. Following a recent planning and
budgeting meeting, the proposed concept includes six fields, one central concession

  



stand, and approximately 400 parking spaces. Ms. Smith noted that no bids or cost
estimates had been received for the requested field lighting.

Bartram & Brannon Corporation recommended that the City contract with a Construction
Manager at Risk to oversee the bidding process and ensure the project remains within
budget. Staff advised that two full-time maintenance positions would need to be added to
support the facility. Bartram was also asked to provide an updated site layout reflecting
the proposed six fields, single concession stand, and revised parking configuration.

The Council also requested that the City Manager and City Attorney review the agreement
with the Palestine Youth Sports Organization to amend it to recover maintenance costs
and request cost-sharing. A bid package was also requested.
 

3. Discussion regarding the proposed budget for Fiscal Year 2025-2026. Andrew Sibai,
Finance Director

The proposed budgets for the following departments were presented and discussed: Main
Street, Economic Development, and Police.

With no other business to come before Council, the Work Session was adjourned at 5:13
p.m.
 

REGULAR MEETING
A. CALL TO ORDER

Mayor Jordan called the Regular Meeting to order at 5:32 p.m.
 

B. INVOCATION AND PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

The invocation was given by Captain Matt Kerr of the Palestine Police Department and
was followed by the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 

C. PROPOSED CHANGES OF AGENDA ITEMS

City Manager Herrera requested the removal of Item H1 from the Regular Agenda until a
later date, as the auditors were not ready to present the audit.
 

D. PUBLIC RECOGNITION, PUBLIC COMMENTS, AND ANNOUNCEMENTS

Dan Bacon discussed the proposed renovations to the athletic complex and the City
Council's notice of intent to issue certificates of obligation. 

Kevin Fuhr provided an update on the status of his permit issuance and plan review.
 

E. CONFLICT OF INTEREST DISCLOSURES

No action was taken.
 

F. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT



F. CITY MANAGER'S REPORT

City Manager Herrera reported on the annual Fourth of July fireworks show, the closure of
City offices in observance of Independence Day, the job postings for the Building
Inspector and Chief Building Inspector positions, and the current vacancies on various
boards and commissions.

Ms. Herrera also informed the Council that department directors were present to address
any questions regarding their reports.

The following departmental reports were submitted:
 

1. May 2025 Financial Statement   
2. May 2025 Police Monthly Report   
3. May/June 2025 Economic Development Monthly Report

 
  

G. CONSENT AGENDA
The following items may be acted upon in one motion. No separate discussion or action is
necessary unless requested by the Mayor or a Council Member, in which event those
items will be pulled for separate consideration. Approval of the consent agenda authorizes
the City Manager to implement each item in accordance with staff recommendations.

1. Consider approval of minutes from June 9, 2025, and June 13, 2025. April Jackson, City
Secretary

  

2. Consider approval of Xerox lease renewals for the City Manager's Office, Palestine
Economic Development Office, and City Hall. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

  

3. Consider approval of a five-year renewal lease with Pitney Bowes for the postage meter at
the Palestine Public Library. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director

  

4. Consider approval of a resolution authorizing the submission of a grant application and all
other necessary documents to the Motor Vehicle Crime Prevention Authority for the 2026
SB 224 Catalytic Converter Grant Program. Mark Harcrow, Police Chief (Resolution No.
R-16-25)

  

5. Consider awarding the bid for the repair of the City Cemetery Main Road Bridge Wall to
NEPADA Masonry Services in the amount of $37,000.00. Patsy Smith, Parks and
Recreation Director

  

6. Consider authorizing the City Manager to accept an emergency purchase of two
300-horsepower vertical turbine motors for the raw water pumps for the River Pump
Station in the amount of $66,856.00. Jason Shelton, Interim Public Works Director
 

  

  Motion by Mayor Pro Tem Ava Harmon, seconded by Council Member James Smith to
approve the Consent Agenda as presented, adopting Resolution No. R-15-25.
  

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously

H. REGULAR AGENDA
1. Discussion and possible action regarding acceptance of the Fiscal Year 2024 Audit and

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report. Andrew Sibai, Finance Director (Item was
pulled from the agenda during proposed changes to agenda items.)
 

  

2. Discussion and possible action regarding First Amendments to a Performance Agreement,   



2. Discussion and possible action regarding First Amendments to a Performance Agreement,
Promissory Note, and Deed of Trust between Palestine EDC and Tahwahkaro Distilling
Company, LLC. Christophe Trahan, EDC Director

EDC Christophe Trahan provided a summary of the First Amendments to a Performance
Agreement, Promissory Note, and Deed of Trust between the Palestine Economic
Development Corporation and Tahwahkaro Distilling Company, LLC, which were
approved by the Palestine Economic Development Corporation Board of Directors.
 

  

  Motion by Council Member Kenneth Davidson, seconded by Mayor Pro Tem Ava
Harmon to approve the item as presented.
  

  Vote: 6 - 0 - Unanimously

I. ITEMS FROM COUNCIL

Council Member Smith thanked those who participated and assisted with the Freedman’s
March. He also spoke regarding the recent passing of Freta Parkes and expressed
condolences to the bereaved families. Additionally, he acknowledged several members of
City staff for their continued efforts and dedication.

Council Member Davidson read aloud a message from Ernie Williams, President of
Community Impact, recognizing the success of the organization’s 2nd Annual Juneteenth
Festival. The message included appreciation for City staff who assisted in facilitating the
event. Council Member Davidson also recognized Public Works Director Jason Shelton
and Parks and Recreation Director Patsy Smith for their contributions.

Council Member Woodard acknowledged the work of City staff and announced that she
would be departing to attend a mission trip.

Council Member Gibbs spoke in remembrance of Palestine High School student Joseph
Fabian, who recently passed away. He reflected on Joseph’s life and offered sincere
condolences to his family, friends, and all those affected by this loss.
 

J. MAYOR'S REPORT

Mayor Jordan spoke concerning the life of Freta Parkes and expressed condolences to
her family. He also spoke about the Freedman's March, Community Impact's Juneteenth
Festival, and the significance of the Juneteenth holiday.

Mayor Jordan provided updates on the Huey Helicopter Project, the upcoming Back to
School Event hosted by the LEAD Organization, and the TVCC football game scheduled
for September 6, 2025.

He recognized City Manager Herrera, Police Chief Mark Harcrow, and Emergency
Management Coordinator Micah Betterton for their involvement and decision-making
during the recent storms. City Manager Herrera also explained how citizens could submit
storm-related damages online.

Mayor Jordan also discussed recently passed bills from the 89th Legislature and shared
that he had recently attended incident response training.
 

K. ADJOURNMENT



K. ADJOURNMENT

With no other business to come before Council, the meeting was adjourned at 6:03 p.m.
 

PASSED AND APPROVED THIS 14TH DAY OF JULY 2025.

______________________________
Mitchell W. Jordan, Mayor

ATTEST:

______________________________
April Jackson, City Secretary



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Resolution Suspending the July 31, 2025, Effective Date of Oncor Electric Delivery

Company's Requested Rate Change
Date Submitted: 06/26/2025

SUMMARY:
Oncor Electric Delivery Company ("Oncor" or "the Company") filed an application on or about June 26,
2025, with cities retaining original jurisdiction, seeking to increase system-wide transmission and
distribution rates by about $834 million or approximately 13% over present revenues. The Company
asks the City to approve a 12.3% increase in residential rates and a 51.0% increase in street lighting
rates. If approved, an average residential customer would see a bill increase of about $7.90 per month.

The resolution suspends the July 31, 2025, effective date of the Company's rate increase for the
maximum period permitted by law to allow the City, working in conjunction with the Steering Committee
of Cities Served by Oncor, to evaluate the filing, determine whether the filing complies with law, and if
lawful, to determine what further strategy, including settlement, to pursue. 

The law provides that a rate request made by an electric utility cannot become effective until at least 35
days following the filing of the application to change rates. The law permits the City to suspend the rate
change for 90 days after the date the rate change would otherwise be effective. If the City fails to take
some action regarding the filing before the effective date, Oncor's rate request is deemed
administratively approved. 

The City of Palestine is a member of a 170-city coalition known as the Steering Committee of Cities
Served by Oncor ("Steering Committee"). The Steering Committee has been in existence since the late
1980s. It took on a formal structure in the early 1990s when cities served by the former TXU gave up
their statutory right to rate case expense reimbursement in exchange for higher franchise fee payments.
Empowered by city resolutions and funded by per capita assessments, the Steering Committee has been
the primary public interest advocate before the Public Utility Commission, the Courts, and the Legislature
on electric utility regulation matters for the last 30 years.

            Although Oncor has increased rates many times over the past few years, this is the first
comprehensive base rate case for the Company since May 2022. 
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the resolution as presented. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments



Resolution 
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RESOLUTION NO. R- -25

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS,
SUSPENDING THE JULY 31, 2025 EFFECTIVE DATE OF ONCOR ELECTRIC
DELIVERY COMPANY’S REQUESTED RATE CHANGE TO PERMIT THE CITY
TIME TO STUDY THE REQUEST AND TO ESTABLISH REASONABLE RATES;
APPROVING COOPERATION WITH THE STEERING COMMITTEE OF CITIES
SERVED BY ONCOR TO HIRE LEGAL AND CONSULTING SERVICES AND TO
NEGOTIATE WITH THE COMPANY AND DIRECT ANY NECESSARY LITIGATION
AND APPEALS; FINDING THAT THE MEETING AT WHICH THIS RESOLUTION IS
PASSED IS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC AS REQUIRED BY LAW; REQUIRING NOTICE
OF THIS RESOLUTION TO THE COMPANY AND LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE
STEERING COMMITTEE.

WHEREAS, on or about June 26, 2025, Oncor Electric Delivery Company (Oncor), pursuant
to PURA §§ 33.001 and 36.001 filed with the City of Palestine a Statement of
Intent to increase electric transmission and distribution rates in all municipalities
exercising original jurisdiction within its service area effective July 31, 2025; and

WHEREAS, the City of Palestine is a member of the Steering Committee of Cities Served by
Oncor (“Steering Committee”) and will cooperate with the 170 similarly situated
city members and other city participants in conducting a review of the Company’s
application and to hire and direct legal counsel and consultants and to prepare a
common response and to negotiate with the Company prior to getting reasonable
rates and direct any necessary litigation; and

WHEREAS, PURA § 36.108 grants local regulatory authorities the right to suspend the
effective date of proposed rate changes for ninety (90) days after the date the rate
change would otherwise be effective; and

WHEREAS, PURA § 33.023 provides that costs incurred by Cities in ratemaking proceedings
are to be reimbursed by the regulated utility.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE
CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS, THAT:

SECTION 1. The foregoing recitals are incorporated into this Resolution by reference as
findings of fact as if expressly set forth herein.

SECTION 2. The July 31, 2025, effective date of the rate request submitted by Oncor
on or about June 26, 2025, be suspended for the maximum period allowed
by law to permit adequate time to review the proposed changes and to
establish reasonable rates.

SECTION 3. As indicated in the City’s resolution approving membership in the
Steering Committee, the Executive Committee of Steering Committee is
authorized to hire and direct legal counsel and consultants, negotiate with
the Company, make recommendations regarding reasonable rates, and to
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intervene and direct any necessary administrative proceedings or court
litigation associated with an appeal of a rate ordinance and the rate case
filed with the City or Public Utility Commission.

SECTION 4. That the City’s reasonable rate case expenses shall be reimbursed by
Oncor.

SECTION 5. A copy of this Resolution shall be sent to Oncor Electric Delivery
Company LLC, 1616 Woodall Rodgers Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75202 and
to Thomas Brocato, Counsel to the Steering Committee, at Lloyd
Gosselink Rochelle & Townsend, P.C., P.O. Box 1725, Austin, Texas
78767-1725.

SECTION 6. Should any of the clauses, sentences, paragraphs, sections, or parts of this
Resolution be deemed invalid, unconstitutional, or unenforceable by a
court of law or administrative agency with jurisdiction over the matter,
such action shall not be construed to affect any other valid portion of this
Resolution.

SECTION 7. All resolutions, or parts thereof, that are in conflict or inconsistent with
any provision of this Resolution are hereby repealed to the extent of such
conflict, and the provisions of this Resolution shall be and remain
controlling as to the matters regulated, herein.

SECTION 8. This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon its passage and
publication.

SECTION 9. It is hereby officially found and determined that the meeting at which this
Resolution was passed was open to the public and that the public notice of
the time, place, and purpose of said meeting was given as required by the
Open Meetings Act, Texas Government Code, and Chapter 551.  Notice
was also provided as required by Chapter 52 of the Texas Local
Government Code.

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Palestine,
Texas, on this the 14th day of July, 2025.

________________________________
MITCHELL JORDAN
MAYOR

ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM:

__________________________________ __________________________________
APRIL JACKSON REZZIN PULLUM
CITY SECRETARY CITY ATTORNEY



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Palestine I.S.D. Interlocal Agreement 
Date Submitted: 07/10/2025

SUMMARY:
This item is to consider approval of an Interlocal Agreement between the City of Palestine and the
Palestine Independent School District for the assignment of two School Resource Officers (SROs)—one
at Palestine High School and one at Palestine Junior High School.
The agreement outlines responsibilities for both the City and the school district, including officer
assignment, scheduling, and coordination with campus principals. Officers will provide law enforcement
support, assist with crime prevention, enforce traffic and truancy laws, and serve as positive role models
for students. The agreement also addresses use of body-worn cameras, FERPA compliance, and
reporting procedures.

This is a one-year agreement with the option for annual renewal. Cost estimates are included in Exhibit A
and may be adjusted based on officer assignment and related factors.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of the Interlocal Agreement with Palestine ISD.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Interlocal Agreement 



INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 

This lnterlocal Agreement ("Agreement") is between the Palestine Independent School District 
("Palestine ISD") and the City of Palestine, Texas ("City") (collectively "Participating Political 
Subdivisions"). 

RECITATIONS 

The Participating Political Subdivisions are authorized by the lnterlocal Cooperation Act, Texas 
Government Code 791.001 and following to enter into cooperative agreements with other political 
subdivisions of the State of Texas for the purpose of fulfilling and implementing their respective 
public and governmental purposes, needs, objectives, and programs. 

The services that are the subject of this Agreement are a governmental function and the 
Participating Political Subdivisions make the Agreement to, respectively, provide the services 
and make the payments described in the Agreement. 

The Participating Political Subdivisions have determined that this Agreement will result in 
improved services being provided more economically and efficiently and will increase public safety 
for the constituents of the Palestine ISD and City. 

Therefore, the Participating Political Subdivisions agree, as follows: 

ARTICLE ONE 
SERVICES PROVIDED BY THE CITY 

Section 1.01 Campus Security. The City agrees to assign two School Resource Officers (SRO's), 
one to serve at the Palestine ISD High School campus, and one to serve at the Palestine ISD 
Junior High School campus. Selection of the officer will be made by mutual consent of the 
Superintendent, Campus Principal and Chief of Police. The assigned officers will provide services 
during regular school hours on each and every day classes are in session. The City and the Palestine 
ISD acknowledge the importance of having the same officers present at the district on a day-to- 
day basis in order to promote continuity and familiarity with the district and students. The City 
and the Palestine ISD agree that any substitutions of personnel by the City will be discussed 
and mutually agreed upon before the substitution is made. 

The SRO's duties will include, but are not limited to, the following: 

a. Assist the Palestine ISD with order maintenance by enforcing laws, intervening in disruptions, 
and engaging in crime prevention activities, which may include awareness of gangs and their 
actions; and gathering information to assist with crime reduction at school and the surrounding 
community.



b. Enforce truancy laws to help keep students in school and prevent crimes committed by truants.

c. Respond to calls for police assistance from schools and school personnel.

d. Enforce traffic laws around schools.

e. Provide a positive role model to students and maintain good relations with the school
community, which may include providing information concerning questions about law
enforcement topics to students and staff; and providing classroom instruction/lesson plans on a
variety of topics, such as alcohol and drug education, and crime prevention education to build
rapport with the students and the Palestine ISD staff.

f. Counsel with students and parents to help find solutions to school attendance or criminal
behavior problems.

SRO's will be physically present on campus during regular school hours or during those hours 
mutually agreed upon by the Chief of Police and Superintendent or their designee. In the event 
that the SRO's need to be away from campus to attend mandatory training, court, or meetings 
every effort will used to minimize the length of the absence. The assigned officers will coordinate 
with the campus Principal, but will be directly supervised by the Chief of Police or his/her designee. 
The Officers shall be assigned to work at the schools during the entire school year when classes 
are in session, which shall begin from the date that the school year starts in August to the date that 
the school year ends in May. The duties, schedule and responsibilities of the assigned officers on 
days when classes are not in session will be mutually agreed upon and determined by 
the Chief of Police and the Superintendent or their designee. The parties understand that 
the officers may be required to carry out certain school district duties and responsibilities 
during non-school hours. 

At all times during the term of the Agreement, the law enforcement personnel provided by 
the City and assigned to the Palestine ISD will be considered employees of the City and not 
employees of the Palestine ISD. The City, in its sole discretion, will have the power and 
authority to hire, discharge, and discipline SROs. The City will be responsible for maintaining 
accurate records of dates of service, and any other information regarding the personnel assigned 
to the Palestine ISD that may be necessary in connection with the performance of this 
Agreement. 

As employees of the City, SROs will follow the chain of command as set forth in the City of Palestine 
Police Department's Policies and Procedures Manual. In the performance of their duties, SROs 
shall coordinate and communicate with the principal or the principals' designee of the school to 
which the SRO is assigned. 

Unless agreed to in advance in particular situations, any officer assigned to serve at any Palestine 
ISD campus will dress in a uniform identifying the officer as a member of the Police Department 
of the City of Palestine and will carry the usual equipment, such as sidearm, belt, holster, Taser, 
badge, and any other assigned to the officer. At all times covered by this Agreement, any officer 



assigned to serve at any Palestine ISD campus will be a commissioned, full-time, regular-duty 
SRO employed and properly trained by the City of Palestine. 

ARTICLE TWO 
SERVICES TO BE PROVIDED BY PALESTINE ISD 

Section 2.01 Campus Security. The Principal of each campus that uses the services of a SRO will 
coordinate and work with that SRO with respect to the law enforcement services provided and any 
special issues that warrant increased attention. In the event of an Officer absence, the school 
district will provide a district-employed school marshal for the affected campus. The Palestine ISD 
will pay and reimburse the City for the services provided as set forth in Section 3.01below. 

The Palestine ISD will draft and deliver to the City, prior to each anniversary date, district guidelines 
for the employment and assignment of law enforcement personnel at the Palestine ISD campuses. 

ARTICLE THREE 
CONSIDERATION AND REVIEW 

Section 3.01 Consideration. The Palestine ISD agrees to pay, as consideration for the services 
provided pursuant to this Agreement, an amount in accordance with the salaries and fees shown 
in Exhibit A which are calculated based upon the assigned officer's rate of pay, benefits, training 
and equipment. These rates may be adjusted due to the tenure of the assigned officer or as the 
City of Palestine adjusts the pay and/or benefits. The Palestine ISD agrees to pay 83.3% or ten 
(10) months' salary and fees for each SRO assigned to the Palestine ISD. For any time in excess 
of forty hours per week including any additional overtime amounts, the Palestine ISD will be billed 
at one and a half times the amounts shown in Exhibit A on an hourly or daily basis, as applicable.

The City will be responsible for providing transportation needed by the SROs, with the Palestine 
ISD reimbursing the cost of transportation as provided in Exhibit A. 

Section 3.02 Review and Renewal. Either the City or the Palestine ISD may, no later than 30 days 
prior to the anniversary date of the execution of this Agreement, give written notice to the other 
party of a request for review of the respective services, performance of services, costs, and any 
other terms or issues related to this Agreement. The review, if requested, will be accomplished 
administratively, and any amendment requested by either party will be considered by the 
Palestine ISD's board of trustees and the City Council. 



ARTICLE FOUR 
TERM OF AGREEMENT AND REVIEW 

Section 4.01Term of Agreement. This Agreement will be for one year from the date of execution 
and may renew annually on the anniversary date by agreement of the parties, including, if 
necessary, changes in costs or other items. The City and the Palestine ISD will confer concerning 
the renewal of this Agreement in advance of the beginning of their perspective fiscal years so 
that each may budget accordingly. This Agreement may be terminated by either party with written 
notice of termination 45 days prior to the end of the Agreement. 

Section 4.02 Commitment of Current Revenue. Pursuant to local Government Code 
Section 271.903 and Board Policy CE (LEGAL), this Agreement is a commitment of the Palestine 
ISD's current revenue only, and the Board of Trustees retains the continuing right to terminate 
the Agreement at the expiration of each budget period during the term of the Agreement. 
Performance under this Agreement is conditioned on the best efforts attempt by the Palestine 
ISD Board of Trustees to obtain and appropriate funds for payment of any sums due under this 
contract. 

ARTICLE FIVE 
INSURANCE AND INDEMIFICATION 

Section 5.01 Governmental Services. This Agreement is a contract for the performance of 
governmental functions by governmental entities, and the City and the Palestine ISD will be 
engaged in the conduct of a governmental function while providing and/or performing any service 
under this Agreement. With respect to the services provided under this Agreement, the City will 
be an independent contractor to the Palestine ISD. Any SRO assigned to duty at any Palestine ISD 
campus pursuant to this Agreement will not be considered an employee of the Palestine ISD, but 
will at all times remain an employee of the City. 

Section 5.02 Insurance. City is insured, and upon request by Palestine ISD, shall provide 
Palestine ISD documentation of its coverage, said coverage to meet the reasonable approval of 
Palestine ISD. City shall also provide, during the term of this Agreement, worker's compensation 
insurance, including liability coverage, in the amounts required by Texas state law, for any 
employee engaged in work under this Agreement. As to all insurance provided by City, it shall 
provide Palestine ISD with documentation, upon request, indicating such coverage prior to the 
beginning of any activities under this Agreement. 

Section 5.03 Indemnification. To the extent permitted by law, each Party to this Agreement 
expressly waives all claims against every other Party to this Agreement for compensation for 
any loss, damage, personal injury or death occurring as a consequence of the performance of 
this Agreement. 

ARTICLE SIX 



MISCELLANEOUS 

Article 6.01 Policy Making Authority. The Palestine ISD will have supervision and policy making 
authority for and with respect to the rules of conduct and regulations governing crowd control 
at special events. The final disciplinary action or other dispensation of any matter or issue involving 
only a violation of a rule or regulation of the Palestine ISD will be at the discretion of the Palestine 
ISD; provided that in the event a sworn officer of the City observes any event, matter or action that 
appears to constitute a violation of any local, state, or federal penal or criminal law, then in such 
event, the investigation or any decision to file charges on any such event will be made by the 
Officer in Charge or the Chief of Police. 

Article 6.02 Other Services. Nothing in this Agreement will be deemed to create, by implication 
or otherwise, any duty, responsibility or right as to either the Palestine ISD or the City except 
with respect to the use and general provision of the services specifically set forth in this 
Agreement. 

Article 6.03 Jurisdiction. Nothing in this Agreement will be deemed to extend, increase, or limit 
the jurisdiction or authority of either the City or the Palestine ISD except as necessary to implement, 
perform and obtain the services and duties provided for in this Agreement. This Agreement will 
be governed by the laws of the State of Texas, the City Palestine. 

Article 6.04 Governmental Immunity. It is expressly understood and agreed that, in the execution of 
this Agreement, no Party waives nor shall be deemed hereby to waive any immunity or defense that would 
otherwise be available to it against claims made by third parties and arising directly or indirectly out of 
the performance of this Agreement. THE PARTICIPATING POLITICAL SUBDIVISIONS RETAIN ALL 
GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES. 

Article 6.05 Contract Supervision and Controls. The Palestine ISD and the City will each monitor, 
review and provide oversight and supervision of the services as they are provided and each 
agrees to notify the other as soon as reasonably possible if any scheduling, operating, services, 
or performance issue becomes unsatisfactory. For implementation of this Agreement and 
resolving issues of its operation, the City designates the Chief of Police as its representative, and 
Palestine ISD designates the Superintendent as its representative. These representatives will be 
responsible for keeping their respective administrations and governing bodies advised concerning 
this Agreement and its subject matter. 

Article 6.06 Amendments and Modifications. This Agreement may not be amended or modified 
except in writing by the City and the Palestine ISD and authorized by their respective 
governing, bodies. 

Article 6.07 Severability. If any portion of this Agreement is held invalid or unenforceable by any 
court or competent jurisdiction, that holding will not invalidate or affect the enforceability of any 
other provision. The Agreement will be construed as if it did not contain the invalid or 
unenforceable portion (s), and the rights and obligations of the parties will be construed and 



enforced accordingly. If any provision of this agreement is determined to be invalid or 
unenforceable, the parties intend that it be reformed and construed in a way that it will be valid 
and enforceable. 

Article 6.08 Gender, Number and Headings. Words of any gender used in this Agreement will be 
held and construed to include any other gender, and words in this singular number will be held 
to include the plural, unless the context otherwise requires. The headings and section numbers 
are for convenience only and will not be considered in interpreting or construing the Agreement. 

Article 6.09 Execution in Counterparts. This Agreement may be simultaneously executed in 
several counterparts, each of which will be an original and all of which will be considered fully 
executed when all parties have executed an identical counterpart, even though all signatures may 
not appear on the same counterpart. 

Article 6.10 Confidential Student Information. In carrying out its duties, the City, and its officers, 
agents and employees, shall at all times recognize and respect the confidentiality of student 
information, including but not limited to confidential student records, and shall seek access to such 
records only in accordance with the requirements of the Family Education Rights and Privacy Act, 
20 U.S.C. §1232g ("FERPA") and Palestine ISD Board Policy FL (LEGAL) and (LOCAL). 

Article 6.11 Body Worn Cameras. The City and Palestine ISD agree that any use of body-worn 
cameras ("BWC") by City officers will be subject to and in compliance with state law and local 
regulations regarding their use and operation. Every officer equipped with a BWC shall be trained 
in the operation of the equipment prior to its use on campus. When utilizing BWCs, the officer 
shall adhere to the objectives and procedures outlined in this Agreement and the City's Police 
Department General Orders to maximize the effectiveness of the BWC and the integrity of the 
video documentation. The City may, if not otherwise prohibited by law, provide to the Palestine 
ISD copies of any such filming of students, parents, employees, or others upon school property, 
upon request for such copies by the Palestine ISD, as an intergovernmental transfer. In the event 
the City believes the providing of a copy of such videos would be prohibited, City agrees to utilize 
its best efforts to facilitate the availability of the officer who made the video to testify, upon 
request by the Palestine ISD, in any school disciplinary hearing concerning the officer's 
knowledge of the facts and circumstances of the incident which was videoed. The parties also 
agree that any such film or video taken by, and kept in the possession of, the City's officers may 
be considered "law enforcement records" under FERPA and 34 C.F.R. Sec. 99.8, and that any 
copy of such film or video, if permitted by law to be provided to the Palestine ISD, may then become 
an educational record of the District under FERPA. The City also agrees that its officers shall at 
all times recognize and comply with the confidentiality of student and education records and 
will only seek such records in accordance with the requirements of FERPA and Palestine ISD 
Board Policies FL(LEGAL) and (LOCAL). 



EXECUTED AND DELIVERED initially by and between Palestine ISD, and the City of Palestine, 
Texas on this the   day of 20_. 

Palestine Independent School District 

BY:------------ 
City of Palestine, Texas 

BY:------------ 

Attest: 

By: _ 

By: _ 

INTERLOCAL AGREEMENT 



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
Agenda Item: New Investment Pool Option, LOGIC
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
This item requests approval of a resolution to add LOGIC by Hilltop Securities as a third investment pool
option for the City's portfolio to improve portfolio performance.

Currently, the City uses TexSTAR and TexPool, TexSTAR is operated by Hilltop Securities and J.P.
Morgan to maintain a liquid investment pool for local government entities in Texas. 

This new option, LOGIC, is almost identical to TexSTAR, operated by Hilltop and J.P. Morgan, but it is
able to invest in commercial paper. This complies with the Public Funds Investment Act and Local Gov't
Code for a City to invest in, and this option currently earns 10-15 basis points more than TexSTAR.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval as presented. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Info Packet 
LOGIC Info Statement Mar 2025 
LOGIC Enrollment Packet and Resolution 



Information Statement 
Local Government Investment Cooperative 
A Texas Public Funds Investment Pool and Texas Trust

March 2025 
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No person or entity has been authorized to give any information or to make any 
representations other than those contained in this Information Statement, and, if given or 
made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by LOGIC, its Board of Trustees, the Investment Manager, the Administrators, 
or any agent of LOGIC. 

The Units in LOGIC have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or any state securities law. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
has not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Information Statement or approved 
Units in LOGIC for sale. 

The LOGIC Information Statement should be read carefully before investing. 
Investors should consider the investment objectives, risks, charges and expenses 
associated with this or any security prior to investing. Investments in LOGIC are not 
insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or any 
other government agency and although LOGIC seeks to preserve the value of the 
investment at a fixed price, it is possible to lose money by investing in the fund. For 
further information, contact LOGIC Participant Services c/o Hilltop Asset 
Management, LLC, at (800) 895-6442. LOGIC is distributed by Hilltop Securities Inc., 
a registered broker dealer, member FINRA/SIPC. 
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INTRODUCTION 

Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) (the “Pool”) was organized in conformity with 
the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds 
Investment Act, Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code, and operates as a public funds investment 
pool under the Public Funds Investment Act. LOGIC is organized and existing as a business trust under 
the laws of the State of Texas with all Participant funds and all investment assets held and managed in 
trust by a Board of Trustees for the benefit of the Participants. The Board of Trustees is LOGIC’s governing 
body and is comprised of employees, officers or elected officials of Participant Government Entities. A 
maximum of two ex officio board members represent the Administrators of the Pool. The Board of Trustees 
appoints an Advisory Board comprised of employees, officers or elected officials of Participant Government 
Entities and individuals who do not have a business relationship with the Pool and are qualified to advise 
the Pool. 

Currently, the Board has authorized one Portfolio: “LOGIC I,” and Units of LOGIC I are currently 
available to Participants. 

Investment Objectives. The Pool will invest only in authorized investments under the Public Funds 
Investment Act. Its general investment objectives are safety of principal, liquidity in accordance with the 
operating requirements of the Participants, and a competitive rate of return. 

Rating. In order to comply with the Public Funds Investment Act, all Portfolios will maintain a AAAm 
or equivalent rating from at least one nationally recognized rating agency. Units of LOGIC I are currently 
rated “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s. 

No Sales Commissions or Investment Minimum. There is no investment minimum and no sales 
charge. 

Deposits, Withdrawals, and Transactions. Deposits and withdrawals may be made by automated 
clearinghouse (“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“wire transfer”). 
Transaction requests will be by telephone, internet transaction system or by contacting a LOGIC 
representative. 

Investment Management. The Portfolio will be managed by J.P. Morgan Investment Management 
Inc. (the “Investment Manager”). 

Administrators. Day to day administration of the Pool will be performed by Hilltop Securities Inc., 
Hilltop Asset Management, LLC and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. (the “Administrators”). 
Hilltop Securities Inc. will provide marketing and distribution services. Hilltop Securities Asset Management, 
LLC will provide participant and administrative services, and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. will 
provide investment management, custody and fund accounting services. Transfer agency services will be 
provided by DST Asset Manager Solutions, Inc. (“DST” or the “Transfer Agent”). DST and each of the 
Administrators or their affiliates may provide certain services, including those described herein, through the 
use of subcontractors or delegates. 

Further Information. Further information is available from LOGIC Participant Services, c/o Hilltop 
Asset Management, LLC, 717 N. Harwood Street, Suite 3400, Dallas, Texas 75201, telephone 1-800-895- 
6442, fax 214-953-8877. The LOGIC website is www.logic.org. Certain terms used in this Information 
Statement are found in the Glossary attached to this Information Statement. Capitalized terms used but 
not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the LOGIC investment policies (“Investment 
Policies”). 

http://www.logic.org/
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This Information Statement provides detailed information about the Pool and its policies. Please 
read it carefully and retain it for future reference. 

ORGANIZATION 

The Pool was established pursuant to an Interlocal Agreement, which was subsequently amended 
and is now entitled Participation Agreement and Trust Instrument (the “Agreement”) between participating 
Government Entities. Participation in the Pool is limited to those eligible Government Entities which have 
become parties to the Agreement (“Participants”). 

Participants’ assets in the Pool are represented by units of beneficial interest (“Units”), which are 
issued in discrete series (each a “Portfolio”), as authorized from time to time by the Board. Assets invested 
in any Portfolio will be managed separately, and segregated from, the assets of every other Portfolio. 

Assets in each Portfolio will be invested in accordance with such investment objectives, limitations 
and other policies established for that Portfolio by the Board. 

The complete Investment Policies adopted by the Board, from time to time, are summarized in this 
Information Statement. Any Participant may obtain a copy of such Investment Policies from the LOGIC 
website at www.logic.org or by contacting LOGIC Participant Services at 1-800-895-6442. 

The Board has authorized one Portfolio of the Pool at the present time: “LOGIC I”. The Investment 
Policies and strategies with respect to the Portfolio of the Pool are summarized below. Following the 
summary is an analysis of the Portfolio which each Government Entity should review to determine if the 
Portfolio meets its needs. 

LOGIC I PORTFOLIO 

Investment Objectives and Strategy. The Investment Objectives of the LOGIC I Portfolio are to 
seek preservation of principal, liquidity, and current income through investment in a diversified portfolio of 
short-term marketable securities. The Portfolio’s maximum final stated maturity is 397 days for fixed rate 
securities and 25 months for variable rate notes. The Portfolio will maintain a dollar-weighted average 
portfolio maturity that does not exceed 60 days (or fewer days if required to maintain its rating). The Portfolio 
seeks to maintain a net asset value of $1.00 per Unit and is designed to be used for investment of funds 
which may be needed at any time. 

Investments in the Portfolio are neither insured nor guaranteed by the U.S. Government, the Pool, 
its Board, the Administrators, their agents or any governmental or other entity and there can be no 
assurance that the Portfolio will maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00. 

Investment Policies. LOGIC I will have the following investment policies: 

1. LOGIC I may invest in the following securities:

a. Obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and
instrumentalities, including the Federal Home Loan Banks;

b Other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally
guaranteed or insured by the United States;

c Fully collateralized repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements
with a defined termination date not to exceed 95 calendar days with respect to
repurchase agreements and 90 days with respect to reverse repurchase
agreements (unless the repurchase agreement has a put option that allows the
fund to liquidate the position at principal plus accrued interest with no more than 7

http://www.logic.org/
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days notice to the counterparty) and secured by cash or any obligation, the 
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or 
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States or its agencies or its 
instrumentalities, including mortgage-backed securities and obligations that are 
fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The 
repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements must be placed with primary 
government securities dealers and/or financial institutions doing business in the 
State of Texas; 

d SEC registered money market funds authorized by the Public Funds Investment 
Act and rated in the highest rating category by at least one nationally recognized 
rating agency; and 

e Commercial paper that has a stated maturity of 365 days or fewer from the date of 
its issuance that is rated A-1 or P-1 or equivalent by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or that is rated A-1 or P-1 or equivalent by one nationally 
recognized rating agency and is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit 
issued by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United States or 
any state. 

2. The Portfolio will not invest in United States Government securities representing
ownership in mortgage pools or collateralized mortgage obligations. The Portfolio will not invest in Bankers’ 
Acceptances. 

3. The Portfolio will seek to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per Unit to
preserve the principal of all Participants. 

4. The Portfolio’s maximum final stated maturity is 397 days for fixed rate securities
and 25 months for variable rate notes. The dollar-weighted average maturity of the Portfolio (calculated 
taking into account the period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each 
security, the principal amount must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for 
redemption, the date on which the redemption payment must be made and may utilize the interest rate 
reset date for variable rate notes or floating rate securities) will not exceed 60 days (or less, if required to 
maintain a rating in the highest rating category by the nationally recognized rating agency currently rating 
the Portfolio). The dollar-weighted average final maturity of the Portfolio (calculated taking into account the 
period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each security, the principal amount 
must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for redemption, the date on which the 
redemption payment must be made) will not exceed 90 days. So long as required by the Public Funds 
Investment Act, the Pool will disclose to Participants the calculations of dollar-weighted average maturity 
and dollar-weighted average final maturity of the Portfolio. 

5. Withdrawals from the Portfolio and transfers to another Portfolio may be made on
any business day with deadlines and provisions as more fully described in the Operating Policies. 

6. To provide additional liquidity, incremental income, or enhanced yield, the Portfolio
may engage in reverse repurchase agreements with reinvestment of proceeds limited to the term of the 
Reverse Repurchase Agreement, which shall in no event exceed 90 days. 

7. The Portfolio may not borrow money or incur indebtedness, except that it may incur
and pay operating expenses. 

8. The Portfolio may not lend its money, except to the extent that the Portfolio may
make authorized investments and it may lend its securities pursuant to a Reverse Repurchase Agreement. 

9. Fully collateralized Repurchase Agreements must (i) have defined termination
dates, (ii) be secured by cash or obligations, the principal and interest of which are unconditionally 
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guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of, the United States or its agencies or 
instrumentalities, including mortgage-backed securities and obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States, (iii) 
require purchased securities to be pledged to the investing entity or a third party, and (iv) be placed through 
a primary government securities dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial institution doing 
business in the State of Texas. The market value of such collateral will be determined (marked to market) 
at least daily. All Repurchase Agreements will be documented through use of the Master Repurchase 
Agreement promulgated by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association. 

10. The Portfolio may engage in portfolio trading in an attempt to maximize the total
return on assets. 

11. The Portfolio will not invest in the aggregate more than 20% of its monthly average
balance in SEC registered money market funds or invest its funds in any one SEC registered money market 
fund in an amount that exceeds 5% of its total assets. 

12. In order to provide and emphasize diversification within the Portfolio, the following
limitations will be applied by comparing the amortized cost of the Portfolio’s investments at the time of 
purchase: 

a 100% of the Portfolio may be in United States Treasury bills, notes or bonds; 

b 100% of the Portfolio may be in United States agency or instrumentality 
obligations; 

c 100% of the Portfolio may be invested in direct Repurchase Agreements; 

d. No more than 25% of the Portfolio may be invested in term Repurchase
Agreements;

e. No more than 5% of the Portfolio may be invested in the Commercial Paper of any entity
(including affiliates).

f. No more than 25% of the Portfolio may be invested in a single industry or business
sector, provided that this limitation does not apply to securities issued or guaranteed by
companies in the financial services industry.

13. The maximum maturity of Repurchase Agreements may not exceed 95 days
unless the Repurchase Agreement has a put option that allows the fund to liquidate the position at par 
(principal plus accrued interest) with no more than 7 (seven) days notice to the counterparty. 

14. Diversification of Repurchase Agreement counterparties will be emphasized.

15. The Portfolio shall only invest in money market funds which are in compliance with
the diversification requirements of Rule 2a7. 

16. For liquidity and to respond to unusual market conditions, the Portfolio may hold
all or most of its total assets in cash for temporary defensive purposes. This may result in a lower yield and 
prevent the Portfolio from meeting its investment objectives. 

How Yields and Net Asset Value Are Determined in LOGIC I. The net interest income of the 
Portfolio is determined each business day, and consists of (i) the sum of (a) interest accrued, (b) discount 
earned (including both original issue and market discount), and (c) realized capital gains (generally 
amortized over a period of 30 days or less) less (ii) the sum of (a) amortization of premium, (b) the estimated 
expenses of the Portfolio applicable to that distribution period, and (c) realized capital losses (generally 
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amortized over a period of 30 days or less). All net income of the Portfolio so determined is declared as 
earnings to Participants each day. Earnings accrue throughout the month and are distributed as of the close 
of business on the last business day of the month. On the first business day of the following month, the 
earnings are reinvested as additional Units at the current net asset value (expected to be $1.00), unless 
the Participant has elected to have them paid out. If the entire balance in an account is withdrawn during 
the month, the accrued distributions will be paid on or before the first business day of the following month. 

The net asset value per Unit of the Portfolio is calculated each business day by adding the 
amortized book value of all Portfolio securities and other assets, deducting accrued expenses and 
arrearages, and dividing by the number of Units outstanding. The result of this computation will be rounded 
to the nearest whole cent. As previously noted, it is the intention of the Portfolio to maintain a net asset 
value per Unit of $1.00. To the extent that the Board elects to utilize a net asset value per Unit determined 
by using available market quotations in lieu of amortized accounting, the Portfolio will reflect market 
fluctuations and any unrealized gains and losses resulting from those fluctuations on a daily basis. 

Portfolio assets are valued on the basis of the amortized cost valuation technique. This involves 
valuing an instrument at its cost and thereafter assuming a constant amortization to maturity of discount or 
premium, regardless of the impact of fluctuating interest rates on the market value of the instrument. While 
this method provides certainty of valuation, it may result in periods during which value, as determined by 
amortized cost, is higher or lower than the price the Portfolio would receive if it sold the instrument. Although 
the Portfolio values its instruments on the basis of their amortized cost, certain occasions may arise on 
which the Portfolio sells some Portfolio holdings prior to maturity. The proceeds realized by such a sale 
may be higher or lower than the original cost, thus resulting in a capital gain or loss. 

The Board has determined, in good faith, that it is in the best interests of the Portfolio and the 
Unitholders to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per Unit, by virtue of utilization of the amortized 
cost method which generally approximates the market value of the assets and has been deemed to be a 
proxy for fair value. The Portfolio will continue to use such method only so long as the Board believes that 
it fairly reflects the market-based net asset value per Unit. 

If at any time, pursuant to its daily calculation, the deviation between the amortized cost and market- 
determined values of the Portfolio’s assets or the deviation between market-determined values and $1.00 
per Unit exceeds $0.0030 per Unit, the Administrators shall promptly notify the Board and continue to keep 
the Board apprised of the daily calculations. In the event that the deviation between the amortized cost and 
market-determined values or the deviation between market-determined values and $1.00 per Unit exceeds 
$0.0040, the Administrators shall promptly notify the Board and follow any directions of the Board. However, 
absent contrary instructions, the Administrators shall promptly sell portfolio holdings, or will take such other 
action as the Board, or its delegates, may direct to eliminate or reduce to the extent reasonably practicable 
any dilution or unfair result to existing Unitholders. 

Monitoring Market Price of Investments and Ratings. The market price of all investments in the 
Portfolio is monitored daily by the Investment Manager. An independent or affiliated commercial pricing 
services or third party broker-dealers may be utilized to determine market value. The pricing services or 
broker-dealers use multiple valuation techniques to determine fair value. In instances where sufficient 
market activity exists, the pricing services or broker-dealers may utiize a market-based approach through 
which quotes from market makers are used to determine fair value. In instances where sufficient market 
activity may not exist or is limited, the pricing services or broker-dealers also utilize proprietary valuation 
models which may consider market transactions in comparable securities and the various relationships 
between securities in determining value and/or market charateristics. Overnight Repurchase Agreements 
shall be valued at par. Collateral securing Repurchase Agreements shall be monitored daily by the 
custodian for the collateral and reviewed by the Investment Manager. An independent or affiliated 
commercial pricing services or third party broker-dealers may be utilized to determine market price. The 
Investment Manager will periodically monitor the credit ratings of the investments in which the Portfolio 
invests and, to the extent required under the Public Funds Investment Act, will take all prudent measures 
to liquidate any investments that fail to meet any minimum rating requirement for such investments set forth 
in the Public Funds Investment Act. 
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Financial Reporting. LOGIC has been using fair value reporting for financial statement presentation 
since the 2011 fiscal year because it allows for the most accurate reflection of the economic condition of 
the investments. 

Size and Performance History. The Portfolio received its first funds in May 1994, when assets 
under management were $25,265,557 with three Participants. Since then, the amount invested in the 
Portfolio and the number of Participants has varied. As of March 31, 2025, the assets were approximately 
$14 billion with 752 participants. 

More detail on the performance history of the Portfolio and the most current information on the size 
and performance of the Portfolio, including yield, weighted average maturity and the expense ratio, is 
included in an Addendum to this Information Statement being distributed with each Information Statement. 
The history of the operating expenses of the Portfolio is found under “Operating Expenses.” 

UNDERSTANDING RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE LOGIC I PORTFOLIO 

The LOGIC I Portfolio is subject to various risks, including those listed below, any of which may 
adversely affect the Portfolio’s performance and ability to meet its investment objectives. Each Participant 
must determine the amount of credit risk and interest rate risk that it wishes to take. Then it can determine 
whether the LOGIC I Portfolio is appropriate for specific funds. LOGIC I by itself does not represent a fully- 
balanced investment plan. 

Unlike money market mutual funds which are registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, LOGIC I operates in compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act (“PFIA”) and not with 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 and Rule 2a-7 thereunder. 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the possibility that an issuer of a fixed income security held by the LOGIC 
I Portfolio will default on the security by failing to pay principal or interest when due. Any class of investment 
is subject to this risk. Remedies against a defaulting issuer of securities are limited, and the LOGIC I 
Portfolio may not be successful in securing repayment. A deterioration in credit quality or perceived credit 
quality of an investment held by the LOGIC I Portfolio could reduce the market price at which the LOGIC I 
Portfolio could sell the investment. The Investment Manager assesses the credit quality of the investments 
made for the LOGIC I Portfolio. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio will invest in high quality commercial paper, as defined in the Investment 
Policies. Commercial paper refers to short-term unsecured promissory notes issued by business entities 
to finance short-term credit needs. Issuers of commercial paper could fail to make payments when due or 
default completely. Many issuers of commercial paper expect to repay commercial paper obligations at 
maturity from the proceeds of issuance of new commercial paper. As a result, investment in commercial 
paper is subject to the risk the issuer cannot issue enough new commercial paper to satisfy its outstanding 
commercial paper payment obligations, also known as rollover risk. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio enters into repurchase agreements collateralized by cash or securities with 
approved counterparties. The Portfolio may be affected in the event a repurchase agreement counterparty 
fails to make payment or defaults completely. The LOGIC I Portfolio should be able to take possession of 
and sell the collateral securing the counterparty’s obligations; however, a loss may be realized on the sale 
of the underlying securities to the extent that the proceeds from the sale are less than the resale price 
provided in the repurchase agreement. Should a counterparty declare bankruptcy or become insolvent, the 
LOGIC I Portfolio may incur delays and costs in selling the underlying securities. The Portfolio may transfer 
uninvested cash into joint accounts which are utilized by multiple funds managed by the investment manager 
or its affiliates and used to enter into repurchase agreements. Under these joint accounts, the Portfolio has 
a pro rata interest in the repurchase agreements with the other participants in the joint account pursuant to 
joint allocation procedures approved by all the participants. In this case, any losses from a default by a 
counterparty or its insolvency or bankruptcy would be allocated on a pro rata basis among the participants 
in the joint account. 
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The Portfolio may invest in obligations of the United States, its agencies and instrumentalities, and 
other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the 
United States. U.S. Treasury securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government, 
meaning that the U.S. government is required to repay the principal when due. Other types of securities 
issued or guaranteed by federal agencies and U.S. government sponsored instrumentalities may not be 
backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. In this case, payment is due from the agency 
or instrumentality only. 

SEC registered money market funds, another permitted investment by LOGIC I, may invest in a 
variety of obligations, including U.S. Government obligations, bank obligations, including banker’s 
acceptances, Commercial Paper, Repurchase Agreements, and obligations of state and local governments. 
The SEC establishes diversification and credit quality requirements for such funds. The Portfolio’s 
investment policy also requires that they be rated in the highest rating category by at least one nationally 
recognized rating agency. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio is not secured by an insurance policy, federal deposit insurance, or 
other secondary guarantee. 

Interest Rate Risk. The prices of debt securities in which the LOGIC I Portfolio will invest, including 
bonds and debt securities issued by the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities, will change 
in value, that is, market price based on changes in interest rates. If rates increase, the value of these 
investments generally declines. Interest rate changes have a greater effect on the price of fixed income 
securities with longer maturities. The LOGIC I Portfolio may invest in variable and floating rate securities. 
Although these instruments are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than fixed rate instruments, 
the value of floating rate and variable securities may decline if their interest rates do not rise as quickly, or 
as much, as general interest rates. 

During periods when interest rates are low or there are negative interest rates, the Portfolio’s yield 
(and total return) also may be low or the Portfolio may be unable to maintain positive returns. 

Stable Net Asset Value Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio seeks to preserve the net asset value (NAV) 
of the Participants’ investment at $1.00 per unit. The Administrators have policies and procedures in place 
to monitor the Portfolio’s NAV and to take action to minimize market risk; however, the Portfolio cannot 
guarantee a $1.00 NAV. The value of the Portfolio is dependent on timely receipt of the amounts due on 
the obligations in the Portfolio. Any delays or failures in receipt of payments or periods of low interest or 
negative interest rates may adversely affect the NAV of the Portfolio. Units in the LOGIC I Portfolio are 
subject to investment risks, including possible loss of principal amount invested. 

Market Risk. The market price of securities owned by the LOGIC I Portfolio may rapidly or 
unpredictably decline due to factors affecting securities markets generally or particular industries. Global 
events that may affect the market price of securities include war, terrorism, environmental disasters, natural 
disasters or events, country instability and infectious disease epidemics or pandemics, such as COVID-19. 
Geopolitical events that may affect the price of securities include inflation, deflation, debt crises and 
downgrades, embargoes, tariffs, and other governmental trade or market control programs. The U.S. 
government and other issuers of securities do not guarantee the market price of their securities. 

Management Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio is subject to management risk and it may not achieve 
its objective if the Investment Manager’s expectations regarding particular instruments or interest rates are 
not met. 

Concentration Risk. Because the LOGIC I Portfolio will, under ordinary circumstances, invest a 
significant portion of its assets in securities of companies in the banking industry, developments affecting 
the banking industry may have a disproportionate impact on the Portfolio. These risks generally include 
interest rate risk, credit risk and risk associated with regulatory changes in the banking industry. The 
profitability of banks depends largely on the availability and cost of funds, which can change depending on 
economic conditions. 

 



 LOGIC INFORMATION STATEMENT 

8 

Non-U.S. Issuers of Commercial Paper. All commercial paper in the LOGIC I Portfolio is 
denominated in U.S. dollars; however, some of the entities issuing the commercial paper are headquartered 
outside of the U.S. and subject to the laws of jurisdictions where economic or political conditions may be 
less favorable than those in the United States. Risks include capital controls and the imposition of foreign 
withholding taxes. The investment manager will perform a credit analysis on all commercial paper 
purchased into the portfolio and any commercial paper issued by non-U.S. entities will have at least the 
same financial strength as the domestic issuers approved for the Portfolio. 

Liquidity Risk. Trading opportunities are more limited for fixed income securities that are not 
widely held. These features make it more difficult to sell or buy securities at a favorable price or time. 
Consequently, the LOGIC I Portfolio may have to accept a lower price to sell a security, sell other securities 
to raise cash or give up on an investment opportunity, any of which could have a negative impact on the 
Portfolio’s performance. 

Transactions Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio could experience a loss and its liquidity may be 
negatively impacted when selling securities to meet withdrawal requests by Participants. The risk of loss 
increases if the withdrawal requests are unusually large or frequent or occur in times of overall market 
turmoil or declining prices. Similarly, large deposits may adversely affect the LOGIC I Portfolio's 
performance to the extent that the LOGIC I Portfolio is delayed in investing new cash and is required to 
maintain a larger cash position than it ordinarily would. 

Cybersecurity Risk. Use of technology to conduct business could subject the Portfolio and its 
third-party service providers (including the Administrators) to risks associated with cybersecurity. If a 
cybersecurity attack is successful, an unauthorized person could misappropriate assets or sensitive 
information, corrupt data, or cause operational disruption. The Administrators have developed 
technological safeguards and business continuity plans to prevent or reduce the impact of potential 
cybersecurity incidents. Despite these measures, a cybersecurity incident still has the potential to cause 
harm to the Portfolio and its Participants. 

RATINGS 

In compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act, all portfolios will maintain a AAAm or 
equivalent rating from at least one nationally recognized rating agency. Units of the LOGIC I Portfolio have 
been assigned a rating of “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s. An explanation of the significance of such ratings 
may be obtained from Standard & Poor’s, 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10041. 

ELIGIBILITY TO INVEST 

The Public Funds Investment Act sets out the entities which may invest in LOGIC, each of which 
is defined in this document as a “Government Entity”. According to the Public Funds Investment Act, a local 
government, a state agency, or a nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of a local government or a state 
agency may invest in a local government investment pool, like LOGIC. A local government is defined as a 
municipality, a county, a school district, a district or authority created under Section 52(b)(1) or (2), Article 
III, or Section 59, Article XVI, Texas Constitution (such as a municipal utility district, water control and 
improvement district, or navigation district), a fresh water supply district, a hospital district, and any political 
subdivision, authority, public corporation, body politic, or instrumentality of the State of Texas, and any 
nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities. A state agency is defined as an office, 
department, commission, board, or other agency that is part of any branch of state government, an 
institution of higher education, and any nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities. 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE POOL 

The Pool Structure. By entering into the Agreement, Participants establish a public funds 
investment pool and trust entitled Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) and designate the 
Board of Trustees of the Pool as an agency and instrumentality of the Participants and agree that it will be 
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the governing body of the Pool and trustee of the Participant funds deposited into the Pool for the benefit 
of the Partcipants. The Pool holds legal title to all money, investments and other assets of the Pool and, 
through the Board, has the authority to employ personnel, engage in other administrative activities and 
provide other administrative services necessary to accomplish the objectives of the Pool. 

The Board and the Bylaws. Pursuant to the Agreement, the business and affairs of the Pool are 
required to be managed by the Board, and the Board is authorized to adopt and maintain bylaws (the 
“Bylaws”). The Bylaws set forth procedures governing the selection of, and action taken by, the members 
of the Board. The Bylaws provide for a five-member Board consisting of individuals who are Participant 
employees or officers or elected officials. A maximum of two ex officio board members are representatives 
of the Administrators of the Pool. 

The Board may remove any trustee if (a) a trustee who was an appointed or elected official or 
employee of a Participant at the time he or she became a trustee, ceases to be an elected or appointed 
official or employee of the Participant, (b) the trustee files personal bankruptcy or is adjudicated an 
incompetent, or (c) the Participant for which the trustee is an elected or appointed official or an employee 
ceases to be a Participant. The Board will fill any vacancy resulting thereby or otherwise in accordance 
with the Bylaws. Trustees will have three-year terms. Board members serve without compensation but are 
entitled to reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of Board 
duties. 

The Board consists of the following individuals: 

Name Board Position and Term Affiliation 

Sandra Newby President - 12/31/2027 

Greg Jordan Vice President/2nd        
Investment Officer - 12/31/2026 

Tarrant Regional 
Water District 

Fort Worth Transportation 
Authority 

Darla Moss 

Jeanne Chipperfield 

David Medanich 

Andrew Linton 

Treasurer/Investment Officer - 
12/31/2026 

Secretary - 12/31/25 

Ex Officio Trustee 

Ex Officio Trustee 

Arlington Independent School 
District 

North Texas Municipal Water 
District 

Hilltop Securities Inc. and 
Hilltop Asset Management, LLC 

J.P. Morgan Investment 
Management Inc. 

Mr. Medanich is a director and officer of Hilltop Securities Inc. and Hilltop Securities Asset 
Management, LLC. Hilltop Securities Inc. has contracted with the Pool to serve as Administrator to provide 
distribution and marketing services. Hilltop Asset Management, LLC has contracted with the Pool to serve 
as Administrator to provide administrative and Participant services. He has no voting powers. 

Mr. Linton is an executive director for J.P. Morgan Asset Management Inc. J.P. Morgan Investment 
Management Inc. has contracted with the Pool to serve as Administrator to provide services including 
investment management, transfer agency, fund accounting and custodial services. He has no voting 
powers. 

Primary duties of the Board include, but are not limited to, adoption of the Investment Policies, 
Operating Policies, and the Bylaws, appointing officers, and employing the Administrators and other service 
providers. The meetings of the Board are open to the public. 



 LOGIC INFORMATION STATEMENT 

10 

Advisory Board. The Board appoints an Advisory Board of Participant employees, officers or elected 
officials and individuals who do not have a business relationship with the Pool and are qualified to advise it. 
The Board consists of the following individuals: 

Name Term Affiliation 

Kelvin Bryant 9/30/28 City of McKinney 

Monte Mercer 9/30/27 North Central Texas 
Council of Governments 

Administrators. The Board has entered into a contract with Hilltop Securities Inc., Hilltop Securities 
Asset Management, LLC and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. to provide distribution, marketing, 
administrative and Participant, investment management, fund accounting, and transfer agency services for 
the Pool (the “Agreement”). These duties also include receiving Pool applications, providing a record- 
keeping system for the Pool, processing deposits, withdrawals and other requests, preparing monthly 
reports to the Board and Participants on the performance of the Portfolios and the net asset value per Unit, 
and providing day to day contact with Participants. DST Asset Manager Solutions, Inc. (“DTS”) has 
subcontracted to provide transfer agency services. DTS and each of the Administrators or its affiliates may 
provide certain services, including those described herein, through the use of subcontractors or delegates. 

Custodian. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is the custodian for the Pool. The Custodian will receive 
and disburse all Participant deposits and withdrawals, settle all portfolio trades, safekeep certain securities, 
and collect all income or any other payment due in connection with purchased securities. The Custodian or 
its affiliates may provide certain services, including those described herein, through the use of 
subcontractors or delegates. 

LIABILITY LIMITATIONS 

None of the Board, the Investment Officers selected by the Board, or the officers and employees 
of the Board will be held liable for any action or omission to act on behalf of the Pool or the Participants 
unless caused by such person’s fraud, willful malfeasance, or bad faith. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, any obligation of LOGIC shall be payable solely from the assets held by LOGIC, and none of the 
Unitholders, whether past, present, or future, shall be personally liable therefor. 

The Administrators have agreed to indemnify and hold harmless the Pool and the Board from any 
loss, liability or cost (including reasonable attorney's fees) which is not covered by insurance proceeds and 
which the Pool and the Board may sustain, incur or assume as a result of claims resulting from or arising 
out of the negligence of the Administrators in connection with the provision of Administrator services under 
the Agreement, unless such claims result from gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct of the Pool or 
the Board. To the extent that a Administrator delegates all or a part of its responsibilities under the 
Agreement, the Administrator will be responsible for compliance with the terms of the Agreement to the 
same extent as if such Administrator itself had acted or failed to act instead of the delegate. 

None of the Administrators guarantees the performance of the assets of the Pool or any specific 
level of performance, that the Pool will maintain a net asset value per Unit of $1.00, the success of any 
investment decision or strategy that the Administrators may use, or the success of the Administrators’ 
overall management of the Pool. Investment decisions made for the Pool by the Administrators are subject 
to various market, currency, economic, political and business risks, and that those investment decisions 
may not always be profitable. 

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS 

The Investment Manager has no obligation to deal with any dealer or group of dealers in the 
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execution of transactions in portfolio securities of the Pool. The securities in which the Portfolios will be 
invested are normally purchased directly from the issuer or from a dealer in such securities. Where 
possible, the Investment Manager deals directly with the dealers who make a market in the securities 
involved except in those circumstances where better prices and execution are available elsewhere. It is the 
policy of the Pool to obtain the best net results in conducting portfolio transactions, taking into account such 
factors as price, the size, type and difficulty of the transactions involved, the firm’s general execution and 
operations facilities, and the provision of supplemental investment research by the firm. The Portfolio 
securities of the Pool are traded on a net basis and do not involve either brokerage commissions or transfer 
taxes. 

The Investment Manager may dispose of securities without regard to the time they have been held 
when such actions, for defensive or other portfolio management reasons, appear advisable. High portfolio 
turnover involves correspondingly greater transaction costs, which are borne directly by the Pool. 

Portfolio investments will not be purchased from or sold to the Administrators or any affiliate of any 
Administrator. Investments may be sold by one Portfolio to another Portfolio at the prevailing market prices. 

Settlement of all transactions shall be conducted on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis. 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

The Administrators’ fee hereunder for LOGIC I shall be accrued daily and paid monthly at an annual 
rate of 9.75 basis points (0.0975%), based on the total of all Participants’ balances in LOGIC I at the end 
of each day. This fee includes other operating expenses including, but are not limited to, expenses of the 
Board, including directors and officers liability insurance, legal, audit and accounting expenses, the costs 
of safekeeping, settlement, cash movement and banking services provided by the Custodian, rating agency 
fees, non-recurring expenses, deferred organizational expenses, and expenses of preparing, printing and 
mailing Information Statements, reports, notices and proxy materials to Participants. 

ANNUAL AUDIT 

The financial statements of the Pool will be examined and a certification issued by an independent 
certified public accounting firm, following the close of each fiscal year. The examination will include 
reconciliation of securities held by the Custodian and a review of the Pool’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
financial statements. An annual report including the auditor’s opinion, following its completion, is available 
upon request to each Participant of record as of the close of the Pool’s fiscal year, which ends August 31 
(“Annual Report”). The Board has retained PriceWaterhouseCoopers, LLP, 2121 North Pearl Street, Suite 
2000, Dallas, Texas 75201, to audit its financial statements for fiscal year ending August 31, 2023. 

PARTICIPATING IN THE POOL 

New Accounts. To become a Participant in the Pool, a Government Entity’s governing body (e.g., 
board of trustees, city council, etc.) must adopt a resolution approving an Application for Participation in 
LOGIC and authorizing specified officers of the Government Entity to execute the Application. The 
Application for Participation contains the Government Entity’s agreement with other LOGIC Participants 
and the LOGIC Board of Trustees to the terms and conditions in the LOGIC Participation Agreement and 
Trust Instrument. The Application also designates Authorized Representataives to open accounts, to 
deposit and withdraw funds, to agree to the terms for use of the website for online transactions, and to 
designate other Authorized Representatives. 

Following adoption of the resolution, the Government Entity must complete and send the completed 
LOGIC application form with a certified copy of the resolution. A Government Entity may become a 
Participant and open an account with the Pool without being obligated to deposit any money or otherwise 
actively participate in the Pool. 
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The Pool will request a Government Entity to provide its investment policy for review under the 
Public Funds Investment Act. The Government Entity will receive confirmation from the Pool that it has 
reviewed the policy and has implemented reasonable procedures and controls in an effort to preclude 
investment activities between the Pool and the Government Entity that are not authorized by the 
Government Entity’s investment policy, except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an 
analysis of the makeup of the Government Entity’s entire portfolio or requires an interpretation of subjective 
investment standards. 

Deposits. Deposits (including new accounts) are required to be made by either Automated Clearing 
House electronic funds transfer (“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“Wire 
Transfer”). Deposits will be accepted by the Pool on any business day. 

In the case of a Wire Transfer deposit, the Participant must notify LOGIC of any wire deposit 
transaction requests by 4:00 p.m. CST if using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST when 
contacting a Participant Services Representative. 

In addition to notifying LOGIC, the Participant must instruct its local bank to wire funds to LOGIC 
by 4:00 p.m. CST. All incoming wire deposits must be received by 4:00 p.m. CST, to earn interest for that 
day. Any wire deposits received after 4:00 p.m. CST will not be invested until the following business day. 

ACH transaction requests will be executed on the business day following the date the transaction 
was initiated if requested in accordance with the daily transaction deadlines for the pool. In the case of an 
ACH deposit, the Participant must notify LOGIC by 4:00 p.m. CST one business day prior to the settlement 
date when using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
settlement date when contacting a Participant Services Representative. ACH transactions are processed 
in accordance with the prearranged Participant information as provided on the bank information sheet 
corresponding to that specific LOGIC account or subaccount. In the event of an ACH rejection, LOGIC will 
contact the Participant to confirm the rejection. LOGIC will credit/debit the Participant’s account accordingly. 

Transfers. Participants may transfer funds from one of their LOGIC sub-accounts to another of 
their LOGIC sub-accounts. In the case of an internal transfer, the participant must notify LOGIC of any 
internal transfer transaction requests by 4:00 p.m. CST if using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 
p.m. CST when contacting a Participant Services Representative.

The procedures for transfers are described in the Operating Policies. 

Business Days. The Pool will determine on an annual basis the business days on which it will 
conduct operations. 

WITHDRAWALS 

Withdrawals are required to be made by either Automated Clearing House electronic funds transfer 
(“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“Wire Transfer”). Withdrawals will be 
processed from the LOGIC I Portfolio on any business day (or in the event such day is not a business day, 
on the next preceding business day). 

Wire transfer withdrawal transaction requests will be executed on the same day as initiated. In the 
case of a Wire Transfer withdrawal, the Participant must notify LOGIC either by 4:00 p.m. CST using the 
internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST by contacting a Participant Services Representative. 

ACH transaction requests will be executed on the business day following the date the transaction 
was initiated if requested in accordance with the daily transaction deadlines for the pool. In the case of an 
ACH withdrawal, the Participant must notify LOGIC by 4:00 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
settlement date using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
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settlement date when contacting a Participant Services Representative. ACH transfer withdrawals are sent 
in accordance with the prearranged Participant information as provided on the bank information sheet 
corresponding to that specific LOGIC account or subaccount. In the event of an ACH rejection, LOGIC will 
contact the Participant to confirm the rejection. LOGIC will credit/debit the Participant’s account accordingly. 

In all cases, the Participant must provide the following information: name, identifying access code, 
Pool account number and the amount to be withdrawn. The amount requested to be withdrawn cannot 
exceed the net asset value of the Participant’s account on the date such notice is given. 

LOGIC reserves the right to suspend the right of withdrawal or to postpone the date of payment in 
the event that the Federal Reserve is closed other than for customary weekend and holiday closings, in the 
event of a general suspension of trading in any securities market which affects LOGIC operations, or if, in 
the opinion of the Board, an emergency exists so that the disposal of LOGIC's securities or determination 
of its net asset value is not reasonably practical. 

PARTICIPANT FEES AND EXPENSES 

A Participant’s account will be directly charged for the cost of any special services rendered at the 
request of the Participant. A Participant’s account will also be charged with all actual costs and expenses 
associated with extraordinary events affecting such account including, but not limited to, losses of 
investment income to the Pool associated with ACH returns or by failure to timely transmit a wire transfer 
for deposit, unless such failure was beyond the control of the Participant. 

REPORTS TO THE PARTICIPANTS 

Participants receive a transaction confirmation detailing each deposit, withdrawal, transfer, and 
exchange. Each Participant also receives a monthly statement of its account showing the current balance 
in its account and all activity since the prior monthly report. The Pool will issue an Annual Report containing 
financial statements audited by the Pool’s independent auditors. 

AMENDMENT OF POOL DOCUMENTS 

The Investment Policies, the Operating Procedures, and the Bylaws may be amended by the 
Board, provided that notice of any such amendment which the Board determines materially affects the 
Participants is sent to all affected Participants at least 30 days prior to the effective date thereof. 
Amendments to the Agreement by the Board require that notice be sent to Participants at least 60 days 
prior to the effective date thereof. Copies of the Agreement, Investment Policies, Operating Procedures, 
and the Bylaws can be obtained from the Administrators. 

GLOSSARY 

Some of the terms used in this Information Statement are described below: 

“Bankers’ Acceptances” are negotiable obligations of a bank to pay a draft which has been drawn 
on it by a customer. These obligations are backed by large banks and usually by goods in international 
trade, as well. The Public Funds Investment Act requires that a bankers’ acceptance authorized for 
investment by Government Entities have a stated maturity of 270 days or fewer from the date of its issuance, 
be, in accordance with its terms, liquidated in full at maturity, be eligible for collateral for borrowing from a 
Federal Reserve Bank, and be accepted by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United 
States or any state, if the short-term obligations of the bank, or of a bank holding company of which the 
bank is the largest subsidiary, are rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by at least one 
nationally recognized credit rating agency. 

“Commercial Paper” consists of short-term promissory notes of corporations and other business 
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entities issued to finance their current operations. The Public Funds Investment Act requires that 
commercial paper authorized for investment by Government Entities have a stated maturity of 270 days or 
fewer from the date of its issuance and be rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by at least 
two nationally recognized credit rating agencies, or be rated A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by one 
nationally recognized rating agency and be fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a bank 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any state. 

“Dollar-weighted average portfolio maturity” or “WAM” is calculated by taking an average of the 
period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each security, the principal amount 
must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for redemption, the date on which the 
redemption payment must be made, weighted by the book value of each security, except that Floating Rate 
Securities and Variable Rate Securities are considered to have the maturities as set forth below. A 
government Floating Rate Security or any Floating Rate Security, the principal amount of which must 
unconditionally be paid in 397 calendar days or less, is deemed to have a maturity of one day. A Variable 
Rate Security, the principal amount of which must unconditionally be paid in 397 calendar days or less, is 
deemed to have a maturity equal to the earlier of the period remaining until the next interest rate adjustment 
or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand. 

“Floating Rate Security” means a security the terms of which provide for the adjustment of its 
interest rate whenever a specified interest rate changes and that, at any time until the final maturity of the 
instrument or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand, can 
reasonably be expected to have a market value that approximates its amortized cost. 

“Fully Collateralized” in the case of a repurchase agreement means that: 

(i) The value of the securities collateralizing the repurchase agreement
(reduced by the transaction costs (including loss of interest) that the Pool reasonably could expect to incur 
if the seller defaults) is, and during the entire term of the repurchase agreement remains, at least equal to 
102% of the Resale Price provided in the agreement; 

(ii) Either the Pool or its custodian has actual physical possession of the
collateral or, in the case of a security registered on a book entry system, the book entry is maintained in the 
name of the Pool or its custodian; 

(iii) The collateral consists entirely of cash items or Government securities;
and 

(iv) Upon an event of insolvency with respect to the seller, the repurchase
agreement would qualify under a provision of applicable insolvency law providing an exclusion from any 
automatic stay of creditors’ rights against the seller. 

“Repurchase Agreements” are transactions by which the Pool purchases a security and 
simultaneously commits to resell that security to the seller at an agreed upon Resale Price on an agreed 
upon date within a number of days from the date of purchase. The Resale Price reflects the purchase price 
plus an agreed upon market rate of interest which is unrelated to the coupon rate or maturity of the 
purchased security. A repurchase agreement involves the obligation of the seller to pay the agreed upon 
price, which obligation is in effect secured by the value of the underlying security. 

“Resale Price” means the acquisition price paid to the seller of securities plus the accrued resale 
premium on such acquisition price. The accrued resale premium shall be the amount specified in the 
repurchase agreement or the daily amortization of the difference between the acquisition price and the 
resale price specified in the repurchase agreement. 

“Reverse Repurchase Agreements” are transactions by which the Pool sells a security to another 
party, such as a bank or broker-dealer, in return for cash and agrees to repurchase the instrument at a 
particular price and time. The Pool must invest the cash it receives. If the Pool reinvests the cash at a rate 
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higher than the cost of the agreement, it may earn additional income. Under the Public Funds Investment 
Act, a reverse repurchase agreement may not have a term greater than 90 days. 

“Rule 2a7” refers to Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, 17 C.F.R. § 270.2a-7, as 
may be amended from time to time. 

“SEC Registered Money Market Fund” is an investment that pools shareholders’ money, is 
described in a prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and meets the regulations 
of the SEC applicable to a money market mutual fund, including a requirement that the fund have an 
effective dollar-weighted average portfolio maturity of 60 days or less and that it have as an investment 
objective the maintenance of a stable net asset value of $1 for each share. 

“United States Government Obligations” are debt securities (including bills, certificates of 
indebtedness, notes, and bonds) issued by the United States Treasury or by an agency or instrumentality 
of the United States Government which is established under the authority of an act of Congress. Although 
all obligations of agencies and instrumentalities are not direct obligations of the United States Treasury, 
payment of the interest and principal on these obligations generally is backed directly or indirectly by the 
United States Government. This support can range from backing of the full faith and credit of the United 
States (United States Treasury securities), to United States Government guarantees, or to the backing 
solely of the issuing instrumentality itself. 

“Variable Rate Security” or “Variable Rate Note” means a security the terms of which provide for 
the adjustment of its interest rate on set dates (such as the last day of a month or calendar quarter) and 
that, upon each adjustment until the final maturity of the instrument or the period remaining until the principal 
amount can be recovered through demand, can reasonably be expected to have a market value that 
approximates its amortized cost. 
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No person or entity has been authorized to give any information or to make any 
representations other than those contained in this Information Statement, and, if given or 
made, such information or representations must not be relied upon as having been 
authorized by LOGIC, its Board of Trustees, the Investment Manager, the Administrators, 
or any agent of LOGIC. 

The Units in LOGIC have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as 
amended, or any state securities law. The Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) 
has not passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Information Statement or approved 
Units in LOGIC for sale. 

The LOGIC Information Statement should be read carefully before investing. 
Investors should consider the investment objectives, risks, charges and expenses 
associated with this or any security prior to investing. Investments in LOGIC are not 
insured or guaranteed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or any 
other government agency and although LOGIC seeks to preserve the value of the 
investment at a fixed price, it is possible to lose money by investing in the fund. For 
further information, contact LOGIC Participant Services c/o Hilltop Asset 
Management, LLC, at (800) 895-6442. LOGIC is distributed by Hilltop Securities Inc., 
a registered broker dealer, member FINRA/SIPC. 
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INTRODUCTION 

Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) (the “Pool”) was organized in conformity with 
the Interlocal Cooperation Act, Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code, and the Public Funds 
Investment Act, Chapter 2256 of the Texas Government Code, and operates as a public funds investment 
pool under the Public Funds Investment Act. LOGIC is organized and existing as a business trust under 
the laws of the State of Texas with all Participant funds and all investment assets held and managed in 
trust by a Board of Trustees for the benefit of the Participants. The Board of Trustees is LOGIC’s governing 
body and is comprised of employees, officers or elected officials of Participant Government Entities. A 
maximum of two ex officio board members represent the Administrators of the Pool. The Board of Trustees 
appoints an Advisory Board comprised of employees, officers or elected officials of Participant Government 
Entities and individuals who do not have a business relationship with the Pool and are qualified to advise 
the Pool. 

Currently, the Board has authorized one Portfolio: “LOGIC I,” and Units of LOGIC I are currently 
available to Participants. 

Investment Objectives. The Pool will invest only in authorized investments under the Public Funds 
Investment Act. Its general investment objectives are safety of principal, liquidity in accordance with the 
operating requirements of the Participants, and a competitive rate of return. 

Rating. In order to comply with the Public Funds Investment Act, all Portfolios will maintain a AAAm 
or equivalent rating from at least one nationally recognized rating agency. Units of LOGIC I are currently 
rated “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s. 

No Sales Commissions or Investment Minimum. There is no investment minimum and no sales 
charge. 

Deposits, Withdrawals, and Transactions. Deposits and withdrawals may be made by automated 
clearinghouse (“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“wire transfer”). 
Transaction requests will be by telephone, internet transaction system or by contacting a LOGIC 
representative. 

Investment Management. The Portfolio will be managed by J.P. Morgan Investment Management 
Inc. (the “Investment Manager”). 

Administrators. Day to day administration of the Pool will be performed by Hilltop Securities Inc., 
Hilltop Asset Management, LLC and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. (the “Administrators”). 
Hilltop Securities Inc. will provide marketing and distribution services. Hilltop Securities Asset Management, 
LLC will provide participant and administrative services, and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. will 
provide investment management, custody and fund accounting services. Transfer agency services will be 
provided by DST Asset Manager Solutions, Inc. (“DST” or the “Transfer Agent”). DST and each of the 
Administrators or their affiliates may provide certain services, including those described herein, through the 
use of subcontractors or delegates. 

Further Information. Further information is available from LOGIC Participant Services, c/o Hilltop 
Asset Management, LLC, 717 N. Harwood Street, Suite 3400, Dallas, Texas 75201, telephone 1-800-895- 
6442, fax 214-953-8877. The LOGIC website is www.logic.org. Certain terms used in this Information 
Statement are found in the Glossary attached to this Information Statement. Capitalized terms used but 
not defined herein shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the LOGIC investment policies (“Investment 
Policies”). 

http://www.logic.org/
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This Information Statement provides detailed information about the Pool and its policies. Please 
read it carefully and retain it for future reference. 

ORGANIZATION 

The Pool was established pursuant to an Interlocal Agreement, which was subsequently amended 
and is now entitled Participation Agreement and Trust Instrument (the “Agreement”) between participating 
Government Entities. Participation in the Pool is limited to those eligible Government Entities which have 
become parties to the Agreement (“Participants”). 

Participants’ assets in the Pool are represented by units of beneficial interest (“Units”), which are 
issued in discrete series (each a “Portfolio”), as authorized from time to time by the Board. Assets invested 
in any Portfolio will be managed separately, and segregated from, the assets of every other Portfolio. 

Assets in each Portfolio will be invested in accordance with such investment objectives, limitations 
and other policies established for that Portfolio by the Board. 

The complete Investment Policies adopted by the Board, from time to time, are summarized in this 
Information Statement. Any Participant may obtain a copy of such Investment Policies from the LOGIC 
website at www.logic.org or by contacting LOGIC Participant Services at 1-800-895-6442. 

The Board has authorized one Portfolio of the Pool at the present time: “LOGIC I”. The Investment 
Policies and strategies with respect to the Portfolio of the Pool are summarized below. Following the 
summary is an analysis of the Portfolio which each Government Entity should review to determine if the 
Portfolio meets its needs. 

LOGIC I PORTFOLIO 

Investment Objectives and Strategy. The Investment Objectives of the LOGIC I Portfolio are to 
seek preservation of principal, liquidity, and current income through investment in a diversified portfolio of 
short-term marketable securities. The Portfolio’s maximum final stated maturity is 397 days for fixed rate 
securities and 25 months for variable rate notes. The Portfolio will maintain a dollar-weighted average 
portfolio maturity that does not exceed 60 days (or fewer days if required to maintain its rating). The Portfolio 
seeks to maintain a net asset value of $1.00 per Unit and is designed to be used for investment of funds 
which may be needed at any time. 

Investments in the Portfolio are neither insured nor guaranteed by the U.S. Government, the Pool, 
its Board, the Administrators, their agents or any governmental or other entity and there can be no 
assurance that the Portfolio will maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00. 

Investment Policies. LOGIC I will have the following investment policies: 

1. LOGIC I may invest in the following securities:

a. Obligations, including letters of credit, of the United States or its agencies and
instrumentalities, including the Federal Home Loan Banks;

b Other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally
guaranteed or insured by the United States;

c Fully collateralized repurchase agreements and reverse repurchase agreements
with a defined termination date not to exceed 95 calendar days with respect to
repurchase agreements and 90 days with respect to reverse repurchase
agreements (unless the repurchase agreement has a put option that allows the
fund to liquidate the position at principal plus accrued interest with no more than 7

http://www.logic.org/
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days notice to the counterparty) and secured by cash or any obligation, the 
principal and interest of which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by, or 
backed by the full faith and credit of the United States or its agencies or its 
instrumentalities, including mortgage-backed securities and obligations that are 
fully guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The 
repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements must be placed with primary 
government securities dealers and/or financial institutions doing business in the 
State of Texas; 

d SEC registered money market funds authorized by the Public Funds Investment 
Act and rated in the highest rating category by at least one nationally recognized 
rating agency; and 

e Commercial paper that has a stated maturity of 365 days or fewer from the date of 
its issuance that is rated A-1 or P-1 or equivalent by two nationally recognized 
rating agencies or that is rated A-1 or P-1 or equivalent by one nationally 
recognized rating agency and is fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit 
issued by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United States or 
any state. 

2. The Portfolio will not invest in United States Government securities representing
ownership in mortgage pools or collateralized mortgage obligations. The Portfolio will not invest in Bankers’ 
Acceptances. 

3. The Portfolio will seek to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per Unit to
preserve the principal of all Participants. 

4. The Portfolio’s maximum final stated maturity is 397 days for fixed rate securities
and 25 months for variable rate notes. The dollar-weighted average maturity of the Portfolio (calculated 
taking into account the period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each 
security, the principal amount must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for 
redemption, the date on which the redemption payment must be made and may utilize the interest rate 
reset date for variable rate notes or floating rate securities) will not exceed 60 days (or less, if required to 
maintain a rating in the highest rating category by the nationally recognized rating agency currently rating 
the Portfolio). The dollar-weighted average final maturity of the Portfolio (calculated taking into account the 
period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each security, the principal amount 
must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for redemption, the date on which the 
redemption payment must be made) will not exceed 90 days. So long as required by the Public Funds 
Investment Act, the Pool will disclose to Participants the calculations of dollar-weighted average maturity 
and dollar-weighted average final maturity of the Portfolio. 

5. Withdrawals from the Portfolio and transfers to another Portfolio may be made on
any business day with deadlines and provisions as more fully described in the Operating Policies. 

6. To provide additional liquidity, incremental income, or enhanced yield, the Portfolio
may engage in reverse repurchase agreements with reinvestment of proceeds limited to the term of the 
Reverse Repurchase Agreement, which shall in no event exceed 90 days. 

7. The Portfolio may not borrow money or incur indebtedness, except that it may incur
and pay operating expenses. 

8. The Portfolio may not lend its money, except to the extent that the Portfolio may
make authorized investments and it may lend its securities pursuant to a Reverse Repurchase Agreement. 

9. Fully collateralized Repurchase Agreements must (i) have defined termination
dates, (ii) be secured by cash or obligations, the principal and interest of which are unconditionally 
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guaranteed or insured by, or backed by the full faith and credit of, the United States or its agencies or 
instrumentalities, including mortgage-backed securities and obligations that are fully guaranteed or insured 
by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or by the explicit full faith and credit of the United States, (iii) 
require purchased securities to be pledged to the investing entity or a third party, and (iv) be placed through 
a primary government securities dealer, as defined by the Federal Reserve, or a financial institution doing 
business in the State of Texas. The market value of such collateral will be determined (marked to market) 
at least daily. All Repurchase Agreements will be documented through use of the Master Repurchase 
Agreement promulgated by the Securities Industry and Financial Markets Association. 

10. The Portfolio may engage in portfolio trading in an attempt to maximize the total
return on assets. 

11. The Portfolio will not invest in the aggregate more than 20% of its monthly average
balance in SEC registered money market funds or invest its funds in any one SEC registered money market 
fund in an amount that exceeds 5% of its total assets. 

12. In order to provide and emphasize diversification within the Portfolio, the following
limitations will be applied by comparing the amortized cost of the Portfolio’s investments at the time of 
purchase: 

a 100% of the Portfolio may be in United States Treasury bills, notes or bonds; 

b 100% of the Portfolio may be in United States agency or instrumentality 
obligations; 

c 100% of the Portfolio may be invested in direct Repurchase Agreements; 

d. No more than 25% of the Portfolio may be invested in term Repurchase
Agreements;

e. No more than 5% of the Portfolio may be invested in the Commercial Paper of any entity
(including affiliates).

f. No more than 25% of the Portfolio may be invested in a single industry or business
sector, provided that this limitation does not apply to securities issued or guaranteed by
companies in the financial services industry.

13. The maximum maturity of Repurchase Agreements may not exceed 95 days
unless the Repurchase Agreement has a put option that allows the fund to liquidate the position at par 
(principal plus accrued interest) with no more than 7 (seven) days notice to the counterparty. 

14. Diversification of Repurchase Agreement counterparties will be emphasized.

15. The Portfolio shall only invest in money market funds which are in compliance with
the diversification requirements of Rule 2a7. 

16. For liquidity and to respond to unusual market conditions, the Portfolio may hold
all or most of its total assets in cash for temporary defensive purposes. This may result in a lower yield and 
prevent the Portfolio from meeting its investment objectives. 

How Yields and Net Asset Value Are Determined in LOGIC I. The net interest income of the 
Portfolio is determined each business day, and consists of (i) the sum of (a) interest accrued, (b) discount 
earned (including both original issue and market discount), and (c) realized capital gains (generally 
amortized over a period of 30 days or less) less (ii) the sum of (a) amortization of premium, (b) the estimated 
expenses of the Portfolio applicable to that distribution period, and (c) realized capital losses (generally 
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amortized over a period of 30 days or less). All net income of the Portfolio so determined is declared as 
earnings to Participants each day. Earnings accrue throughout the month and are distributed as of the close 
of business on the last business day of the month. On the first business day of the following month, the 
earnings are reinvested as additional Units at the current net asset value (expected to be $1.00), unless 
the Participant has elected to have them paid out. If the entire balance in an account is withdrawn during 
the month, the accrued distributions will be paid on or before the first business day of the following month. 

The net asset value per Unit of the Portfolio is calculated each business day by adding the 
amortized book value of all Portfolio securities and other assets, deducting accrued expenses and 
arrearages, and dividing by the number of Units outstanding. The result of this computation will be rounded 
to the nearest whole cent. As previously noted, it is the intention of the Portfolio to maintain a net asset 
value per Unit of $1.00. To the extent that the Board elects to utilize a net asset value per Unit determined 
by using available market quotations in lieu of amortized accounting, the Portfolio will reflect market 
fluctuations and any unrealized gains and losses resulting from those fluctuations on a daily basis. 

Portfolio assets are valued on the basis of the amortized cost valuation technique. This involves 
valuing an instrument at its cost and thereafter assuming a constant amortization to maturity of discount or 
premium, regardless of the impact of fluctuating interest rates on the market value of the instrument. While 
this method provides certainty of valuation, it may result in periods during which value, as determined by 
amortized cost, is higher or lower than the price the Portfolio would receive if it sold the instrument. Although 
the Portfolio values its instruments on the basis of their amortized cost, certain occasions may arise on 
which the Portfolio sells some Portfolio holdings prior to maturity. The proceeds realized by such a sale 
may be higher or lower than the original cost, thus resulting in a capital gain or loss. 

The Board has determined, in good faith, that it is in the best interests of the Portfolio and the 
Unitholders to maintain a stable net asset value of $1.00 per Unit, by virtue of utilization of the amortized 
cost method which generally approximates the market value of the assets and has been deemed to be a 
proxy for fair value. The Portfolio will continue to use such method only so long as the Board believes that 
it fairly reflects the market-based net asset value per Unit. 

If at any time, pursuant to its daily calculation, the deviation between the amortized cost and market- 
determined values of the Portfolio’s assets or the deviation between market-determined values and $1.00 
per Unit exceeds $0.0030 per Unit, the Administrators shall promptly notify the Board and continue to keep 
the Board apprised of the daily calculations. In the event that the deviation between the amortized cost and 
market-determined values or the deviation between market-determined values and $1.00 per Unit exceeds 
$0.0040, the Administrators shall promptly notify the Board and follow any directions of the Board. However, 
absent contrary instructions, the Administrators shall promptly sell portfolio holdings, or will take such other 
action as the Board, or its delegates, may direct to eliminate or reduce to the extent reasonably practicable 
any dilution or unfair result to existing Unitholders. 

Monitoring Market Price of Investments and Ratings. The market price of all investments in the 
Portfolio is monitored daily by the Investment Manager. An independent or affiliated commercial pricing 
services or third party broker-dealers may be utilized to determine market value. The pricing services or 
broker-dealers use multiple valuation techniques to determine fair value. In instances where sufficient 
market activity exists, the pricing services or broker-dealers may utiize a market-based approach through 
which quotes from market makers are used to determine fair value. In instances where sufficient market 
activity may not exist or is limited, the pricing services or broker-dealers also utilize proprietary valuation 
models which may consider market transactions in comparable securities and the various relationships 
between securities in determining value and/or market charateristics. Overnight Repurchase Agreements 
shall be valued at par. Collateral securing Repurchase Agreements shall be monitored daily by the 
custodian for the collateral and reviewed by the Investment Manager. An independent or affiliated 
commercial pricing services or third party broker-dealers may be utilized to determine market price. The 
Investment Manager will periodically monitor the credit ratings of the investments in which the Portfolio 
invests and, to the extent required under the Public Funds Investment Act, will take all prudent measures 
to liquidate any investments that fail to meet any minimum rating requirement for such investments set forth 
in the Public Funds Investment Act. 
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Financial Reporting. LOGIC has been using fair value reporting for financial statement presentation 
since the 2011 fiscal year because it allows for the most accurate reflection of the economic condition of 
the investments. 

Size and Performance History. The Portfolio received its first funds in May 1994, when assets 
under management were $25,265,557 with three Participants. Since then, the amount invested in the 
Portfolio and the number of Participants has varied. As of March 31, 2025, the assets were approximately 
$14 billion with 752 participants. 

More detail on the performance history of the Portfolio and the most current information on the size 
and performance of the Portfolio, including yield, weighted average maturity and the expense ratio, is 
included in an Addendum to this Information Statement being distributed with each Information Statement. 
The history of the operating expenses of the Portfolio is found under “Operating Expenses.” 

UNDERSTANDING RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE LOGIC I PORTFOLIO 

The LOGIC I Portfolio is subject to various risks, including those listed below, any of which may 
adversely affect the Portfolio’s performance and ability to meet its investment objectives. Each Participant 
must determine the amount of credit risk and interest rate risk that it wishes to take. Then it can determine 
whether the LOGIC I Portfolio is appropriate for specific funds. LOGIC I by itself does not represent a fully- 
balanced investment plan. 

Unlike money market mutual funds which are registered with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission, LOGIC I operates in compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act (“PFIA”) and not with 
the Investment Company Act of 1940 and Rule 2a-7 thereunder. 

Credit Risk. Credit risk is the possibility that an issuer of a fixed income security held by the LOGIC 
I Portfolio will default on the security by failing to pay principal or interest when due. Any class of investment 
is subject to this risk. Remedies against a defaulting issuer of securities are limited, and the LOGIC I 
Portfolio may not be successful in securing repayment. A deterioration in credit quality or perceived credit 
quality of an investment held by the LOGIC I Portfolio could reduce the market price at which the LOGIC I 
Portfolio could sell the investment. The Investment Manager assesses the credit quality of the investments 
made for the LOGIC I Portfolio. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio will invest in high quality commercial paper, as defined in the Investment 
Policies. Commercial paper refers to short-term unsecured promissory notes issued by business entities 
to finance short-term credit needs. Issuers of commercial paper could fail to make payments when due or 
default completely. Many issuers of commercial paper expect to repay commercial paper obligations at 
maturity from the proceeds of issuance of new commercial paper. As a result, investment in commercial 
paper is subject to the risk the issuer cannot issue enough new commercial paper to satisfy its outstanding 
commercial paper payment obligations, also known as rollover risk. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio enters into repurchase agreements collateralized by cash or securities with 
approved counterparties. The Portfolio may be affected in the event a repurchase agreement counterparty 
fails to make payment or defaults completely. The LOGIC I Portfolio should be able to take possession of 
and sell the collateral securing the counterparty’s obligations; however, a loss may be realized on the sale 
of the underlying securities to the extent that the proceeds from the sale are less than the resale price 
provided in the repurchase agreement. Should a counterparty declare bankruptcy or become insolvent, the 
LOGIC I Portfolio may incur delays and costs in selling the underlying securities. The Portfolio may transfer 
uninvested cash into joint accounts which are utilized by multiple funds managed by the investment manager 
or its affiliates and used to enter into repurchase agreements. Under these joint accounts, the Portfolio has 
a pro rata interest in the repurchase agreements with the other participants in the joint account pursuant to 
joint allocation procedures approved by all the participants. In this case, any losses from a default by a 
counterparty or its insolvency or bankruptcy would be allocated on a pro rata basis among the participants 
in the joint account. 
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The Portfolio may invest in obligations of the United States, its agencies and instrumentalities, and 
other obligations, the principal of and interest on which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the 
United States. U.S. Treasury securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government, 
meaning that the U.S. government is required to repay the principal when due. Other types of securities 
issued or guaranteed by federal agencies and U.S. government sponsored instrumentalities may not be 
backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. Government. In this case, payment is due from the agency 
or instrumentality only. 

SEC registered money market funds, another permitted investment by LOGIC I, may invest in a 
variety of obligations, including U.S. Government obligations, bank obligations, including banker’s 
acceptances, Commercial Paper, Repurchase Agreements, and obligations of state and local governments. 
The SEC establishes diversification and credit quality requirements for such funds. The Portfolio’s 
investment policy also requires that they be rated in the highest rating category by at least one nationally 
recognized rating agency. 

The LOGIC I Portfolio is not secured by an insurance policy, federal deposit insurance, or 
other secondary guarantee. 

Interest Rate Risk. The prices of debt securities in which the LOGIC I Portfolio will invest, including 
bonds and debt securities issued by the U.S. Government, its agencies and instrumentalities, will change 
in value, that is, market price based on changes in interest rates. If rates increase, the value of these 
investments generally declines. Interest rate changes have a greater effect on the price of fixed income 
securities with longer maturities. The LOGIC I Portfolio may invest in variable and floating rate securities. 
Although these instruments are generally less sensitive to interest rate changes than fixed rate instruments, 
the value of floating rate and variable securities may decline if their interest rates do not rise as quickly, or 
as much, as general interest rates. 

During periods when interest rates are low or there are negative interest rates, the Portfolio’s yield 
(and total return) also may be low or the Portfolio may be unable to maintain positive returns. 

Stable Net Asset Value Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio seeks to preserve the net asset value (NAV) 
of the Participants’ investment at $1.00 per unit. The Administrators have policies and procedures in place 
to monitor the Portfolio’s NAV and to take action to minimize market risk; however, the Portfolio cannot 
guarantee a $1.00 NAV. The value of the Portfolio is dependent on timely receipt of the amounts due on 
the obligations in the Portfolio. Any delays or failures in receipt of payments or periods of low interest or 
negative interest rates may adversely affect the NAV of the Portfolio. Units in the LOGIC I Portfolio are 
subject to investment risks, including possible loss of principal amount invested. 

Market Risk. The market price of securities owned by the LOGIC I Portfolio may rapidly or 
unpredictably decline due to factors affecting securities markets generally or particular industries. Global 
events that may affect the market price of securities include war, terrorism, environmental disasters, natural 
disasters or events, country instability and infectious disease epidemics or pandemics, such as COVID-19. 
Geopolitical events that may affect the price of securities include inflation, deflation, debt crises and 
downgrades, embargoes, tariffs, and other governmental trade or market control programs. The U.S. 
government and other issuers of securities do not guarantee the market price of their securities. 

Management Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio is subject to management risk and it may not achieve 
its objective if the Investment Manager’s expectations regarding particular instruments or interest rates are 
not met. 

Concentration Risk. Because the LOGIC I Portfolio will, under ordinary circumstances, invest a 
significant portion of its assets in securities of companies in the banking industry, developments affecting 
the banking industry may have a disproportionate impact on the Portfolio. These risks generally include 
interest rate risk, credit risk and risk associated with regulatory changes in the banking industry. The 
profitability of banks depends largely on the availability and cost of funds, which can change depending on 
economic conditions. 
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Non-U.S. Issuers of Commercial Paper. All commercial paper in the LOGIC I Portfolio is 
denominated in U.S. dollars; however, some of the entities issuing the commercial paper are headquartered 
outside of the U.S. and subject to the laws of jurisdictions where economic or political conditions may be 
less favorable than those in the United States. Risks include capital controls and the imposition of foreign 
withholding taxes. The investment manager will perform a credit analysis on all commercial paper 
purchased into the portfolio and any commercial paper issued by non-U.S. entities will have at least the 
same financial strength as the domestic issuers approved for the Portfolio. 

Liquidity Risk. Trading opportunities are more limited for fixed income securities that are not 
widely held. These features make it more difficult to sell or buy securities at a favorable price or time. 
Consequently, the LOGIC I Portfolio may have to accept a lower price to sell a security, sell other securities 
to raise cash or give up on an investment opportunity, any of which could have a negative impact on the 
Portfolio’s performance. 

Transactions Risk. The LOGIC I Portfolio could experience a loss and its liquidity may be 
negatively impacted when selling securities to meet withdrawal requests by Participants. The risk of loss 
increases if the withdrawal requests are unusually large or frequent or occur in times of overall market 
turmoil or declining prices. Similarly, large deposits may adversely affect the LOGIC I Portfolio's 
performance to the extent that the LOGIC I Portfolio is delayed in investing new cash and is required to 
maintain a larger cash position than it ordinarily would. 

Cybersecurity Risk. Use of technology to conduct business could subject the Portfolio and its 
third-party service providers (including the Administrators) to risks associated with cybersecurity. If a 
cybersecurity attack is successful, an unauthorized person could misappropriate assets or sensitive 
information, corrupt data, or cause operational disruption. The Administrators have developed 
technological safeguards and business continuity plans to prevent or reduce the impact of potential 
cybersecurity incidents. Despite these measures, a cybersecurity incident still has the potential to cause 
harm to the Portfolio and its Participants. 

RATINGS 

In compliance with the Public Funds Investment Act, all portfolios will maintain a AAAm or 
equivalent rating from at least one nationally recognized rating agency. Units of the LOGIC I Portfolio have 
been assigned a rating of “AAAm” by Standard & Poor’s. An explanation of the significance of such ratings 
may be obtained from Standard & Poor’s, 1221 Avenue of the Americas, New York, NY 10041. 

ELIGIBILITY TO INVEST 

The Public Funds Investment Act sets out the entities which may invest in LOGIC, each of which 
is defined in this document as a “Government Entity”. According to the Public Funds Investment Act, a local 
government, a state agency, or a nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of a local government or a state 
agency may invest in a local government investment pool, like LOGIC. A local government is defined as a 
municipality, a county, a school district, a district or authority created under Section 52(b)(1) or (2), Article 
III, or Section 59, Article XVI, Texas Constitution (such as a municipal utility district, water control and 
improvement district, or navigation district), a fresh water supply district, a hospital district, and any political 
subdivision, authority, public corporation, body politic, or instrumentality of the State of Texas, and any 
nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities. A state agency is defined as an office, 
department, commission, board, or other agency that is part of any branch of state government, an 
institution of higher education, and any nonprofit corporation acting on behalf of any of those entities. 

ADMINISTRATION OF THE POOL 

The Pool Structure. By entering into the Agreement, Participants establish a public funds 
investment pool and trust entitled Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) and designate the 
Board of Trustees of the Pool as an agency and instrumentality of the Participants and agree that it will be 

 



 LOGIC INFORMATION STATEMENT 

9 

the governing body of the Pool and trustee of the Participant funds deposited into the Pool for the benefit 
of the Partcipants. The Pool holds legal title to all money, investments and other assets of the Pool and, 
through the Board, has the authority to employ personnel, engage in other administrative activities and 
provide other administrative services necessary to accomplish the objectives of the Pool. 

The Board and the Bylaws. Pursuant to the Agreement, the business and affairs of the Pool are 
required to be managed by the Board, and the Board is authorized to adopt and maintain bylaws (the 
“Bylaws”). The Bylaws set forth procedures governing the selection of, and action taken by, the members 
of the Board. The Bylaws provide for a five-member Board consisting of individuals who are Participant 
employees or officers or elected officials. A maximum of two ex officio board members are representatives 
of the Administrators of the Pool. 

The Board may remove any trustee if (a) a trustee who was an appointed or elected official or 
employee of a Participant at the time he or she became a trustee, ceases to be an elected or appointed 
official or employee of the Participant, (b) the trustee files personal bankruptcy or is adjudicated an 
incompetent, or (c) the Participant for which the trustee is an elected or appointed official or an employee 
ceases to be a Participant. The Board will fill any vacancy resulting thereby or otherwise in accordance 
with the Bylaws. Trustees will have three-year terms. Board members serve without compensation but are 
entitled to reimbursement of reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in the performance of Board 
duties. 

The Board consists of the following individuals: 

Name Board Position and Term Affiliation 

Sandra Newby President - 12/31/2027 

Greg Jordan Vice President/2nd        
Investment Officer - 12/31/2026 

Tarrant Regional 
Water District 

Fort Worth Transportation 
Authority 

Darla Moss 

Jeanne Chipperfield 

David Medanich 

Andrew Linton 

Treasurer/Investment Officer - 
12/31/2026 

Secretary - 12/31/25 

Ex Officio Trustee 

Ex Officio Trustee 

Arlington Independent School 
District 

North Texas Municipal Water 
District 

Hilltop Securities Inc. and 
Hilltop Asset Management, LLC 

J.P. Morgan Investment 
Management Inc. 

Mr. Medanich is a director and officer of Hilltop Securities Inc. and Hilltop Securities Asset 
Management, LLC. Hilltop Securities Inc. has contracted with the Pool to serve as Administrator to provide 
distribution and marketing services. Hilltop Asset Management, LLC has contracted with the Pool to serve 
as Administrator to provide administrative and Participant services. He has no voting powers. 

Mr. Linton is an executive director for J.P. Morgan Asset Management Inc. J.P. Morgan Investment 
Management Inc. has contracted with the Pool to serve as Administrator to provide services including 
investment management, transfer agency, fund accounting and custodial services. He has no voting 
powers. 

Primary duties of the Board include, but are not limited to, adoption of the Investment Policies, 
Operating Policies, and the Bylaws, appointing officers, and employing the Administrators and other service 
providers. The meetings of the Board are open to the public. 
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Advisory Board. The Board appoints an Advisory Board of Participant employees, officers or elected 
officials and individuals who do not have a business relationship with the Pool and are qualified to advise it. 
The Board consists of the following individuals: 

Name Term Affiliation 

Kelvin Bryant 9/30/28 City of McKinney 

Monte Mercer 9/30/27 North Central Texas 
Council of Governments 

Administrators. The Board has entered into a contract with Hilltop Securities Inc., Hilltop Securities 
Asset Management, LLC and J.P. Morgan Investment Management Inc. to provide distribution, marketing, 
administrative and Participant, investment management, fund accounting, and transfer agency services for 
the Pool (the “Agreement”). These duties also include receiving Pool applications, providing a record- 
keeping system for the Pool, processing deposits, withdrawals and other requests, preparing monthly 
reports to the Board and Participants on the performance of the Portfolios and the net asset value per Unit, 
and providing day to day contact with Participants. DST Asset Manager Solutions, Inc. (“DTS”) has 
subcontracted to provide transfer agency services. DTS and each of the Administrators or its affiliates may 
provide certain services, including those described herein, through the use of subcontractors or delegates. 

Custodian. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. is the custodian for the Pool. The Custodian will receive 
and disburse all Participant deposits and withdrawals, settle all portfolio trades, safekeep certain securities, 
and collect all income or any other payment due in connection with purchased securities. The Custodian or 
its affiliates may provide certain services, including those described herein, through the use of 
subcontractors or delegates. 

LIABILITY LIMITATIONS 

None of the Board, the Investment Officers selected by the Board, or the officers and employees 
of the Board will be held liable for any action or omission to act on behalf of the Pool or the Participants 
unless caused by such person’s fraud, willful malfeasance, or bad faith. To the fullest extent permitted by 
law, any obligation of LOGIC shall be payable solely from the assets held by LOGIC, and none of the 
Unitholders, whether past, present, or future, shall be personally liable therefor. 

The Administrators have agreed to indemnify and hold harmless the Pool and the Board from any 
loss, liability or cost (including reasonable attorney's fees) which is not covered by insurance proceeds and 
which the Pool and the Board may sustain, incur or assume as a result of claims resulting from or arising 
out of the negligence of the Administrators in connection with the provision of Administrator services under 
the Agreement, unless such claims result from gross negligence, fraud or willful misconduct of the Pool or 
the Board. To the extent that a Administrator delegates all or a part of its responsibilities under the 
Agreement, the Administrator will be responsible for compliance with the terms of the Agreement to the 
same extent as if such Administrator itself had acted or failed to act instead of the delegate. 

None of the Administrators guarantees the performance of the assets of the Pool or any specific 
level of performance, that the Pool will maintain a net asset value per Unit of $1.00, the success of any 
investment decision or strategy that the Administrators may use, or the success of the Administrators’ 
overall management of the Pool. Investment decisions made for the Pool by the Administrators are subject 
to various market, currency, economic, political and business risks, and that those investment decisions 
may not always be profitable. 

PORTFOLIO TRANSACTIONS 

The Investment Manager has no obligation to deal with any dealer or group of dealers in the 
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execution of transactions in portfolio securities of the Pool. The securities in which the Portfolios will be 
invested are normally purchased directly from the issuer or from a dealer in such securities. Where 
possible, the Investment Manager deals directly with the dealers who make a market in the securities 
involved except in those circumstances where better prices and execution are available elsewhere. It is the 
policy of the Pool to obtain the best net results in conducting portfolio transactions, taking into account such 
factors as price, the size, type and difficulty of the transactions involved, the firm’s general execution and 
operations facilities, and the provision of supplemental investment research by the firm. The Portfolio 
securities of the Pool are traded on a net basis and do not involve either brokerage commissions or transfer 
taxes. 

The Investment Manager may dispose of securities without regard to the time they have been held 
when such actions, for defensive or other portfolio management reasons, appear advisable. High portfolio 
turnover involves correspondingly greater transaction costs, which are borne directly by the Pool. 

Portfolio investments will not be purchased from or sold to the Administrators or any affiliate of any 
Administrator. Investments may be sold by one Portfolio to another Portfolio at the prevailing market prices. 

Settlement of all transactions shall be conducted on a delivery versus payment (DVP) basis. 

OPERATING EXPENSES 

The Administrators’ fee hereunder for LOGIC I shall be accrued daily and paid monthly at an annual 
rate of 9.75 basis points (0.0975%), based on the total of all Participants’ balances in LOGIC I at the end 
of each day. This fee includes other operating expenses including, but are not limited to, expenses of the 
Board, including directors and officers liability insurance, legal, audit and accounting expenses, the costs 
of safekeeping, settlement, cash movement and banking services provided by the Custodian, rating agency 
fees, non-recurring expenses, deferred organizational expenses, and expenses of preparing, printing and 
mailing Information Statements, reports, notices and proxy materials to Participants. 

ANNUAL AUDIT 

The financial statements of the Pool will be examined and a certification issued by an independent 
certified public accounting firm, following the close of each fiscal year. The examination will include 
reconciliation of securities held by the Custodian and a review of the Pool’s internal controls over financial 
reporting as a basis for designing auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
financial statements. An annual report including the auditor’s opinion, following its completion, is available 
upon request to each Participant of record as of the close of the Pool’s fiscal year, which ends August 31 
(“Annual Report”). The Board has retained PriceWaterhouseCoopers, LLP, 2121 North Pearl Street, Suite 
2000, Dallas, Texas 75201, to audit its financial statements for fiscal year ending August 31, 2023. 

PARTICIPATING IN THE POOL 

New Accounts. To become a Participant in the Pool, a Government Entity’s governing body (e.g., 
board of trustees, city council, etc.) must adopt a resolution approving an Application for Participation in 
LOGIC and authorizing specified officers of the Government Entity to execute the Application. The 
Application for Participation contains the Government Entity’s agreement with other LOGIC Participants 
and the LOGIC Board of Trustees to the terms and conditions in the LOGIC Participation Agreement and 
Trust Instrument. The Application also designates Authorized Representataives to open accounts, to 
deposit and withdraw funds, to agree to the terms for use of the website for online transactions, and to 
designate other Authorized Representatives. 

Following adoption of the resolution, the Government Entity must complete and send the completed 
LOGIC application form with a certified copy of the resolution. A Government Entity may become a 
Participant and open an account with the Pool without being obligated to deposit any money or otherwise 
actively participate in the Pool. 
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The Pool will request a Government Entity to provide its investment policy for review under the 
Public Funds Investment Act. The Government Entity will receive confirmation from the Pool that it has 
reviewed the policy and has implemented reasonable procedures and controls in an effort to preclude 
investment activities between the Pool and the Government Entity that are not authorized by the 
Government Entity’s investment policy, except to the extent that this authorization is dependent on an 
analysis of the makeup of the Government Entity’s entire portfolio or requires an interpretation of subjective 
investment standards. 

Deposits. Deposits (including new accounts) are required to be made by either Automated Clearing 
House electronic funds transfer (“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“Wire 
Transfer”). Deposits will be accepted by the Pool on any business day. 

In the case of a Wire Transfer deposit, the Participant must notify LOGIC of any wire deposit 
transaction requests by 4:00 p.m. CST if using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST when 
contacting a Participant Services Representative. 

In addition to notifying LOGIC, the Participant must instruct its local bank to wire funds to LOGIC 
by 4:00 p.m. CST. All incoming wire deposits must be received by 4:00 p.m. CST, to earn interest for that 
day. Any wire deposits received after 4:00 p.m. CST will not be invested until the following business day. 

ACH transaction requests will be executed on the business day following the date the transaction 
was initiated if requested in accordance with the daily transaction deadlines for the pool. In the case of an 
ACH deposit, the Participant must notify LOGIC by 4:00 p.m. CST one business day prior to the settlement 
date when using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
settlement date when contacting a Participant Services Representative. ACH transactions are processed 
in accordance with the prearranged Participant information as provided on the bank information sheet 
corresponding to that specific LOGIC account or subaccount. In the event of an ACH rejection, LOGIC will 
contact the Participant to confirm the rejection. LOGIC will credit/debit the Participant’s account accordingly. 

Transfers. Participants may transfer funds from one of their LOGIC sub-accounts to another of 
their LOGIC sub-accounts. In the case of an internal transfer, the participant must notify LOGIC of any 
internal transfer transaction requests by 4:00 p.m. CST if using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 
p.m. CST when contacting a Participant Services Representative.

The procedures for transfers are described in the Operating Policies. 

Business Days. The Pool will determine on an annual basis the business days on which it will 
conduct operations. 

WITHDRAWALS 

Withdrawals are required to be made by either Automated Clearing House electronic funds transfer 
(“ACH”) or wire transfer through the Federal Reserve Bank System (“Wire Transfer”). Withdrawals will be 
processed from the LOGIC I Portfolio on any business day (or in the event such day is not a business day, 
on the next preceding business day). 

Wire transfer withdrawal transaction requests will be executed on the same day as initiated. In the 
case of a Wire Transfer withdrawal, the Participant must notify LOGIC either by 4:00 p.m. CST using the 
internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST by contacting a Participant Services Representative. 

ACH transaction requests will be executed on the business day following the date the transaction 
was initiated if requested in accordance with the daily transaction deadlines for the pool. In the case of an 
ACH withdrawal, the Participant must notify LOGIC by 4:00 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
settlement date using the internet transaction system or by 3:30 p.m. CST one business day prior to the 
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settlement date when contacting a Participant Services Representative. ACH transfer withdrawals are sent 
in accordance with the prearranged Participant information as provided on the bank information sheet 
corresponding to that specific LOGIC account or subaccount. In the event of an ACH rejection, LOGIC will 
contact the Participant to confirm the rejection. LOGIC will credit/debit the Participant’s account accordingly. 

In all cases, the Participant must provide the following information: name, identifying access code, 
Pool account number and the amount to be withdrawn. The amount requested to be withdrawn cannot 
exceed the net asset value of the Participant’s account on the date such notice is given. 

LOGIC reserves the right to suspend the right of withdrawal or to postpone the date of payment in 
the event that the Federal Reserve is closed other than for customary weekend and holiday closings, in the 
event of a general suspension of trading in any securities market which affects LOGIC operations, or if, in 
the opinion of the Board, an emergency exists so that the disposal of LOGIC's securities or determination 
of its net asset value is not reasonably practical. 

PARTICIPANT FEES AND EXPENSES 

A Participant’s account will be directly charged for the cost of any special services rendered at the 
request of the Participant. A Participant’s account will also be charged with all actual costs and expenses 
associated with extraordinary events affecting such account including, but not limited to, losses of 
investment income to the Pool associated with ACH returns or by failure to timely transmit a wire transfer 
for deposit, unless such failure was beyond the control of the Participant. 

REPORTS TO THE PARTICIPANTS 

Participants receive a transaction confirmation detailing each deposit, withdrawal, transfer, and 
exchange. Each Participant also receives a monthly statement of its account showing the current balance 
in its account and all activity since the prior monthly report. The Pool will issue an Annual Report containing 
financial statements audited by the Pool’s independent auditors. 

AMENDMENT OF POOL DOCUMENTS 

The Investment Policies, the Operating Procedures, and the Bylaws may be amended by the 
Board, provided that notice of any such amendment which the Board determines materially affects the 
Participants is sent to all affected Participants at least 30 days prior to the effective date thereof. 
Amendments to the Agreement by the Board require that notice be sent to Participants at least 60 days 
prior to the effective date thereof. Copies of the Agreement, Investment Policies, Operating Procedures, 
and the Bylaws can be obtained from the Administrators. 

GLOSSARY 

Some of the terms used in this Information Statement are described below: 

“Bankers’ Acceptances” are negotiable obligations of a bank to pay a draft which has been drawn 
on it by a customer. These obligations are backed by large banks and usually by goods in international 
trade, as well. The Public Funds Investment Act requires that a bankers’ acceptance authorized for 
investment by Government Entities have a stated maturity of 270 days or fewer from the date of its issuance, 
be, in accordance with its terms, liquidated in full at maturity, be eligible for collateral for borrowing from a 
Federal Reserve Bank, and be accepted by a bank organized and existing under the laws of the United 
States or any state, if the short-term obligations of the bank, or of a bank holding company of which the 
bank is the largest subsidiary, are rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by at least one 
nationally recognized credit rating agency. 

“Commercial Paper” consists of short-term promissory notes of corporations and other business 
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entities issued to finance their current operations. The Public Funds Investment Act requires that 
commercial paper authorized for investment by Government Entities have a stated maturity of 270 days or 
fewer from the date of its issuance and be rated not less than A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by at least 
two nationally recognized credit rating agencies, or be rated A-1 or P-1 or an equivalent rating by one 
nationally recognized rating agency and be fully secured by an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a bank 
organized and existing under the laws of the United States or any state. 

“Dollar-weighted average portfolio maturity” or “WAM” is calculated by taking an average of the 
period remaining until the date on which, in accordance with the terms of each security, the principal amount 
must unconditionally be paid, or in the case of a security called for redemption, the date on which the 
redemption payment must be made, weighted by the book value of each security, except that Floating Rate 
Securities and Variable Rate Securities are considered to have the maturities as set forth below. A 
government Floating Rate Security or any Floating Rate Security, the principal amount of which must 
unconditionally be paid in 397 calendar days or less, is deemed to have a maturity of one day. A Variable 
Rate Security, the principal amount of which must unconditionally be paid in 397 calendar days or less, is 
deemed to have a maturity equal to the earlier of the period remaining until the next interest rate adjustment 
or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand. 

“Floating Rate Security” means a security the terms of which provide for the adjustment of its 
interest rate whenever a specified interest rate changes and that, at any time until the final maturity of the 
instrument or the period remaining until the principal amount can be recovered through demand, can 
reasonably be expected to have a market value that approximates its amortized cost. 

“Fully Collateralized” in the case of a repurchase agreement means that: 

(i) The value of the securities collateralizing the repurchase agreement
(reduced by the transaction costs (including loss of interest) that the Pool reasonably could expect to incur 
if the seller defaults) is, and during the entire term of the repurchase agreement remains, at least equal to 
102% of the Resale Price provided in the agreement; 

(ii) Either the Pool or its custodian has actual physical possession of the
collateral or, in the case of a security registered on a book entry system, the book entry is maintained in the 
name of the Pool or its custodian; 

(iii) The collateral consists entirely of cash items or Government securities;
and 

(iv) Upon an event of insolvency with respect to the seller, the repurchase
agreement would qualify under a provision of applicable insolvency law providing an exclusion from any 
automatic stay of creditors’ rights against the seller. 

“Repurchase Agreements” are transactions by which the Pool purchases a security and 
simultaneously commits to resell that security to the seller at an agreed upon Resale Price on an agreed 
upon date within a number of days from the date of purchase. The Resale Price reflects the purchase price 
plus an agreed upon market rate of interest which is unrelated to the coupon rate or maturity of the 
purchased security. A repurchase agreement involves the obligation of the seller to pay the agreed upon 
price, which obligation is in effect secured by the value of the underlying security. 

“Resale Price” means the acquisition price paid to the seller of securities plus the accrued resale 
premium on such acquisition price. The accrued resale premium shall be the amount specified in the 
repurchase agreement or the daily amortization of the difference between the acquisition price and the 
resale price specified in the repurchase agreement. 

“Reverse Repurchase Agreements” are transactions by which the Pool sells a security to another 
party, such as a bank or broker-dealer, in return for cash and agrees to repurchase the instrument at a 
particular price and time. The Pool must invest the cash it receives. If the Pool reinvests the cash at a rate 
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higher than the cost of the agreement, it may earn additional income. Under the Public Funds Investment 
Act, a reverse repurchase agreement may not have a term greater than 90 days. 

“Rule 2a7” refers to Rule 2a-7 of the Investment Company Act of 1940, 17 C.F.R. § 270.2a-7, as 
may be amended from time to time. 

“SEC Registered Money Market Fund” is an investment that pools shareholders’ money, is 
described in a prospectus filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and meets the regulations 
of the SEC applicable to a money market mutual fund, including a requirement that the fund have an 
effective dollar-weighted average portfolio maturity of 60 days or less and that it have as an investment 
objective the maintenance of a stable net asset value of $1 for each share. 

“United States Government Obligations” are debt securities (including bills, certificates of 
indebtedness, notes, and bonds) issued by the United States Treasury or by an agency or instrumentality 
of the United States Government which is established under the authority of an act of Congress. Although 
all obligations of agencies and instrumentalities are not direct obligations of the United States Treasury, 
payment of the interest and principal on these obligations generally is backed directly or indirectly by the 
United States Government. This support can range from backing of the full faith and credit of the United 
States (United States Treasury securities), to United States Government guarantees, or to the backing 
solely of the issuing instrumentality itself. 

“Variable Rate Security” or “Variable Rate Note” means a security the terms of which provide for 
the adjustment of its interest rate on set dates (such as the last day of a month or calendar quarter) and 
that, upon each adjustment until the final maturity of the instrument or the period remaining until the principal 
amount can be recovered through demand, can reasonably be expected to have a market value that 
approximates its amortized cost. 

March 2025 
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LOGIC ENROLLMENT STEPS 

In order for a governmental entity to enroll in LOGIC, the following procedures 
should be performed. 

1. Submit the Resolution in the form entitled Application for Participation in 
LOGIC to the entity’s governing body for approval.

2. Complete and sign the Application for Participation in LOGIC. The 
Resolution in the form of the application should be signed by Board President, 
County Judge, or City Mayor and attested by Board Secretary, County Clerk, 
or City Secretary. The entity seal should be included in the space provided. A 
notary seal is unacceptable.

3. Complete a Bank Instruction Form for each account to be opened.

4. Send all completed documentation with original signatures and an approved 
investment policy of the enrolling entity to our email or fax number below:

Email:  logic@hilltopsecurities.com

5. Enrollment documentation will ordinarily be processed within five (5)
business days of receipt.

Fax:  214.953.8878



SAMPLE AGENDA LANGUAGE 

Short versions: 

(1) Approval of LOGIC Investment Pool as an Authorized 
Investment

(2) Approval of Application for Participation in the Local 
Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC)

Long versions: 

(1) Recommendation to Approve an Application for Participation
in the Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) Trust. 
Included in the agenda exhibit is information pertaining to the 
application. It is recommended that the Board approve the 
application as submitted. 

(2)Recommendation to Approve an Application for Participation
in the Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) Trust. 
Included in the agenda exhibit is information pertaining to the 
application. It is recommended that the Board approve the application 
as submitted to provide the district with an additional investment 
option emphasizing safety and liquidity.   
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APPLICATION FOR PARTICIPATION IN LOGIC 

The undersigned local government (Applicant) applies and agrees to become a Participant in the Local Government 
Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) Trust. 

1. Authorization.  The governing body of Applicant has duly authorized this application by adopting the following
resolution at a meeting of such governing body duly called, noticed, and held in accordance with the Texas Open
Meeting Law, chapter 551, Texas Government Code, on ______________, 20__:

WHEREAS, it is in the best interests of this governmental unit (“Applicant”) to invest its funds jointly with other Texas
eligible investing entities in the Local Government Investment Cooperative (LOGIC) Trust in order better to preserve
and safeguard the principal and liquidity of such funds and to earn an acceptable yield; and

WHEREAS, Applicant is authorized to invest its public funds and funds under its control in LOGIC and to enter into
the Participation Agreement and Trust Instrument authorized herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED THAT:

SECTION 1.  The form of application for participation in LOGIC attached to this resolution is approved.  The officers of
Applicant specified in the application are authorized to execute and submit the application, to open accounts, to
deposit and withdraw funds, to agree to the terms for use of the website for online transactions, to designate other
authorized representatives, and to take all other action required or permitted by Applicant under the Agreement
created by the application, all in the name and on behalf of Applicant.

SECTION 2.  This resolution will continue in full force and effect until amended or revoked by Applicant and written
notice of the amendment or revocation is delivered to the LOGIC Board of Trustees.

SECTION 3.  Terms used in this resolution have the meanings given to them by the application.

2. Agreement.  Applicant agrees with other LOGIC Participants and the LOGIC Board of Trustees to the terms and
conditions in the Participation Agreement and Trust Instrument, effective on this date, which are incorporated herein
by reference.  Applicant makes the representations, designations, delegations, and representations described in the
Participation Agreement and Trust Instrument.

3. Taxpayer Identification Number.  Applicant’s taxpayer identification number is ______________________

4. Contact Information.

Applicant primary mailing address: ______________________________________________________________

Applicant physical address (if different): __________________________________________________________

Applicant main phone number: _________________________________________________________________

Applicant main fax number: ___________________________________________________________________

5. Authorized Representatives.  Each of the following Participant officials is designated as Participant’s Authorized
Representative authorized to give notices and instructions to the LOGIC Board of Trustees in accordance with the
Agreement, the Bylaws, the Investment Policy, and the Operating Procedures:
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 Email:_______________________________________ 

4. Name: ________________________________________Title:________________________________________

Signature:  _____________________________________Phone: _____________________________________

        Email:_______________________________________ 

{REQUIRED} PRIMARY CONTACT: List the name of the Authorized Representative listed above that will be 
designated as the Primary Contact and will receive all LOGIC correspondence including transaction confirmations 
and monthly statements. 

Name:________________________________________________________________________ 

{OPTIONAL} INQUIRY ONLY CONTACT: In addition, the following additional Participant representative (not listed 
above) is designated as an Inquiry Only Representative authorized to obtain account information:   

Name: _______________________________________ Title:________________________________________ 

 Signature:  _____________________________________Phone: ____________________________________ 

 Email:______________________________________ 

Applicant may designate other authorized representatives by written instrument signed by an existing 
Applicant Authorized Representative or Applicant’s chief executive officer. 

DATED  ____________________ 

________________________________________________ 
(NAME OF ENTITY/APPLICANT) 

SIGNED BY: 
       _______________________________________________ 

(Signature of official) 

 _______________________________________________ 

  (Printed name and title) 

ATTESTED BY: 
_______________________________________________     

 (Signature of official) 

    _______________________________________________ 

  (Printed name and title) 

REQUIRED 
PLACE OFFICIAL SEAL OF ENTITY HERE 

FOR INTERNAL USE ONLY  
APPROVED AND ACCEPTED: LOCAL GOVERNMENT INVESTMENT COOPERATIVE (LOGIC) 

……………………………………………………………………………………………. 
 AUTHORIZED SIGNER   DATE V082023

1. Name: ________________________________________Title:________________________________________

Signature:  _____________________________________Phone: ______________________________________

 Email:_______________________________________ 

2. Name: ________________________________________Title:________________________________________

Signature:  _____________________________________Phone: _____________________________________

Email: _______________________________________ 

3. Name: ________________________________________Title:________________________________________

Signature:  _____________________________________Phone:______________________________________



BANK INSTRUCTION FORM 

Add Bank Instruction: 

PLEASE INDICATE IF THIS WILL BE THE PRIMARY BANK INSTRUCTION OR         ADDITIONAL BANK INSTRUCTION

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING   WIRE AND ACH   WIRE ONLY   ACH ONLY 

Bank Name: ______________________________________________________________  City________________________________ 

Bank ABA Number (9 digits): ________________________Bank ABA for ACH (if different) (9 digits): __________________________ 

Bank Account Number: ___________________________________ Bank Account Name: ______________________________________ 

Correspondent Bank Name (if any): _________________________________________   

Correspondent Bank ABA Number: __________________________________ Account Number: ____________________________ 

Delete Bank Instruction: 

PLEASE INDICATE IF THIS WILL BE THE PRIMARY BANK INSTRUCTION OR  ADDITIONAL BANK INSTRUCTION

SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING   WIRE AND ACH   WIRE ONLY   ACH ONLY 

Bank Name: ______________________________________________________________ City________________________________ 

Bank ABA Number (9 digits): ________________________Bank ABA for ACH (if different) (9 digits): __________________________ 

Bank Account Number: ___________________________________ Bank Account Name: ______________________________________ 

Correspondent Bank Name (if any): _________________________________________   

Correspondent Bank ABA Number: ____________________________________ Account Number: __________________________ 

* If ACH availability is selected, I hereby authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to directly deposit and withdraw funds by means of ACH electronic transfer
to and from the financial institution and the account designated above (“Designated Account”). I agree that this authorization may be withdrawn with at least
45-days advance written notice to LOGIC Participant Services. I understand that the LOGIC reserves the right to discontinue ACH electronic transfer
without advance notice. I also authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to deduct from the Designated Account or from subsequent deposits made to the
Designated Account all amounts deposited in error. I authorize JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. to credit all amounts withdrawn in error to Designated Account.

NOTE:  This authorization must be executed by two current Authorized Representatives of the Participant on file with LOGIC. 
As a current Authorized Representative, I certify that the above information is both true and correct. 

________________________________________   ___________________________________       ________________________________      _________________ 

     Authorized Representative Signature  Printed Name   Title  Date 

_____________________________________   _________________________________  ______________________________   _________________ 

 Authorized Representative Signature   Printed Name         Title   Date 

Please complete this form either all typed or all handwritten.  Forms with alterations (i.e. white out, mark out, etc.) will NOT be accepted. 
LOGIC Participant Services

 Email forms to: logic@hilltopsecurities.com
Phone: 800.895.6442 * Fax: 214.953.8878

    EFFECTIVE DATE:  ________________________________ 

    PARTICIPANT NAME: ______________________________ 

    ACCOUNT NUMBER:  ______________________________ 

    PLEASE SELECT ONE OF THE FOLLOWING: 

   NEW ACCOUNT: NAME ________________________________ 

CHANGE EXISTING ACCT: _____________________________ 

APPLY CHANGE TO ALL ACCOUNTS 

PLEASE NOTE THAT A LOGIC REPRESENTATIVE WILL CALL TO VERIFY INSTRUCTIONS AND USER ID WITH BOTH 
AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVES WHO SIGNED THIS FORM.



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Andrew Sibai, Finance Director
Agenda Item: Amendments to City of Palestine Travel and Training Card Agreement
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
This item addresses and clarifies travel policy language for City employees traveling for training. The
proposed changes add language to specifically prohibit the use of new food delivery services such as
GrubHub, Uber Eats, and DoorDash, which are currently not allowed but not explicitly mentioned in the
existing policy. Additionally, the revisions clarify the requirement that itemized receipts must be submitted
for all reimbursable expenses.

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council approve the proposed amendments to the City travel policy, clarifying the
prohibition of food delivery services and the requirement for itemized receipts for employee travel
expenses.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Updated Travel Card Policy 
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Travel & Training Card Agreement 
 

To maximize the benefits the City of Palestine receives from the Travel & Training Card program and to enhance 
the program’s success, it is recommended that all users be formally trained on how the system operates. 
Cardholders are most likely to use the Travel & Training Card properly if cardholders understand the following: 
 

Travel & Training Card Program Overview 

The purpose of the Travel & Training Card program is to establish a more efficient, cost-effective method of 
purchasing and paying for travel and training expenses for City employees. The program was designed as an 
alternative to the traditional travel and training vouchers for cash advances and reimbursements. The Travel 
& Training Card can be used with any retailer that accepts Visa as a form of payment. 

 
Please read this agreement carefully. Your signature on this agreement shows that you understand the intent 
of the program and agree to follow the established guidelines. 

 
The following important points should be reviewed before using the Travel & Training Card: 

• All purchases made on the Travel & Training Card must be made only by the cardholder. Cardholders 
are responsible for the security of the Travel & Training Card and the transactions made with it. If 
cardholders do not follow guidelines when using the Travel & Training Card, cardholder could receive 
corrective action, including termination. 

• Cardholder can use the Travel & Training Card at any retailer or service provider that accepts 
Visa and is not on the restricted list.  

• Use must not exceed the amount approved by your supervisor and the City Manager for your 
travel and training. This amount will be on your approved travel and training request form 
which must be turned into Finance before a card will be issued to you.  

• Cardholder must reconcile the purchases he/she has made with the Travel & Training Card with the travel 
and training log prior to turning in the card.  

• The Travel & Training Card is not for personal use. 
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General Information 

 

Duties and Responsibilities 
 

Program Administrator – (Finance Director) 
The Program Administrator is designated to answer questions and assist with issues with, and administration 
of, the program. This person will be knowledgeable on all procedures in the Cardholder User's Guide. The 
Program Administrator has a direct relationship with JP Morgan Chase. All Travel & Training Card requests must 
go through the Program Administrator. 
 
City Manager 
The City Manager will approve all travel and training requests that require overnight stays. The travel and 
training request form must be signed by the City Manager prior to a Travel & Training Card being checked out 
to you.   

Cardholder 
The person authorized to use the Travel & Training Card during the period of his/her training for purchases 
previously approved by his/her supervisor and the City Manager (typically training fees, food, and hotel 
expenses).  

At the end of your travel, you will need to complete your purchase log. You will also need to turn in an itemized 
copy of each receipt you acquired during your travel.  Attach all documentation, note any additional information 
pertinent to the purchase, and forward the package to the Finance Department. You MUST turn in all 
documentation with your card, or you will not be able to return the card to finance. It will be your responsibility 
to keep track of all documents and receipts associated with purchases made on the card.  
 

Maintaining Your Travel & Training Card 
 

Always obtain an itemized receipt when using the Travel & Training Card. It is every cardholder's responsibility 
to ensure there is an itemized receipt for each purchase (including all restaurant receipts). A cardholder who 
submits his/her travel purchase log without an attached itemized receipt will be required to reimburse the City 
for the entire amount of the missing receipt. Appeals shall be made to the City Manager’s Office. 
 

Security of the Travel & Training Card 

The cardholder is responsible for the security of the card. This card should be treated with the same level of 
care, as the cardholder would use with his/her own personal charge cards. Guard the Travel & Training Card 
account number carefully. It should not be posted in a work area or left in a conspicuous place. It should be kept 
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in an accessible, but secure location. 

The only person authorized to use the Travel & Training Card is the person to whom the card is currently 
assigned. Travel & Training Cards are not to be shared by other employees as individual cards may be issued to 
any employee as requested by the Department Director. 

Lost or Stolen Cards 

If a Travel & Training Card is lost or stolen, immediately contact JP Morgan Chase Customer Service at 1-800-
847-2911. After contacting JP Morgan Chase, notify the Program Administrator. Prompt action can reduce the 
city’s liability of fraudulent activity. 

Travel & Training Card Payment 

Employees do not pay their own monthly statement. The program does not affect your credit rating in any way. 
The Travel & Training Card program carries corporate, not individual, liability. You are responsible for turning in 
all logs, receipts and your assigned Travel and Training Purchase Card. 

Returns, Credits and Disputed Charges 

Should a problem arise with a purchased item, service or charges, every attempt should be made to first resolve 
the issue directly with the supplier. Review of future statements is vital to ensure the account is properly 
credited for returns, credits, and disputed charges. The returned, credited, or disputed item should be noted on 
the Travel & Training Card Transaction Log. 
 

 Returns: If a cardholder needs to return an item to a supplier, contact the supplier and obtain instructions 
for return. Note that some suppliers may charge a restocking or handling fee for returns. All returns should 
be indicated in the transaction log. 

 Credits: If the supplier accepts an item as a return, a copy of the return receipt should also be included 
with your travel purchase log.  

 Disputed Charges: If, after reviewing the purchase log and statement memo for the issued card, a dispute 
arises, the employee to whom the card was assigned, If the cardholder and the merchant can resolve the 
dispute, a credit should appear on the next billing cycle statement. If the credit does not appear on the 
next statement, then the JP Morgan Chase Form 700 must be submitted. JP Morgan Chase will not honor 
or try to help us dispute transactions to merchants that are not reported on Form 700 within 45 days of 
the dispute and the City is responsible for the charge. 
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Travel & Training Card Guidelines 
 

All cardholders should follow these guidelines below when using the Travel & Training Card: 
 

 Determine if the transaction is an acceptable use of the card, and if it is within the cardholder's spending 
limit. 

 Make sure that tax is not included in the purchase as the City of Palestine is a tax- exempt entity. Should 
the merchant request a tax exemption certificate, please contact the Finance Department. 

 If a cardholder cannot resolve a disputed item directly with the retailer, the cardholder should complete 
the Dispute Form 700. JP Morgan Chase will place the charge in a “State of Dispute" and the account may 
be given a provisional credit until receipt of adequate documentation from the retailer. If the 
documentation appears to be in order, the transaction will be re-posted to the account and the dispute 
considered closed. If the charge is suspected to be fraudulent, the card will be immediately blocked, 
continue to have a provisional credit (if given) and an investigation of the charge will continue. A new card 
will then be re-issued to the cardholder, if appropriate. If the charge appears legitimate, the transaction 
will then post to the new account. 

Examples of Acceptable Purchases 
Restaurant Meals Airline Tickets 
Courier Services Hotel Reservations 
Car Rental  
Training Courses and Seminars  

Examples of Unacceptable Purchases 
 Medical/Insurance Services 
 Meals/lodging for spouses, movie rentals, miscellaneous sundries, entertainment, or alcoholic 

beverages during city-related travel  
 PERSONAL CHARGES OF ANY KIND 

 
Food Delivery Services 
 Doordash, Grubhub, Ubber Eats, etc. The City of Palestine will only pay for the cost of the food on 
delivery services. If there is a delivery fee/service fee added, it will be the responsibility of the employee to 
cover that cost.  The employee will be given 30 days from the day the credit card is signed back in to the Finance 
department to reimburse the City for those charges. If the employee fails to reimburse the unauthorized charges 
within that timeframe, the money will be held out of the employee's next paycheck.  

Note: This does not include Pizza delivery. Example: if you order from Pizza Hut and they charge a nominal 



 

City of Palestine | Travel & Training Card Policy 

delivery fee, that fee will be covered.  

If there are any questions about what can be purchased using the Travel & Training Card, please contact the 
Finance Department. 

Returning your Travel & Training Card 

Once you have returned from your travel and training engagement, it is your responsibility to record all 
purchases made with the Travel & Training Card on the travel log provided by your supervisor or the Finance 
Department at the time of Card checkout. You must return all itemized receipts, the completed log, and the 
card at the same time. Cards will not be checked back in without a completed log and all receipts.  

Card Use Audits 

Finance will conduct an audit of all purchases made with the Travel & Training Card, in reconciliation with the 
expense log filled out by the employee to whom the card was assigned, and the employee’s approved travel 
expenses. The employee to whom the card was assigned may be responsible for any purchases made in excess 
of the approved travel and training amount.  
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CITY OF PALESTINE 
CARDHOLDER CREDIT CARD AGREEMENT 

 

The City of Palestine, Texas, is pleased to present you with this credit card for official City use. It represents 
trust in you and your empowerment as a responsible agent for the City to safeguard and protect City assets. 
 
The undersigned hereby acknowledges receipt of a City of Palestine, Texas Visa credit card, number 
_______________________. As an authorized cardholder, the undersigned agrees to comply with the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement, the credit card procedures, and any policies or rules governing credit card 
usage adopted by the City from time to time. 
 
The undersigned acknowledges receipt of a copy of this Agreement and confirms that he or she has read and 
understands the terms and conditions set forth herein. The undersigned acknowledges that the City of 
Palestine, Texas is liable to JP Morgan Chase and/or Visa for all City of Palestine charges made pursuant to this 
credit card. In the event this credit card is lost or stolen, the undersigned shall be liable for any deductible or 
other expenses or costs charged by JP Morgan Chase and/or Visa to the City of Palestine, Texas, for the 
unauthorized use of the lost credit card. 
 
The undersigned further agrees that this credit card may be used only for City-approved purchases and that the 
credit card may not be used for personal use or purchases. The undersigned agrees and acknowledges that the 
City of Palestine, Texas may audit the undersigned's use of this credit card and will report any unauthorized use 
or charges to the employee. The undersigned shall be liable for all unauthorized charges made through the use 
of the credit card. 
 
The undersigned understands that the unauthorized, improper, or misuse of this credit card may result in 
disciplinary action up to and including termination of employment. The undersigned further understands that 
any unauthorized use, improper or misuse, of the credit card may subject the undersigned to criminal 
prosecution and/or to civil suit for the collection of any sums due and owing to JP Morgan Chase and/or Visa. 
The undersigned hereby authorizes the City of Palestine, Texas to implement a pay-roll deduction and to deduct 
from my salary and other compensation due and owing to me an amount equal to the total of any unauthorized 
charges to the City credit card account. The undersigned further agrees that the City of Palestine, Texas may 
collect any amounts owed by me as a result of unauthorized use, improper or misuse, of the credit card even if 
I am no longer an employee of the City. 



 

City of Palestine | Travel & Training Card Policy 

 

The undersigned further understands that the City of Palestine, Texas may terminate my right to use the 
credit card at any time for any reason. The undersigned agrees to immediately return the credit card to 
his/her supervisor immediately upon request or upon termination of employment. 
 
 

CARDHOLDER: 
 

Signature:   
 

Printed Name:   
 

Date:   
 
 
 
 

PROGRAM ADMINISTRATOR: 
 

Signature:   
 

Printed Name: Andrew Sibai 
 

Date:   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Finance Use Only 
Card Number Dates of Travel Date Checked In Approved Amount Actual Amount 

1      2       3       4 
    

 



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Susan Davis, Planning Technician
Agenda Item: Sanitary Sewer Easement Agreement
Date Submitted: 07/02/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to execute a Sanitary Sewer Easement Agreement between
Atwood Distributing, LP, and the City of Palestine relating to the new construction of Atwoods Ranch and
Home at 804 East Newman Street. Both civil and building plans have been approved through Bureau
Veritas.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that City Council authorize the City Manager to execute a Sanitary Sewer Easement
Agreement between Atwood Distributing, LP, and the City of Palestine.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Sanitary Sewer Easement Agreement 

















Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Authorization to Seek Sealed Bids for Wastewater Treatment Plant Chemicals
Date Submitted: 07/02/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Wastewater Treatment Plant Chemicals.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends authorization for the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Wastewater Treatment
Plant Chemicals.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Waste Water 



Sodium Bisulfite 78,000 LBS per year 40% Sodium Bisulfite

Must have Remote monitoring
for auto deliveries. Must be able
to pump product into a day tank.

Cationic water-soluble polymer
in emulsion

(17) Totes per year. 2300 LBS ea,
265 gallons per tote.

7602; 20 – 30%; <  5.0%; must be
delivered in totes; has to perform
as well as product we currently
use; product must be pre-
qualified.

Chlorine 20-25 1 Ton CL2 Cylinders per
year

100% Chlorine gas in 1-ton
cylinders.



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Authorization to Seek Sealed Bids for Water Treatment Plant Chemicals
Date Submitted: 07/02/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Water Treatment Plant Chemicals.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council authorize the City Manager to seek sealed bids for Water Treatment Plant
Chemicals.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Water Treatment Plant 



APPENDIX A
Water Treatment Plant Chemicals

          Chemicals                                   Quantity                     Specifications
Aluminum Sulfate (alum) 50 Loads for two 7,000 gallon tanks Total by WT:  8.2 – 8.4%

Free by WT:  .01 - .2%
Total Soluble by WT:  .3% max
Insolubles by WT:  .02% max
Specific Gravity:  1.331 – 1.335
(Preferred 1.333)

Anhydrous Ammonia 8 orders of approximately 2,600
pounds per order

99.5% Ammonia and 0.2% water

Carbon 2 bulk orders of powder activated
carbon (PAC) at 40,000 pounds per
order

Activated carbon: 85-100%
Non-relevant chemicals per 29
CFR 1910.1200:  0-15%

Copper Sulfate 20 Loads at 350 gallons per load Copper Sulfate Pentahydrate
18.25% – 21.75%

Lime 10 Loads of 20 pallets
(40 bags per pallet)

pH at 25 degrees
C:  12.45
Relative Density:  2.2 – 2.4

Polyphosphate 3 orders of Polyphosphate for 2 1,000
gallon tanks

Diphosphoric Acid 1-5%

Chlorine Cylinders 29 1 ton CL2 Cylinders per year 100% Chlorine gas in 1 ton
cylinders



Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Approval of Emergency Purchase for New Drives for Raw Water Pump Station
Date Submitted: 07/03/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider approval of an emergency purchase of three 300-horsepower drives from Timberlake &
Dickson, Inc. in the amount of $59,900.00 for raw water following a lightning strike. These drives enable
the motors to operate using the generator and also provide a slow start for our motors at the Raw Water
Pump Station. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approval of an emergency purchase of three 300-horsepower drives from Timberlake
& Dickson, Inc. in the amount of $59,900.00 for the Raw Water Pump Station.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Raw Water Drives 





Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Authorization to Seek Sealed Bids for Waterline Replacement on Woodland Drive
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on Woodland Drive,
from Rambling Road to Lakeshore Drive.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council authorize the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement
on Woodland Drive, from Rambling Road to Lakeshore Drive.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Map 





Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Authorization to Seek Sealed Bids for Waterline Replacement on Sunset Road
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on Sunset Road,
from Sandy Lane to Crockett Road. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council authorize the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement
on Sunset Road, from Sandy Lane to Crockett Road. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Map 





Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Kimberly Beckman, Public Works Admin
Agenda Item: Authorization to Seek Sealed Bids for Waterline Replacement on Sandy Lane
Date Submitted: 07/08/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider authorizing the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement on Sandy Lane,
from Sunset Road to Crockett Road. 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council authorize the City Manager to seek sealed bids for waterline replacement
on Sandy Lane, from Sunset Road to Crockett Road. 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Map 





Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Cassie Ham, Tourism Marketing Manager
Agenda Item: FY 2024/25 Hotel Occupancy Tax Grants for Palestine I.S.D. and Palestine YMCA
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
On July 1, 2025, the Tourism Advisory Board reviewed two applications for HOT Funding for the current
Fiscal Year and voted unanimously to approve both grant applications. 

Palestine I.S.D. was awarded a 100% rebate of HOT Funds generated by their event on September 4-5,
2025, plus up to a $6000 reimbursement for marketing their event. 

Palestine YMCA was awarded a 100% rebate of HOT Funds generated by their event scheduled for July
12, 2025, plus up to $1000 reimbursement for marketing their event. 

 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Consider approval of the Tourism Advisory Board Recommendation to allocate Hotel Occupancy Tax
Funds for Fiscal Year 2025-26.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
Palestine YMCA HOT Contract - Mia Perez Memorial 2025 
Palestine ISD HOT Contract - TVCC-Monroe Game Sept 2025 
Palestine YMCA Application 
PISD Application 



 

 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON § 
 
 

HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX 
FUNDING AGREEMENT FOR 

CITY OF PALESTINE 
 
 This Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Agreement (AGREEMENT) is made and entered into by and between the 
City of Palestine, Texas (CITY) and Palestine YMCA (ORGANIZATION) for Mia Perez Memorial Soccer 4v4 Tournament 
(EVENT). 
  
 WHEREAS, CITY seeks to promote Palestine to residents and visitors; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CITY is promoting the events and festivals to assist in bringing visitors to Palestine and to promote 
visitors to the city for extended periods of time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CITY, by authority of powers granted to it under state law, has heretofore enacted a local hotel 
occupancy tax on occupants of hotels situated within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction. 
 

WHEREAS, the goal of this AGREEMENT is to attract visitors to the City, thus directly enhancing and promoting 
tourism as outlined in Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code and the City’s Hotel Occupancy Tax Use Policy; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palestine desires to provide Hotel Occupancy Tax revenues to 
Palestine YMCA (ORGANIZATION) in accordance with Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed by the CITY and ORGANIZATION as follows: 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1.  Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is for the CITY to provide the services listed in Hotel Occupancy Tax 
Funding Application (Exhibit A) to the City of Palestine. 
 
Section 2.  Obligation of the ORGANIZATION.  The ORGANIZATION shall use all awarded funds provided by the CITY in 
accordance with Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, the CITY’s Hotel Occupancy Tax Use Policy, and the 
ORGANIZATION’s funding application as required under this AGREEMENT. ORGANIZATION shall observe and comply 
with all other applicable federal, state, and local laws and/or regulations. If the ORGANIZATION fails to comply with any 
provision of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, or any other applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation, the 
ORGANIZATION shall remit the funds granted herein back to the City within ten (10) days of the noncompliance with said 
laws or regulations. For the purposes of this Agreement, the determination regarding whether noncompliance with any 
provision of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, or any other applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation has 
occurred shall be within the sole discretion of the City. 
 
ORGANIZATION shall provide an accurate and complete description of the EVENT for which funds allocated under this 
AGREEMENT are expended. At CITY’s request, the ORGANIZATION shall provide any flyers, promotions, or print/website 
materials promoting the EVENT to the CITY for review and approval. 
 
Section 3.  Reporting Requirements of the ORGANIZATION.  The ORGANIZATION shall create a booking code with area 
hotels so that visitors to the CITY for EVENT may be quantified. ORGANIZATION shall provide reports from partner hotels 
and a fully completed Post Event Report. ORGANIZATION shall maintain complete and accurate financial records of each 
expenditure of hotel occupancy tax revenue made by the person and, on request of the CITY, shall make the records 

available for inspection and review. Partial or incomplete reports will not be accepted.  
 



 

 

Section 4.  Authorization of Payment.  Subject to the ORGANIZATION’s satisfactory performance and compliance with the 
terms of this AGREEMENT, the CITY agrees to reimburse expenses up to $1000 related to marketing the EVENT and 
rebate 100% of the Hotel Occupancy Tax generated by the ORGANIZATION’s Event or provide payment in the amount 
requested for the ORGANIZATION’s event, the selection of which shall be the sole discretion of the CITY. Payment will 
typically be made within forty-five (45) days of approval of the ORGANIZATONS completed reports, but in some cases 
may be delayed due to administrative circumstances. The applicant agrees to repay or forfeit HOT funds if the applicant 
does not comply with this AGREEMENT or with other applicable state or local laws. 
 
If the event, program, or activity funded by the hotel occupancy tax funds granted herein is not held or does not occur as 
represented in the application made for the funds, then the ORGANIZATION shall remit the full amount of the funds granted 
herein back to the CITY within ten (10) days after the date the event, program, or activity is canceled or was to have been 
held as represented in the application made for the funds, whichever occurs first. Exceptions to the terms of this section 
may be made if the event is canceled or otherwise altered due to weather, strikes, floods, fire, natural disasters, acts of 
God, or other circumstances beyond the control of the ORGANIZATION. The determination regarding whether there has 
been compliance with this section, including the determination whether circumstances beyond the control of the 
ORGANIZATION caused the event to be canceled or otherwise altered from the representations made in the application 
for the funds, shall be within the sole discretion of the CITY. 
 
Section 5.  Appeal Process.  The ORGANIZATION may appeal the decision of the CITY to deny funding in writing within 
ten (10) business days of funding denial. The appeal will be presented to the City Council, who may sustain or reverse, in 
whole or in part, it’s denial of HOT funds to the APPLICANT, provided that any funding approved must be within the scope 
of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code.   
 
Section 6.  Rights.  The ORGANIZATION grants the CITY the right at any time to inspect or audit the books or records of 
the ORGANIZATION, or any report or document submitted by the organization to the City that may relate to performance 
of this AGREEMENT.    
 
By signing this Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding contract, the Applicant agrees to comply with all local, state and federal laws 
applicable or otherwise implicated by Applicant’s receipt of a Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Grant, which includes but is 
not limited to Applicant’s compliance with Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug 
Free Workplace Act of 1988, and the Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as Applicant’s refraining from discrimination 
of persons based on race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions; sexual 
orientation), national origin, disability, age, citizenship status, genetic information, political affiliation or participation in civil 
rights activities. Furthermore, while the City of Palestine fully supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of 
Palestine will not financially support or fund projects that incorporate or promote ideas of hate or which are intended to 
vilify, humiliate, or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons on the basis of race, religion, skin color, sexual 
identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or national origin. 
 
Section 7.  Term.  The AGREEMENT is for a one-time award.  This Agreement shall become effective as of October 1, 
2024 and shall terminate once the terms of this AGREEMENT have been met, or on September 30, 2025, whichever 
occurs first. The terms will not be extended beyond the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. 
 
The AGREEMENT shall expire on September 30, 2025, unless sooner terminated under the terms of Section 9. 
 
Section 8.  Indemnification.  The ORGANIZATION agrees to defend and indemnify  the CITY, its officers, agents, and 
employees, against all claims for personal injury (including death), property damage or other harm for which recovery of 
damages is sought that may arise out of the ORGANIZATION’s breach of this Agreement, or by any negligent act or 
omission of the ORGANIZATION, its officers, agents, employees, contractors, or subcontractors in the performance of this 
Agreement. The provisions of this paragraph are solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and not intended to create or 
grant any rights, contractual or otherwise, to any other person or entity. Both parties expressly agree that this Agreement 
does not assign any responsibility for civil liability to the City of Palestine that may arise by virtue of this Agreement.   
 
Section 9.   Termination.  A party may terminate this Agreement if the other party fails to comply with a term of the 
AGREEMENT upon ten (10) days’ notice. A party may terminate the AGREEMENT for convenience by providing written 
notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the termination.  



 

 

 
Section 10.  Notice.  All notices under this AGREEMENT shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person or mailed as 
follows: 
 
 to the CITY at: 
 Palestine Visitor Center   Attention:  Cassie Ham 
 825 W. Spring Street 
 Palestine, TX   75801 

(903) 723-3014 
 
 to the ORGANIZATION at:  

PALESTINE YMCA    Attention: CINDY PIERSOL 
5500 N LOOP 256 
PALESTINE, TEXAS 75801 
903-729-3139 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 11.  Entire Agreement.  This AGREEMENT constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties regarding the subject 
matter contained herein.  The parties may not modify or amend this AGREEMENT, except by written Agreement approved 
by the governing bodies of each party and duly executed by both parties. 

 
Section 12.  Approval.  This AGREEMENT has been duly and properly approved by each party’s governing body and 
constitutes a binding obligation on each party. 

 
Section 13.  Assignment.  A party may not assign this AGREEMENT or subcontract the performance of services without 
first obtaining the written consent of the other party. 

 
Section 14.  Non-Waiver.  A party’s failure or delay to exercise right or remedy does not constitute a waiver of the right or 
remedy.  An exercise of a right or remedy under this AGREEMENT does not preclude the exercise of another right or 
remedy.  Rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of other rights or remedies 
provided by law. 

 
Section 15.  Attorney Fees.  In any lawsuit concerning this AGREEMENT, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 
reasonable attorney’s fees from the non-prevailing party, plus all out-of-pocket expense such as deposition costs, 
telephone calls, travel expenses, expert witness fees, court costs, and other reasonable expenses. 

 
Section 16.  Severability.  The parties agree that in the event any provision of this AGREEMENT is declared invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that part of the AGREEMENT is severable and the decree shall not affect the remainder of 
the AGREEMENT. The remainder of the AGREEMENT shall be in full force and effect. 
 
Section 17.  Venue.  The parties agree that all disputes that arise out of this AGREEMENT are governed by the laws of 
the State of Texas and venue for any court action arising out of this AGREEMENT shall be in Anderson County, Texas. 
 
Section 18.  Certificate of Insurance.  The ORGANIZATION agrees to provide a certificate of insurance for liability and 
worker’s compensation insurance before any event awarded funding under this AGREEMENT.  The cost of the insurance 
herein mentioned to be secured and maintained by the ORGANIZATION shall be borne solely by the ORGANIZATION.  
 
IN WITNESS HEREOF, the CITY and ORGANIZATION make and execute this AGREEMENT to be effective this 14TH 
day of JULY 2025. 
 

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 
 
_________________________________  
Mitchell Jordan, Mayor      
 



 

 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
April Jackson, City Secretary  
 
 
_________________________________ 
ORGANIZATION 



 

 

STATE OF TEXAS  § 
 
COUNTY OF ANDERSON § 
 
 

HOTEL OCCUPANCY TAX 
FUNDING AGREEMENT FOR 

CITY OF PALESTINE 
 
 This Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Agreement (AGREEMENT) is made and entered into by and between the 
City of Palestine, Texas (CITY) and PALESTINE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT (ORGANIZATION) for 
SEPTEMBER 5 TVCC FOOTBALL GAME (EVENT). 
  
 WHEREAS, CITY seeks to promote Palestine to residents and visitors; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CITY is promoting the events and festivals to assist in bringing visitors to Palestine and to promote 
visitors to the city for extended periods of time; and 
 
 WHEREAS, CITY, by authority of powers granted to it under state law, has heretofore enacted a local hotel 
occupancy tax on occupants of hotels situated within the City and its extraterritorial jurisdiction. 
 

WHEREAS, the goal of this AGREEMENT is to attract visitors to the City, thus directly enhancing and promoting 
tourism as outlined in Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code and the City’s Hotel Occupancy Tax Use Policy; and  

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Palestine desires to provide Hotel Occupancy Tax revenues to 
PALESTINE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT (ORGANIZATION) in accordance with Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding. 
  
 NOW, THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed by the CITY and ORGANIZATION as follows: 

 
GENERAL PROVISIONS 

 
Section 1.  Purpose.  The purpose of this Agreement is for the CITY to provide the services listed in Hotel Occupancy Tax 
Funding Application (Exhibit A) to the City of Palestine. 
 
Section 2.  Obligation of the ORGANIZATION.  The ORGANIZATION shall use all awarded funds provided by the CITY in 
accordance with Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, the CITY’s Hotel Occupancy Tax Use Policy, and the 
ORGANIZATION’s funding application as required under this AGREEMENT. ORGANIZATION shall observe and comply 
with all other applicable federal, state, and local laws and/or regulations. If the ORGANIZATION fails to comply with any 
provision of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, or any other applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation, the 
ORGANIZATION shall remit the funds granted herein back to the City within ten (10) days of the noncompliance with said 
laws or regulations. For the purposes of this Agreement, the determination regarding whether noncompliance with any 
provision of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code, or any other applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation has 
occurred shall be within the sole discretion of the City. 
 
ORGANIZATION shall provide an accurate and complete description of the EVENT for which funds allocated under this 
AGREEMENT are expended. At CITY’s request, the ORGANIZATION shall provide any flyers, promotions, or print/website 
materials promoting the EVENT to the CITY for review and approval. 
 
Section 3.  Reporting Requirements of the ORGANIZATION.  The ORGANIZATION shall create a booking code with area 
hotels so that visitors to the CITY for EVENT may be quantified. ORGANIZATION shall provide reports from partner hotels 
and a fully completed Post Event Report. ORGANIZATION shall maintain complete and accurate financial records of each 
expenditure of hotel occupancy tax revenue made by the person and, on request of the CITY, shall make the records 

available for inspection and review. Partial or incomplete reports will not be accepted.  
 



 

 

Section 4.  Authorization of Payment.  Subject to the ORGANIZATION’s satisfactory performance and compliance with the 
terms of this AGREEMENT, the CITY agrees to reimburse expenses up to $6000 related to marketing the EVENT and 
rebate 100% of the Hotel Occupancy Tax generated by the ORGANIZATION’s EVENT or provide payment in the amount 
requested for the ORGANIZATION’s event, the selection of which shall be the sole discretion of the CITY. Payment will 
typically be made within forty-five (45) days of approval of the ORGANIZATONS completed reports, but in some cases 
may be delayed due to administrative circumstances. The applicant agrees to repay or forfeit HOT funds if the applicant 
does not comply with this AGREEMENT or with other applicable state or local laws. 
 
If the event, program, or activity funded by the hotel occupancy tax funds granted herein is not held or does not occur as 
represented in the application made for the funds, then the ORGANIZATION shall remit the full amount of the funds granted 
herein back to the CITY within ten (10) days after the date the event, program, or activity is canceled or was to have been 
held as represented in the application made for the funds, whichever occurs first. Exceptions to the terms of this section 
may be made if the event is canceled or otherwise altered due to weather, strikes, floods, fire, natural disasters, acts of 
God, or other circumstances beyond the control of the ORGANIZATION. The determination regarding whether there has 
been compliance with this section, including the determination whether circumstances beyond the control of the 
ORGANIZATION caused the event to be canceled or otherwise altered from the representations made in the application 
for the funds, shall be within the sole discretion of the CITY. 
 
Section 5.  Appeal Process.  The ORGANIZATION may appeal the decision of the CITY to deny funding in writing within 
ten (10) business days of funding denial. The appeal will be presented to the City Council, who may sustain or reverse, in 
whole or in part, it’s denial of HOT funds to the APPLICANT, provided that any funding approved must be within the scope 
of Chapter 351 of the Texas Tax Code.   
 
Section 6.  Rights.  The ORGANIZATION grants the CITY the right at any time to inspect or audit the books or records of 
the ORGANIZATION, or any report or document submitted by the organization to the City that may relate to performance 
of this AGREEMENT.    
 
By signing this Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding contract, the Applicant agrees to comply with all local, state and federal laws 
applicable or otherwise implicated by Applicant’s receipt of a Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Grant, which includes but is 
not limited to Applicant’s compliance with Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug 
Free Workplace Act of 1988, and the Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as Applicant’s refraining from discrimination 
of persons based on race, color, religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions; sexual 
orientation), national origin, disability, age, citizenship status, genetic information, political affiliation or participation in civil 
rights activities. Furthermore, while the City of Palestine fully supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of 
Palestine will not financially support or fund projects that incorporate or promote ideas of hate or which are intended to 
vilify, humiliate, or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons on the basis of race, religion, skin color, sexual 
identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or national origin. 
 
Section 7.  Term.  The AGREEMENT is for a one-time award.  This Agreement shall become effective as of October 1, 
2024 and shall terminate once the terms of this AGREEMENT have been met, or on September 30, 2025, whichever 
occurs first. The terms will not be extended beyond the fiscal year ending September 30, 2025. 
 
The AGREEMENT shall expire on September 30, 2025, unless sooner terminated under the terms of Section 9. 
 
Section 8.  Indemnification.  The ORGANIZATION agrees to defend and indemnify  the CITY, its officers, agents, and 
employees, against all claims for personal injury (including death), property damage or other harm for which recovery of 
damages is sought that may arise out of the ORGANIZATION’s breach of this Agreement, or by any negligent act or 
omission of the ORGANIZATION, its officers, agents, employees, contractors, or subcontractors in the performance of this 
Agreement. The provisions of this paragraph are solely for the benefit of the parties hereto and not intended to create or 
grant any rights, contractual or otherwise, to any other person or entity. Both parties expressly agree that this Agreement 
does not assign any responsibility for civil liability to the City of Palestine that may arise by virtue of this Agreement.   
 
Section 9.   Termination.  A party may terminate this Agreement if the other party fails to comply with a term of the 
AGREEMENT upon ten (10) days’ notice. A party may terminate the AGREEMENT for convenience by providing written 
notice at least thirty (30) days prior to the effective date of the termination.  



 

 

 
Section 10.  Notice.  All notices under this AGREEMENT shall be in writing and shall be delivered in person or mailed as 
follows: 
 
 to the CITY at: 
 Palestine Visitor Center   Attention:  Cassie Ham 
 825 W. Spring Street 
 Palestine, TX   75801 

(903) 723-3014 
 
 to the ORGANIZATION at:  

PALESTINE INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT    Attention: LARISSA LOVELESS 
1007 E. PARK AVE.  
PALESTINE, TEXAS 75801 
903-731-8000 EXT 1271 

MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 11.  Entire Agreement.  This AGREEMENT constitutes the entire Agreement of the parties regarding the subject 
matter contained herein.  The parties may not modify or amend this AGREEMENT, except by written Agreement approved 
by the governing bodies of each party and duly executed by both parties. 

 
Section 12.  Approval.  This AGREEMENT has been duly and properly approved by each party’s governing body and 
constitutes a binding obligation on each party. 

 
Section 13.  Assignment.  A party may not assign this AGREEMENT or subcontract the performance of services without 
first obtaining the written consent of the other party. 

 
Section 14.  Non-Waiver.  A party’s failure or delay to exercise right or remedy does not constitute a waiver of the right or 
remedy.  An exercise of a right or remedy under this AGREEMENT does not preclude the exercise of another right or 
remedy.  Rights and remedies under this Agreement are cumulative and are not exclusive of other rights or remedies 
provided by law. 

 
Section 15.  Attorney Fees.  In any lawsuit concerning this AGREEMENT, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 
reasonable attorney’s fees from the non-prevailing party, plus all out-of-pocket expense such as deposition costs, 
telephone calls, travel expenses, expert witness fees, court costs, and other reasonable expenses. 

 
Section 16.  Severability.  The parties agree that in the event any provision of this AGREEMENT is declared invalid by a 
court of competent jurisdiction that part of the AGREEMENT is severable and the decree shall not affect the remainder of 
the AGREEMENT. The remainder of the AGREEMENT shall be in full force and effect. 
 
Section 17.  Venue.  The parties agree that all disputes that arise out of this AGREEMENT are governed by the laws of 
the State of Texas and venue for any court action arising out of this AGREEMENT shall be in Anderson County, Texas. 
 
Section 18.  Certificate of Insurance.  The ORGANIZATION agrees to provide a certificate of insurance for liability and 
worker’s compensation insurance before any event awarded funding under this AGREEMENT.  The cost of the insurance 
herein mentioned to be secured and maintained by the ORGANIZATION shall be borne solely by the ORGANIZATION.  
 
IN WITNESS HEREOF, the CITY and ORGANIZATION make and execute this AGREEMENT to be effective this 14TH 
day of JULY 2025. 
 

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 
 
_________________________________  
Mitchell Jordan, Mayor      
 



 

 

ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________  
April Jackson, City Secretary  
 
 
_________________________________ 
ORGANIZATION 



 Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Application 2025

Introduction 
The City of Palestine Convention and Visitors Bureau (City of Palestine CVB) is responsible for promoting tourism and the hotel 
industry in compliance with the State of Texas Hotel Occupancy Tax Code; Chapter 351, Subchapter B – Use and Allocation of 
Revenue. To comply with this statute, the City of Palestine CVB has the authority to use several methods, including the funding 
of certain activities of local businesses and organizations. The following information will explain the areas available for funding 
and the process for requesting those funds.   

General Criteria for Use of Hotel Occupancy Tax Funds 
By law of the State of Texas, the City of Palestine collects a Hotel Occupancy Tax (HOT) from hotels. Under state law, the 
revenue from the HOT may be used only to directly promote tourism and the hotel and convention industry. Chapter 351 of the 
Tax Code states that the use of HOT funds is limited to: 

a) Registration of Convention Delegates.
b) Advertising, Solicitations and Promotions that Directly Promote Tourism and the Hotel and Convention Industry.
c) Promotions of the Arts that Directly Promote Tourism and the Hotel and Convention Industry
d) Historical Restoration and Preservation Activities that Directly Promote Tourism and the Hotel and Convention

Industry.
e) Sporting Event Expenses that Substantially Increase Economic Activity at Hotels.
f) Funding transportation systems for transporting tourists from hotels to and near the city to any of the following

destinations.
g) Signage directing tourists to sights and attractions that are visited frequently by hotel guests in the municipality.

City Policy: 
The City of Palestine accepts applications from groups and businesses whose event fits into one or more of the above 
categories.  

Eligibility for Hotel Tax Funds:  
A business or organization seeking funds for an event must be able to prove their event produced overnight hotel stays (“heads 
in beds”). Events can prove the potential to generate overnight visitors by: 

a) Historic information on the number of room nights used during previous years of the same events;
b) Current information on the size of a room block that has been reserved at area hotels to accommodate anticipated

overnight guests attending the funded event;
c) Historical information on the number of guests at hotel or other lodging facilities that attended the funded event

through surveys, guest directories, or other sources; and/or
d) Examples of the planned marketing of the programs and activities that will likely generate overnight visitors to

local lodging properties from this event.

The limit on the number of years for which the applicant has received funding for the same event is not to exceed three (3) 
years beginning in Fiscal Year 25-26. Prior grants made for the same event/applicant do not count toward this limit.  

Requirements of the Applicant: 
1. The applicant or another representative of the entity must attend a grant workshop hosted by the City of Palestine CVB.

Among other things, this workshop will provide useful information on how to complete the application, report back
after the event and appropriate/legal uses of Hotel Occupancy Tax funds. An annual list of grant application and process
updates will be provided if applicable. This should be acknowledged by the applicant if he/she has already attended a
grant workshop.

2. The event must be located in the City’s corporate limits, extraterritorial jurisdiction, or in sufficiently close proximity as
to reasonably attract tourists to the City of Palestine.

3. The applicant must demonstrate that the disbursement will directly enhance and promote the tourism, convention, and
hotel industry by attracting visitors from outside of Palestine into the City or its vicinity.

4. The applicant must work with the Palestine CVB to secure hotel room blocks or establish a booking code with area
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hotels to provide necessary reporting information after the completion of the event.  
5. The applicant must be a legal entity with legal capacity and authority to enter into contracts. 
6. The applicant must demonstrate that the programs or events are open and appropriate for the general public. 
7. The applicant must demonstrate that it is in good financial standing with the City, and that financial safeguards are in 

place to protect public funds. 
8. Applicant may not receive funding for the same event, under the same or a different name, for more than 3 years, 

consecutive or non-consecutive, beginning in Fiscal Year 25-26.  
 
Application Process:  
October 1, 2025-September 30, 2026 
May 7, 2025 Applications available online 

June 30, 2025, 5 pm Deadline for completed Grant Funding applications to be submitted. 

July 22, 2025 4 pm* Formal Presentation by grant applicants to the Tourism Advisory Board 
Applicants may have 1-2 minutes to present their grant proposal. 

August 11, 2025 4 pm* Staff recommendation for approved grant applications based on Tourism Advisory Board 
decisions presented to City Council during work session for funding. 
Applicant may be present to answer any questions about their proposal. 

August 11, 2025 5 pm* City Council Decision during regular session 

August 25, 2025 City of Palestine CVB sends formal agreement to successful applicants 

September 15, 2025 Contract signatures executed by City of Palestine and vendor documents are completed 

*  Tentative dates may be subject to change. 
 
In order to submit a completed grant funding application, you must provide: 

1. A typed application (documents must be single sided and unbound) 
2. List of current Board of Directors and staff (if applicable) 
3. Proof of Insurance – level of insurance depends upon event 

 
Reporting and Reimbursement: 
Grant Funding will be provided based on the number of hotel stays (“heads in beds”) an event generates in the form of a tax 
rebate on the hotel occupancy tax generated in the following amounts:  

• 100% of tax revenue in year 1 
• 75% of tax revenue generated in year 2 
• 50% of tax revenue generated in year 3  

Hotel occupancy tax calculated at a rate of 7% of every dollar spent at a hotel in Palestine. Palestine only collects Hotel 
Occupancy Tax on traditional hotels currently. Short-term rentals, AirBNBs, VRBO rentals, Bed and Breakfasts, and other short-
term rentals are not currently taxed on the municipal level. Therefore, overnight stays at one of these types of rentals will not 
count toward your rebate total.  
 
The organization is responsible for completing the Post Event Report Form within forty-five (45) days of the event. If your post-
event report not received within 45 days after the event is completed, reimbursement will not be paid.   
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Should you need additional space to respond to any item, please attach an additional typed sheet of paper.  
 

Applicant/Organization Information 
Name of Applicant/ 
Organization 

 

Address  
City/State/Zip  
Contact Person  
Contact Phone Number Cell Work/Home 
Email  
Website  
Non Profit?  Yes     No Federal Tax I.D.# 

Write a short description about your organization’s purpose 

 
 
Proposal Information 

Name of the Event/Project and a short description: 

Primary Location of event/project: 
 
Has this event been held in the past?     Yes           No         If yes, how many years/times? 

 
How many times have you received HOT funds for this event? 
 
Duration of Event: Dates for use of funding must fall within October 1, 2024 and September 30, 2025 

 
Start Date End Date 

Number of hotel room nights you anticipate your event generating (heads in beds) 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 

  

Palestine YMCA ( Young Men's Christian Association of Palestine TX)

5500 N Loop 256

Palestine, Texas 75801

Cindy Piersol

903-724-5691 903-729-3139

cpiersol@palestineymca.org

www.palestineymca.org

✔ 75-0975622

The YMCA is a community-focused nonprofit organization committed to strengthening 
individuals and families through programs that promote youth development, healthy 
living, and social responsibility.

July 12, 2025 Mia Perez Memorial  4v4 soccer tournament
Jalapeno Tree fall classic soccer tournament Oct 17-19, 2025

Palestine YMCA Soccer Complex

✔ 10
6

October 17, 2025 October 19, 2025

150 rooms
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Answer the following questions if applicable. If there is not enough space provided, you may attach 
additional pages to the back. Please indicate which question you are answering. 

What outside marketing is going to be conducted? 
 
 
 
 
What type of information and graphics will you provide to the Palestine CVB for assistance with advertising your 
event? 
 
 
 
 

 

I have read and agree to comply with the terms outlined in the Hotel Tax Funding Policy and draft Hotel Tax Funding Agreement 

I certify that the information contained in this application is correct to the best of my knowledge and that I am authorized to 
make this application on behalf of the organization herein described for the purpose of receiving City of Palestine H.O.T. funds. 

By submitting this Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Application, the Applicant agrees to comply with all local, state and federal laws 
applicable or otherwise implicated by Applicant’s receipt of a Hotel Occupancy Tax Funding Grant, which includes but is not limited to 
Applicant’s compliance with Title VII, Civil Rights Act of 1964, as amended, the Texas Labor Code, the Drug Free Workplace Act of 
1988, and the Americans with Disabilities Act, as well as Applicant’s refraining from discrimination of persons based on race, color, 
religion, sex (including pregnancy, childbirth, and related medical conditions; sexual orientation), national origin, disability, age, 
citizenship status, genetic information, political affiliation or participation in civil rights activities. Furthermore, while the City of 
Palestine fully supports the exercise of freedom of speech, the City of Palestine will not financially support or fund projects that 
incorporate or promote ideas of hate or which are intended to vilify, humiliate, or incite hatred against a group or a class of persons 
on the basis of race, religion, skin color, sexual identity, gender identity, ethnicity, disability or national origin.  
 

Signature: ______________________________________________ Date: __________________ 

 

Printed Name:_______________________________   Title:  ____________________________________  

 

Attachments: (check all) 

o A typed application (documents must be single sided and unbound) 
o List of current Board of Directors and staff (if applicable) 
o Proof of Insurance – level of insurance depends upon event 

 

SUBMIT TO: Cassie Ham at 825 W. Spring Street, Palestine, Texas 75801   
Questions, please email: tourism@palestine-tx.org or call 903-723-3014 

To promote our upcoming soccer tournaments, we are implementing a multi-channel 
marketing strategy that includes social media campaigns, targeted email blasts, 
prominent website placement, and local visibility through yard signs.

We will provide the logo and information write-up.

5/28/2025

Cindy Piersol CEO













Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: April Jackson, City Secretary
Agenda Item: Fiscal Year 2024 Audit and Comprehensive Annual Financial Report
Date Submitted: 07/07/2025

SUMMARY:
Presentation by Pattillo, Brown & Hill, LLP on the Fiscal Year 2024 Audit and Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report.

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends that Council review the Management Discussion and Analysis section to understand
the City's financial position.

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
ACFR 2024 
Single Audit 
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City of Palestine 
504 North Queen Street 
Palestine, Texas 75801 
 
June 30, 2025 
 

Letter of Transmittal 
 
Honorable Mayor, City Council Members, and Citizens of Palestine, Texas: 
 
The Annual Comprehensive Financial Report, for the fiscal year that ended September 30, 2024, is hereby 
submitted. This report was prepared through the cooperative effort of the finance department and the city’s 
independent auditor, in accordance with Section 103.001 of the Texas Local Government Code and Article VII, 
Section 7.15 of the Charter of the City of Palestine. The purpose of the report is to provide the city council, 
management, staff, the public, and other interested parties with detailed information reflecting the city’s financial 
condition. 
 
Management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of the information contained in this 
report, based upon a comprehensive framework of internal control. In developing and maintaining the city's 
accounting system, consideration is given to the adequacy of the internal control structure. Internal controls are 
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance regarding: (1) the safeguarding of assets against loss 
from unauthorized use or disposition; and (2) the reliability of financial records for preparing financial statements 
that are free of any material misstatements. The concept of reasonable assurance recognizes that: (1) the cost of a 
control should not exceed the benefits likely to be derived; and (2) the evaluation of costs and benefits requires 
estimates and judgments by management. All internal control evaluations occur within the above framework. We 
believe that the city's internal controls adequately safeguard assets and provide reasonable assurance of proper 
recording of financial transactions.  
 
Pattillo, Brown and Hill,  LLP certified public accountants, have issued an unmodified ("clean") opinion on the City 
of Palestine’s financial statements for the year ended September 30, 2024. In addition to meeting City Charter 
requirements, the goal of the independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of 
the city are free of material misstatement. The independent audit involved examining, on a test basis, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements; assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management; and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The 
independent auditor concluded, based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified 
opinion on the city’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024, and that the financial 
statements are fairly presented in conformity with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP). The 
independent auditor’s report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this report.  
 
Also included in the financial section is Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A), which provides users of 
the basic financial statements a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis of the basic financial statements. The 
basic financial statements, including the accompanying notes, represent the core of the financial section. These 
financial statements present the financial condition of the city as a single entity, as well as the individual funds that 
account for the city’s various governmental and business-type activities. This transmittal letter is designed to 
complement the MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. 
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City Profile 
 
The City of Palestine, Texas was created by the Texas Legislature in 1846 as the county seat for Anderson County. 
The City of Palestine is where five major highways converge and then go out in a pentagon. This makes it possible 
to head in any direction and reach major metros such as Dallas-Fort Worth, Houston, Austin, Oklahoma City, 
Jackson, New Orleans, and Kansas City in less than a day.  The city, encompassing approximately 19.5 square 
miles, has an estimated population of 18,981. Palestine is a designated a Main Street City and features architecture 
from the early 1800’s through the 1950’s. Palestine developed as a railroad community and has preserved its historic 
charm with classic brick buildings and walkways, gas lanterns illuminating the sidewalks, quaint shops, and intimate 
dining establishments. 
 
The city is a home rule city operating under the council-manager form of government. The home rule corporation 
status is granted under the Constitution and laws of the State of Texas. The city council is comprised of the mayor 
and six council members who function as the policy-making body of the city's government, determining the overall 
goals, objectives, and direction for city services, and adopting the annual operating budgets for all city departments. 
The city manager is appointed by the city council and is responsible for the daily management and implementation 
of policy of the city including appointing the various key leaders and department heads. The mayor and council 
members serve two- year terms, with general council elections occurring each year based on district. The mayor is 
elected at large; the remaining council members are elected by district. 
 
For financial reporting purposes, the city is a primary government. As previously mentioned, the city’s governing 
body is elected by the citizens of Palestine. This report includes all organizations and activities for which the elected 
officials exercise financial control. The city is legally responsible for the Palestine Economic Development 
Corporation (PEDC) which is reported separately within the government wide financial statements of the city.  
 
The city is a full-service municipality including general government, public safety (police and fire), streets, parks 
and recreation, planning and zoning, code enforcement, a public library, and business-type activities, such as water 
and sewer utilities, and sanitation.  
 
The City Charter provides that the city council shall adopt an annual budget prepared by the city manager. This 
budget is presented to the city council and opportunities are provided for public comment during a series of public 
hearings before adoption. The individual fund level is the legal level of control for budget expenditures. Budgetary 
reporting is provided at the department level within the individual fund. Transfers of budget appropriations within 
funds may occur with the approval of the city manager provided there is no increase in overall expenditures. 
Transfers of budget appropriations between funds, as well as any increase in total appropriations, require a formal 
budget amendment adopted by the city council. Unless otherwise noted, except for capital projects funds, all 
appropriations lapse at year-end, encumbrances are recorded as a reservation of fund balance, and then re-
appropriated in the subsequent year. 
 
Local Economy 
 
The information presented in the budget document is perhaps best understood when it is considered from the broader 
perspective of the specific environment within which the city operates. The chief industries in and around Palestine 
include logistics and distribution, health care services, food processing, energy and alternative energy, retail, and 
tourism. This diversification is evident in the fact that no single taxpayer represents more than 10.1% of assessed 
valuation in the city. Sales tax revenues has remained the same from FY 2023 to FY 2024. Unemployment has 
remained low at 4.2%, small increase from FY 2023. 
 
Educationally, the University of Texas at Tyler operates a campus within Palestine and Trinity Valley Community 
College-Palestine provides two locations for service. The city is also served by Palestine Independent School 
District (3,500 students), Westwood Independent School District (1,700 students), and UT-Tyler University 
Academy a public charter school (165 students) that incorporates Science, Technology, Engineering, and Math 
(STEM) education into daily classroom curriculum. 
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Palestine is also the medical center of Anderson County. The Palestine Regional Medical Center and Palestine 
Regional Rehabilitation Hospital is renowned for providing advanced diagnostic, therapeutic and rehabilitative 
services. Employing over 500 people, including 80 physicians representing 28 different specialties, these facilities 
feed and draw from auxiliary doctors and dentist offices and assisted living centers  
 
Additionally, Palestine has many tourist attractions and is home to over 1,800 historic sites. With a classic railroad 
that operates both steam and diesel excursions through the forests of East Texas between Palestine and Rusk year-
round, and constant festivals and events, Palestine has become a top travel destination in Texas and the southern 
United States. It was recently named among the top 10 ‘Texas Towns that Look Like Something from a Hallmark 
Movie’ according to travel site, Only in your State.  
 
The city actively works with the PEDC and local industries to encourage expansions and relocations to our 
community. The PEDC’s 352-acre Willow Creek Business Park features landscaped streetscapes, fully functional 
utilities, access to high-speed communication technologies, and is just a few steps away from award-winning 
restaurants, hotels, and shopping. Shovel-ready sites are available, and the PEDC offers incentives and relocation 
assistance. The PEDC recently purchased land to work with the Texas State Railroad and create rail access for 
companies looking to develop businesses next to rail infrastructure which gives the city a strategic advantage in that 
area for companies interested in rail access to transport products 
 
Long-term Financial Planning 
 
The city’s fund balance policy sets the target reserve at 25% for the general fund, which is above the Government 
Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) recommended best practice minimum of 
15%. GFOA recommends that “general-purpose governments, regardless of size, maintain unassigned fund balance 
in their general fund of no less than two months of regular general fund operating revenues or regular general fund 
operating expenditures.” This policy allows the city to better weather economic downturns and strategically handle 
contingencies and unforeseen emergencies. The city’s general fund’s unassigned fund balance is approximately $11 
million or 67.5% of general fund operating expenditures as of September 30, 2024. In addition, the City uses a five-
year forecast in its budget process to guide decisions and assist in policy. The long-range view allows the city to 
plan appropriately for the future impact of current decisions. 
 
The city maintains a five-year capital improvement program (CIP), with all planned capital projects reviewed 
annually by the city staff. This annual review allows the city to change and adjust priorities by responding to 
changing growth patterns, economic conditions, or federal and state mandates. The CIP is used exclusively as a 
planning tool, and therefore does not commit the city to any project or project funding. The intent of the CIP is for 
the city staff to identify specific capital improvements needed during the subsequent five years and to project 
affordability (five-year forecast). The CIP is not a capital budget, and as such provides only recommended projects 
and the means of financing the improvements. Recommended improvements are not approved until official action 
has been taken by the city council. 
 
Awards and Acknowledgements 
 
This will be the sixth consecutive year that the city has made application to the GFOA to be considered for the 
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting (COA) Program for our financial report for the 
fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. The city was awarded the COA for our FY 2018, FY 2019, FY 2020, FY 
2021, FY 2022, and FY 2023 financial reports. To be awarded a COA, the city must publish an easily readable and 
efficiently organized financial report. This report must satisfy both GAAP and applicable legal requirements. We 
believe that our financial report will meet the COA Program’s requirements, and we are submitting it to the GFOA 
to determine its eligibility for the award. 
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The city has a history of submitting annual budgets to the GFOA to be considered for the Distinguished Budget 
Presentation Award, the FY 2020-2021, and FY 2021-2022 budgets were not submitted, but the budget for FY 
2022-2023 was submitted for the Distinguished Budget Presentation Award and awarded and the budget for FY 
2023-2024 has been awarded, the city strives to participate in the awards program but also to provide an extra level 
of communication and transparency for citizens and other stakeholders. 
 
The preparation of this report could not be accomplished without the dedicated services of the entire staff of the 
finance department. Many individuals devoted extra hours and exhibited dedicated effort in ensuring the accuracy 
and timeliness of this report. Appreciation is expressed to the city employees throughout the organization, especially 
those responsible for the maintenance of records upon which this report is based. 
 
Acknowledgment and appreciation are also given to representatives of Pattillo, Brown and Hill, L.L.P, certified 
public accountants, for their dedicated assistance and input into the preparation of this report. Finally, our 
appreciation is extended to the mayor and the members of the city council for their interest and support in planning 
and conducting the financial operations of the city in a responsible and progressive manner. 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
 

 
 
Andrew Sibai 
Finance Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
 
Honorable Mayor  
   and Members of City Council 
City of Palestine, Texas 
 
 
Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
 
Opinions 

  
We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, 

the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of 
the City of Palestine, Texas, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of 
contents.  
 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
respective financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, the discretely presented 
component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City, as of September 
30, 2024, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year 
then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
Basis for Opinions 
 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS) and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, 
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
required to be independent of the City, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the 
relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 
 
 
Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 
 
 Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a 
going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information 
that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes 
our opinions. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there 
is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a 
reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS and Government Auditing Standards, we: 
 
 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.  

 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 

fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures 
include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. 
 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the City’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 
that raise substantial doubt about the City’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable 
period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters 
that we identified during the audit. 

 
 
Required Supplementary Information 
 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s 
discussion and analysis, budgetary comparison information, and pension and OPEB information, as listed in the 
table of contents, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for 
placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have 
applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing 
standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about 
the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s 
responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of 
the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information 
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any 
assurance.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

3 

Supplementary Information 
 

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively 
comprise the City’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements are 
presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such 
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying 
accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, 
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund financial statements are fairly stated, in all material 
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

 
 

Other Information Included in the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
 
 Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual comprehensive financial 
report (ACFR). The other information comprises the introductory section and statistical section but does not 
include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinions on the financial statements do 
not cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.  
 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial 
statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are 
required to describe it in our report. 
 
 
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 
 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 30, 
2025, on our consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the City’s 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed 
in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial 
reporting and compliance. 
 

 
Waco, Texas 
June 30, 2025 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 
 
 

As management of the City of Palestine, we offer readers of the City's financial statements this narrative overview 

and analysis of the financial activities of the City of Palestine for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2024. We 
encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with additional information that we 
have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be found in the introductory section of this report.  
 
 
Financial Highlights  
 

The assets and deferred outflows of the City of Palestine exceeded its liabilities and deferred inflows at the close of 
the most recent fiscal year by $47,642,467 (net position). Of this amount, $6,211,445 (unrestricted net position) 
may be used to meet the City's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  
 
The City's total net position increased by $5,132,848. The primary reason for this increase was an increase in 
property tax and water/sewer revenues. Continued economic growth in the City has increased assessed values as 

well as demand for water and sewer services. Additionally, water and wastewater rates have increased as a result of 

a long-term rate study.  
 
As of the close of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund balances of 
$35,721,758, a decrease of $935,633 in comparison with the prior year. The primary cause of this decrease was the 
spending down of bond funds acquired in prior years for projects in the current year.  
 

At the end of the fiscal year, the combined total of the General Fund assigned and unassigned fund balances was 
$10,164,874 which is 49.53% of the general fund expenditures.  
 
 
Overview of the Financial Statements  
 
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the City's basic financial statements. The 

City's basic financial statements comprise three components: 1) government-wide financial statements, 2) fund 
financial statements, and 3) notes to the financial statements. This report also contains other supplementary 

information in addition to the basic financial statements themselves.  
 
Government-wide financial statements. The government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers 
with a broad overview of the City's finances, in a manner similar to a private-sector business.  

 
The statement of net position presents information on all of the City's assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, and 
deferred inflows, with the difference between the former two and latter two reported as net position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the City of 
Palestine is improving or deteriorating.  
 
The statement of activities presents information showing how the City's net position changed during the most recent 

fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event giving to the change occurs, 
regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some 
items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods (e.g. uncollected taxes and earned but unused 
vacation leave).  

 
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the City of Palestine that are  
principally supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from other  

functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and  
charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the City of Palestine include general  
government, public safety, community services and community development. The business-type activities of the City 
of Palestine include water and wastewater, sanitation, and retail.  
 
Fund financial statements. A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain control over 

resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The City of Palestine, like other state and 
local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal 
requirements. The funds of the City of Palestine can be divided into two categories: governmental and proprietary.  
 
 
 

 



 

5 

Governmental funds. Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions reported  
as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the government- 
wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near term inflows and outflows  

of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at the end of the fiscal  

year. Such information is useful in evaluating a government's near-term financing requirements.  
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial  
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar  
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. By doing  
so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term financing decisions.  
Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,  

and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental  
funds and governmental activities.  
 
The City of Palestine maintains 14 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately  
in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues, expenditures,  
and changes in fund balances for the general fund, the debt service fund, and the capital projects fund, all of which 

are considered to be major funds. Data from the other 11 governmental funds are combined into a single, 

aggregated presentation. Individual fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the 
form of combining statements elsewhere in this report.  
 
Proprietary funds. The City of Palestine maintains two types of proprietary funds. Enterprise funds are used to 
report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the government-wide financial statements. The 
City of Palestine uses enterprise funds to account for its water and wastewater department, as well as its sanitation 

department. The City also maintains an internal service fund to account for equipment replacement to departments 
or agencies of the City on a cost-reimbursement basis. 
 
Proprietary funds provide the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more 
detail. The proprietary fund financial statements provide separate information for the water and wastewater fund 
and for the sanitation fund, both of which are considered to be major funds of the City of Palestine, as well as the 
retail fund and internal service fund.  

 
Notes to the financial statements. The notes provide additional information that is essential to a full 

understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.  
 
Other information. In addition to the basic financial statements and accompanying notes, this report also presents 
certain required supplementary information concerning the City's general fund budgetary schedule. The City of 

Palestine adopts an annual appropriated budget for its general fund. A budgetary comparison schedule has been 
provided for the general fund to demonstrate compliance with this budget.  
 
The combining statements referred to earlier in connection with non-major governmental funds are presented 
immediately following the required supplementary information.  
 
 

Government-wide Financial Analysis  
 
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's financial position. In the 
case of the City of Palestine, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred inflows by $47,642,467 

at the close of the most recent fiscal year. The largest portion of the City's total net position (82%) reflects its net 
investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment) less any related debt used to acquire 
those assets that is still outstanding, plus bond proceeds that have not yet been spent. The City of Palestine uses 

these capital assets to provide services to citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for operational type 
of future spending. Although the City's investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be 
noted that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.  
 
An additional portion of the City's total net position (5%) represents resources that are subject to external 

restrictions on how they may be used. The remaining balance of unrestricted net position, $6,211,445, may be used 
to meet the government's ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors.  
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Palestine is able to report positive balances in all three categories of 
net position, both for the government as a whole, as well as for its separate governmental and business-type 
activities.  
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2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Current and other assets 38,603,873$      41,382,963$   17,083,586$      19,840,265$   55,687,459$   61,223,228$  

Capital assets 26,080,736        20,835,174    32,180,184        29,827,763    58,260,920    50,662,937    

Total assets 64,684,609        62,218,137    49,263,770        49,668,028    113,948,379   111,886,165  

Deferred outflows of resources 2,957,496         4,231,990      519,858            733,425         3,477,354      4,965,415      

Current liabilities 3,783,363         5,234,690      2,745,080         3,010,853      6,528,443      8,245,543      

Long-term liabilities 38,255,486        39,839,855    23,867,630        25,217,726    62,123,116    65,057,581    

Total liabilities 42,038,849        45,074,545    26,612,710        28,228,579    68,651,559    73,303,124    

Deferred inflows of resources 970,333            894,768         161,374            144,069         1,131,707      1,038,837      

Net position:

Net investment in capital assets 17,361,550        13,880,345    21,754,529        20,130,376    39,116,079    34,010,721    

Restricted 1,897,323         1,910,234      417,620            403,811         2,314,943      2,314,045      

Unrestricted 5,374,050         4,690,235      837,395            1,494,618      6,211,445      6,184,853      

Total net position 24,632,923$      20,480,814$   23,009,544$      22,028,805$   47,642,467$   42,509,619$  

Government-Wide

City of Palestine's Net Position

Activities Activities Total

Governmental Business-Type

 
 

The City's net position increased by $5,132,848 during the current fiscal year. The primary factors causing this 
increase are as follows: 
 

• Property tax revenues increased due increased assessed values from growth within the city, which 
outpaced a slight decrease in the tax rate. 

 
• Water and wastewater charges for services increased due to increased demand, as well as a rate 

increase resulting from a comprehensive rate study conducted by the City. 
 
Additionally, expenses influenced the change in net position from the following notable factors:  
 

•        Salary expenses increased all functions due to across the board salary increases to maintain 

competitive wages. This primarily affected the public safety function, which includes police and fire 
services. 

 
•        Public environment expenses increased from increased noncapital costs in conjunction with bond-

funded street and infrastructure projects. 
 

In the business-type activities, net position decreased despite the rate increases mentioned above, primarily due to 
depreciation expense on capital assets. 
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The following table indicates changes in net position for governmental and business-type activities followed by 
graphs displaying total revenues and expenses by type: 
  

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenues:

Program revenues:

Charges for services 770,100$       582,630$       14,888,047$  14,146,467$  15,658,147$  14,729,097$  

Operating grants & contributions 2,388,624      2,059,085      -               -               2,388,624      2,059,085      

General revenues:

Property taxes 9,159,997      8,186,401      -               -               9,159,997      8,186,401      

Other taxes 8,847,640      8,699,749      -               -               8,847,640      8,699,749      

Investment earnings 1,682,241      841,501         187,449         156,008         1,869,690      997,509         

Miscellaneous 34,092           63,377          35,521          55,186          69,613          118,563         

Total revenues 22,882,694     20,432,743    15,117,517    14,357,661    38,000,211    34,790,404    

Expenses:

General government 2,200,428      2,132,875      -               -               2,200,428      2,132,875      

Public safety 10,746,134     11,123,301    -               -               10,746,134    11,123,301    

Public environment 5,748,258      5,544,582      -               -               5,748,258      5,544,582      

Parks and recreation 1,685,923      1,487,401      -               -               1,685,923      1,487,401      

Interest and other fees 738,914         756,673         -               -               738,914         756,673         

Water and sewer -                -               8,535,526      9,152,778      8,535,526      9,152,778      

Sanitation -                -               3,212,179      3,528,846      3,212,179      3,528,846      

Retail -                -               -               -               -               -               

Total expenses 21,119,658     21,044,832    11,747,705    12,681,624    32,867,363    33,726,456    

change in net position

before transfers 1,763,036      (612,089)       3,369,812      1,676,037      5,132,848      1,063,948      

Transfers 2,389,073      2,297,191      (2,389,073)     (2,297,191)     -               -               

Change in net position 4,152,109      1,685,102      980,739         (621,154)       5,132,848      1,063,948      

Net position - beginning of year 20,480,814     18,795,712    22,028,805    22,649,959    42,509,619    41,445,671    

Net position - end of year 24,632,923$   20,480,814$  23,009,544$  22,028,805$  47,642,467$  42,509,619$  

Government-Wide

City of Palestine's Changes in Net Position

Activities Activities Total

Business-TypeGovernmental
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TOTAL EXPENSES – GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 
 

 $-

 $2,000,000

 $4,000,000

 $6,000,000

 $8,000,000

 $10,000,000

 $12,000,000

General Government Public Safety Public Environment Parks and Recreation Interest and Other
Fees

2024 2023

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 



9 

REVENUES AND EXPENSES – ENTERPRISE FUNDS 
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Financial Analysis of the City's Funds 

As noted earlier, the City of Palestine uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with finance-
related legal requirements.  

Governmental funds. The focus of the City's governmental funds is to provide information on near-term inflows, 

outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in assessing the City's financing 

requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a useful measure of a government's net 

resources available for spending at the end of the fiscal year.  

As of the end of the current fiscal year, the City's governmental funds reported combined ending fund 

balances of $35,721,758. Of this total amount, $10,164,874 constitutes unassigned fund balance, which 

is available for spending at the government's discretion. The remainder of fund balance is non-spendable, 

restricted, committed, or assigned to indicate that it is not available for new spending because it has already been 

committed to pay debt service, for capital improvement projects, and other assigned purposes.  

The general fund is the chief operating fund of the City. At the end of the current fiscal year, 

unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $10,164,874, while total fund balance was 

$10,842,436, an decrease of $569,595 from the prior year. The primary cause of this decrease was a 
budgeted transfer to the Community Forest Fund, a nonmajor governmental fund. Otherwise, revenues 
exceeded expenditures primarily due to an increase in property tax revenues discussed previously.. As a 

measure of the general fund's liquidity, it may be useful to compare both unassigned fund balance and total 

fund balance to total fund expenditures.  Unassigned fund balance represents 49.53% of total general fund 

expenditures, not including capital outlay.  

The debt service fund has a total fund balance of $174,246, all of which is restricted for the payment 
of debt service. The net decrease in fund balance during the current year in the debt service fund was 
$137,002. The primary cause of this decrease was an increase in debt service expenditures that offset an 
increase in property tax revenues. 
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The capital projects fund has a total fund balance of $20,465,112, a decrease of $1,784,487. This was caused by 
spending down of bond funds that were issued in the prior year. Fund balance will decrease as bond proceeds are 
spent in future years. Capital outlays on projects amounted to $2.8 million. 

Proprietary funds. The City's proprietary funds provide the same type of information found in the government-
wide financial statements, but in more detail. Unrestricted net position of the water and wastewater fund at the end 
of the year amounted to $992,850 and those for the sanitation fund amounted to a deficit of ($155,455), which are 
12% and 5% of fund operating costs, respectively.  

The water and wastewater fund reported an increase in net position of $1,110,151 . This increase primarily resulted 
from increased water rates as part of a comprehensive rate study that raises rates over several years. 

The sanitation fund decreased net position by $129,412. This decrease was primarily the result of an increased 
transfer to the General Fund for administrative cost reimbursement and payments in lieu of franchise fees. 

General Fund Budgetary Highlights 

The general fund expenditures were $93,953 less than the $20,618,616 budget. This was the result of cost savings 
across most of the General Fund, as well as unspent contingency funds. Revenues were $538,984 more than 
budgeted, primarily due to the sales tax revenue increases discussed previously. Overall, ending fund balance in the 
general fund was $710,121 higher than budgeted.  

CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 

Capital assets. The City's investment in capital assets for its governmental and business-type activities as of 
September 30, 2024, amounts to $58,260,920 (net of accumulated depreciation), including several projects in 
progress from voter approved bonds.  

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Nondepreciable 4,697,878$   2,113,873$   3,234,703$   3,152,118$   7,932,581$   5,265,991$   

Depreciable, net of accumulated

 depreciation 21,382,858    18,721,301    28,945,481    26,675,645    50,328,339    45,396,946    

TOTALS 26,080,736$   20,835,174$   32,180,184$   29,827,763$   58,260,920$   50,662,937$   

Activities Activities Total

Governmental Business-Type

Significant capital asset activity for the year included the following: 

• Construction in progress costs for bond-funded projects amounted to $2.8 million in the
governmental activities and $2.7 million in the business-type activities.

• Additions to water and sewer infrastructure was completed amounting to $2.6 million.

• 18 new fleet vehicles were acquired through lease arrangements totaling $1.2 million.

Additional information on the City's capital assets can be found in Note II.F to the basic financial statements. 
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LONG TERM DEBT 
 
At the end of the current fiscal year, the City of Palestine had total long-term debt outstanding of $53,741,175.  The 

related principal and interest payment for the bonds are backed by an annual ad valorem tax levied against all 

taxable property within the City, as well as a limited pledge of water and sewer revenues. 
 

2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

General obligation bonds 1,370,000$   1,585,000$   -$             -$             1,370,000$   1,585,000$   

Certificates of obligation 22,709,245   22,906,000   21,085,000   22,320,000   43,794,245   45,226,000   

Financing arrangements 1,113,202     1,113,202     -              -              1,113,202     1,113,202     

Leases 458,017        458,017        -              -              458,017        458,017        

Premium on bonds 2,887,639     3,137,686     2,022,125     2,242,850     4,909,764     5,380,536     

Compensated absences 1,936,663     1,735,233     159,284        161,897        2,095,947     1,897,130     

TOTALS 30,474,766$ 30,935,138$ 23,266,409$ 24,724,747$ 53,741,175$ 55,659,885$ 

Activities Activities Total

Governmental Business-Type

 
 

Total debt decreased by $1.9 million. The City incurred approximately $1.2 million of new fleet vehicle leases during the 

year, with the City also making continued principal payments on existing debt. The remainder of the change is caused by 

changes to the City’s compensated absences liability. 
 
Additional information on the City's long-term debt can be found in Note II.G to the basic financial statements.  
 
 
Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates  

 
The City’s elected and appointed officials considered many factors when setting the fiscal year 2025 budget, tax 
rates, and fees that will be charged for the business-type activities. Property values increased approximately 15% 
for fiscal year 2025, total property tax revenue is expected to continue to experience moderate growth in future 
years. The Texas State Legislature passed Senate Bill 2 in 2019 which imposed a revenue cap on the amount of 
property tax that can be levied by the City. Due to the passage of Senate Bill 2, there is some uncertainty that the 
City would be able to raise the revenue needed to fund critical operations. Considering current inflation of 2.4%, 

Senate Bill 2 remains a strain on the City to fund operations properly. Conversely, sales tax revenue remained 
steady but very strong for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2025 and continues to be increased over prior years 

due in part to inflation and in part to economic growth. 
 
The general fund’s largest single revenue source is property taxes followed by sales taxes. The property tax rate for 
FY 2025 is $0.594285 per $100 valuation. This rate has dropped by almost 8 cents and is significant because of the 

large growth in property values across the state of Texas. Of this rate, 84.1% is utilized for general fund activities. 
The remaining 15.9% is used for paying the city’s outstanding debt. The general fund’s portion of total property tax 
revenue for FY 2025 is estimated to be $8,892,848. Sales tax revenue for FY 2025 is forecasted to be $5,834,261. 
 
The largest revenue source for the utility fund is water sales, with projected sales of $5,474,905 in FY 2025. Water 
revenue is expected to increase in the future. FY 2024 was the final year of a five-year water meter replacement 
project. The new meters capture water usage with a higher degree of accuracy than the old meters. The City also 

performed a water rate study in 2022 and the results from the study led to a need to increase rates to keep up with 
inflation and aging infrastructure. The second largest revenue source for the water and sewer fund is sewer service 
charges with projected collections of $4,280,840 in FY 2025. The city is planning an upgrade for the Southview Lift 
Station to increase size and capacity as the south end of the City continues to see development and commercial 

growth. 
 
 

Requests for Information 
  
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the City's finances for all those with an interest in 
the City's finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional 
financial information should be addressed to the Finance Department, City of Palestine, 504 N. Queen Street, 
Palestine, Texas 75801.  



 

 

BASIC 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 



Governmental Business-Type
Activities Activities

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 34,232,195$     14,797,080$     
Receivables, net of allowances 2,444,068        1,970,223        
Due from other governments 67,262             -                  
Prepaids 254,671           91,831             
Due from component unit 2,509               -                  
Internal balances 193,168           (193,168)          
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,410,000        417,620           
Capital assets:

Nondepreciable 4,697,878        3,234,703        
Depreciable, net of accumulated depreciation 21,382,858       28,945,481       

Total Assets 64,684,609       49,263,770       

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
OPEB related 360,872           63,434             
Pension related 2,596,624        456,424           

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 2,957,496        519,858           

LIABILITIES
Acounts payable 952,440           1,199,051        
Accrued wages payable 598,474           100,709           
Due to primary government -                  -                  
Due to other governments 41,961             3,976               
Unearned revenue 415,377           -                  
Accrued interest payable 117,842           106,982           
Customer deposits -                  199,410           

     Noncurrent liabilities:
   Due within one year:

   Long-term debt 1,657,269        1,134,952        
   Due in more than one year:

   Long-term debt 29,309,897       22,295,212       
   Net pension liability 7,989,429        1,404,348        
   Total OPEB liabilities 956,160           168,070           

 Total Liabilities 42,038,849       26,612,710       

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease related 52,266             -                  
OPEB related 602,771           105,952           
Pension related 315,296           55,422             

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 970,333           161,374           

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 17,361,550       21,754,529       
Restricted for:

Debt service 97,067             417,620           
Public safety 313,041           -                  
Economic development 1,227,294        -                  
Community services 259,921           -                  

Unrestricted 5,374,050        837,395           

Total Net Position 24,632,923$     23,009,544$     

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

Primary Government

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 12



Primary Government Component Unit

Total PEDC

49,029,275$             3,669,982$        
4,414,291                572,538             

67,262                     -                    
346,502                   29,135              

2,509                       -                    
-                          -                    

1,827,620                -                    

7,932,581                3,338,045          
50,328,339               2,181,461          

113,948,379             9,791,161          

424,306                   6,331                
3,053,048                45,550              

3,477,354                51,881              

2,151,491                84,262              
699,183                   -                    

-                          2,509                
45,937                     -                    

415,377                   -                    
224,824                   32,879              
199,410                   -                    

2,792,221                565,329             

51,605,109               2,506,569          
9,393,777                140,149             
1,124,230                16,772              

68,651,559               3,348,469          

52,266                     -                    
708,723                   10,574              
370,718                   5,531                

1,131,707                16,105              

39,116,079               2,465,244          

514,687                   -                    
313,041                   -                    

1,227,294                4,013,224          
259,921                   -                    

6,211,445                -                    

47,642,467$             6,478,468$        

13



Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions

Primary government:

Governmental activities:

General government 2,200,428$      34,329$         2,105,871$   -$             

Public safety 10,746,134      644,041         6,740            -              

Community services 5,748,258        91,730           276,013        -              

Community development 1,685,923        -                -               -              
Interest on long-term debt 738,914           -                -               -              

Total Governmental Activities 21,119,658      770,100         2,388,624     -              

Business-type activities:

Water and wastewater 8,535,526        10,609,072    -               6,500           
Sanitation 3,212,179        4,278,975      -               -              

Total Business-Type Activities 11,747,705      14,888,047    -               6,500           

Total Primary Government 32,867,363$    15,658,147$   2,388,624$   6,500$          

Component Unit:

PEDC 1,279,802$      548,142$       -$             -$            

General revenues:
Taxes:

Ad valorem
Sales
Franchise fees
Hotel/motel
Mixed drink

Unrestricted investment earnings
Miscellaneous

Transfers

Total General Revenues and Transfers

Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning

Net Position - Ending

Program Revenues

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 14



Component Unit

Governmental Business-Type 
Activities Activities Total PEDC

(60,228)$            -$                   (60,228)$            -$                   

(10,095,353)        -                     (10,095,353)        -                    

(5,380,515)         -                     (5,380,515)         -                    

(1,685,923)         -                     (1,685,923)         -                    
(738,914)            -                     (738,914)            -                    

(17,960,934)        -                     (17,960,934)        -                    

-                     2,080,046           2,080,046           -                    
-                     1,066,796           1,066,796           -                    

-                     3,146,842           3,146,842           -                    

(17,960,934)        3,146,842           (14,814,092)        -                    

(731,660)            

9,159,997           -                     9,159,997           -                    
6,916,337           -                     6,916,337           1,383,267          
1,121,295           -                     1,121,295           -                    

765,181              -                     765,181              -                    
44,827               -                     44,827               -                    

1,682,241           187,449              1,869,690           137,681             
34,092               35,521               69,613               34,074               

2,389,073           (2,389,073)         -                     -                    

22,113,043         (2,166,103)         19,946,940         1,555,022          

4,152,109           980,739              5,132,848           823,362             

20,480,814         22,028,805         42,509,619         5,655,106          

24,632,923$       23,009,544$       47,642,467$       6,478,468$         

Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position
Primary Government

15



General Debt Service
ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 10,402,360$        109,955$        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents -                      -                 

Prepaid items 185,162               7,333              

Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles) 2,050,389            49,022            

Due from other governments 66,909                -                 

Due from component unit 2,509                  -                 
Due from other funds 265,188               54,627            

Total Assets 12,972,517          220,937          

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 640,307               1,556              

Accrued wages payable 579,035               -                 

Unearned revenue 19,377                -                 
Due to other governments -                      -                 
Due to other funds -                      -                 

Total Liabilities 1,238,719            1,556              

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Lease related 52,266                -                 

Unavailable revenue - property taxes 361,749               45,135            

Unavailable revenues - fines 477,347               -                 

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 891,362               45,135            

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable for:

Prepaid items 185,162               7,333              

Restricted for:

Economic development -                      -                 

Debt service -                      166,913          

Capital projects -                      -                 

Public safety -                      -                 

Community services -                      -                 
Committed for:

Community forest -                      -                 
Cemetery -                      -                 
Community development -                      -                 

Assigned for:
Next year's budget 492,400               -                 

Unassigned 10,164,874          -                 

Total Fund Balances 10,842,436          174,246          

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources, 

and Fund Balances
12,972,517$        220,937$        

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

BALANCE SHEET
GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 16



Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
Projects Funds Funds

19,384,420$        4,322,342$       34,219,077$     
1,410,000            -                   1,410,000         

3,792                  48,569              244,856            

150,003               174,138            2,423,552         

-                      353                  67,262              

-                      -                   2,509               
-                      -                   319,815            

20,948,215          4,545,402         38,687,071       

87,103                181,806            910,772            

-                      9,651               588,686            

396,000               -                   415,377            
-                      41,961              41,961              
-                      72,020              72,020              

483,103               305,438            2,028,816         

-                      -                   52,266              

-                      -                   406,884            

-                      -                   477,347            

-                      -                   936,497            

3,792                  48,569              244,856            

-                      1,227,294         1,227,294         

-                      -                   166,913            

20,461,320          -                   20,461,320       

-                      313,041            313,041            

-                      259,921            259,921            

-                      985,156            985,156            
-                      188,062            188,062            
-                      1,217,921         1,217,921         

-                      -                   492,400            
-                      -                   10,164,874       

20,465,112          4,239,964         35,721,758       

20,948,215$        4,545,402$       38,687,071$     

17
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Total Fund Balances - Governmental Funds 35,721,758$            

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not current financial

resources and, therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds balance

sheet. 24,002,737             

Bonds payable and accrued compensated absences will not be liquidated with

current financial resources and, therefore, have not been included in the fund

financial statements. (26,711,579)            

Interest payable on long-term debt is accrued in the government-wide financial

statements, whereas in the fund financial statements, interest expenditures are

reported when due. (114,981)                 

Premiums on bond issuances and deferred losses on bond refunding are

recorded as other financing sources and uses when paid in the fund financial

statements but are capitalized and amortized in the government-wide financial

statements over the life of the bonds.
Premiums (2,887,639)              

Receivables from grants, property taxes and fines and fees are not available

soon enough to pay for the current period's expenditures and are, therefore,

deferred in the fund financial statements. 884,231                  

Included in the items related to debt is the recognition of the City's net

pension liability, total OPEB liability, and related deferred outflows and inflows

of resources.
Net pension liability (7,989,429)              

Deferred outflows related to pensions 2,596,624               

Total OPEB liabilities (956,160)                 

Deferred outflows related to OPEB 360,872                  

Deferred inflows related to OPEB (602,771)                 

The City uses an internal service fund to charge the costs of its group health

insurance to appropriate departments in other funds. The assets and liabilities

of the internal service fund are included in the governmental activities in the

statement of net position. 644,556                  

Net Position of Governmental Activities 24,632,923$            

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

RECONCILIATION OF THE BALANCE SHEET OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 18



General Debt Service
REVENUES

Taxes
Property 8,626,179$     507,145$        
Sales 6,269,530       -                 
Franchise 1,114,111       -                 

Licenses, permits, and fees 357,082         -                 
Intergovernmental 2,218,327       -                 
Charges for services 49,941           -                 
Fines and forfeitures 329,915         -                 
Contributions and donations 15,996           -                 
Investment earnings 601,292         8,377             
Miscellaneous 32,235           -                 

Total Revenues 19,614,608     515,522         

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 2,153,660       -                 
Public safety 11,743,469     -                 
Community services 6,106,923       -                 
Community development 520,611         -                 

Capital outlay -                 -                 
Debt service:

Principal -                 642,044         
Interest and fiscal charges -                 960,015         

Total Expenditures 20,524,663     1,602,059       

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues
Over Expenditures (910,055)        (1,086,537)     

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Insurance recoveries 131,000         -                 
Sale of capital assets 65,481           -                 
Transfers in 2,420,444       949,535         
Transfers out (2,276,465)     -                 

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 340,460         949,535         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (569,595)        (137,002)        

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 11,412,031     311,248         

FUND BALANCES - ENDING 10,842,436$   174,246$        

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES
AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 19



Nonmajor Total
Capital Governmental Governmental
Projects Funds Funds

-$               -$               9,133,324$     
-                 1,456,815       7,726,345       
-                 -                 1,114,111       
-                 -                 357,082         

16,798           130,763         2,365,888       
-                 53,295           103,236         
-                 36,532           366,447         
-                 -                 15,996           

995,685         76,887           1,682,241       
-                 505                32,740           

1,012,483       1,754,797       22,897,410     

-                 105,229         2,258,889       
-                 1,527             11,744,996     
-                 271,684         6,378,607       
-                 1,116,465       1,637,076       

2,796,970       -                 2,796,970       

-                 -                 642,044         
-                 -                 960,015         

2,796,970       1,494,905       26,418,597     

(1,784,487)     259,892         (3,521,187)     

-                 -                 131,000         
-                 -                 65,481           
-                 1,326,930       4,696,909       
-                 (31,371)          (2,307,836)     

-                 1,295,559       2,585,554       

(1,784,487)     1,555,451       (935,633)        

22,249,599     2,684,513       36,657,391     

20,465,112$   4,239,964$     35,721,758$   

20
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Net Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds (935,633)$       

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the

governmental activities statement of activities, that cost of those assets is allocated

over their estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. 
Capital outlay 6,366,592        
Depreciation expense (1,467,784)      

The net effect of miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets (i.e., sales,

trade-ins, or donations) is to decrease net position. (184,901)         

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial

resources are not reported as revenues in the funds.
Property taxes (58,389)           
Court fines 26,673            

The issuance of long-term debt (e.g. bonds) provides current financial resources to

governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long-term debt

consumes the current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither

transaction, however, has any effect on net position. Also, governmental funds

report the effect of premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is first issued,

whereas the amounts are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities.

Repayment of principal of long-term debt 885,576          

Current year changes in certain long-term liabilities do not require the use of current

financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in governmental

funds.
Compensated absences (201,430)         

Net pension liability (72,042)           

Total OPEB liability 16,183            

Interest payable on long-term debt is accrued in the government-wide financial

statements, whereas in the fund financial statements, interest expenditures are

reported when due. 1,598              

The City uses an internal service fund to charge the costs of group health insurance

to the appropriate departments in other funds. The change in net position of the

internal service fund is reported with governmental activities. (224,334)         

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities 4,152,109$      

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

RECONCILIATION OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES

AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 21



Water &
Wastewater Sanitation

ASSETS

Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 14,797,080$     -$              

Accounts receivable, net of allowance 1,442,955         527,268         

Prepaids 91,831              -                

Total Current Assets 16,331,866       527,268         

Noncurrent assets:

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 417,620            -                

Capital assets:

Nondepreciable 3,214,422         20,281           

Depreciable, net 28,676,774       268,707         

Total Noncurrent Assets 32,308,816       288,988         

Total Assets 48,640,682       816,256         

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES

OPEB related 63,434              -                

Pension related 456,424            -                

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 519,858            -                

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable 714,258$          484,793$       

Accrued wages payable 99,915              794                

Accrued interest payable 106,982            -                

Due to other governments 8                      3,968             

Due to other funds -                   193,168         

Customer deposits 199,410            -                

Current portion of long-term liabilities:

Compensated absences 47,785              -                

Leases and financing arrangements -                   -                

Bonds payable 1,087,167         -                

Total Current Liabilities 2,255,525         682,723         

Noncurrent liabilities:

Compensated absences 111,499            -                

Total OPEB liabilities 168,070            -                

Net pension liability 1,404,348         -                

Leases and financing arrangements -                   -                

Bonds payable 22,183,713       -                

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 23,867,630       -                

Total Liabilities 26,123,155       682,723         

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES

OPEB related 105,952            -                

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 161,374            -                

NET POSITION

Net investment in capital assets 21,465,541       288,988         

Restricted for debt service 417,620            -                

Unrestricted 992,850            (155,455)        

Total Net Position 22,876,011$     133,533$       

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

Business-Type
 Activities 

Enterprise Funds

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 22



Governmental
Activities

Total
Enterprise Internal

Funds Service Fund

14,797,080$     13,118$          

1,970,223         20,516            
91,831              9,815              

16,859,134       43,449            

417,620            -                 

3,234,703         -                 

28,945,481       2,077,999       

32,597,804       2,077,999       

49,456,938       2,121,448       

63,434              -                 
456,424            -                 

519,858            -                 

1,199,051$       41,668$          

100,709            9,788              

106,982            2,861              

3,976               -                 

193,168            54,627            

199,410            -                 

47,785              -                 

-                   424,577          

1,087,167         -                 

2,938,248         533,521          

111,499            -                 

168,070            -                 

1,404,348         -                 

-                   943,371          

22,183,713       -                 

23,867,630       943,371          

26,805,878       1,476,892       

105,952            -                 

161,374            -                 

21,754,529       710,051          

417,620            -                 

837,395            (65,495)           

23,009,544$     644,556$        
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Water &
Wastewater Sanitation

OPERATING REVENUES
Intergovernmental 6,500$           -$               
Charges for services 10,624,422     4,278,975       
Other operating revenue 35,521           -                 

Total operating revenues 10,666,443     4,278,975       

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of sales and services 3,942,933       3,170,482       
Personnel 2,312,836       -                 
Depreciation 1,766,383       41,697            

Total operating expenses 8,022,152       3,212,179       

Operating income (loss) 2,644,291       1,066,796       

NON-OPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSES)
Investment earnings 185,509         1,940              
Gain/(loss) on sale or disposal of capital assets (15,350)          -                 
Interest expense and fiscal charges (513,374)        -                 

Total non-operating revenues (expenses) (343,215)        1,940              

Income before transfers 2,301,076       1,068,736       

Transfers out (1,190,925)     (1,198,148)      

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 1,110,151       (129,412)         

NET POSITION - BEGINNING 21,765,860     262,945          

NET POSITION - END OF YEAR 22,876,011$   133,533$        

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

PROPRIETARY FUNDS

Enterprise Funds
Activities 

Business-Type

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND
CHANGES IN NET POSITION

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 24



Governmental
Activities

Total Internal
Enterprise Service

Funds Fund

6,500$             -$               
14,903,397       1,530,254       

35,521             559                 

14,945,418       1,530,813       

7,113,415         862,700          
2,312,836         208,419          
1,808,080         676,999          

11,234,331       1,748,118       

3,711,087         (217,305)         

187,449           -                 
(15,350)            17,579            

(513,374)          (24,608)           

(341,275)          (7,029)             

3,369,812         (224,334)         

(2,389,073)       -                 

980,739           (224,334)         

22,028,805       868,890          

23,009,544$     644,556$        
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Water &
Wastewater Sanitation

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Cash received from customers and users 10,545,245$   4,193,938$   
Cash paid to suppliers and service providers (4,033,201)     (3,190,898)   
Cash paid to employees for services (2,266,140)     -               

Net cash provided (used) by operating activities 4,245,904       1,003,040     

CASH FLOWS FROM NON-CAPITAL FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES

Transfers to other funds (1,190,925)     (1,198,148)   

Net cash provided (used) in non-capital financing activities (1,190,925)     (1,198,148)   

CASH FLOWS FROM CAPITAL & RELATED FINANCING
ACTIVITIES

Acquisition and construction of capital assets (4,197,786)     -               
Proceeds from sale of capital assets -                 -               
Interest paid on long-term debt (737,296)        -               
Principal paid on long-term debt (1,071,245)     -               

Net cash provided (used) in capital and related
financing activities (6,006,327)     -               

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Interest and investment earnings 185,509         1,940           

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 185,509         1,940           

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (2,765,839)     (193,168)      

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR:

Cash and cash equivalents 17,576,728     123,824        
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 403,811         -               

17,980,539     123,824        

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR

Cash and cash equivalents 14,797,080     -               
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 417,620         -               

15,214,700$   -$             

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

 Enterprise Funds

Business-Type
 Activities 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

PROPRIETARY FUNDS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 26



Governmental
Activities

Total
Enterprise Internal

Funds Service Fund

14,739,183$   1,539,997$    
(7,224,099)     (848,881)        
(2,266,140)     (205,784)        

5,248,944       485,332         

(2,389,073)     -                

(2,389,073)     -                

(4,197,786)     -                
-                 17,579           

(737,296)        (24,608)         
(1,071,245)     (492,480)        

(6,006,327)     (499,509)        

187,449          -                

187,449          -                

(2,959,007)     (14,177)         

17,700,552     27,295           
403,811          -                

18,104,363     27,295           

14,797,080     13,118           
417,620          -                

15,214,700$   13,118$         
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Water &
Wastewater Sanitation

Fund Fund
RECONCILIATION OF OPERATING INCOME (LOSS) TO NET

CASH PROVIDED (USED) BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Operating income (loss) 2,644,291$     1,066,796$   
Adjustments to reconcile operating income (loss)

to net cash provided (used) by operating activities:
Depreciation 1,766,383       41,697         
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable (100,679)        (85,037)        
Decrease (increase) in prepaid items (16,612)          -               
Increase (decrease) in deferred OPEB outflows 24,393           -               
Decrease (increase) in deferred pension outflows 189,174         -               
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (73,664)          (120)             
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilities 22,567           -               
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits (20,519)          -               
Increase (decrease) in due to other governments 8                    (20,296)        
Increase (decrease) in compensated absences (2,613)            -               
Increase (decrease) in net pension liability (218,007)        -               
Increase (decrease) in deferred OPEB inflows (38,117)          -               
Increase (decrease) in deferred pension inflows 55,422           -               
Increase (decrease) in total OPEB liability 13,877           -               

Net cash provided (uesd) by operating activities 4,245,904$     1,003,040$   

SCHEDULE OF NON-CASH CAPITAL ACTIVITIES
Right to use lease assets -$              -$            

Business-Type
 Activities 

 Enterprise Funds

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
PROPRIETARY FUNDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of these financial statements. 28



Governmental
Activities

Total
Enterprise Internal Service

Funds Fund

3,711,087$     (217,305)$      

1,808,080       676,999         
(185,716)        9,184             
(16,612)          406               
24,393            -                

189,174          -                
(73,784)          13,413           
22,567            2,635             

(20,519)          -                
(20,288)          -                
(2,613)            -                

(218,007)        -                
(38,117)          -                
55,422            -                
13,877            -                

5,248,944$     485,332$       

-$              1,208,654$     
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CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 

 

NOTES TO BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

 

 

I.   SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

 

The Financial Statements of the City of Palestine have been prepared in conformity with general accepted accounting 

principles (GAAP) as applied to governmental units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the 

accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. The more 

significant of the City’s accounting policies are described below. 

 

A. Reporting Entity  

 

The City is a municipal corporation governed by an elected seven-member council. As required by accounting 

principles generally accepted in the United States of America, these financial statements present the City and 

its component unit for which the City is considered to be financially accountable. 

 

Discretely Presented Component Unit 

 

As required by generally accepted accounting principles, these financial statements present the government 

and its component units, entities for which the government is financially accountable. Blended component 

units, although legally separate entities, are, in substance, part of the government’s operations; thus, data 

from these units is combined with data of the primary government. Discretely presented component units, 

on the other hand, are reported in a separate column in the government-wide financial statements to 

emphasize it is legally separate from the government. The City reports the following component unit:  

 

The Palestine Economic Development Corporation, Inc. (PEDC) has been included in the reporting 

entity as a discretely presented component unit. PEDC is a governmental entity that promotes the creation 

of new and expanded industry and manufacturing activity within the City. PEDC's board of directors is 

appointed by and serves at the discretion of the City Council. City Council approval is required for the annual 

budget and the issuance of any debt. In the event of dissolution, any assets of PEDC will be transferred to 

the City. PEDC makes monthly payments to the City for payroll and other administrative costs. In addition, 

PEDC also assists the City for various project costs including appraisals, engineering fees, and park 

improvements. Separate financial statements of the PEDC are not prepared. 

 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements  

 

The government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net position and the statement of 

activities) report information on all of the activities of the primary government and its component units. For 

the most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental 

activities, which normally are supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately 

from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.  

 

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or  

segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific 

function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges of customers or applicants who purchase, use, or 

directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants 

and contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular 

function or segment. Taxes and other items not properly included among program revenues are reported 

instead as general revenues.  

 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major individual 

governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund 

financial statements.  
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C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation  

 

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus  

and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded 

when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash 

flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar 

items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 

met.  

 

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 

focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 

measurable and available. Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 

current period or soon thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the City considers 

revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period. 

Nonexchange revenues that are measurable but not available are recorded as unavailable revenue (a 

deferred inflow of resources). These revenues are generally property taxes and warrants outstanding. 

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt 

service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences and claims and judgments, 

are recorded only when payment is due.  

 

Property taxes, sales taxes, occupancy taxes, franchise taxes, licenses, and interest income associated with 

the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to accrual and so have been recognized as 

revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable and available 

only when cash is received by the City. 

 

The City reports the following major governmental funds:  

 

The General Fund is the City's primary operating fund which accounts for all financial resources of the 

general government, except those required to be accounted for in another fund.  

 

The Debt Service Fund accounts for the payment of interest and principal on all general obligation 

bonds and other long-term debt of the City.  

 

The Capital Projects Fund accounts for revenue and expenditures related to capital improvements 

funded by bond proceeds. 

 

The City reports the following major enterprise funds:  

 

The Water and Wastewater Fund accounts for water distribution and wastewater collection and 

treatment provided to the citizens through user charges.  

 

The Sanitation Fund accounts for solid waste collection and disposal services provided to the citizens 

through user charges. 

 

Additionally, the City reports the following fund types:  

 

The Internal Service Fund accounts for vehicle fleet leases to departments or agencies of the City on a 

cost-reimbursement basis. 

 

As a general rule, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide financial 

statements. Exceptions to this are charges between the City's general government function and various 

other functions of the City. Eliminations of these charges would distort the direct costs and program 

revenues reported for the various functions concerned. 

 

Amounts reported as program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applications for goods, services, 

or privileges provided, 2) operating grants and contributions, and 3) capital grants and contributions. 

General revenues include all taxes and investment earnings.  
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Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items. Operating revenues 

and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with 

a proprietary fund's principal ongoing operations. The principal operating revenues of the water and 

wastewater enterprise fund and the sanitation enterprise fund are charges to customers for sales and 

services. Operating expenses for enterprise funds include the cost of materials, contract, personnel and 

depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as 

nonoperating revenues and expenses.  

 

When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the City's policy to use restricted 

resources first, then unrestricted resources as they are needed.  

 

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents  

 

The City's cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand demand deposits, and investments 

with an original maturity of 90 days or less from the purchase date. 

 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, the City considers cash and other investments with maturities 

of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash and cash equivalents. 

 

E. Investments  

 

The City is authorized to invest in (1) obligations of the United States or its agencies and instrumentalities;  

(2) direct obligations of the State of Texas or its agencies; (3) other obligations, the principal of and interest 

on which are unconditionally guaranteed or insured by the State of Texas of the United States; (4) 

obligations of states, agencies, counties, cities, and other political subdivisions of any state having been 

rated of not less than "AA" or its equivalent; (5) certificates of deposit issued by state and national banks 

domiciled in Texas that are guaranteed or insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) or its 

successor, or secured by obligations mentioned above; and (6) fully collateralized direct repurchase 

agreements having a defined termination date. In addition, the City is authorized to invest in local 

government investment pools. The investment pools operate in accordance with appropriate state laws and 

regulations and have regulatory oversight from the Texas Public Funds Investment Act Sec. 2256.0016. 

 

Investments for the City are reported at fair value, except for the position in investment pools, which are 

reported at net asset value per share (which approximates fair value) even though it is calculated using the 

amortized cost method. 

 

The City categorized its fair value measurements within the fair value hierarchy established by generally 

accepted accounting principles. The fair value hierarchy, which has three levels, is based on the valuation 

inputs used to measure an asset’s fair value: Level 1 inputs are quotes prices in active markets for identical 

assets; Level 2 inputs are significant other observable inputs; Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable 

inputs. 

 

F. Receivables and Payables  

 

Activities between the funds that are representative of inter-fund loans outstanding at the end of the fiscal  

year are referred to as due to/from other funds. Any residual balances outstanding between the 

governmental activities and business-type activities are reported in the government-wide financial 

statements as "internal balances".  

 

Accounts receivable are reported net of allowances for uncollectible accounts. The allowance account  

represents management's estimate of uncollectible accounts based upon experience and historical trends.  

 

Property taxes for the City are levied each October 1 on the taxable value as of the preceding January 1, the 

date a lien attaches, for all taxable real and personal property located in the City. Taxes are due by January 

31 following the October 1 assessment date and become delinquent on February 1, at which time they begin 

accruing penalty and interest. The enforceable legal claim date for property taxes is the assessment date; 

therefore, the City did not record a receivable for accrual of future taxes at year end. Accordingly, no current 

taxes receivable is reported. Delinquent taxes have been reported in the financial statements net of the 

allowance for uncollectible taxes. Tax revenues are recognized as they become available. Accordingly, an 

amount equal to taxes not yet available has been reported as unavailable revenue (a deferred inflow of 

resources) at the government fund level.  
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G. Inventories and Prepaid Items  

 

All inventories are valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories of governmental 

funds are recorded as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.  

 

Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as 

prepaid items in both governmental-wide and fund financial statements and in the fund financial statements 

are offset by a nonspendable fund balance which indicates they do not represent “available spendable 

resources”. The cost of prepaid items is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed rather than 

when purchased. 

 

H. Restricted Assets  

 

Certain proceeds from bonds, resources set aside for their repayment, and other restrictive agreements are 

classified as restricted assets on the balance sheet because they are maintained in separate bank accounts 

and their use is limited by applicable bond covenants and/or contractual arrangements.  

 

I. Capital Assets 

 

Capital assets, which include land, buildings and improvements, machinery, equipment, vehicles, and 

infrastructure assets (i.e., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable 

governmental or business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. Capital 

assets are defined by the City as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $5,000 and an estimated 

useful life in excess of one year. When capital assets are purchased, they are capitalized and depreciated in 

the government-wide financial statements and the proprietary fund statements. Capital assets are recorded 

as expenditures of the current period in the governmental fund financial statements.  

 

Capital assets are valued at cost where historical records are available and at an estimated cost where no 

records exist. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items received as part of a service 

concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value, rather than fair value.  

 

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend 

asset lives are not capitalized. Improvements to capital assets that materially extend the life of the asset or 

add to the value are capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as 

projects are constructed.  

 

Capital assets are depreciated over their useful lives on a straight-line basis as follows:  

 
Use Lives

Assets (Years)

Buildings and improvements 10 - 50

Machinery, equipment, and vehicles 2 - 20

Infrastructure 15 - 30

Right to use - equipment 5  
 

J. Deferred Inflows/Outflows of Resources  

 

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a 

separate section for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 

outflows of resources, represents a consumption of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will 

not be recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. The City has the following 

items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

• Deferred charges on refunding – A deferred charge on refunding results from the difference in the 

carrying value of refunded debt and its reacquisition price. This amount is deferred and amortized over 

the shorter of the life of the refunded or refunding debt. 

 

• Pension and OPEB contributions after measurement date – These contributions are deferred and 

recognized in the following fiscal year. 

 

• Difference in expected and actual pension and OPEB experience - This difference is deferred and 

recognized over the estimated average remaining lives of all members determined as of the 

measurement date. 



 

34 

• Changes in actuarial assumptions and other inputs – This difference is deferred and recognized over the 

estimated average remaining lives of all members determined as of the measurement date. 

 

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position and/or balance sheet will sometimes report a 

separate section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, deferred 

inflows of resources, represents an acquisition of net assets that applies to a future period(s) and so will 

not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has the following types of 

items that qualify for reporting in this category. 

 

• Unavailable revenue is reported only in the governmental funds balance sheet. These amounts are 

deferred and recognized as an inflow of resources in the period that the amounts become available. 

 

• Difference in projected and actual earnings on pension assets – This difference is deferred and amortized 

over a closed five-year period.  

 

• Difference in expected and actual pension and OPEB experience - This difference is deferred and 

recognized over the estimated average remaining lives of all members determined as of the 

measurement date. 

 

• Changes in actuarial assumptions and other inputs – This difference is deferred and recognized over the 

estimated average remaining lives of all members determined as of the measurement date. 

 

K. Compensated Absences  

 

It is the City's policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation, sick pay benefits, and 

compensatory time. Amounts accumulated, up to certain amounts, may be paid to employees upon 

termination of employment, retirement, or death. The estimated amount of compensation for vested or 

accumulated vacation, sick, and compensatory time that are not expected to be liquidated with expendable 

available financial resources are reported as long-term liabilities on the government-wide and proprietary 

fund financial statements. The estimated amount of compensation is calculation using the pay rates in effect 

at September 30, 2024 and includes additional amounts for the City’s share of social security and Medicare 

taxes. 

 

L. Pensions  

 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, total OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and 

deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB, and pension and OPEB expenses, information 

about the Fiduciary Net Position of the Texas Municipal Retirement System (TMRS) additions to/deductions 

from TMRS’s Fiduciary Net Position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by 

TMRS. For this purpose, plan contributions are recognized in the period that compensation is reported for 

the employee, which is when contributions are legally due. Benefit payments and refunds are recognized 

when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are reported at fair value.  

 

M. Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) 

 

Supplemental Death Benefits Fund. For purposes of measuring the total Texas Municipal Retirement 

System Supplemental Death Benefit Fund (TMRS SDBF) OPEB liability, related deferred outflows and 

inflows of resources, and expense, City specific information about its total TMRS SDBF liability and 

additions to/deductions from the City’s total TMRS SDBF liability have been determined on the same basis 

as they are reported by TMRS. The TMRS SDBF expense and deferred (inflows)/outflows of resources 

related to TMRS SDBF, primarily result from changes in the components of the total TMRS SDBF liability. 

Most changes in the total TMRS SDBF liability will be included in TMRS SDBF expense in the period of the 

change. For example, changes in the total TMRS SDBF liability resulting from current-period service cost, 

interest on the TOL, and changes of benefit terms are required to be included in TMRS SDBF expense 

immediately. Changes in the total TMRS SDBF liability that have not been included in TMRS SDBF expense 

are required to be reported as deferred outflows of resources or deferred inflows of resources related to 

TMRS SDBF. 
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Retiree Health Insurance. The City administers a single-employer defined benefit plan, known as the 

City Retiree Health Care Plan, that allows retirees to pay their premium for continuation of the medical 

and dental insurance coverage. Information regarding the City’s total OPEB liability for this plan is 

obtained directly from GRS, which is also the City’s consulting actuary. The City reports the liabilities for 

these plans on the government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements.  

 

N. Long-Term Obligations  

 

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, 

long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental 

activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type statement of net position. Bond premiums and 

discounts, and losses on defeasance are amortized over the life of the bonds using the effective interest 

method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Losses on defeasance 

are reported as deferred outflows of resources. Bond issuance costs are expensed as incurred. 

 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well 

as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other 

financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances are reported as other financing sources while 

discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld 

from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures. 

 

Leases 

 

The City has entered into various lease agreements as either lessee and lessor. Key estimates and 

judgments related to leases include how the City determines (1) the discount rate it uses to discount the 

expected lease payments to present value, (2) lease term, and (3) lease payments. 

 

• The City uses interest rate charged by the lessor at the discount rate if available. When the 

interest rate charged by the lessor is not provided, the City generally uses its estimated 

incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for leases. 

 

• The lease term includes the noncancellable period of the lease. Lease payments included in 

the measurement of the lease liability are composed of fixed payments and purchase option 

price that the City is reasonably certain to exercise.  

 

The City monitors changes in circumstances that would require a remeasurement of its lease and will 

remeasure the lease asset and liability if certain changes occur that are expected to significantly affect the 

amount of the lease liability or lease asset. 

 

Lessee. The City is a lessee for noncancellable leases of equipment. The City recognizes a lease liability and 

an intangible right-to-use lease asset (lease asset) in the government-wide financial statements. At the 

commencement of a lease, the City initially measures the lease liability at the present value of payments 

expected to be made during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease liability is reduced by the principal 

portion of lease payments made. The lease asset is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease 

liability, adjusted for lease payments made at or before the lease commencement date, plus certain initial 

direct costs. Subsequently, the lease asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over its useful life. Lease 

assets are reported with other capital assets and lease liabilities are reported with long- term debt on the 

statement of net position. 

 

Lessor. The City is a lessor in an arrangement allowing the placement of a cellular tower on City property, 

as well as for a building owned by the component unit. In both the government-wide financial statements 

and the governmental fund financial statements, the City initially measures the lease receivable and a 

deferred inflow of resources for the present value of payments expected to be made during the lease term. 

Subsequently, the lease receivable is reduced by the principal portion of lease payments made. The deferred 

inflow of resources is recognized as revenue on a systematic basis over the life of the lease. 

 

O. Fund Balance 

 

Fund balances in governmental funds are classified as follows:  

 

Nonspendable. Represents amounts that cannot be spent because they are either not in spendable 

form (such as inventory or prepaid items) or legally required to remain intact.  
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Restricted. Represents amounts that are constrained by external parties, constitutional provisions or 

enabling legislation.  

 

Committed. Represents amounts that can only be used for a specific purpose because of a formal 

action by the government’s highest level of decision-making authority: an ordinance adopted by City 

Council prior to the end of the fiscal year. Once adopted, the limitation imposed by the ordinance 

remains in place until a similar action is taken (the adoption of another ordinance) to remove or revise 

the limitation.  

 

Assigned. Represents amounts which the City intends to use for a specific purpose but do not meet the 

criteria of restricted or committed. The City Council may make assignments through formal 

documentation in the minutes. The City Council authorized (by way of policy) the City Manager to also 

make assignments. The City Manager’s assignments do not require formal action; however, the City 

Manager has not assigned any funds at this time.  

 

Unassigned. Represents the residual balance that may be spent on any other purpose of the City. Only 

the General Fund reports positive unassigned fund balances; if another fund were to have unassigned 

fund balance, it would be in the event of a deficit. 

 

When an expenditure is incurred for a purpose in which multiple classifications are available, the City 

considers restricted balances spent first, committed second, and assigned third.  

 

P. Net Position  

 

Net position represents the difference between assets plus deferred outflows of resources less liabilities and  

deferred inflows of resources. Net investment in capital assets consists of capital assets, net of accumulated  

depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction, 

or improvements of those assets, and adding back unspent proceeds. Net position is reported as restricted 

when there are limitations imposed by creditors, grantors, or laws or regulations of other governments.  

 

Q. Estimates  

 

The preparation of financial statements, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,  

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and  

liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported  

amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting period. Actual amounts could differ from those  

estimates.  

 

 

II. DETAILED NOTES ON ALL FUNDS AND ACTIVITIES 

 

A. Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments 

 

As of September 30, 2024, the City had the following investments:  

 
Reported Weighted Average

Value Maturity (days)

Investment type:

TexSTAR 17,143,797$   24

Certificates of deposit 6,777,884       144

US agency securities 4,962,500       38

Subtotal 28,884,181     

Plus: depository and petty cash 25,642,696     

Total cash and investments 54,526,877$    
 

The investment in US Agencies are valued at fair value using documented trade in exact security 

measurements (level 1). Investments in TexSTAR are recorded as cash equivalents in the financial 

statements. TexSTAR has a redemption notice period of one day and may redeem daily. The investment 

pools’ authorities may only impose restrictions on redemptions in the event of a general suspension of 

trading on major securities markets, general banking moratorium or national state of emergency that 

affects the pools’ liquidity. 
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Interest Rate Risk - As a means of limiting its exposure to fair value losses arising from rising interest rates,  

the City's investment policy limits the City's investment portfolio to highly liquid investments to meet  

unanticipated cash requirements, and/or to redeploy cash into other investments expected to outperform  

current holdings.  

 

Credit Risk - State law limits investments in certificates of deposit to guaranteed or insured by the Federal  

Deposit Insurance Corporation, or its successor or the National Credit Union Share Insurance Fund, or its  

successor and investment pools continuously rated no lower than AAA or an equivalent rating by at least 

one nationally recognized rating service. The City's investment policy does not further limit its investment  

choices. As of September 30, 2024, the City's investments in the pooled investment funds were rated 

AAAm by Standard & Poor's. The City has also invested in debt securities provided by the Federal Home 

Loan Bank, Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, Federal Farm  

Credit Banks, and U.S Treasury Notes.  

 

Custodial Credit Risk - Deposits. In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of a bank failure,  

the government’s deposits may not be returned. As of September 30, 2024, the City’s cash and cash  

equivalents (including certificates of deposit, and component unit holdings) were fully collateralized by the  

City’s depository by a combination of pledged collateral and FDIC insurance. All collateral is held in the  

City’s name.  

 

Custodial Credit Risk - Investments. For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the failure of 

the counterparty, the government will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral 

securities that are in the possession of an outside party. All of the government securities owned by the City 

are held by its agent in the City’s name.  

 

Restricted Cash - Cash is restricted in the Proprietary fund for debt service sinking funds that bond 

covenants require to be kept intact while debt is outstanding. In the governmental funds, restricted cash 

represents the grant and loan proceeds from the Texas Water Development Board (TWDB) that are only 

available for spending when approved by TWDB. 

 

B. Property Taxes 

 

Taxes are levied on and payable as of October 1. The City has contracted with the Guadalupe County Tax  

Assessor-Collector to collect taxes on its behalf. Current taxes become delinquent February 1. Current year  

delinquent taxes not paid by July 1 are turned over to attorneys for collection action. The total taxable 

value as of October 1, 2023, upon which the fiscal year 2024 levy was based, was $1,561,938,056 (i.e., 

market value less exemptions).  

 

The City is permitted by the Constitution of the State of Texas to levy taxes up to $2.50 per $100 of 

taxable assessed valuation for all governmental purposes. Pursuant to a decision of the Attorney General of 

the State of Texas, up to $1.50 per $100 of assessed valuation may be used for the payment of long-term 

debt. The combined tax rate to finance general governmental services, including the payment of principal 

and interest on long-term debt for the year ended September 30, 2024, was $0.594285 per $100 of 

assessed value, which means that the City has a tax margin of $1.905715 for each $100 value and could 

increase its annual tax levy by approximately $29,766,088 based upon the present assessed valuation 

before the limit is reached.  

 

However, the City may not adopt a tax rate that exceeds the tax rate calculated in accordance with the 

Texas Property Tax Code without holding a public hearing. The Property Tax Code subjects an increase in 

the effective tax rate to a referendum election, if petitioned by registered voters, when the effective tax 

rate increase is more than eight percent (8%) of the previous year’s effective tax rate.  

 

Property taxes are recorded as receivables and unearned revenues at the time the taxes are assessed. In 

governmental funds, revenues are recognized as the related ad valorem taxes are collected. Additional 

amounts estimated to be collectible in the time to be a resource for payment of obligations incurred during 

the fiscal year and therefore susceptible to accrual in accordance with generally accepted accounting 

principles have been recognized as revenue. In the government-wide financial statements, the entire levy 

is recognized as revenue, net of estimated uncollectible amounts (if any), at the levy date.  
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C. Receivables 

 

Receivables as September 30, 2024, for the government’s individual major funds and nonmajor funds in 

the aggregate, including the applicable allowances for uncollectible accounts, are as follows:  

 

Debt Capital Nonmajor Internal

General Service Projects Governmental Service Total

Receivables:

Property taxes 684,602$       81,703$     -$            -$             -$             766,305$       

Sales tax 1,062,577      -            -             118,064        -              1,180,641      

Occupancy taxes -               -            -             56,074         -              56,074           

Franchise taxes 290,453         -            -             -              -              290,453         

Customers -               -            -             -              20,516         20,516           

Court fines 1,744,058      -            -             -              -              1,744,058      

Leases 53,512          -            -             -              -              53,512           

Other 4,911            -            150,003       -              -              154,914         

Gross receivables 3,840,113      81,703       150,003       174,138        20,516         4,266,473      

Less: allowance for

uncollectible accounts (1,789,724)     (32,681)      -             -              -              (1,822,405)     

Net receivables 2,050,389$    49,022$     150,003$     174,138$      20,516$        2,444,068$    

Governmental Activities

 
 

Water & Component

Wastewater Sanitation Total Unit

Receivables:

Sales tax -$              -$          -$            236,128$      

Customers 1,438,655      524,261     1,962,916    -              

Other 8,835            15,930       24,765        336,410        

Gross receivables 1,447,490      540,191     1,987,681    572,538        

Less: allowance for

uncollectible accounts (4,535)           (12,923)      (17,458)       -              

Net receivables 1,442,955$    527,268$   1,970,223$  572,538$      

Business-type Activities

 
 

D. Deferred Inflows and Outflows of Resources 

 

The proprietary funds and governmental activities statements of net position report various deferred 

outflows and inflows of resources, primarily due to pensions and OPEB, that are summarized by column. The 

following table presents the disaggregated amounts.   

 

Component Unit

Governmental Water &

Activities Wastewater Total PEDC

Deferred outflows:

Related to pensions 2,596,624$   456,424$       3,053,048$     45,550$           

Related to OPEB - SDBF 61,887         10,879           72,766           1,086              

Related to OPEB - Retiree

Health Plan 298,985        52,555           351,540         5,245              

Total deferred outflow 2,957,496$   519,858$       3,477,354$     51,881$           

Deferred inflows:

Leases 52,266$        -$              52,266$         -$                

Related to pensions 315,296        55,422           370,718         5,531              

Related to OPEB - SDBF 160,424        28,198           188,622         2,814              

Related to OPEB - Retiree

Health plan 442,347        77,754           520,101         7,760              

Total deferred inflow 970,333$      161,374$       1,131,707$     16,105$           

Business-type 

Activities
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E. Interfund Balances and Transfers 

 

The composition of interfund balances as of September 30, 2024, is as follows:  

 
Due From Due To Amount Purpose

Internal service Debt Service 54,627$     Short-term pool cash loan

Sanitation fund General 193,168     Short-term pool cash loan

Nonmajor governmental General 72,020       Short-term pool cash loan

319,815$   

 
 

The following schedule briefly summarizes the City’s transfer activity for the year ending September 30,  

2024:  

 
Transfer From Transfer To Amount Purpose

Nonmajor governmental General 31,371$       Supplement funds sources

Water & wastewater fund General 1,190,925    Payment in lieu of franchise fees

Sanitation fund General 1,198,148    Payment in lieu of franchise fees

General Debt Service 949,535       Fund lease debt service

General Nonmajor governmental 1,326,930    Funding for capital projects

4,696,909$   
 

F. Capital Assets 

 

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2024, was as follows:  

 
Beginning Reclassifications/ Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Governmental activities:

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land 1,777,545$    -$              -$              1,777,545$    

Construction in progress 336,328         2,796,970      (212,965)        2,920,333      

Total capital assets not

being depreciated 2,113,873      2,796,970      (212,965)        4,697,878      

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 3,575,194      76,159           -                3,651,353      

Improvements 13,853,160    2,643,102      -                16,496,262    

Machinery and equipment 13,693,289    1,063,326      -                14,756,615    

Infrastructure 33,947,598    -                (988,009)        32,959,589    

Right to use - vehicles 1,431,641      1,208,658      (327,862)        2,312,437      

Total assets being depreciated 66,500,882    4,991,245      (1,315,871)     70,176,256    

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings (2,266,407)     (59,262)         -                (2,325,669)     

Improvements (9,134,860)     (974,927)        -                (10,109,787)   

Machinery and equipment (10,184,600)   (736,183)        -                (10,920,783)   

Infrastructure (25,198,518)   -                803,108         (24,395,410)   

Right to use - vehicles (995,196)        (374,415)        327,862         (1,041,749)     

Total accumulated depreciation (47,779,581)   (2,144,787)     1,130,970      (48,793,398)   

Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 18,721,301    2,846,458      (184,901)        21,382,858    

Governmental activities capital

assets, net 20,835,174$   5,643,428$    (397,866)$      26,080,736$    
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Beginning Reclassifications/ Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Business-type activities:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land 63,306$         -$              -$              63,306$         

Construction in progress 3,088,812      2,751,582      (2,668,997)     3,171,397      

Total capital assets, not being

depreciated 3,152,118      2,751,582      (2,668,997)     3,234,703      

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 8,386,908      -                -                8,386,908      

Machinery and equipment 2,788,265      3,636,011      (63,249)         6,361,027      

Infrastructure 57,760,089    457,255         (244,801)        57,972,543    

Total capital assets being

depreciated 68,935,262    4,093,266      (308,050)        72,720,478    

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings (7,905,612)     (146,523)        -                (8,052,135)     

Machinery and equipment (1,342,842)     (222,837)        63,249           (1,502,430)     

Infrastructure (33,011,163)   (1,438,720)     229,451         (34,220,432)   

Total accumulated depreciation (42,259,617)   (1,808,080)     292,700         (43,774,997)   

Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 26,675,645    2,285,186      (15,350)         28,945,481    

Business-type activities capital

assets, net 29,827,763$   5,036,768$    (2,684,347)$   32,180,184$    
 

 

Beginning Reclassifications/ Ending

Balance Additions Retirements Balance

Component unit:

Capital assets, not being depreciated:

Land - developed 623,129$       -$              -$              623,129$       

Land - undeveloped 330,916         2,384,000      -                2,714,916      

Total capital assets, not being

depreciated 954,045         2,384,000      -                3,338,045      

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 4,342,299      -                -                4,342,299      

Machinery and equipment 108,646         -                -                108,646         

Total capital assets being

depreciated 4,450,945      -                -                4,450,945      

Less accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings (2,062,385)     (98,454)         -                (2,160,839)     

Machinery and equipment (107,168)        (1,477)           -                (108,645)        

Total accumulated depreciation (2,169,553)     (99,931)         -                (2,269,484)     

Total capital assets being

depreciated, net 2,281,392      (99,931)         -                2,181,461      

Component unit capital assets, net 3,235,437$    2,284,069$    -$              5,519,506$     
 

Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:  

 
Governmental activities:

General government 145,688$         

Public safety 864,210          

Community services 1,082,905        

Community development 51,984            

Total 2,144,787$      

Business-type activities:

Water & wastewater fund 1,766,383$      

Sanitation fund 41,697            

Total 1,808,080$      

Total Depreciation 3,952,867$      
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G. Long-Term Debt 

 

Changes in long-term debt for the City for the year ending September 30, 2024 are as follows: 

 
Beginning Refunded/ Ending Amount Due

Balance Issued Retired Balance Within One Year

Governmental activities:

General Obligation Bonds 1,585,000$   -$             (215,000)$      1,370,000$   220,000$       

Certificates of Obligation 21,925,000   -              (163,755)        21,761,245   172,833         

Private Placement COs 981,000       -              (33,000)         948,000       33,000           

Unamortized Premium 3,137,686     -              (250,047)        2,887,639     -                

Financing Arrangements 1,113,202     -              (286,307)        826,895       290,424         

Leases 458,017       1,208,658     (429,951)        1,236,724     360,013         

Compensated Absences 1,735,233     722,000        (520,570)        1,936,663     580,999         

Total governmental 30,935,138$ 1,930,658$   (1,898,630)$   30,967,166$ 1,657,269$     

Business-type activities:

Certificates of Obligation 22,320,000$ -$             (1,071,245)$   21,248,755$ 1,087,167$     

Unamortized Premium 2,242,850     -              (220,725)        2,022,125     -                

Compensated Absences 161,897       45,956         (48,569)         159,284       47,785           

Total business-type 24,724,747$ 45,956$        (1,340,539)$   23,430,164$ 1,134,952$      
 

General Obligation Bonds and Certificates of Obligation 

 

The City has issued various bonds and certificates of obligation to construct and improve City property 

including buildings, streets and sidewalks, water and wastewater infrastructure, and park facilities. The 

bonds and certificates are funded by Interest and Sinking property tax revenues and a pledge of excess 

revenues of the Water & Wastewater Fund. For the year ended September 30, 2024, Water & Wastewater 

Fund net revenues were approximately $3.0 million (excluding depreciation expense) compared to debt 

service of $1,805,344. 

 

The bonds and certificates contain various covenants and indentures. Management has indicated that the 

City is substantially in compliance with these restrictions. Certain obligations have been marked as private 

placements. However, the terms of these obligations are not significantly different than the City’s other debt. 

The obligations do not contain substantive acceleration clauses; in the event of default, any registered owner 

of the obligations may seek a writ of mandamus from a court of proper jurisdiction requiring the City to 

make payment. 

 

A summary of bonds and certificates outstanding as of September 30, 2024, is as follows: 

 

Issue

Amount Maturity Rate Balance

Governmental Activities

General Obligation Bonds

Series 2020 2,215,000$   2030 1.75%-2.05% 1,370,000$     

Certificates of Obligation

Series 2022 I&S 21,930,936 2041 4.00%-5.00% 21,761,245     

Series 2022A 1,014,000   2052 0.00% 948,000          

Total Governmental Long-Term Obligations 24,079,245$   

Issue

Amount Maturity Rate Balance

Business-type Activities

Certificates of Obligation

Series 2013 2,600,000$   2028 2.15% 1,010,000$     

Series 2020 5,490,000   2030 1.75%-2.00% 3,030,000       

Series 2021 4,585,000   2041 3.00% 4,345,000       

Series 2022 W&S 12,964,064 2041 4.00%-5.00% 12,863,755     

Total Business-Type Long-Term Obligations 21,248,755$    
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Financing Arrangements 

 

The City has entered into multiple arrangements to finance the purchase of equipment. The City retains title 

to the underlying equipment during and after the duration of the agreement. The arrangements are direct 

borrowings and are secured by the financed assets.  

 

Details on the arrangements outstanding as of September 30, 2024, is as follows: 

 
Issue

Amount Maturity Rate Balance

Governmental Activities

Southside Bank - PD Equipment 598,579   2026 3.20% 131,224$   

Leasing 2, Inc. - Fire, Road, & Utility Equipment 1,558,865 2029 2.50% 695,671     

Total Financing Arrangements 826,895$    
 

 Leases Payable 

 

The City has entered into a master lease agreement with Enterprise Fleet Services to acquire fleet vehicles for 

various City departments. Each vehicle is structured as an individual noncancelable lease beginning when the 

City takes delivery. All agreements are 60 months in duration and include both fixed monthly payments and 

overage charges for exceeding mileage limits. For the year ended September 30, 2024, payments amounted 

to $454,559, including $24,608 of interest expense. 

 

During fiscal year 2024, the City acquired 19 additional vehicles under the master lease agreement. The 

leases were recognized each over their 60-month term with a combined discounted value of $1,208,658. 

 

Details of leases payable as of September 30, 2024, is as follows: 

 
Issue Number of Fixed Monthly

Amount Agreements Maturities Payments Rates Balance

Governmental Activities

Fleet vehicles 2,640,299$  68 2025-2029 $298-$1,429 1.35%-6.38% 1,236,724$   
 

Future Maturities of Long-term Debt 

 

Annual future debt service requirements of bonded debt as of September 30, 2024, are as follows:  

 

Governmental activities: 

 

Year Ended

September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2025 220,000$        24,510$         172,833$        888,817$        33,000$         -$          1,339,160$     

2026 220,000         20,110           241,966          878,447         33,000           -            1,393,523       

2027 225,000         15,660           292,245          865,092         33,000           -            1,430,997       

2028 230,000         11,398           348,808          849,066         33,000           -            1,472,272       

2029 235,000         7,153             358,236          831,390         34,000           -            1,465,779       

2030-2034 240,000         2,460             2,611,349       3,840,538       170,000         -            6,864,347       

2035-2039 -                -                3,437,806       3,214,064       170,000         -            6,821,870       

2040-2044 -                -                4,877,032       2,413,377       170,000         -            7,460,409       

2045-2049 -                -                6,454,527       1,259,354       170,000         -            7,883,881       

2050-2053 -                -                2,966,443       89,622           102,000         -            3,158,065       

Total 1,370,000$     81,291$         21,761,245$   15,129,767$   948,000$       -$          39,290,303$   

General Obligation Bonds Certificates of Obligation COs - Private Placement
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Year Ended

September 30, Principal Interest Total Principal Interest Total

2025 290,424$        310,154$        600,578$        360,013$        18,865$         378,878$   

2026 155,190         167,166         322,356          278,582         11,754           290,336     

2027 90,805           100,506         191,311          248,742         7,301             256,043     

2028 93,139           100,506         193,645          249,826         1,226             251,052     

2029 95,532           100,506         196,038          99,561           -                99,561       

2030-2034 101,805         -                101,805          -                -                -            

Total 826,895$        778,838$        1,605,733$     1,236,724$     39,146$         1,275,870$ 

Financing Arrangements Leases

 
 

Business-type Activities: 

 

Year Ended

September 30, Principal Interest Total

2025 1,087,167$     713,642$        1,800,809$     

2026 1,143,034       689,596         1,832,630       

2027 1,197,755       658,386         1,856,141       

2028 1,181,192       621,207         1,802,399       

2029 741,764         589,373         1,331,137       

2030-2034 3,208,651       2,586,075       5,794,726       

2035-2039 3,572,194       2,053,047       5,625,241       

2040-2044 3,547,968       1,441,642       4,989,610       

2045-2049 3,815,473       744,446         4,559,919       

2050-2051 1,753,557       52,978           1,806,535       

Total 21,248,755$   10,150,392$   31,399,147$   

Certificates of Obligation

 
 

Discretely Presented Component Unit Debt 

 

Changes in long-term debt of the Palestine Economic Development Corporation for the year ending September 

30, 2024, are as follows: 

 
Beginning Refunded/ Ending Amount Due

Balance Issued Retired Balance Within One Year

Revenue Bonds 720,687$      -$            (305,000)$    415,687$      315,000$       

Sales Tax Note -              2,030,000     (82,233)        1,947,767     149,694         

Note Payable 786,904       -              (96,096)        690,808       98,680           

Compensated Absences 6,519           13,072         (1,955)          17,636         1,955             

Total Component Unit 1,514,110$   2,043,072$   (485,284)$    3,071,898$   565,329$        
 

Revenue bonds were issued for refunding debt and the purchase of a commercial office building. The note 

payable was issued to finance the construction of fiber internet infrastructure. Both obligations are classified 

as direct borrowings. The sales tax note was issued for paying the costs to acquire certain real property to be 

designated as an industrial park and is secured by the proceeds of the Economic Development Sales and Use 

Tax. The note payable is secured by the financed asset. In the event of default, the debtholders may seek a 

writ of mandamus from a court of proper jurisdiction requiring the Corporation to make payment. 

 

On February 16, 2024, the Component Unit issued $2,030,000 of its 2024 Sales Tax Note. The Note matures 

in stages through 2034 with an interest rate of 7.10%. Proceeds from the Note will be used for acquiring 

certain real property to be designated as an industrial park and is secured by the proceeds of the Economic 

Development Sales and Use Tax. 
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A summary of the terms of long-term debt outstanding at September 30, 2024, is as follows:  

 

Issue

Amount Maturity Rate Balance

Revenue Bonds

Series 2012B 2,865,000$   2026 3.35% 355,687$        

Series 2016 525,000      2026 3.63% 60,000           

Sales Tax Note

Sales Tax Note 2,030,000   2034 7.10% 1,947,767       

Total Component Unit 2,363,454$     
 

 

Annual future debt service requirements of bonded debt as of September 30, 2024, are as follows:  

 

Year Ended

September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest Total

2025 315,000$     15,076$       149,694$     135,681$     98,680$       17,797$       731,928$     

2026 100,687       4,355           160,511       124,864       101,333       15,144         506,894       

2027 -              -              172,110       113,265       104,058       12,419         401,852       

2028 -              -              184,546       100,829       106,856       9,621           401,852       

2029 -              -              197,882       87,493         109,729       6,748           401,852       

2030-2034 -              -              1,083,024    201,163       170,152       4,565           1,458,904    

Total 415,687$     19,431$       1,947,767$   763,295$     690,808$     66,294$       3,903,282$   

NotesRevenue Bonds Sales Tax Note

 
 

H. Net Pension and Total OPEB Liabilities and Expenses 

 

Amounts are aggregated into a single net pension liability and total OPEB liability, and expenses for certain 

columns. Below is the detail of net pension liability and total OPEB liability and expenses for governmental 

and business-type activities. 

 

Component Unit

Governmental Water &

Activities Wastewater Totals PEDC

Net pension liability 7,989,429$   1,404,348$     9,393,777$     140,149$         

Total OPEB liabilities:

TMRS SDBF 608,348        106,933         715,281         10,671            

Retiree health plan 347,812        61,137           408,949         6,101              

Total OPEB liability 956,160$      168,070$       1,124,230$     16,772$           

Component Unit

Governmental Water &

Activities Wastewater Totals PEDC

Pension expense 1,408,115$   247,512$       1,655,627$     24,701$           

OPEB expense:

TMRS SDBF 15,428         2,712             18,140           271                 

Retiree Health Plan 19,116         3,360             22,476           336                 

Total OPEB expense 34,544$        6,072$           40,616$         607$               

Business-type 

Activities

Business-type 

Activities
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III.  OTHER INFORMATION 

 

A. Retirement Plan 

  

Plan Description 

 

The City participates as one of 934 plans in the defined benefit cash-balance plan administered by the Texas 

Municipal Retirement System (TMRS). TMRS is an agency created by the state of Texas and administered in 

accordance with the TMRS Act, Subtitle G, Title 8, Texas Government Code (the TMRS Act) as an agent 

multiple-employer retirement system for municipal employees in the State of Texas. The TMRS Act places 

the general administration and management of the system with a six-member Board of Trustees. Although 

the Governor, with the advice and consent of the Senate, appoints the Board, TMRS is not fiscally dependent 

on the State of Texas. TMRS’s defined benefit pension plan is a tax-qualified plan under Section 401(a) of 

the Internal Service Code. TMRS issues a publicly available annual comprehensive financial report (ACFR) 

that can be obtained at www.tmrs.com.  

 

All eligible employees of the City are required to participate in TMRS.  

 

Benefits Provided 

 

TMRS provides retirement, disability, and death benefits. Benefit provisions are adopted by the governing 

body of the City, within the options available in the state statutes governing TMRS.  

 

At retirement, the member’s benefit is calculated based on the sum of the member’s contributions with 

interest, the city-financed monetary credits with interest, and their age at retirement and other actuarial 

factors. The retiring member may select one of seven monthly benefit payment options. Members may also 

choose to receive a portion of their benefit as a lump sum distribution in an amount equal to 12, 24 or 36 

monthly payments, which cannot exceed 75% of the total member contributions and interest. 

 

The City grants monetary credits for service rendered of a theoretical amount equal to two times what would 

have been contributed by the employee, with interest. Monetary credits, also known as the matching ratio, 

are 200% of the employee’s accumulated contributions and are only payable in the form of an annuity. 

 

Beginning in 2008, the City granted an annually repeating (automatic) basis monetary credit referred to as 

an updated service credit (USC) which is a theoretical amount that takes into account salary increases or 

plan improvements. If at any time during their career an employee earns a USC, this amount remains in 

their account earning interest at 5% until retirement. At retirement, the benefit is calculated as if the sum of 

the employee’s accumulated contributions with interest and the employer match plus employer-financed 

monetary credits, such as USC, with interest were used to purchase an annuity. Additionally, initiated in 

2008, the City provided on an annually repeating (automatic) basis cost of living adjustments (COLA) for 

retirees equal to a percentage of the change in the consumer price index (CPI). 

 
Employee deposit rate 6%

Matching ratio (City to employee) 2 to 1

Years required for vesting 5

Service retirement eligibility 20 years to any age,

5 years at age 60 and above

Updated service credit 100% repeating transfers

Annual increase to retirees 70% of CIP, repeating  
 

Employees covered by benefit terms 

 

At the December 31, 2023, valuation and measurement date, the following employees were covered by the 

benefit terms:  

 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 175

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 207

Active employees 176

Total 558
 

 

 

 

 

http://www.tmrs.com./
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Contributions 

 

The contribution rates for employees in TMRS are either 5%, 6%, or 7% of employee gross earnings, and 

the City matching percentages are either 100%, 150%, or 200%, both as adopted by the governing body of 

the City. Under the state law governing TMRS, the contribution rate for each city is determined annually by 

the actuary, using the Entry Age Normal (EAN) actuarial cost method. The City's contribution rate is based 

on the liabilities created from the benefit plan options selected by the City and any changes in benefits or 

actual experience over time. 

 

Employees for the City and Component Unit were required to contribute 6% of their annual gross earnings 

during the fiscal year. The contribution rates for the City and Component unit were 14.18% and 14.49% in 

calendar years 2023 and 2024, respectively. The City’s and Component Unit’s contributions to TMRS for the 

year ended September 30, 2024 totaled $1,562,067 and were equal to the required contributions.  

  

Net Pension Liability  

 

The City’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) was measured as of December 31, 2023, and the Total Pension Liability 

(TPL) used to calculate the Net Pension Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. 

The net pension liability is typically liquidated through the General Fund and Enterprise Funds. 

 

Actuarial Assumptions  

 

The Total Pension Liability in the December 31, 2023, actuarial valuation was determined using the following 

actuarial assumptions:  

 

      

Inflation 2.50% per year

Salary Increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Investment rate of return 6.75% net of pension plan investment expense, 

including inflation  
 

Salary increases are based on a service-related table. Mortality rates for active members are based on the 

PUB(10) mortality tables with 110% of the Public Safety table used for males and 100% of the General 

Employee table used for females. Mortality rates for healthy retirees and beneficiaries are based on the 

Gender-distinct 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables. Male rates are multiplied by 103% and 

female rates are multiplied by 105%. The rates for actives, healthy retirees and beneficiaries are projected 

on a fully generational basis by the most recent Scale MP-2021 to account for future mortality 

improvements. For disabled annuitants, the same mortality tables for healthy retirees is used with a 4-year 

set-forward for males and a 3-year set-forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3.0% minimum 

mortality rate will be applied, for males and females respectively, to reflect the impairment for younger 

members who become disabled. The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by Scale MP-2021 to 

account for future mortality improvements subject to the 3% floor. 

 

The actuarial assumptions were developed primarily from the actuarial investigation of the experience of 

TMRS over the four-year period from December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2022. They were adopted in 

2023 and first used in the December 31, 2023 actuarial valuation. The post-retirement mortality assumption 

for healthy annuitants and Annuity Purchase Rate (APRs) are based on the Mortality Experience Investigation 

Study covering 2009 through 2011 and dated December 31, 2013. Plan assets are managed on a total 

return basis with an emphasis on both capital appreciation as well as the production of income, in order to 

satisfy the short-term and long-term funding needs of TMRS. 
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The long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block 

method in which best estimate ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of 

pension plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are 

combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of 

return by the target asset allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. In determining their best 

estimate of a recommended investment return assumption under the various alternative asset allocation 

portfolios, GRS focused on the area between (1) arithmetic mean (aggressive) without an adjustment for 

time (conservative) and (2) the geometric mean (conservative) with an adjustment for time (aggressive). 

The target allocation and best estimates of real rates of return for each major asset class in fiscal year 

2024 are summarized in the following table: 

Asset Class Target Allocation

Long-Term Expected 

Real Rate of Return 

(Arithmetic)

Global Equity 35.0% 6.7%

Core Fixed Income 6.0% 4.7%

Non-Core Fixed Income 20.0% 8.0%

Other Public and Private Markets 12.0% 8.0%

Real Estate 12.0% 7.6%

Hedge Funds 5.0% 6.4%

Private Equity 10.0% 11.6%

Total 100.0%  
 

Discount Rate 

 

The discount rate used to measure the Total Pension Liability was 6.75%. The projection of cash flows used 

to determine the discount rate assumed that employee contributions will remain at the current 6% and 

employer contributions will be made at the rates specified in statute. Based on that assumption, the pension 

plan’s Fiduciary Net Position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of 

current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was 

applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the Total Pension Liability. 

 

Changes in the Net Pension Liability 

 

As of September 30, 2024, the City reported the following changes in the Net Pension Liability: 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a)-(b) 

Balance at 12/31/2022 54,181,472$   43,247,778$   10,933,694$   

Changes for the year:

Service cost 1,386,469       -                1,386,469       

Interest 3,617,133       -                3,617,133       

Difference between expected

and actual experience 1,022,683       -                1,022,683       

Change in assumptions (591,383)        -                (591,383)        

Contributions - employer -                1,400,732       (1,400,732)     

Contributions - employee -                611,228         (611,228)        

Net investment income -                4,994,924       (4,994,924)     

Benefit payments, including refunds 

 of employee contributions (2,575,095)     (2,575,095)     -                

Administrative expense -                (31,844)          31,844           

Other changes -                (221)              221                

Net changes 2,859,807       4,399,724       (1,539,917)     

Balance at 12/31/2023 57,041,279$   47,647,502$   9,393,777$     

Increase (Decease)
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As of September 30, 2024, the Component Unit reported the following changes in the Net Pension Liability: 

Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Pension

Liability Net Position Liability

(a) (b) (a)-(b) 

Balance at 12/31/2022 808,350$        645,227$        163,123$        

Changes for the year:

Service cost 20,685           -                20,685           

Interest 53,965           -                53,965           

Difference between expected

and actual experience 15,258           -                15,258           

Change in assumptions (8,823)            -                (8,823)            

Contributions - employer -                20,898           (20,898)          

Contributions - employee -                9,119             (9,119)            

Net investment income -                74,521           (74,521)          

Benefit payments, including refunds 

 of employee contributions (38,419)          (38,419)          -                

Administrative expense -                (475)              475                

Other changes -                (4)                  4                   

Net changes 42,666           65,640           (22,974)          

Balance at 12/31/2023 851,016$        710,867$        140,149$        

Increase (Decease)

 
 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability  

 

The following presents the net pension liability/(asset) of the City and Component Unit, calculated using the 

discount rate of 6.75%, as well as what the City and Component Unit’s net pension liabilities would be if it 

were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower (5.75%) or 1-percentage point higher 

(7.75%) than the current rate:  

 
1% Decrease in 1% Increase in

Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

(5.75%) (6.75%) (7.75%)

City's net pension liability 17,314,712$     9,393,777$     2,934,806$     

Component Unit's net pension liability 258,324            140,149          43,785            

Total 17,573,036$     9,533,926$     2,978,591$      
 

Pension Plan Fiduciary Net Position 

 

Detailed information about the pension plan’s Fiduciary Net Position is available in a separately-issued 

TMRS financial report. That report may be obtained on the Internet at www.tmrs.com. 

 

Pension Expense, Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to 

Pensions 

 

For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City and Component Unit recognized pension expenses of 

$1,655,627 and $24,701, respectively.  

 

As of September 30, 2024, the City reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 

resources related to pensions from the following sources:  

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 708,268$           -$                  

Changes in actuarial assumptions                 -   370,718             

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 1,207,075          -                   

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 1,137,705          -                   

Total 3,053,048$        370,718$           

City

 
 

 

http://www.tmrs.com/
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As of September 30, 2024, the Component Unit reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows 

of resources related to pensions from the following sources: 

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 10,567$             -$                  

Changes in actuarial assumptions 5,531                

Difference between projected and actual investment earnings 18,009              -                   

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 16,974              -                   

Total 45,550$             5,531$              

Component Unit

 
 

The City and Component Unit reported $1,137,705 and $16,974, respectively, as deferred outflows of 

resources related to pensions resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement date that will be 

recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability for the year ending September 30, 2024. Other 

amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in 

pension expense as follows:  

 
For the Year Component

Ended September 30, City Unit

2025 544,777$     8,128$         

2026 493,569       7,364           

2027 921,420       13,747         

2028 (415,141)      (6,194)          
 

B. Other Post-Employment Benefits  

 

The City participates in two defined-benefit other post-employment benefit (OPEB) plans: the Texas 

Municipal Retirement System Supplemental Death Benefits Fund (TMRS SDBF), and its own single-employer 

retiree health plan. Both are described in detail below. 

 

The total OPEB liabilities of both plans are typically liquidated through the General Fund and Enterprise 

Funds. 

 

TMRS Supplemental Death Benefits Fund  

 

Plan Description 

 

The City voluntarily participates in a single-employer other postemployment benefit (OPEB) plan 

administered by TMRS. The Plan is a group-term life insurance plan known as the Supplemental Death 

Benefits Fund (SDBF). The Plan is established and administered in accordance with the TMRS Act identical to 

the City’s pension plan. SDBF includes coverage for both active and retired members, and assets are 

commingled for the payment of such benefits. Therefore, the Plan does not qualify as an OPEB Trust in 

accordance with paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 

 

Benefits Provided 

 

The SDBF provides group-term life insurance to City employees who are active members in TMRS, including 

or not including retirees. The City Council opted into this program via an ordinance, and may terminate 

coverage under, and discontinue participation in, the SDBF by adopting an ordinance before November 1 of 

any year to be effective the following January 1.   

 

Payments from this fund are similar to group-term life insurance benefits and are paid to the designated 

beneficiaries upon the receipt of an approved application for payment. The death benefit for active 

employees provides a lump-sum payment approximately equal to the employee’s annual salary (calculated 

based on the employee’s actual earnings for the 12-month period preceding the month of death). The 

death benefit for retirees is considered another employment benefit and is a fixed amount of $7,500.  
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The number of employees currently covered by the benefit terms is as follows: 

 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 128

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 36

Active employees 176

Total 340  
 

Contributions 

The City contributes to the SDBF at a contractually required rate as determined by an annual actuarial 

valuation, which was 0.42% for 2024 and 0.43% for 2023, of which 0.25% and 0.26%, respectively, 

represented the retiree-only portion for each year, as a percentage of annual covered payroll. The rate is 

equal to the cost of providing one-year term life insurance. The funding policy for the SDBF program is to 

assure that adequate resources are available to meet all death benefit payments for the upcoming year; 

the intent is not to prefund retiree term life insurance during employees’ entire careers. The City and 

Component Unit’s contributions to the SDBF for the years ended September 30, 2024, and 2023 were 

$27,392 and $25,727 respectively, representing contributions for both active and retiree coverage, which 

equaled the required contributions each year. 

Actuarial Assumptions 

 

The Total OPEB Liability in the December 31, 2023, actuarial valuation was determined using the following 

actuarial assumptions and inputs:  

 
Measurement year ended December 31, 2023

Inflation rate 2.50% per annum

Discount rate 3.77%

Actuarial cost method Entry Age Normal Method

Projected salary increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Administrative expenses All administrative expenses are paid through the

Pension Trust and accounted for under reporting

requirements under GASB Statement No. 68.

Mortality Rates - Service Retirees 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables.

Male rates are multiplied by 103% and female rates

are multiplied by 105%. The rates are projected on

a fully generational basis by the most recent scale MP-

2021 (with immediate convergence).

Mortality Rates - Disabled Retirees 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables

with a 4 year set forward for males and a 3 year set-

forward for females. In addition, a 3.5% and 3%

minimum mortality rate will be applied to reflect the

impairment for younger members who become

disabled for males and females, respectively. The

rates are projected on a fully generational basis by

scale UMP to account for future mortality

improvements subject to the floor.

 
 

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2023 valuation were based on the results of an 

actuarial experience study for the period ending December 31, 2022. 
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Discount Rate 

 

The SDBF program is treated as an unfunded OPEB plan because the SDBF trust covers both actives and 

retirees, and the assets are not segregated for these groups. As such, a single discount rate of 3.77% was 

used to measure the total OPEB liability. Because the plan is essentially a “pay-as-you-go” plan, the single 

discount rate is equal to the prevailing municipal bond rate. The source of the municipal bond rate was fixed-

income municipal bonds with 20 years to maturity that include only federally tax-exempt municipal bonds as 

reported in Fidelity Index’s “20-year Municipal GO AA Index” as of December 31, 2023. 

 

Discount Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

The following schedule shows the impact of the total OPEB liability if the discount rate used was 1% less 

than (2.77%) and 1% greater than (4.77%) the discount rate that was used (3.77%) in measuring the 

total OPEB liability. 

 
1% Decrease in 1% Increase in

Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

(2.77%) (3.77%) (4.77%)

City's SDBF OPEB Liability 844,864$       715,281$       613,509$       

Component Unit's SDBF OPEB Liability 12,605          10,671          9,153            

Total 857,469$       725,952$       622,662$       
 

 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB 

 

At September 30, 2024, the City and the Component Unit reported a liability of $715,281 and $10,671, 

respectively, for its Total OPEB Liability.  The Total OPEB Liability was determined by an actuarial valuation 

as of December 31, 2023. For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City and Component Unit 

recognized an OPEB expense of $18,140 and $271, respectively.  There were no changes of benefit terms 

that affected measurement of the Total OPEB Liability during the measurement period. 

 

Changes in the Total OPEB Liability 

 
City Component Unit

Total OPEB Total OPEB

Liability Liability

Balance at 12/31/2022 656,299$        9,792$           

Changes for the year:

Service cost 16,300           243                

Interest 26,374           393                

Difference between expected and actual experience 6,888             103                

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 35,907           535                

Benefit payments, including refunds  of employee contributions (26,487)          (395)              

Net changes 58,982           879                

Balance at 12/31/2023 715,281$        10,671$          
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At September 30, 2024, the City and the Component Unit reported deferred outflows and inflows of 

resources related to the TMRS OPEB from the following sources:  

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and

actual economic experience 5,308$              18,028$             

Changes in actuarial assumptions 47,829              170,594             

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 19,629              -                   

Total 72,766$             188,622$           

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and

actual economic experience 79$                   269$                 

Changes in actuarial assumptions 714                   2,545                

Contributions subsequent to the measurement date 293                   -                   

Total
1,086$              2,814$              

City

Component Unit

 
 

The City and the Component Unit reported $19,629 and $293, respectively, as deferred outflows of 

resources related to OPEB resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be 

recognized as a reduction of the Total OPEB liability for the year ending September 30, 2024. Other amounts 

reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to the TMRS OPEB will be recognized in OPEB 

expense as follows:  

 
For the Year

Ended September 30, City Component Unit

2025 (49,945)$           (745)$                

2026 (62,622)             (934)                 

2027 (26,452)             (395)                 

2028 3,534                53                     
 

Retiree Health Other Post-Employment Benefit Plan  

 

Plan Description 

 

The City administers a single employer defined benefit Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) plan that 

allows retirees to pay their premium for continuation of the medical insurance coverage. The plan is known 

as the City Retiree Health Care Plan. In order to be eligible for this benefit, the retiree must separate from 

service as a current recipient of retirement benefits from the TMRS and with at least five years of service 

with the City or PEDC at age 60 or at least 20 years of service at any age. The health care benefit of the plan 

is available to the spouse if they were enrolled in the plan immediately before retirement or disability. No 

assets are accumulated in a trust in accordance with paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 75. 
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Benefits and Contributions 

 

Employees and spouses who are enrolled in the City-sponsored health plan immediately before retirement or 

disability are eligible to continue coverage for the following periods of time. 

 

Participant  Length of Coverage 

Retiree  Retirees are eligible to continue medical coverage until age 65. If 

coverage is voluntarily waived, it cannot be reinstated. 

 

Spouse  Spouses are eligible to continue medical coverage until age 65. If spouse 

coverage is voluntarily waived, it cannot be reinstated. 

 

Children  Eligible dependent children may continue medical coverage while the 

retiree is covered. If child coverage is voluntarily waived, it cannot be 

reinstated. 

 

Surviving Spouse Retiree  Surviving spouse are eligible to continue medical coverage until age 65.  

If coverage is voluntarily waived, it cannot be reinstated. 

 

Retirees and their dependents are not eligible to remain on the health plan after they become eligible for 

Medicare. Retirees are required to pay the City for their health insurance premiums on the City-sponsored 

health insurance plan. The fully-insured premiums the City pays its insurance carrier are blended rates based 

on the combined experience of active and retired members. Because the average cost of providing the 

health care benefits to retirees under 65 is higher than the average cost of providing health care benefits to 

active employees, there is an implicit employer subsidy for the non-Medicare eligible retirees. This implicit 

subsidy is considered an employer contribution and was valued at $23,176 and $346 for the City and 

Component Unit, respectively, in the September 30, 2024 measurement. 

 

The number of employees currently covered by the benefit terms is as follows:   

 
Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 2

Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 0

Active employees 168

Total 170  
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Actuarial Methods and Assumptions 

 

Significant methods and assumptions were as follows: 

 

Actuarial Valuation Date September 30, 2023

Actuarial Cost Method Individual Entry-Age, Normal

Inflation Rate 2.50%

Salary Increases 3.60% to 11.85%, including inflation

Demographic Assumptions Based on the experience study covering the

four-year period ending December 31, 2023 as

conducted for the Texas Municipal Retirement

System (TMRS).

Mortality For healthy retirees, the gender-distinct 2019

Municipal Retirees of Texas mortality tables

are used, with male rates multiplied by 103%

and female rates multiplied by 105%. The

rates are projected on a fully generational

basis using the ultimate mortality improvement

rates in the MP-2021 table to account for future 

mortality improvements.

Health care cost trend rates Initial rate of 7.00% declining to an ultimate

rate of 4.25% after 15 years.

Participation rates 0% for employees retiring before age 50; 5%

for employees retiring at ages 50-54; 15% for

employees retiring at ages 55-59; 20% for

employees retiring at ages 60-64.

Discount rate The discount rate changed from 4.63% as of

September 30, 2023 to 3.81% as of

September 30, 2024.  
 

A Single Discount Rate of 3.81% was used to measure the total OPEB liability. This Single Discount Rate 

was based on the municipal bond rates as of the measurement date. The source of the municipal bond 

rate was Fixed-income municipal bonds with 20 years to maturity that include only federally tax-exempt 

municipal bonds as reported in Fidelity Index’s “20-year Municipal GO AA Index” as of December 31, 

2023. 

 

Discount Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The following schedule shows the impact of the total OPEB liability if the discount rate used was 1% less 

than (2.81%) and 1% greater than (4.81%) the discount rate that was used (3.81%) in measuring the 

total OPEB liability. 

 

1% Decrease in 1% Increase in

Discount Rate Discount Rate Discount Rate

(2.81%) (3.81%) (4.81%)

City's total OPEB liability - retiree health 444,535$       408,949$       377,038$       

Component Unit's total OPEB liability - retiree health 6,632            6,101            5,625            

Total 451,167$       415,050$       382,663$        
 

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate Sensitivity Analysis 

 

The following schedule shows the impact of the total OPEB liability if the Healthcare Cost Trend Rate used 

was 1% less than and 1% greater than what was used in measuring the total OPEB liability. 
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Current Healthcare Cost

1% Decrease Trend Rate Assumption 1% Increase

City's total OPEB liability - retiree health 366,227$       408,949$                     459,693$       

Component Unit's total OPEB liability - retiree health 5,464            6,101                          6,858            

Total 371,691$       415,050$                     466,551$        
 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to OPEBs 

 

At September 30, 2024, the City and Component Unit reported a total OPEB liability of $408,949 and 

$6,101, respectively. The total OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of September 30, 

2024.  For the year ended September 30, 2024, the City and Component Unit recognized an OPEB expense 

of $22,477 and $355, respectively. There were no changes of benefit terms that affected measurement of 

the total OPEB liability during the measurement period. 

 

Changes in the total OPEB liability for the City and component unit for the year ended September 30, 

2024, is as follows: 

 
City Component Unit

Total OPEB Total OPEB

Liability Liability

Balance at 9/30/2023 382,862$       5,712$           

Changes for the year:

Service cost 23,851           356               

Interest 17,742           265               

Difference between expected and actual experience 1,138             17                 

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 6,532             97                 

Benefit payments, including refunds of employee contributions (23,176)          (346)              

Net changes 26,087           389               

Balance at 9/30/2024 408,949$       6,101$           
 

 

At September 30, 2024, the City and Component Unit reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred 

inflows of resources related to OPEB from the following sources: 

 

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 318,592$           176,143$           

Changes in actuarial assumptions 32,948              343,958             

Total 351,540$           520,101$           

Deferred Outflows Deferred Inflows

of Resources of Resources

Differences between expected and actual economic experience 4,753$              2,628$              

Changes in actuarial assumptions 492                   5,132                

Total 5,245$              7,760$              

City

Component Unit
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to the City’s Retiree Health OPEB will 

be recognized in OPEB expense as follows:  

 
For the Year

Ended September 30, City Component Unit

2025 (16,000)           (239)               

2026 (15,450)           (231)               

2027 (37,836)           (564)               

2028 (43,108)           (643)               

2029 (33,906)           (506)               

Thereafter (22,261)           (332)                
 

C. Commitments and Contingencies  

Tax Abatements 

 

The City entered into property tax abatement agreements with local business under the Texas Tax Code 

Chapter 312. As required by the Act, the City includes its own guidelines and criteria in granting abatements. 

Under the City’s program, projects must do one of the following: (1) increase property valuation, (2) provide 

additional new full-time equivalent jobs, or (3) increase payroll annually. Abatements are granted for up to 

100% over a specified time period not to exceed 10 years and may be extended to either new or expanding 

business. Uses available for tax abatement include manufacturing, distribution centers, corporate or regional 

office parks, research facilities, and small entrepreneurs. If the agreement is terminated, all taxes which 

otherwise would have been paid to the City without the benefit of abatement will become a debt to the City 

and shall be due to the City within 60 days after termination. At yearend, the City’s tax abatements are as 

follows: 

 

Name of Business Criteria

Terms of 

Abatement

Anderson County 

Applied Value

Property 

Taxes Abated 

Fiscal Year 

2024

Sanderson Farms Provide jobs 85% of value 120,299,880$      699,192$       

Notes Receivable 

In December of 2018, PEDC, the component unit, entered into an economic development incentive 

performance agreement with a Minnesota corporation (Company) in which the Company agreed to develop, 

maintain, and open a facility within the City; continuously employ, staff, and maintain at least 20 full-time 

employees at the facility by December 31, 2018 and 30 full-time employees at the facility by December 31, 

2019 and thereafter for 10 years; and certify to PEDC, every 90 days, that the Company is in compliance 

with the terms of the performance agreement, beginning with the issuance of a certificate of occupancy for 

the facility. As part of the agreement, PEDC remitted a cash incentive grant in the amount of $100,000 to 

the Company in December 2018. PEDC agreed to forgive the Company’s obligation to repay the economic 

incentive for the Company’s facility in two equal amounts each occurring on the first two annual anniversary 

dates of the issuance of the facility’s certificate of occupancy, if the Company is not in default under the 

performance agreement. The Company did not certify to PEDC that it was in compliance with the terms of 

the performance agreement during the year ended September 30, 2024, so no amount of the note was 

forgiven. In addition, no repayments were received either. The balance of the note receivable as of 

September 30, 2024 is $100,000.  
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In April of 2021, PEDC entered into an economic development performance agreement with a domestic 

limited liability company (Company) in which the Company agreed to relocate its whiskey distillery to the 

rehabilitated Coors brewing facility in Palestine. As part of the agreement, PEDC provided a loan to the 

Company in the amount of $150,000 for the Company’s expenditures for improvements that are (1) for the 

creation or retention of primary jobs and (2) required or suitable for the development, retention, or 

expansion of the Company’s manufacturing operation, including costs associated with the rehabilitation of 

the old Coors brewing facility into a whiskey distillery, and other expense related to the project that promote 

economic development. The note shall by due and payable in sixty monthly payments of $2,796 beginning 

on July 1, 2021 and continuing on the first day of each month thereafter through May 1, 2026. The interest 

rate on the note is 4.5%. The note is secured by kettles owned by the Company and valued at $201,747. 

The balance of the note receivable as of September 30, 2024 is $96,226. 

Construction Commitments 

 

The City has active construction projects as of September 30, 2024. The projects include construction of a 

generator for the water treatment plant, water meter replacements across the City, renovation of the 

Carnegie Library, and waterline replacements. At yearend, the City’s commitments with contractors are 

follows: 

 

Project Spent to Date

Estimated 

Remaining 

Commitment

Meter Replacement Project 2,135,583$  200,000$    

Water/Sewer Line Replacements 2,757,202    12,280,995 

Decanter Centrifuge 239,496       260,000      

Downtown Revitalization 33,306         9,966,694    
 

Litigation  

 

The City is the subject of various claims and litigation that have arisen in the course of its operations. 

Management is of the opinion that the City’s liability in these cases, if decided adversely to the City, will not 

have a material effect on the City’s financial position.  

 

Risk Management  

 

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;  

errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The City contracts with the Texas Municipal League  

Intergovernmental Risk Pool, a public entity risk pool currently operating as a common risk management and 

insurance program providing insurance coverage in the following areas: general liability, automobile liability 

and physical damage, law enforcement liability, worker's compensation, real and personal property, mobile 

equipment, and errors and omissions liability. TML is a multi-employer group that provides for a  

combination of risk sharing among pool participants and stop loss coverage. Contributions are set annually  

by the provider. Liability by the City is generally limited to the contributed amounts. There were no 

significant increases or decreases in coverage from the prior year. For the past three fiscal years, no claims 

or settlements have exceeded deductible amounts. 

 

D. New Accounting Standards 

 

Significant new accounting standards issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) not 

yet implemented by the City include the following: 

 

GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences – The objective of this Statement is to better meet the 

information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for 

compensated absences. That objective is achieved by aligning the recognition and measurement guidance 

under a unified model and by amending certain previously required disclosures. This Statement will 

become effective for reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2023, and the impact has not yet 

been determined.  
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GASB Statement No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures – The objective of this Statement is to provide users of 

government financial statements with information about risks related to a government’s vulnerabilities due 

to certain concentrations or constraints that is essential to their analyses for making decisions or assessing 

accountability. This Statement will become effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2024, 

and the impact has not yet been determined.   

 

GASB Statement No. 103, Financial Reporting Model Improvements – The objective of this Statement is to 

improve key components of the financial reporting model to enhance its effectiveness in providing 

information that is essential for decision making and assessing a government’s accountability. This 

Statement also addresses certain application issues. This Statement will become effective for reporting 

periods beginning after June 15, 2025, and the impact has not yet been determined.   

 

GASB Statement No. 104, Disclosure of Certain Capital Assets – The objective of this Statement is to 

provide users of government financial statements with essential information about certain types of capital 

assets. This Statement requires certain types of capital assets to be presented separately in the note 

disclosures, including right-to-use assets related to leases, Subscription-Based Information Technology 

Arrangements, and public-private or public-public partnerships. Other intangible assets are also required 

to be presented separately by major class. Additional disclosures have also been required for capital 

assets held for sale. This Statement will become effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 

2025, and the impact has not yet been determined.   
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Variance With

Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive 

Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES

Taxes

Property 8,892,848$         8,892,848$         8,626,179$         (266,669)$           

Sales 5,834,260           5,834,260           6,269,530           435,270              

Franchise 1,045,450           1,045,450           1,114,111           68,661                

Licenses, permits, and fees 119,505              119,505              357,082              237,577              

Intergovernmental 2,307,993           2,307,993           2,218,327           (89,666)              

Charges for services 42,280                42,280                49,941                7,661                 

Fines and forfeitures 387,288              387,288              329,915              (57,373)              

Contributions and donations 10,000                10,000                15,996                5,996                 

Investment earnings 400,000              400,000              601,292              201,292              

Miscellaneous 36,000                36,000                32,235                (3,765)                

Total Revenues 19,075,624         19,075,624         19,614,608         538,984              

EXPENDITURES

General government:

Administration 709,030              709,030              593,711              115,319              

Human resources 325,310              325,310              304,789              20,521                

Financial services 641,173              641,173              745,900              (104,727)            

Nondepartmental 414,717              414,717              509,260              (94,543)              

Total General Government 2,090,230           2,090,230           2,153,660           (63,430)              

Public safety:

Municipal court 355,173              355,173              347,159              8,014                 

Police administration 544,605              551,905              580,281              (28,376)              

Police patrol 3,178,201           3,458,201           2,888,697           569,504              

Police CID 788,194              788,194              948,117              (159,923)            

Police support services 2,059,756           2,052,456           2,007,990           44,466                

Fire administration 574,069              574,069              561,397              12,672                

Fire suppression 3,490,108           4,130,508           4,409,828           (279,320)            

Total Public Safety 10,990,106         11,910,506         11,743,469         167,037              

Community services:

Public works administration 557,033              557,033              431,625              125,408              

Street maintenance 4,124,832           3,168,332           3,518,121           (349,789)            

Parks and recreation 1,308,343           1,624,443           1,550,256           74,187                

Library services 683,537              683,537              606,921              76,616                

Total Community Services 6,673,745           6,033,345           6,106,923           (73,578)              

Community development:

Development services 569,035              569,035              510,779              58,256                

Main street 15,500                15,500                9,832                 5,668                 

Total Community Development 584,535              584,535              520,611              63,924                

Total Expenditures 20,338,616         20,618,616         20,524,663         93,953                

Excess of revenues over expenditures (1,262,992)          (1,542,992)          (910,055)            (632,937)            

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With

Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive 

Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Insurance recoveries 10,000$              10,000$              131,000$            121,000$            

Sale of capital assets 90,000                90,000                65,481                (24,519)              

Transfers in 2,420,444           2,420,444           2,420,444           -                     

Transfers out (1,257,168)          (2,257,168)          (2,276,465)          (19,297)              

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,263,276           263,276              340,460              77,184                

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 284                    (1,279,716)          (569,595)            710,121              

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 11,412,031         11,412,031         11,412,031         -                     

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 11,412,315$       10,132,315$       10,842,436$       710,121$            

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE

GENERAL FUND
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

60
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CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 

NOTES TO BUDGETARY SCHEDULES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 

Budgetary Information 

The budget is prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America. The City maintains strict budgetary controls. The objective of these controls is to ensure compliance 

with legal provision embodied in the annual appropriated budget approved by the City Council and as such is a 
good management control device. Annual budgets are adopted for the general fund, debt service fund, and all 
special revenue funds except for the Police Confiscated Money fund, Police Grants fund, and Emergency fund. 
Project-length financial plans are adopted for capital projects funds. 

Budgetary preparation and control are exercised at the department level. Actual expenditures may not legally 
exceed appropriations at the fund level. Appropriations lapse at year-end. 

Encumbrance accounting, in which appropriations are recorded as budgetary expenditures, is not utilized by 
the City. 

Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations 

Expenditures exceeded appropriations in the Perpetual Cemetery fund. This overage was funded with greater 
than anticipated revenues and existing fund balance.



Measurement Date December 31, 2023 2022 2021 2020

Total pension liability

Service cost 1,407,154$     1,309,970$     1,267,506$     1,230,637$     

Interest on total pension liability 3,671,098       3,508,808       3,331,399       3,200,047       

Difference between expected and actual

experience 1,037,941       234,493          715,169          50,414            

Change of assumptions (600,206)        -                 -                 -                 

Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (2,613,514)      (2,781,623)      (2,632,427)      (2,474,705)      

Net Change in Total Pension Liability 2,902,473       2,271,648       2,681,647       2,006,393       

Total Pension Liability, Beginning 54,989,822     52,718,174     50,036,527     48,030,134     

Total Pension Liability, Ending (a) 57,892,295$   54,989,822$   52,718,174$   50,036,527$   

Plan fiduciary net position

Contributions - employer 1,421,630$     1,303,623$     1,284,969$     1,211,895$     

Contributions - employee 620,347          572,183          551,489          535,447          

Net investment income 5,069,445       (3,521,293)      5,661,083       3,117,079       

Benefit payments/refunds of contributions (2,613,514)      (2,781,623)      (2,632,427)      (2,474,705)      

Administrative expenses (32,319)          (30,519)          (26,224)          (20,190)          

Other (225)               36,418            180                (787)               

Net Change in Fiduciary Position 4,465,364       (4,421,211)      4,839,070       2,368,739       

Fiduciary Net Position, Beginning 43,893,005     48,314,216     43,475,146     41,106,407     

Fiduciary Net Position, Ending (b) 48,358,369     43,893,005     48,314,216     43,475,146     

Net pension liability = (a)-(b) 9,533,926$     11,096,817$   4,403,958$     6,561,381$     

Fiduciary Net Position as a Percentage of

Total Pension Liability 83.53% 79.82% 91.65% 86.89%

Covered Payroll 10,339,125$    9,533,987$      9,191,489$      8,924,124$      

Net Pension Liability as a Percentage of

Covered Payroll 92.21% 116.39% 47.91% 73.52%

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN NET PENSION LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS 
TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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2019 2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

1,163,653$     1,173,593$        1,162,638$       1,147,723$        997,344$           938,602$           

3,107,606       3,019,410          2,916,862         2,800,125          2,808,849          2,720,857          

(464,313)        (333,037)            (218,064)           65,763               (459,275)            (303,094)            

103,169          -                    -                   -                    154,385             -                    

(2,673,526)      (2,423,263)         (2,272,078)        (2,311,195)         (2,127,959)         (2,129,464)         

1,236,589       1,436,703          1,589,358         1,702,416          1,373,344          1,226,901          

46,793,545     45,356,842        43,767,484       42,065,068        40,691,724        39,464,823        

48,030,134$   46,793,545$       45,356,842$      43,767,484$       42,065,068$       40,691,724$       

1,132,430$     1,170,053$        1,195,913$       1,147,962$        1,152,496$        1,185,438$        

506,303          512,778             507,702            494,708             442,936             454,154             

5,643,128       (1,151,180)         4,751,422         2,214,224          49,110               1,828,420          

(2,673,526)      (2,423,263)         (2,272,078)        (2,311,195)         (2,127,959)         (2,129,464)         

(31,912)          (22,257)              (24,629)             (25,011)              (29,915)              (19,092)              

(958)               (1,162)               (1,248)              (1,348)               (1,478)               (1,570)               

4,575,465       (1,915,031)         4,157,082         1,519,340          (514,810)            1,317,886          

36,530,942     38,445,973        34,288,891       32,769,551        33,284,361        31,966,475        

41,106,407     36,530,942        38,445,973       34,288,891        32,769,551        33,284,361        

6,923,727$     10,262,603$       6,910,869$       9,478,593$        9,295,517$        7,407,363$        

85.58% 78.07% 84.76% 78.34% 77.90% 81.80%

8,438,379$      8,504,298$         8,461,704$        8,245,139$         7,382,264$         7,569,229$         

82.05% 120.68% 81.67% 114.96% 125.92% 97.86%
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021

Actuarially determined contribution 1,562,067$     1,442,537$     1,300,054$     1,231,597$     

Contributions in relation to the actuarially

determined contribution 1,562,067       1,442,537       1,300,054       1,231,597       

Contribution deficiency (excess) -                 -                 -                 -                 

Covered payroll 10,841,772     10,211,766     9,446,491       8,876,760       

Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll 14.41% 14.13% 13.76% 13.87%

Valuation Date:

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percentage of payroll, closed

Remaining amortization period 22 Years (longest amortization ladder)

Asset valuation method 10 year smoothed fair value; 12% soft corridor

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Investment rate of return 6.75%

Retirement age

Mortality

Other information

Post-retirement: 2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. Male

rates are multiplied by 103% and female rates are multiplied by 105%.

The rates are projected on a fully generational basis by the most recent

Scale MP-2021 (with immediate convergence). Pre-retirement: PUB(10)

mortality tables, with the 110% of the Public Safety table used for males

and the 100% of the General Employee table used for females. The rates

are projected on a fully generational basis by the most recent Scale MP-

2021 (with immediate convergence).

Experience-based table of rates that are specific to the City's plan of

benefits. Last updated for the 2023 valuation pursuant to an experience

study of the period ending 2022.

There were  no benefit changes during the year.

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31st and become effective on

January 1st, 13 months and a day later.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF CONTRIBUTIONS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF EMPLOYER PENSION CONTRIBUTIONS
TEXAS MUNICIPAL RETIREMENT SYSTEM

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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2020 2019 2018 2017 2016 2015

1,162,861$        1,134,073$        1,171,756$       1,208,961$       1,688,279$       1,185,438$        

1,162,861          1,134,073          1,171,756         1,208,961         1,688,279         1,185,438          

-                    -                    -                   -                   -                   -                    

8,586,674          8,407,939          8,479,851         8,561,675         8,565,760         7,569,229          

13.54% 13.49% 13.82% 14.12% 19.71% 15.66%
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Measurement Date December 31, 2023 2022 2021 2020

Total OPEB liability

Service cost 16,543$              33,369$       32,170$       26,772$        

Interest on total OPEB liability 26,767                18,025         18,678         21,372          

Differences in actuarial experience 6,991                  (25,077)        (13,099)        (1,352)          

Change of assumptions 36,442                (312,208)      28,930         121,354        

Benefit payments (26,882)               (21,928)        (21,140)        (7,139)          

Net change in total OPEB liability 59,861                (307,819)      45,539         161,007        

Total OPEB liability, beginning 666,091              973,910       928,371       767,364        

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) 725,952$            666,091$     973,910$     928,371$      

Covered-employee payroll 10,339,125$        9,533,987$   9,191,489$   8,924,124$   

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of

covered-employee payroll 7.02% 6.99% 10.60% 10.40%

Valuation Date:

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Discount rate 3.77%

Administrative expenses

Mortality rates - service retirees

Mortality rates - disabled retirees

Other information

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

Actuarially determined contribution rates are calculated as of December 31st and become effective on January 1st, 13

months and a day later.

Note: 10 years of data is required to be provided in this schedule. As of year-end, all years are not available. Additional

years will be added in the future as the information becomes available.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE

Note: No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB 75.

All administrative expenses are paid through the Pension Trust and

accounted for under reporting requirements under GASB Statement

No. 68.

2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables. Male rates are

multiplied by 103$ and female rates are multiplied by 105%. The

rates are projected on a fully generational basis by th emost recent

Scale MIP-2021 (with immediate convergence).

2019 Municipal Retirees of Texas Mortality Tables with a 4 year

setforward for males and a 3 year set-forward for females. In

addition, a 3.5% and 3% minimum mortality rate will be applied to

reflect the impairment for younger members who become disabled for

males and females, respectively. The rates are projected on a fully

generational basis by the most recent Scale MP-2021 to account for

future mortality improvements subject to the floor.

The actuarial assumptions used in the December 31, 2023 valuation

were based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the

perod December 31, 2022.

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

TMRS SUPPLEMENTAL DEATH BENEFITS FUND
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2019 2018 2017

19,408$        22,962$          19,462$          

24,913          21,552            21,343            

(57,660)         28,407            -                 

121,842        (44,820)          49,868            

(5,907)          (5,953)            (5,923)            

102,596        22,148            84,750            

664,768        642,620          557,870          

767,364$      664,768$        642,620$        

8,438,379$   8,504,298$     8,461,704$     

9.09% 7.82% 7.59%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE
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Measurement Date September 30, 2024 2023 2022 2021

Total OPEB liability

Service cost 24,207$           28,519$        35,148$       37,713$         

Interest on total OPEB liability 18,007             21,369          12,952         16,636           

Difference in actuarial experience 1,155               (133,017)       3,470           (148,516)        

Change of assumptions 6,629               11,271          (130,853)      22,196           

Benefit payments (23,522)            (21,939)        (24,341)        (26,912)         

Net change in total OPEB liability 26,476             (93,797)        (103,624)      (98,883)         

Total OPEB liability, beginning 388,574           482,371        585,995       684,878         

Total OPEB liability, ending (a) 415,050$         388,574$      482,371$     585,995$       

Covered-employee payroll 10,988,600$     10,186,477$ 9,446,594$   8,251,093$    

Total OPEB liability as a percentage of

covered-employee payroll 3.78% 3.81% 5.11% 7.10%

Valuation Date: September 30, 2024

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Contribution Rates:

Actuarial cost method Individual Entry-Age Normal

Discount rate 3.81% as of September 30, 2024

Inflation 2.50%

Salary increases 3.60% to 11.85% including inflation

Demographic assumptions

Health care trend rates

Participation rates

Other information

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

Based on the 2023 experience study conducted for the Texas

Municipal Retirement System (TMRS).

Initial rate of 7.00% declining to an ultimate rate of 4.25% after 15

years.

0% for employees retiring before age 50;

5% for employees retiring at ages 50-54;

15% for employees retiring at ages 55-59;

20% for employees retiring at ages 60-64.

The discount rate changed from 4.63% as of September 30, 2023 to

3.81% as of September 30, 2024. Additionally, the health care trend

rates were updated.

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF CHANGES IN TOTAL OPEB LIABILITY AND RELATED RATIOS
RETIREE HEALTH PLAN

Note: 10 years of data is required to be provided in this schedule. As of year-end, all years are not available. Additional

years will be added in the future as the information becomes available.

Note: No assets are accumulated in a trust that meets the criteria of paragraph 4 of GASB 75.

NOTES TO SCHEDULE
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2020 2019 2018

31,768$         98,389$          27,899$          

17,777           16,126            13,134            

(717)              1,222,485       -                 

19,408           (1,010,597)      (26,625)          

(27,816)          (26,180)          (8,187)            

40,420           300,223          6,221             

644,458         344,235          338,014          

684,878$       644,458$        344,235$        

7,988,233$     7,681,287$     7,300,000$     

8.57% 8.39% 4.72%

NOTES TO SCHEDULE
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CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 

 

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
 

 
 
 

Combining Statements and Individual Fund Schedules - Nonmajor Governmental Funds 
 

Community Forest Fund – will account for committed funds and related expenditures to maintain the 
community forest.  
 

Tourism Fund – will account for the occupancy tax on hotel accommodations. The funds are to be expended 
on endeavors which promote tourism and the convention and hotel industry. 
 

Municipal Court Security Fund – will account for security fees the municipal court assesses. The funds are 
required to be used on court security. 
 

Municipal Court Technology Fund – will account for technology fees that the municipal court assesses. The 

funds are required to be used on court technology. 
 
Municipal Court Child Safety Fund – will account for child safety fees that the municipal court assesses. 
The funds are required to be used for child safety. 
 

Police Confiscated Money Fund – will account for restricted forfeiture funds received for the police 

department. 

 
Cemetery Fund – will account for sales of burial plots and related upkeep costs for a city-owned cemetery. 
 
Police Grants Fund – will account for LEOSE and other grant funds received for the police department. 
 

Airport Fund – will account for operations of the municipal airport. 

 
Sales Tax Repairs and Maintenance Fund – will account for street repairs and maintenance paid for by the 
1/8-cent sales tax as set forth by Ordinance No. O-17-17. 
 
Emergency Fund – will account for grant-related revenue and expenditures from COVID-19. 
 

 

 



Municipal Municipal Municipal

Community Court Court Court

Forest Tourism Security Technology Child Safety

ASSETS

Cash and cash equivalents 994,006$   1,220,409$   87,456$   63,418$   132,711$   

Accounts receivable, net of allowance - 56,074 - - - 

Due from other governments - - - - - 

Prepaid items - 47,319 - - - 

Total Assets 994,006 1,323,802 87,456 63,418 132,711 

LIABILITIES

Accounts payable 8,850 39,538 - - - 

Accrued wages payable - 9,651 - - - 

Due to other governments - - - - 41,961 

Due to other funds - - - - - 

Total Liabilities 8,850 49,189 - - 41,961 

FUND BALANCES

Nonspendable:

Prepaid items - 47,319 - - - 

Restricted for:

Economic development - 1,227,294 - - - 

Public safety - - 87,456 63,418 90,750 

Community services - - - - - 

Committed for:

Community forest 985,156 - - - - 

Cemetery - - - - - 

Community development - - - - - 

Total Fund Balances 985,156 1,274,613 87,456 63,418 90,750 

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances
994,006$   1,323,802$   87,456$   63,418$   132,711$   

Special Revenue Funds

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

COMBINING BALANCE SHEET
NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Police Sales Tax Total Nonmajor

Confiscated Police Repairs & Governmental

Money Cemetery Grants Airport Maintenance Emergency Funds

159,725$          165,514$        22,548$            367,579$          1,108,976$     -$               4,322,342$     

-                   -                 -                   -                   118,064          -                 174,138          

313                  -                 -                   40                    -                 -                 353                

1,250                -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 48,569            

161,288            165,514          22,548              367,619            1,227,040       -                 4,545,402       

88,621              -                 -                   35,678              9,119             -                 181,806          

-                   -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 9,651             

-                   -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 41,961            

-                   -                 -                   72,020              -                 -                 72,020            

88,621              -                 -                   107,698            9,119             -                 305,438          

1,250                -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 48,569            

-                   -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 1,227,294       

71,417              -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 313,041          

-                   -                 -                   259,921            -                 -                 259,921          

-                   -                 -                   -                   -                 -                 985,156          

-                   165,514          22,548              -                   -                 -                 188,062          

-                   -                 -                   -                   1,217,921       -                 1,217,921       

72,667              165,514          22,548              259,921            1,217,921       -                 4,239,964       

161,288$          165,514$        22,548$            367,619$          1,227,040$     -$               4,545,402$     

Special Revenue Fund
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Municipal Municipal Municipal

Community Court Court Court

Forest Tourism Security Technology Child Safety

REVENUES

Taxes:

Sales -$             765,181$      -$             -$             -$             

Intergovernmental -               -               -               -               -               

Charges for services -               20,371         -               -               -               

Fines and forfeitures -               -               8,995           7,411           13,386         

Investment earnings 494              45,152         2,900           2,108           4,329           

Miscellaneous 505              -               -               -               -               

Total Revenues 999              830,704        11,895         9,519           17,715         

EXPENDITURES

Current:

General government -               -               -               -               -               

Public safety -               -               -               1,527           -               

Community services 18,720         -               -               -               -               

Community development -               898,167        -               -               -               

Total Expenditures 18,720         898,167        -               1,527           -               

Excess (deficiency) of revenue

 over (under) expenditures (17,721)        (67,463)        11,895         7,992           17,715         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfer in 1,000,000     -               -               -               -               

Transfer out -               (31,371)        -               -               -               

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,000,000     (31,371)        -               -               -               

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 982,279        (98,834)        11,895         7,992           17,715         

FUND BALANCES - BEGINNING 2,877           1,373,447     75,561         55,426         73,035         

FUND BALANCES - ENDING
985,156$      1,274,613$   87,456$        63,418$        90,750$        

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

NONMAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 

Special Revenue Funds

COMBINING STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND 

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS
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Police Sales Tax Total Nonmajor

Confiscated Police Repairs & Governmental

Money Cemetery Grants Airport Maintenance Emergency Funds

-$                 -$                 -$               -$               691,634$        -$               1,456,815$       

-                   -                   -                 130,763          -                 -                 130,763            

-                   16,750              -                 16,174            -                 -                 53,295              

6,740                -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 36,532              

5,624                6,814                782                8,684             -                 -                 76,887              

-                   -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 505                  

12,364              23,564              782                155,621          691,634          -                 1,754,797         

11,800              90,147              -                 3,282             -                 -                 105,229            

-                   -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 1,527                

-                   -                   -                 252,964          -                 -                 271,684            

-                   -                   -                 -                 218,298          -                 1,116,465         

11,800              90,147              -                 256,246          218,298          -                 1,494,905         

564                  (66,583)            782                (100,625)        473,336          -                 259,892            

-                   -                   -                 307,633          -                 19,297            1,326,930         

-                   -                   -                 -                 -                 -                 (31,371)            

-                   -                   -                 307,633          -                 19,297            1,295,559         

564                  (66,583)            782                207,008          473,336          19,297            1,555,451         

72,103              232,097            21,766            52,913            744,585          (19,297)          2,684,513         

72,667$            165,514$          22,548$          259,921$        1,217,921$     -$               4,239,964$       

Special Revenue Fund
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Variance With

Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive

Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES

Taxes:

Property 477,565$     477,565$     507,145$   29,580$         

Investment earnings 1,500          1,500          8,377         6,877            

Total Revenue 479,065       479,065       515,522     36,457           

EXPENDITURES

Debt service:

Principal 642,044       642,044       472,353     169,691         

Interest and fiscal charges 956,097       956,097       960,015     (3,918)           

Total Expenditures 1,598,141    1,598,141    1,432,368  165,773         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues over (under) Expenditures (1,119,076)   (1,119,076)   (916,846)    202,230         

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Transfers in 949,535       949,535       949,535     -                

Transfers out -              -              (169,691)    (169,691)        

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 949,535       949,535       779,844     (169,691)        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (169,541)     (169,541)     (137,002)    32,539           

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 311,248       311,248       311,248     -                

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 141,707$     141,707$     174,246$   32,539$         

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
DEBT SERVICE FUND
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment earnings 315$         315$         494$            179$          
Miscellaneous -            -            505              505            

Total Revenues 315           315           999              684            

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Community services 15,000      75,000      18,720         56,280       

Total Expenditures 15,000      75,000      18,720         56,280       

Excess (deficiency) of revenue

 over (under) expenditures (14,685)     (74,685)     (17,721)        56,964       

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in -            1,000,000  1,000,000    -            

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) -            1,000,000  1,000,000    -            

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (14,685)     925,315     982,279       56,964       

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 2,877        2,877        2,877           -            

FUND BALANCE - ENDING (11,808)$   928,192$   985,156$      56,964$     

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

COMMUNITY FOREST FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes:

Sales 600,000$      600,000$   765,181$      165,181$    
Charges for services -               -            20,371         20,371        
Contributions and donations 2,500           2,500        -               (2,500)         
Investment earnings 15,000         15,000      45,152         30,152        

Total Revenues 617,500        617,500     830,704        213,204      

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Community development 762,700        1,288,853  898,167        390,686      

Total Expenditures 762,700        1,288,853  898,167        390,686      

Excess (deficiency) of revenue
 over (under) expenditures (145,200)      (671,353)   (67,463)        603,890      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers out (31,527)        (31,527)     (31,371)        156             

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (31,527)        (31,527)     (31,371)        156             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE (176,727)      (702,880)   (98,834)        604,046      

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 1,373,447     1,373,447  1,373,447     -             

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 1,196,720$   670,567$   1,274,613$   604,046$    

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

TOURISM FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES

Fines and forfeitures 10,575$       10,575$       8,995$         (1,580)$       
Investment earnings 500             500             2,900           2,400           

Total Revenues 11,075         11,075         11,895         820             

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Community services 9,000           9,000           -              9,000           

Total Expenditures 9,000           9,000           -              9,000           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 2,075           2,075           11,895         9,820           

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 75,561         75,561         75,561         -              

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 77,636$       77,636$       87,456$       9,820$         

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE 
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

MUNICIPAL COURT SECURITY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeitures 8,780$        8,780$        7,411$        (1,369)$        
Investment earnings 1,000          1,000          2,108          1,108           

Total Revenues 9,780          9,780          9,519          (261)            

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public safety 5,179          5,179          1,527          3,652           

Total Expenditures 5,179          5,179          1,527          3,652           

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 4,601          4,601          7,992          3,391           

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 55,426        55,426        55,426        -              

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 60,027$      60,027$      63,418$      3,391$         

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

MUNICIPAL COURT TECHNOLOGY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeitures 16,000$      16,000$      13,386$      (2,614)$      
Investment earnings 500            500            4,329          3,829          

Total Revenues 16,500        16,500        17,715        1,215          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Public safety 1,600          1,600          -             1,600          

Total Expenditures 1,600          1,600          -             1,600          

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 14,900        14,900        17,715        2,815          

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 73,035        73,035        73,035        -             

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 87,935$      87,935$      90,750$      2,815$        

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

MUNICIPAL COURT CHILD SAFETY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for services 10,000$      10,000$      16,750$       6,750$          
Investment earnings -             -             6,814          6,814            

Total Revenues 10,000        10,000        23,564        13,564          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 10,000        10,000        90,147        (80,147)         

Total Expenditures 10,000        10,000        90,147        (80,147)         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -             -             (66,583)       (66,583)         

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 232,097      232,097      232,097       -                

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 232,097$    232,097$    165,514$     (66,583)$       

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

PERPETUAL CEMETARY FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental 275,000$   275,000$   130,763$   (144,237)$     
Charges for services 17,881      17,881      16,174      (1,707)           
Investment earnings -            -            8,684        8,684            

Total Revenues 292,881     292,881     155,621     (137,260)       

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government -            -            3,282        (3,282)           
Community services 435,789     435,789     252,964     182,825        

Total Expenditures 435,789     435,789     256,246     179,543        

Excess (deficiency) of revenue

 over (under) expenditures (142,908)   (142,908)   (100,625)   42,283          

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 307,633     307,633     307,633     -               

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 307,633     307,633     307,633     -               

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE 164,725     164,725     207,008     42,283          

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 52,913      52,913      52,913      -               

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 217,638$   217,638$   259,921$   42,283$        

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

AIRPORT FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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Variance With
Final Budget

Original Final Actual Positive
Budget Budget Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Taxes:

Sales 605,080$   605,080$   691,634$    86,554$        

Total Revenues 605,080     605,080     691,634      86,554          

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Community development 605,080     605,080     218,298      386,782        

Total Expenditures 605,080     605,080     218,298      386,782        

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCE -            -            473,336      473,336        

FUND BALANCE - BEGINNING 744,585     744,585     744,585      -                

FUND BALANCE - ENDING 744,585$   744,585$   1,217,921$ 473,336$       

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE
BUDGET AND ACTUAL

SALES TAX REPAIRS & MAINTENANCE FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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STATISTICAL SECTION 
(Unaudited) 

 

 

This part of the City of Palestine, Texas’ Annual Comprehensive Financial Report presents detailed information 
as a context for understanding what the information in the financial statements, note disclosures, and 
required supplementary information says about the City’s overall financial health. 
 
 

Contents Page 
 

Financial Trends  
 These schedules contain trend information to help the reader 

understand how the City’s financial performance and well-being have 
changed over time. 83 

 
Revenue Capacity  

 These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the 

City’s most significant local revenue sources. 93 
 
Debt Capacity  
 These schedules present information to help the reader assess the 

affordability of the City’s current levels of outstanding debt and the 
City’s ability to issue additional debt in the future. 101 

 
Demographic and Economic Information  
 These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help 

the reader understand the environment within which the City’s 
financial activities take place. 109 

 
Operating Information  

 These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the 
reader understand how the information in the City’s financial report 

relates to the services the City provides and the activities it performs. 111 



2015 2016 2017 2018
Governmental activities

Net investment in capital assets 8,484,473$     8,998,486$      8,837,366$     8,525,320$     
Restricted 1,901,250       3,021,142        2,338,406       1,799,601       
Unrestricted (1,447,986)     (4,857,349)      (5,856,549)      (5,196,457)     

Total Governmental Activities Net 

Position
8,937,737$     7,162,279$      5,319,223$     5,128,464$     

Business-type activities
Net investment in capital assets 21,588,418$   20,323,071$    19,797,152$    20,021,618$   
Restricted 1,192,779       1,012,685        906,364          1,804,479       
Unrestricted 2,378,890       4,742,808        5,057,155       4,001,332       

Total Business-Type Activities Net 

Position
25,160,087$   26,078,564$    25,760,671$    25,827,429$   

Primary government
Net investment in capital assets 30,072,891$   29,321,557$    28,634,518$    28,546,938$   
Restricted 3,094,029       4,033,827        3,244,770       3,604,080       
Unrestricted 930,904          (114,541)         (799,394)         (1,195,125)     

Total Primary Government Net 

Position
34,097,824$   33,240,843$    31,079,894$    30,955,893$   

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

NET POSITION BY COMPONENT

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(UNAUDITED)
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TABLE 1

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

8,786,115$      9,066,858$      12,702,019$    12,454,448$    13,880,345$     17,361,550$     
1,538,169        1,536,340        1,828,471        2,057,551        1,910,234        1,897,323        

(4,686,344)      (2,082,872)      (1,443,363)       4,283,713        4,690,235        5,374,050        

5,637,940$      8,520,326$      13,087,127$    18,795,712$    20,480,814$     24,632,923$     

20,763,626$    21,664,885$    16,524,817$    20,816,496$    20,130,376$     21,754,529$     
1,206,630        1,215,940        219,017           392,131           403,811           417,620           
4,608,716        5,273,388        7,481,535        1,441,332        1,494,618        837,395           

26,578,972$    28,154,213$    24,225,369$    22,649,959$    22,028,805$     23,009,544$     

29,549,741$    30,731,743$    29,226,836$    33,270,944$    34,010,721$     39,116,079$     
2,744,799        2,752,280        2,047,488        2,449,682        2,314,045        2,314,943        

(77,628)           3,190,516        6,038,172        5,725,045        6,184,853        6,211,445        

32,216,912$    36,674,539$    37,312,496$    41,445,671$    42,509,619$     47,642,467$     

Fiscal Year
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2015 2016 2017 2018
Expenses

Governmental activities:
General government 1,490,998$    1,642,279$     2,230,980$    2,299,445$    
Public safety 7,212,271      9,507,636       8,476,776      7,752,446      
Community services 3,461,113      4,057,567       5,001,943      4,512,989      
Community development 2,598,872      2,362,118       1,891,830      2,372,808      
Interest expense on long-term debt 348,349         402,246          361,890         336,512         

Total Governmental Activities Expenses 15,111,603    17,971,846     17,963,419    17,274,200    

Business-type activities:
Water and wastewater 5,817,415      6,138,416       6,952,929      6,822,610      
Sanitation 2,871,842      2,690,298       2,653,193      2,849,302      
Retail 508,108         377,125          480,820         441,514         

Total Business-Type Activities Expenses 9,197,365      9,205,839       10,086,942    10,113,426    

Total Primary Government Expenses 24,308,968    27,177,685     28,050,361    27,387,626    

Program Revenues
Governmental activities:

Charges for services:
General government -                -                 -                -                
Public safety 703,375         599,702          384,670         326,598         
Community services 91,970           183,755          58,091           112,641         
Community development 96,400           116,308          267,253         294,514         

Operating grants and contributions 779,532         691,525          520,710         481,274         
Capital grants and contributions 876,516         381,365          722,501         407,481         

Total Governmental 

Activities Program Revenues 2,547,793      1,972,655       1,953,225      1,622,508      

Business-type activities:
Charges for services:

Water and wastewater 7,613,860      7,255,558       7,045,911      7,296,990      
Sanitation 3,600,036      3,414,943       3,454,821      3,608,496      
Retail 585,873         618,223          558,709         546,604         

Operating grants and contributions -                -                 -                -                
Capital grants and contributions -                -                 -                -                

Total Business-Type Activities

Program Revenues 11,799,769    11,288,724     11,059,441    11,452,090    

Total Primary Government 
Program Revenues 14,347,562    13,261,379     13,012,666    13,074,598    

Net (expense) revenue:
Governmental activities (12,563,810)   (15,999,191)    (16,010,194)   (15,651,692)   
Business-type activities 2,602,404      2,082,885       972,499         1,338,664      

Total Primary Government Net Expense (9,961,406)     (13,916,306)    (15,037,695)   (14,313,028)   

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)
(UNAUDITED) 
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TABLE 2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1,838,526$    1,979,943$        2,331,274$       1,737,810$       2,132,875$      2,200,428$        
8,466,414      8,252,405          8,781,870         8,715,309         11,123,301      10,746,134        
3,748,112      4,004,246          3,686,702         3,912,448         5,544,582        5,748,258         
2,155,926      1,479,321          1,170,347         1,680,252         1,487,401        1,685,923         

314,411         331,368             263,690            962,335            756,673           738,914            

16,523,389    16,047,283        16,233,883       17,008,154       21,044,832      21,119,658        

6,714,535      6,683,034          7,212,875         8,108,099         9,152,778        8,535,526         
3,033,192      2,838,445          2,772,983         2,477,865         3,528,846        3,212,179         

417,092         387,207             293,776            71,086             -                  -                   

10,164,819    9,908,686          10,279,634       10,657,050       12,681,624      11,747,705        

26,688,208    25,955,969        26,513,517       27,665,204       33,726,456      32,867,363        

-                -                    -                   106,367            26,300             34,329              
469,643         551,356             436,198            642,639            496,241           644,041            
259,595         159,149             183,485            231,077            60,089             91,730              
95,902           143,109             227,485            -                   -                  -                   

608,039         1,582,343          350,686            889,137            2,059,085        2,388,624         
281,282         103,984             203,741            -                   -                  -                   

1,714,461      2,539,941          1,401,595         1,869,220         2,641,715        3,158,724         

7,450,889      9,122,286          8,891,893         9,706,683         10,207,220      10,609,072        
3,916,708      3,601,184          3,607,878         3,653,634         3,939,247        4,278,975         

471,430         650,957             281,857            120                  -                  -                   
47,750           -                    -                   -                   -                  -                   

-                200,000             48,265              -                   -                  6,500                

11,886,777    13,574,427        12,829,893       13,360,437       14,146,467      14,894,547        

13,601,238    16,114,368        14,231,488       15,229,657       16,788,182      18,053,271        

(14,808,928)   (13,507,342)       (14,832,288)      (15,138,934)      (18,403,117)     (17,960,934)      
1,721,958      3,665,741          2,550,259         2,703,387         1,464,843        3,146,842         

(13,086,970)   (9,841,601)         (12,282,029)      (12,435,547)      (16,938,274)     (14,814,092)      

Fiscal Year
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2015 2016 2017 2018
General Revenues and 
Other Changes in Net Position

Governmental activities:
Taxes

Property 6,043,894$    6,301,758$     6,243,134$    6,961,566$    
Sales and use 5,899,830      5,604,257       5,284,628      5,411,426      
Franchise 1,023,089      1,027,661       1,105,224      1,091,211      
Hotel/motel -                -                 -                -                
Mixed drink -                -                 -                -                

Investment earnings 19,336           36,204           67,202           106,787         
Gain (loss) on sales of assets 102,283         55,586           8,500            711,863         
Miscellaneous other revenue 180,662         28,681           154,576         124,079         
Transfers 857,729         1,169,587       1,303,874      1,148,847      

Total Governmental Activities 14,126,823    14,223,734     14,167,138    15,555,779    

Business-type activities:
Investment earnings 3,118            5,179             8,041            48,636           
Gain (loss) on impairment of capital assets -                -                 -                -                
Other income -                -                 5,441            943               
Transfers (857,729)        (1,169,587)     (1,303,874)     (1,148,847)     

Total Business-Type Activities (854,611)        (1,164,408)     (1,290,392)     (1,099,268)     

Total Primary Government 13,272,212    13,059,326     12,876,746    14,456,511    

Change in Net Position
Governmental activities 1,563,013      (1,775,457)     (1,843,056)     (95,913)         
Business-type activities 1,747,793      918,477          (317,893)        239,396         

Total Primary Government 3,310,806$    (856,980)$      (2,160,949)$   143,483$       

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

CHANGE IN NET POSITION 
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)
(UNAUDITED) 
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TABLE 2

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

7,072,216$    7,047,072$        7,157,149$       7,486,723$       8,186,401$      9,159,997$        
5,602,207      5,842,057          6,325,417         6,888,617         6,846,383        6,916,337         
1,042,241      989,298             1,029,565         1,093,146         1,089,611        1,121,295         

-                -                    -                   734,930            712,477           765,181            
-                -                    -                   43,707             51,278             44,827              

151,108         86,482               26,286              134,572            841,501           1,682,241         
6,321             193,505             (252,819)           -                   -                  -                   

56,196           59,667               59,306              122,759            63,377             34,092              
1,094,479      2,171,647          5,054,185         4,343,065         2,297,191        2,389,073         

15,024,768    16,389,728        19,399,089       20,847,519       20,088,219      22,113,043        

100,650         82,446               28,590              58,997             156,008           187,449            
(3,648)           (1,399)               (1,453,508)        -                   -                  -                   

-                -                    -                   5,271               55,186             35,521              
(1,094,479)     (2,171,647)         (5,054,185)        (4,343,065)       (2,297,191)       (2,389,073)        

(997,477)        (2,090,600)         (6,479,103)        (4,278,797)       (2,085,997)       (2,166,103)        

14,027,291    14,299,128        12,919,986       16,568,722       18,002,222      19,946,940        

215,840         2,882,386          4,566,801         5,708,585         1,685,102        4,152,109         
724,481         1,575,141          (3,928,844)        (1,575,410)       (621,154)          980,739            

940,321$       4,457,527$        637,957$          4,133,175$       1,063,948$      5,132,848$        

Fiscal Year
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2015 2016 2017 2018

General fund
   Nonspendable 286,998$       141,650$       169,369$       277,520$       

   Restricted -                -                -                -                

   Assigned -                -                -                -                

   Unassigned 2,493,707      2,017,854      826,690         1,488,429      

Total general fund 2,780,705$    2,159,504$    996,059$       1,765,949$    

All other governmental funds
   Non-spendable -$              36,481$         3,267$           17,565$         

   Restricted 1,901,250      3,021,142      2,338,406      1,799,601      

   Committed 304,988         260,898         902,046         864,700         

   Unassigned 1,299,402      (88,428)          (167,989)        (24,138)          

Total all other governmental funds 3,505,640$    3,230,093$    3,075,730$    2,657,728$    

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS
(MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING)

(UNAUDITED) 
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TABLE 3

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

251,803$         226,868$         153,869$         215,176$         298,005$         185,162$         
-                  -                  36,487            -                  -                  -                  
-                  -                  -                  -                  -                  492,400          

2,603,151        5,509,918        5,792,925        10,044,643      11,114,026      10,164,874      

2,854,954$      5,736,786$      5,983,281$      10,259,819$    11,412,031$    10,842,436$    

30,912$          9,889$            16,092$          36,330$          40,764$          59,694$          
1,538,169        1,536,340        1,791,984        26,966,157      24,222,568      22,428,489      

954,541          1,067,993        424,380          594,329          1,001,325        2,391,139        
-                  -                  (64,718)           (19,297)           (19,297)           -                  

2,523,622$      2,614,222$      2,167,738$      27,577,519$    25,245,360$    24,879,322$    
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2015 2016 2017 2018

Revenues

Taxes 13,015,304$      12,923,003$      12,623,797$      13,460,749$      

Licenses, permits, and fees 96,400              116,308            100,586            122,050            

Fines and forfeitures 443,291            611,532            312,614            406,310            

Charges for services 91,970              183,755            209,783            254,727            

Intergovernmental 1,656,048         992,384            1,157,557         743,349            

Investment earnings 18,746              35,588              65,710              105,070            

Other revenues 282,945            164,773            235,979            197,075            

Total Revenues 15,604,704.00$ 15,027,343.00$ 14,706,026.00$ 15,289,330.00$ 

Expenditures

Current:

General government 1,470,766         1,637,433         1,876,371         2,051,514         

Public safety 7,010,322         8,548,498         7,661,500         7,758,766         

Community services 3,740,776         3,622,155         4,020,346         3,670,963         

Community development 3,278,387         1,986,040         2,405,693         2,094,621         

Capital outlay 2,314,441         803,499            710,872            260,306            

Debt service:

Principal 475,000            890,000            708,000            730,000            

Interest and fees 327,422            384,745            326,785            306,388            

Bond issuance costs -                   -                   -                   -                   

Total Expenditures 18,617,114       17,872,370       17,709,567       16,872,558       

Excess of Revenues Over (Under)

Expenditures (3,012,410)        (2,845,027)        (3,003,541)        (1,583,228)        

Other Financing Sources (Uses)

Transfers in 1,467,995         1,613,065         1,585,883         1,885,710         

Transfers out (1,449,499)        (468,285)           (611,022)           (1,201,884)        

Issuance of bonds 2,550,000         -                   -                   -                   

Premium on bonds -                   -                   -                   -                   

Sale of capital assets -                   -                   -                   990,984            

Insurance proceeds -                   -                   -                   -                   

Net Other Financing Sources (Uses) 2,568,496         1,144,780         974,861            1,674,810         

Net Change in Fund Balances (443,914)$         (1,700,247)$      (2,028,680)$      91,582$            

Debt Service as a Percentage of

Noncapital Expenditures 5.7%              7.8%              6.4%              6.3%              

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES OF GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING) 
(UNAUDITED)

91



TABLE 4

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

13,712,390$      13,908,213$       14,511,721$      16,236,130$       16,814,323$       17,973,780$       

95,902              143,109             227,485            116,877             162,657             357,082             

414,518            460,461             471,491            338,770             381,731             366,447             

249,198            159,149             183,485            288,513             84,731               103,236             

781,351            1,583,492          326,063            791,743             2,012,509          2,365,888          

148,633            86,482               26,117              134,572             841,500             1,682,241          

116,600            162,502             116,294            263,970             105,663             48,736               

15,518,592.00$ 16,503,408.00$  15,862,656.00$ 18,170,575.00$  20,403,114.00$  22,897,410.00$  

1,703,139         1,869,467          2,941,151         1,829,715          2,301,960          2,258,889          

7,562,633         7,814,019          8,424,518         8,839,781          9,845,742          11,744,996        

2,961,596         3,241,261          3,361,876         3,880,224          6,091,639          6,378,607          

2,102,796         1,746,350          1,843,487         1,676,281          1,413,601          1,637,076          

565,647            529,770             1,043,637         1,328,745          2,864,982          2,796,970          

753,000            1,083,000          6,575,726         418,246             461,448             642,044             

285,100            259,715             255,092            650,554             972,858             960,015             

-                   -                    -                   340,700             -                    -                    

15,933,911       16,543,582        24,445,487       18,964,246        23,952,230        26,418,597        

(415,319)           (40,174)              (8,582,831)        (793,671)            (3,549,116)         (3,521,187)         

1,482,519         2,468,877          5,533,232         4,636,388          3,403,355          4,696,909          

(743,427)           (274,260)            (648,397)           (688,594)            (1,106,164)         (2,307,836)         

-                   -                    2,251,417         22,939,000        -                    -                    

-                   -                    -                   3,514,687          -                    -                    

7,250                231,046             177,960            42,105               27,895               65,481               

58,229              57,173               24,993              36,404               44,083               131,000             

804,571            2,482,836          7,339,205         30,479,990        2,369,169          2,585,554          

389,252$          2,442,662$        (1,243,626)$      29,686,319$       (1,179,947)$       (935,633)$          

7.0%              8.7%               30.6%             6.4%               7.4%               8.0%               

92



THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY 



TABLE 5

Fiscal Property Sales & Use Franchise Hotel
Year Tax Tax Tax Occupancy Total

2015 6,043,894$        5,273,872$        1,023,089$       625,958$         12,966,813$     
2016 6,301,758        5,103,185        1,027,661       501,072         12,933,676     
2017 6,243,134        4,797,388        1,105,224       487,240         12,632,986     
2018 6,961,566        4,897,612        1,091,211       513,814         13,464,203     
2019 7,077,614        5,040,222        1,032,569       561,985         34,590,032     
2020 7,067,186        5,379,442        998,970         462,615         13,908,213     
2021 7,156,739        5,712,990        1,029,565       612,427         14,511,721     
2022 7,475,730        6,932,324        1,093,146       734,930         16,236,130     
2023 8,114,574        6,897,661        1,089,611       712,477         16,814,323     
2024 9,133,324        6,961,164        1,114,111       765,181         17,973,780     

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS TAX REVENUES BY SOURCE
LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

(MODIFIED ACCRUAL BASIS OF ACCOUNTING) 
(UNAUDITED)
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2015 2016 2017 2018

Real Property 965,219,052$ 972,571,981$ 1,006,673,361$ 1,051,244,347$ 

Personal  Property 291,199,252  302,741,992  275,988,192     278,623,883     

Less: Tax Exempt Property (278,617,843) (300,418,316) (318,487,917)    (314,963,567)    

Total Taxable Assessed Value 977,800,461$ 974,895,657$ 964,173,636$    1,014,904,663$ 

Total Direct Tax Rate 
(1)

0.639000       0.648890       0.648890          0.648890          

(1) 
Tax rates are per $100 of assessed value.

Source: Anderson County Appraisal District, Certified Values

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

ASSESSED VALUE AND ESTIMATED VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN YEARS

 $900,000,000

 $950,000,000

 $1,000,000,000

Total Taxable Assessed Value
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TABLE 6

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1,087,510,866$  1,095,578,916$ 1,164,784,925$ 1,341,340,054$ 1,223,330,473$ 1,617,955,420$  

279,851,203      252,340,116     251,717,182     334,434,165     336,394,406     336,394,406      

(333,250,004)     (313,876,057)    (338,006,689)    (435,563,193)    (503,314,979)    (392,411,770)     

1,034,112,065$  1,034,042,975$ 1,078,495,418$ 1,240,211,026$ 1,056,409,900$ 1,561,938,056$  

0.718741           0.692642          0.683774          0.683774          0.673774          0.594285           

Fiscal Year
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City of Palestine 2015 2016 2017 2018
General 0.562460    0.559760    0.543094    0.567820    
Debt Service 0.086430    0.089130    0.105796    0.150921    

Total Direct Rates 0.648890    0.648890    0.648890    0.718741    

Palestine ISD 1.566000    1.566000    1.548000    1.548000    
Westwood ISD 1.170000    1.170000    1.170000    1.170000    

School Average 1.368000    1.368000    1.359000    1.359000    

Anderson County 0.513780    0.528780    0.556400    0.567542    

Total Direct and Overlapping Rates 2.530670    2.545670    2.564290    2.645283    

Source: Anderson County Appraisal District

(Tax Rates per $100 of assessed valuation)

LAST TEN YEARS

PROPERTY TAX RATES - DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GOVERNMENTS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

$0.000000

$0.500000

$1.000000

$1.500000

$2.000000

$2.500000

$3.000000

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023

Anderson County

School Average

City of Palestine
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TABLE 7

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
0.572993    0.604524    0.555678    0.553818    0.648613   0.568564   
0.119649    0.076753    0.128096    0.129956    0.025161   0.025721   

0.692642    0.681277    0.683774    0.683774    0.673774   0.594285   

1.530000    1.418300    1.404700    1.346800    1.267500   1.093700   
1.170000    1.068300    1.052700    1.010600    1.268985   1.076800   

1.350000    1.243300    1.228700    1.178700    1.268243   1.085250   

0.577438    0.589458    0.612808    0.587247    0.557158   0.482893   

2.620080    2.514035    2.525282    2.449721    2.499175   2.162428   

(Tax Rates per $100 of assessed valuation)
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TABLE 8

% of % of

Taxable Taxable Taxable Taxable

Assessed Assessed Assessed Assessed 

Property  Taxpayer Value* Rank Value Value Rank Value

Sanderson Farms 157,323,684$           1 10.1% -$                

Wal-Mart Stores # Div Store 42,395,612              2 2.7% -                  

MPT of Palestine-Lima LLC 25,525,139              3 1.6% 14,733,845       1 1.6%

Union Pacific Railroad Co 15,513,903              4 1.0% -                  

Oncor Electric Delivery Co LLC 14,575,500              5 0.9% -                  

Atmos Energy/Mid-Tex Distribution 14,121,842              6 0.9% -                  

Lowes of Palestine #1892 13,792,925              7 0.9% 8,727,999        6 0.9%

Wal-Mart Stores East LP 11,194,675              8 0.7% 10,253,140       4 1.1%

Overlook Lifestyle Apartment Homes 10,628,557              9 0.7% -                  

Willow Creek Apartments 8,045,557                10 0.5% -                  

Wal-Mart Real Estate Business Trust 7,898,512        7 0.8%

Palestine Mall Redevelopment Corporation -                          12,244,997       2 1.3%

Palestine Principal Healthcare LP -                          10,962,510       3 1.2%

Wal-Mart Super Center -                          9,410,363        5 1.0%

Magnolia MOB -                          5,672,699        8 0.6%

Donlen Trust -                          4,376,578        9 0.5%

All Star Ford Mercury -                          3,910,171        10 0.4%

Subtotal 313,117,394            20.0% 88,190,814       9.5%

Other taxpayers 1,248,820,662          80.0% 842,936,337     90.5%

Grand total 1,561,938,056$        100.0% 931,127,151$   100.0%

*Source: Anderson County Appraisal District

*2015 Data unavailable using 2013 data

2024 2015

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

PRINCIPAL PROPERTY TAXPAYERS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS
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2015 2016 2017 2018

Tax levy 6,215,454$     6,240,011$     6,334,034$     6,934,427$     

Current tax collected 5,829,394       6,080,505       6,006,972       6,801,857       
Percent of current tax collections 93.79% 97.44% 94.84% 98.09%

Delinquent tax collections 119,282          100,204          86,471            91,706            

Total tax collections 5,948,676$     6,180,709$     6,093,443$     6,893,563$     

percentage of tax levy 95.71% 99.05% 96.20% 99.41%

Total collections as a   

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

PROPERTY TAX LEVIES AND COLLECTIONS

LAST TEN YEARS
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TABLE 9

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

6,877,795$     7,050,720$     7,074,381$     7,380,877$     8,026,882$     9,216,038$     

6,765,218       6,825,785       6,872,619       7,232,531       7,945,669       8,987,000       
98.36% 96.81% 97.15% 97.99% 98.99% 97.51%

112,577          179,518          154,313          114,845          115,046          111,674          

6,877,795$     7,005,302$     7,026,932$     7,347,376$     8,060,715$     9,098,674$     

100.00% 99.36% 99.33% 99.55% 100.42% 98.73%

Fiscal Year
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2015 2016 2017 2018
Debt Limit 48,890,023$    48,744,783$   48,208,682$    50,745,233$    

Total net debt applicable to limit 663,796           944,472         970,935           12,859,414      

Legal debt margin 48,226,227$    47,800,311$   47,237,747$    37,885,819$    

Total net debt applicable to the limit
as a percentage of debt limit 1.4% 1.9% 2.0% 25.3%

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

LEGAL DEBT MARGIN

LAST TEN YEARS
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TABLE 10

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
51,705,603$   51,702,149$   53,924,771$   62,010,551$    52,820,495$    78,096,903$        

11,482,153     10,250,615     14,491,205     54,206,027      53,942,087      50,140,697          

40,223,450$   41,451,534$   39,433,566$   7,804,524$      (1,121,592)$     27,956,206$        

22.2% 19.8% 26.9% 87.4% 102.1% 64.2%

Legal Debt Margin Calculation:
Assessed Value 1,561,938,056$    
Debt limit (5% of assessed value) 78,096,903        
Debt applicable to limit:

General obligation bonds 1,370,000          
Certificates of obligation 48,867,764        

Less: amount set aside for 
repayment of general
obligation debt 97,067)(               

Total net debt applicable to limit 50,140,697        

Legal Debt Margin 27,956,206$        

Fiscal Year
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2015 2016 2017 2018
Primary Government
Governmental Activities:

Financed purchases 492,533$       473,329$       817,066$         1,322,300$     
Leases -            -            -              -             
Certificates of obligation 8,242,000      10,317,000    9,427,000        8,719,000       
General obligation bonds -                -                -                  -                 

Subtotal 8,734,533      10,790,329    10,244,066      10,041,300     

Business-Type Activities:
Certificates of obligation 3,455,000      3,250,000      2,995,000        2,730,000       
Revenue bonds 7,598,310      6,701,452      6,077,823        5,437,878       

Subtotal 11,053,310    9,951,452      9,072,823        8,167,878       

Total Primary Government 19,787,843$  20,741,781$  19,316,889$    18,209,178$   

Personal Income 
(1) 31,500$         21,787$         21,787$           20,227$          

Debt as a Percentage
of Personal Income 3.43% 5.18% 4.82% 4.92%

Population 
(1) 18,313         18,383         18,393           18,306          

Debt per Capita 1,081          1,128          1,050             995               

(1)
  Source: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/palestinecitytexas/INC110218#INC110217

Note:  Details regarding the City's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

RATIOS OF OUTSTANDING DEBT BY TYPE

LAST TEN YEARS

Fiscal Year

103



TABLE 11

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

962,850$         1,212,337$     2,693,957$    1,392,216$        1,113,202$        826,895$           
-              -             -             751,886         458,017          1,236,724        

7,989,000        7,236,000       2,000,000      26,296,751     26,043,686     25,596,884        
-                  -                 31,498           1,819,562       1,585,000       1,370,000          

8,951,850        8,448,337       4,725,455      30,260,415       29,199,905       29,030,503        

2,450,000        2,150,000       11,180,000    25,735,405     24,562,850     23,270,880        
4,776,258        4,087,500       582,242         -                  -                   -                    

7,226,258        6,237,500       11,762,242    25,735,405       24,562,850       23,270,880        

16,178,108$    14,685,837$   16,487,697$   55,995,820$     53,762,755$     52,301,383$      

19,646$          20,192$          21,335$         21,082$           23,235$            26,983$             

4.54% 4.10% 4.17% 14.16% 12.19% 9.90%

18,136          17,730          18,544         18,756           18,981            19,583             

892               828              889              2,985             2,832              2,671               

Fiscal Year
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2016 2017 2018 2019

Net Taxable Assessed Value

All property 974,895,657$      964,173,636$      1,014,904,663$   1,034,112,065$    

Net Bonded Debt

Gross bonded debt 13,567,000          12,422,000          11,449,000          10,439,000          

Less: debt service funds (944,472)             (970,935)             (1,410,414)          (1,043,153)          

Net Bonded Debt 12,622,528$        11,451,065$        10,038,586$        9,395,847$          

Ratio of net bonded debt

to assessed value 1.29% 1.19% 0.99% 0.91%

Population
 (1)

18,383                18,393                18,306                18,136                

Net bonded debt per capita 687$                   623$                   548$                   518$                   

(1)
  Source: https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/fact/table/palestinecitytexas/INC110218#INC110217

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

RATIOS OF NET BONDED DEBT TO ASSESSED VALUE, NET BONDED DEBT PER CAPITA, 

AND ASSESSED AND ESTIMATED ACTUAL VALUE OF TAXABLE PROPERTY

LAST TEN FISCAL YEARS

Fiscal Year
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TABLE 12

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1,034,042,975$   1,078,495,418$  1,240,211,026$   1,056,409,900$   1,561,938,056$    

9,386,000           13,211,498        53,851,718         52,191,536          50,237,764          

(864,615)            (1,279,707)         (354,309)            (1,750,551)          (1,578,021)          

8,521,385$         11,931,791$      53,497,409$       50,440,985$        48,659,743$        

0.82% 1.11% 4.31% 4.77% 3.12%

17,730               18,544               18,756               18,981                19,583

481$                  643$                 2,852$               2,657$                2,485$                

Fiscal Year
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TABLE 13

Estimated
Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Overlapping

Governmental Unit Outstanding Applicable
 (1)

Debt
City of Palestine

Financing arrangements 826,895$          100% 826,895$          
Leases 1,236,724         100% 1,236,724         
Certificates of Obligation 25,596,884       100% 25,596,884        
General Obligation Bonds 1,370,000         100% 1,370,000         

29,030,503       29,030,503        

Palestine Independent School District 
(2)

General Obligation Bonds 44,845,000       100% 44,845,000        
Maintenance Tax Notes 6,420,000         100% 6,420,000         

51,265,000       51,265,000        

Anderson County, Texas 
(2)

General Obligation Bonds 18,215,000       43% 7,744,457         

Certificate of Obligation 5,885,000         43% 2,502,121         

24,100,000       10,246,578        

90,542,081$      

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING DEBT

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

(1)
The percentage of overlapping debt applicable to the City is estimated using taxable assessed property

value. Applicable percentages were estimated by determining the position of the overlapping district's

assessed value that is within the boundaries of the City divided by the overlapping district's total taxable

assessed value.

(2)
 Debt information was obtained from most recent Annual Financial Reports for each entity - PISD 2023 

Annual Financial Report and Anderson Co 2023 Annual Financial Report.
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TABLE 14

Total Less: Net Annual
Operating Operating Available Debt Service Times

Fiscal Year Revenues Expenses Revenue Requirement Coverage

2015 7,616,643$       (5,558,956)$    2,057,687$   956,947$         2.15             

2016 7,260,135       (5,906,412)      1,353,723   725,513         1.87             

2017 7,059,064       (6,737,743)      321,321      694,996         0.46             

2018 7,329,072       (6,628,099)      700,973      696,526         1.01             

2019 7,490,139       (6,518,714)      971,425      702,241         1.38             

2020 9,122,286       (6,522,104)      2,600,182   821,978         3.16             

2021 8,891,893       (6,833,444)      2,058,449   3,304,124      0.62             

2022 9,494,659       (7,389,622)      2,105,037   1,506,999      1.40             

2023 10,254,986 (7,029,978)      3,225,008 1,838,887 1.75

2024 10,851,952 (7,639,471)      3,212,481 1,805,344 1.78

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

PLEDGED REVENUE COVERAGE

AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

Water and Sewer Revenue Bonds
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TABLE 15

Fiscal Year Personal Per Capita Unemployment

Ending Population
 (1)

Income Income
 (1)

Rate 
(2)

2015 18,313 576,860$              31,500$               4.5%

2016 18,383 400,510              21,787               4.5%

2017 18,393 400,728              21,787               3.7%

2018 18,306 370,275              20,227               3.7%

2019 18,136 356,300              19,646               3.4%

2020 17,730 358,004              20,192               7.9%

2021 18,544 395,636              21,335               5.1%

2022 18,756 395,414              21,082               3.9%

2023 18,981 441,024              23,235               3.9%

2024 19,583 528,408              26,983               4.2%

Data sources:
(1) 

US Census
(2)

 Bureau of Labor Statistics (2021 rate is for entire state of Texas)

LAST TEN YEARS

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC STATISTICS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

(amounts expressed in thousands except for population)
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TABLE 16

% of Total % of Total
Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

Wal-Mart Distribution 1,295     1 8.6% 9

Sanderson Farms 1,130     2 7.5%

Palestine ISD 585       3 3.9% 6

Palestine Regional Medical & Rehabilitation 510       4 3.4% 5

Wal-Mart Retail 365       5 2.4% 10

Westwood ISD 280       6 1.9% 8

Anderson County 250       7 1.7% 1

City of Palestine 200       8 1.3% 3

Legacy 170       9 1.1%

MKS Services 130       10 0.9%

Aerospace Fasteners

Ben E. Keith

Blue Cross & Blue Shield of Texas

CapGemini Energy 2

Columbia Scientific Balloon Facility

Palestine Concrete

Terry Manufacturing

Union Pacific Railroad

Texas Department of Criminal Justice 4

Cartmell Communities 7

Subtotal 4,915     

Other employers 10,109   

Grand total 15,024   

Source: Palestine Economic Development Corporation

* Some information from 2015 could not be obtained.

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

PRINCIPAL EMPLOYERS

CURRENT YEAR AND NINE YEARS AGO

20152024
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2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
General Fund:

Administration* 14.0        13.0        18.0        16.0        18.0        
Police 58.0        59.0        46.3        53.0        53.0        
Fire 40.0        40.0        39.0        32.0        35.0        
Public Works 12.5        9.5          12.0        11.0        12.0        
Parks 10.5        11.0        14.5        9.0          4.0          
Library 10.0        10.0        10.5        9.0          8.0          
Code Enforcement * 8.0          8.0          9.0          -           -           

General Fund Total 153.0      150.5      149.3      130.0      130.0      

Enterprise Funds:
Tourism 4.0          4.0          4.0          4.0          2.0          
Central Warehouse 1.0          - - - - 
Retail Mall - 3.0 3.0          2.0          3.0          
Sanitation 9.0          6.0          7.0          4.0          7.0          
Water 20.5        24.0        24.5        20.0        23.0        
Wastewater 9.0          11.0        11.0        13.0        13.0        
Fleet Maintenance - - - - - 

Enterprise Fund Total 43.5        48.0        49.5        43.0        48.0        
Total City Positions

196.5      198.5      198.8      173.0      178.0      

* Administration includes all General Fund administrative positions, except for Police and Fire
* Administrative positions include: Admin, H.R., Fin. Svcs., Mun. Court, P.W. Admin., Development Svcs.
* Fleet Maintenance moved out of Public Works beginning 2021-2022

Fiscal Year

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

FULL-TIME EQUIVALENT CITY GOVERNMENT EMPLOYEES BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN YEARS
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TABLE 17

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

15.0        17.0        21.0        19.0        19.0        
55.0        56.0        58.0        58.0        60.0        
40.0        40.0        39.0        39.0        40.0        
16.0        19.0        13.0        13.0        13.0        
10.0        10.0        10.0        13.0        13.0        
7.0          6.0          6.0          6.0          6.0          
-           -           -           -           -           

143.0      148.0      147.0      148.0      151.0      

2.0          2.0          3.0          4.0          4.0          
- - - - - 

1.0          - - - - 
- - - - - 

20.0        20.0        20.0        20.0        21.0        
9.0          17.0        16.0        16.0        16.0        
- - 3.0          3.0          3.0          

32.0        39.0        42.0        43.0        44.0        

175.0      187.0      189.0      191.0      195.0      

Fiscal Year
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Function / Program 2015 2016 2017 2018

Police
Arrests 1,032        1,483        1,016        1,177        
Accident reports 397 474 431 434 
Citations 1,752        2,708        2,013        2,158        
Offense reports 2,423        2,692        1,966        2,360        
Calls for service 27,381      25,290      21,746      24,806      

Fire
Emergency responses 1,191        1,165        1,239        1,697        
Fire incidents 113 76 81 105 
Average response time 3:00 3:00 3:00 3:00

Water
Number of users 7,787 7,789 7,763 7,397
Source surface surface surface surface 
Average daily consumption

(millions of gallons) 2.553 2.600 2.529 2.479
Total consumption (millions of gallons) 932 949 923 864 
Peak daily consumption

(millions of gallons) 6.000 5.000 5.000 5.838

Wastewater
Average daily sewage treatment

(millions of gallons) 2.43 2.20 1.84 2.66 
Total treatment (millions of gallons) 885.0        808.9        614.2        959.4        
Peak daily consumption

(millions of gallons) 3.57 3.81 3.10 4.17 

Source:  Various City departments

Fiscal Year

OPERATING INDICATORS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN YEARS

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS
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TABLE 18

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

888 924 581 421 899 1,061        
368 389 414 444 385 373 

2,819        2,309        2,346        2,755        6,898        7,295        
2,147        2,278        1,945        1,843        1,436        1,466        

22,659      21,728      19,920      18,847      18,960      18,857      

1,757        1,420        1,465        1,405        1,956        2,625        
85 93 86 100 99 73 

4:00 3:30 3:30 3:41 3:52 4:31

7,011 6,897 6,943 6,939 6,862 6,873
surface surface surface surface surface surface

2.438 2.271 2.292 2.578 2.688 2.605
890 833 845 941 981 967 

4.572 4.123 4.652 5.022 5.118 5.108

2.65 2.17 2.55 2.09 1.77 2.29 
969.1        794.0        832.3        762.7        622.5        831.9        

6.56 6.94 9.31 4.51 7.64 13.70        

Fiscal Year
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Function / Program 2015 2016 2017 2018

Police
Stations 1 1 1 1
Patrol units 3 3 3 3

Fire stations

Number of stations 4 4 4 4
Number of stations (operational) 3 3 3 3

Other public works

Streets (miles - centerlines) 134.2 134.2 134.2 134.2
Streetlights 2,050 2,050 2,050 2,050

Parks and recreation

Parks 14 14 14 14
Parks acreage 161.0 161.0 161.0 161.0
Community forest 1 1 1 1
Community forest acreage 900.0 900.0 900.0 900.0
Swimming pools 1 1 1 1

Baseball / softball diamonds 15 15 15 15

Soccer fields 1 1 1 1
Tennis courts 6 6 6 6
Basketball courts 4 4 4 4

Water

Water mains (miles) 123.1 123.1 123.1 123.1
Fire hydrants 990 990 990 990
Storage capacity (millions of gallons) 3.27 3.27 3.27 3.27
Plant capacity (millions of gallons) 9.00          9.00          9.00          9.00          

Sewer

Sanitary sewers (miles) 118.7 118.7 118.7 118.7
Storm sewers (miles) 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0
Treatment capacity (millions of gallons) 4.60 4.60 4.60 4.60

Source: Various City departments

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

CAPITAL ASSET STATISTICS BY FUNCTION/PROGRAM

LAST TEN YEARS

Fiscal Year
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TABLE 19

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

1 1 2 2 2 2
3 3 3 3 3 3

4 4 4 4 4 4
3 3 3 3 3 3

134.2 134.2 134.2 134.2 134.2 134.0
2,050 2,050 2,050 2,050 2,050 2,050

14 14 14 14 14 14
161.0 161.0 161.0 161.0 161.0 161.0

1 1 1 1 1 1
900.0 900.0 900.0 900.0 900.0 900.0

1 1 1 1 1 1

15 15 15 15 15 15

1 1 1 1 1 1
6 6 6 6 6 6
4 4 4 4 4 4

123.1 123.1 123.1 123.1 123.1 123.1
990 990 990 990 990 990

3.27 3.27 3.27 3.27 3.27 3.27
10.00        10.00        10.00        11.00        11.00        11.00        

118.7 118.7 118.7 118.7 118.7 118.7
9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0 9.0

4.60 4.60 4.60 4.60 4.60 4.60

Fiscal Year
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL 
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER 

 MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS 

 
 
Honorable Mayor  
   and Members of City Council 
City of Palestine, Texas  
 
 
 We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standard generally accepted in the United States of 
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued 
by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the 
business-type activities, the discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate 
remaining fund information of the City of Palestine, Texas, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, 
and the related notes to the financial statements which collectively comprise the City of Palestine, Texas’ basic 
financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated June 30, 2025. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 
 
 In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the City of Palestine, 
Texas’ internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Palestine, Texas’ internal 
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Palestine, Texas’ internal 
control. 
 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow 
management or employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect 
and correct misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of 
deficiencies, in internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the 
City of Palestine, Texas’ financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely 
basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less 
severe than a material weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

 
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of 

this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material 
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any 
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses or 
significant deficiencies may exist that were not identified.  
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Report on Compliance and Other Matters 
 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the City of Palestine, Texas’ financial 
statements are free from material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions 
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and 
material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those 
provisions was not an objective of our audit and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results 
of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under 
Government Auditing Standards.  

Purpose of this Report 
 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Palestine, Texas’ internal control and compliance. 
Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose. 

 
Waco, Texas 
June 30, 2025 



 

 

 
 
 
 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND 
REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE UNIFORM 

GUIDANCE 
 
 
Honorable Mayor  
   and Members of City Council 
City of Palestine, Texas  
 
 
Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program 
 
Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 

We have audited the City of Palestine, Texas’ compliance with the types of compliance requirements 
identified as subject to audit in the (OMB) Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect 
on each of the City of Palestine, Texas’ major federal programs for the year ended September 30, 2024. the 
City of Palestine, Texas’ major federal programs are identified in the summary of auditor’s results section of the 
accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.  
 

In our opinion, the City of Palestine, Texas complied, in all material respects, with the compliance 
requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs 
for the year ended September 30, 2024. 
 
Basis for Opinion on Each Major Federal Program 
 

We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America (GAAS); the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the United States (Government Auditing Standards); and the 
audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, 
Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Our responsibilities under those 
standards and the Uniform Guidance are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
Compliance section of our report.  
 

We are required to be independent of the City of Palestine, Texas and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion on compliance for 
each major federal program. Our audit does not provide a legal determination of the City of Palestine, Texas’ 
compliance with the compliance requirements referred to above. 
 
Responsibilities of Management for Compliance 
 

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements referred to above and for the design, 
implementation, and maintenance of effective internal control over compliance with the requirements of laws, 
statutes, regulations, rules and provisions of contracts or grant agreements applicable to the City of Palestine, 
Texas’ federal programs. 
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance 
 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether material noncompliance with the 
compliance requirements referred to above occurred, whether due to fraud or error, and express an opinion on 
the City of Palestine, Texas’ compliance based on our audit. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS, 
Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform Guidance will always detect material noncompliance when it 
exists. The risk of not detecting material noncompliance resulting from fraud is higher than for that resulting 
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control. Noncompliance with the compliance requirements referred to above is considered material, 
if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, it would influence the judgment made 
by a reasonable user of the report on compliance about the City of Palestine, Texas’ compliance with the 
requirements of each major federal program as a whole. 
 

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, Government Auditing Standards, and the Uniform 
Guidance, we: 

 
 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 
 Identify and assess the risks of material noncompliance, whether due to fraud or error, and design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a 
test basis, evidence regarding the City of Palestine, Texas’ compliance with the compliance 
requirements referred to above and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary 
in the circumstances. 

 
 Obtain an understanding of the City of Palestine, Texas’ internal control over compliance relevant 

to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances and to 
test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform Guidance, but 
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the City of Palestine, Texas’ 
internal control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 

the planned scope and timing of the audit and any significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in internal 
control over compliance that we identified during the audit. 
 
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance 
 

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over 
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned 
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal 
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that 
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or 
detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a 
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance 
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over 
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance. 
 

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the 
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of Compliance section above and was not designed to identify all 
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in 
internal control over compliance. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies 
in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses, as defined above. However, 
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in internal control over compliance may exist that were not 
identified. 
 

Our audit was not designed for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal 
control over compliance. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 
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The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our 
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the 
Uniform Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose. 
 
Report on Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 
 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities, the 
discretely presented component unit, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of City 
of Palestine, Texas, as of and for the year ended September 30, 2024, and the related notes to the financial 
statements, which collectively comprise City of Palestine, Texas’ basic financial statements. We issued our report 
thereon dated June 30, 2025, which contained unmodified opinions on those financial statements. Our audit 
was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the 
basic financial statements. The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented for 
purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance) 
and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the 
basic financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit 
of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such 
information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial 
statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with 
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of 
Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole. 
 

 
Waco, Texas 
June 30, 2025 
 
 



Federal Grantor/ Assistance Pass-Through

Pass-Through Grantor/ Listing Entity Identifying Federal

Program Title Number Number Expenditures

U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development

Passed through the Texas Department of Agriculture:

Community Development Block Grant 14.228 CDM22-0147 16,798$         

Community Development Block Grant 14.228 CDV23-0354 6,500             

Total 14.228 23,298           
 

Total Texas Department of Agriculture 23,298           
 

Total U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development 23,298           

U.S. Department of Transportation

Passed through the Texas Department of Transportation:

COVID-19 - Airport Cares Grant Program 20.106 PALS-20CRPALES 69,000           

Click it or Ticket Mobilization Fund Grant 20.616 2024-PALESTINEPD-CIOT 762                

Impaired Driving Mobilization Grant 20.616 2024-PALESTINEPD-IDM 9,646             

Total Highway Safety Cluster 10,408           
 

Total Texas Department of Transportation 79,408           
 

Total U.S. Department of Transportation 79,408           

U.S. Department of Treasury

Passed through the Texas Division of Emergency Management:

COVID-19 - State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund 21.027 N/A 2,000,974      

Total Texas Division of Emergency Management 2,000,974      

Total U.S. Department of Treasury 2,000,974      

Total Expenditures of Federal Awards 2,103,680$     

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024

The accompanying notes are an integral part

of this schedule. 6
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CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 
 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 
1. GENERAL 

 
The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is presented using the modified accrual basis of accounting. 
The modified accrual basis of accounting is described in Note I of the basic financial statements. The 
information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards (Uniform Guidance). Therefore, some of the amounts presented in this schedule may 
differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the financial statements. 

 
 

2. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 

The Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards presents the activity of all applicable federal awards 
programs of the City. The City’s reporting entity is defined in Note I of the basic financial statements. Federal 
awards received directly from federal agencies, as well as awards passed through other government 
agencies, are included on the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards. 

 
 

3. RELATIONSHIP TO FEDERAL FINANCIAL REPORTS 
 

Grant expenditure reports as of September 30, 2024, which have been submitted to grantor agencies will, 
in some cases, differ slightly from amounts disclosed herein. The reports prepared for grantor agencies are 
typically prepared at a later date and often reflect refined estimates of year-end accruals. The reports will 
agree at termination of the grant as the discrepancies noted are timing differences. 

 
 

4. INDIRECT COSTS 
 

The City has not elected to use the de minimis indirect cost rate as allowed in the Uniform Guidance. 
 
 

5. PASS-THROUGH EXPENDITURES 
 

None of the federal programs expended by the City were passed through to subrecipients. 
 



Section I: Summary of the Auditor's Results

Financial Statements:

Type of auditor's report issued: Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

not considered a material weakness? None reported

Noncompliance material to

financial statements noted? No

Federal Awards:

Internal control over major programs:

Material weakness(es) identified? No

Significant deficiency(ies) identified that are

not considered a material weakness? None reported

Type of auditor's report issued on compliance for 

   major federal programs Unmodified

Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be

reported in accordance with 2 CFR 200.516(a)? None

Identification of major federal programs:

Assistance Listing Number(s): Name of Federal Program or Cluster:

21.027 COVID-19 - Coronavirus State and

 Local Fiscal Recovery Funds

The dollar threshold used to distinguish between

type A and type B federal programs. $750,000

Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? No

Section II: Financial Statement Findings

None reported

Section III: Federal Award Findings

None reported

CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024
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CITY OF PALESTINE, TEXAS 
 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2024 
 
 

 
 
None. 
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Agenda Date: July 14, 2025
To: City Council
From: Christophe Trahan, Economic Development Director
Agenda Item: Community Development Grant Performance Agreement between PEDC and ICEE

Success Foundation
Date Submitted: 07/09/2025

SUMMARY:
Consider and take action regarding a Community Development Grant Performance Agreement between
the Palestine Economic Development Corporation and ICEE Success Foundation for a grant not to
exceed $32,000 for architectural services for the Curious Museum expansion project.
 

RECOMMENDED ACTION:
Staff recommends approving a Community Development Grant Performance Agreement between the
Palestine Economic Development Corporation and ICEE Success Foundation for a grant not to exceed
$32,000 for architectural services for the Curious Museum expansion project.
 

CITY MANAGER APPROVAL:

Attachments
ICEE Success Foundation - CDG Application 
ICEE Success Foundation - CDG Performance Agreement 
ICEE Success Foundation - CDG App Narrative 



PALESTINE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

Community Development Grant Application 

IMPORTANT: 

• Please read the “Palestine Community Development Grant Program Guidelines & Criteria ” prior to
completing this application.

• The Grant Guidelines & Criteria and Application are available at www.palestinetexas.net; by calling
903.729.4100 or by emailing edcadmin@palestine-tx.org

• Please call to discuss your plans for submitting an application in advance of completing the form.
Completed application and all supporting documents are required to be submitted electronically for
consideration by the PEDC Board. Please submit the application to:

edcdirector@palestine-tx.org

Applications must be completed in full, using this form, and received by PEDC electronically, or in 

person. 

Funding requested must meet the following criteria: 

Project Grant  
Quality of Life projects that are eligible for 
funding in accordance with the Type B 
sales tax statute (refer to examples in 
Grant Guidelines) and that advance the 
mission of PEDC. 

APPLICATION 

ST: Zip:  

Fax:  Email:  

ORGANIZATION INFORMATION 

Name:    

Federal Tax I.D.:   

Incorporation Date:   

Mailing Address:    

City   

Phone:   

Website:    

http://www.palestinetexas.net/
mailto:eddirector@palestine-tx.org
mailto:eddirector@palestine-tx.org
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Check One: 

 Nonprofit – 501(c)(3) Attach a copy of IRS Determination Letter 
 Governmental entity 
 Other    

Professional affiliations and organizations to which your organization belongs: 

REPRESENTATIVE AUTHORIZED TO COMPLETE / SUBMIT APPLICATION: 

Name:    

Title:    

Mailing Address:    

City: ST: Zip:  

Phone: Fax:  Email:  

DESIGNATED CONTACT FOR COMMUNICATION BETWEEN PEDC AND ORGANIZATION: 

Name:    

Title:    

Mailing Address:    

City: ST: Zip:  

Phone Fax:  Email:  

FUNDING 
Total amount requested:  

Matching Funds Available:  

PROJECT 
Start Date: Completion Date:  



Page 3 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (may be included as an attachment) 

LEADERSHIP STAFF (may be included as an attachment) 

Using the outline below, provide a written narrative no longer than 5 pages in length: 

I. Applying Organization

Describe the mission, strategic goals and objectives, scope of services, day to day operations and number
of paid staff and volunteers.

Disclose and summarize any significant, planned organizational changes and describe their potential
impact on the Project for which funds are requested.

II. Project

• Outline details of the Project for which funds are requested.  Include information regarding scope,
goals, objectives, target audience.

• Describe how the proposed Project fulfills strategic goals and objectives for your organization.

• Please also include planned activities, time frame/schedule, and estimated attendance and admission
fees if applicable.

• Include the location for Project.

• Provide a timeline for the Project.

• Detail goals for growth/expansion in future years.
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Project Grants – please complete the section below: 

• An expansion/improvement?   Yes   No 
• A replacement/repair?   Yes   No 
• A multi-phase project?   Yes   No 

• A new project?   Yes   No 

Has a feasibility study or market analysis been completed for this proposed project?  If so, 

please attach a copy of the Executive Summary. 

Provide specific information to illustrate how this Project aligns with one or more of the goals 
and strategies adopted by Palestine Economic Development Corporation: 

• Eligible for PEDC consideration under Sections 501 to 505 of the Texas Local Government Code (refer
to PEDC Grant Guidelines & Criteria)

• Support cultural, sports, fitness, entertainment and community projects that attract resident and visitor
participation and contribute to quality of life, business development and growth of Palestine sales tax
revenue

• Highlight and promote Palestine as a unique destination for residents and visitors alike

• Meet citizen needs for quality of life improvements, business development and sustainable economic
growth for residents in the City of Palestine

• Demonstrate informed financial planning – addressing long-term costs, budget consequences and
sustainability of projects for which funding is requested

• Educate the community about the impact local dining and shopping has on investment in quality of life
improvements in Palestine

Indicate which goal(s) listed above will be supported by the proposed Project: 

________________________________________________________________________________________ 

Has a request for funding, for this Project, been submitted to PEDC in the past? 

  Yes     No      If yes, list date of submittal: _____________ 

III. Financial

• Provide an overview of the organization’s financial status including the impact of this grant request
on organization mission and goals.

• Please attach your budget for the current year and audited financial statements for the preceding
two years.  If audited financials are not available, please indicate why.

What is the estimated total cost for this Project? 

  $  

(Include a budget for the proposed Project) 
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What percentage of Project funding will be provided by the Applicant? 

Are Matching Funds available?   Yes   No 

Cash $ Source % of Total 

In-Kind $ Source % of Total 

Are other sources of funding available?  If so, please list source and amount. 

Have any other federal, state, or municipal entities or foundations been approached for 
funding?  If so, please list entity, date of request and amount requested. 

IV. Marketing and Outreach
Describe marketing plans and outreach strategies for your organization, for the Project for which you are
requesting funding – and how they are designed to help you achieve current and future goals.

V. Metrics to Evaluate Success

Outline the metrics that will be used to evaluate success of the proposed Project.  If funding is awarded,
a final report will be required summarizing success in achieving objectives outlined for the event.

Acknowledgements 

If funding is approved by the PEDC board of directors, Applicant will assure: 

• The Project for which financial assistance is sought will be administered by or under the supervision

of the applying organization;

• All funds awarded will be used exclusively for the purpose described in this application;

• PEDC will be recognized in all marketing, outreach, advertising and public relations as a funder of the
Project.  Specifics to be agreed upon by applicant and PEDC and included in an executed performance
agreement;

• Organization’s officials who have signed the application are authorized by the organization to submit
the application;

• Applicant will comply with the PEDC Grant Guidelines in executing the Project for which funds were
received.

• A final report detailing the success of the Project, as measured against identified metrics, will be
provided to PEDC no later than 30 days following the completion of the Project.

• An Applicant may submit a request for a partial reimbursement during the course of the Project but
prior to the Project’s final completion. Requests for partial reimbursement received prior to final
Project completion may not exceed 80% of the total approved Project grant amount. Requests for
partial reimbursement submitted to the PEDC must be accompanied by copies of paid
invoices/receipts and proof of payment and release of liens. Once verified, PEDC Board approval will
be required before payment is delivered to the Applicant. The remaining 20% of the grant proceeds
may be paid to the Applicant following the PEDC’s receipt of all paid invoices/receipts, proof of
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payment and release of liens; documentation of fulfillment of obligations to PEDC, including the 
Applicant’s final report on the Project. 

• The required performance agreement will contain a provision certifying that the applicant does not

and will not knowingly employ an undocumented worker in accordance with Chapter 2264 of the

Texas Government Code, as amended.  Further, should the applicant be convicted of a violation

under 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(f), the applicant will be required to repay the amount of the public subsidy

provided under the agreement plus interest, at an agreed to interest rate, not later than the 120th

day after the date the PEDC notifies the applicant of the violation.

We certify that all figures, facts and representations made in this application, 

including attachments, are true and correct to the best of our knowledge. 

Chief Executive Officer Representative Completing Application 

____________________________________  ______________________________________ 
Signature Signature 

Printed Name Printed Name 

Date Date 

INCOMPLETE APPLICATIONS, OR THOSE RECEIVED AFTER THE DEADLINE, WILL NOT BE 
CONSIDERED. 

CHECKLIST: 
Completed Application: 

  Use the form/format provided 

  Organization Description 

  Outline of Project; description, goals and objectives 

  Indicate PEDC goal(s) that will be supported by this Project 

  Project timeline and location 

  Plans for marketing and outreach 

  Evaluation metrics  

  List of board of directors and staff 

Attachments: 

  Financials: organization’s budget for current fiscal year; Project budget; audited financial statements 

  Feasibility Study or Market Analysis if completed (Executive Summary) 

  IRS Determination Letter (if applicable) 

A FINAL REPORT IS TO BE PROVIDED TO PEDC WITHIN 30 DAYS OF THE PROJECT COMPLETION.  

FINAL PAYMENT OF FUNDING AWARDED WILL BE MADE UPON RECEIPT OF FINAL REPORT. 

PLEASE USE THE FORM/FORMAT OUTLINED ON THE NEXT PAGE. 

Melissa Temple
Sticky Note
Needs Org Budget showing staff payroll, audited financials.
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PALESTINE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION 

 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANT 

Final Report 

Organization:   

Funding Amount:   

Project:    

Start Date:    Completion Date:  

Location of Project:  

Please include the following in your report: 

• Narrative report on the Project
• Identify goals and objectives achieved
• Financial report – budget as proposed and actual expenditures, with explanations for any variance
• Samples of printed marketing and outreach materials
• Screen shots of online promotions
• Photographs, videos, etc.
• Performance against metrics outlined in application

Please submit Final Report no later than 30 days following the completion of the Project: 

Palestine Economic Development Corporation 
100 Willow Creek Pkwy., Suite A 
Palestine, TX 75801 

Attn: Christophe Trahan, Director of Economic 
Development edcdirector@palestine-tx.org  

mailto:eddirector@palestine-tx.org
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COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANT 

FUNDING AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 
 

 

THIS COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT GRANT FUNDING AND PERFORMANCE AGREEMENT 

(the “Agreement”) is entered into by and between Palestine Economic Development Corporation (the 

“PEDC”), a Texas non-profit corporation and Type B Economic Development Corporation, whose address 

is 100 Willow Creek Pkwy. Suite A, Palestine, Texas 75801, and the ICEE Success Foundation 

(“Applicant”), whose address is 2718 Timberline Trail, Palestine, TX 75803. 

RECITALS 

1. PEDC is an Economic Development Corporation, organized under the Texas Development 

Corporation Act of 1979, Article 5190.6, Sec. 4B of Vernon’s Texas Civil Statutes, now Section 501 et seq. 

of the Texas Local Government Code (the “Act”), and authorized by the City of Palestine, Texas (the “City”). 

 

2. ICEE Success Foundation is a nonprofit 501c3 corporation, an eligible applicant under the 

Guidelines and Criteria for the Community Development Grant Program. 

 

3. PEDC created the Community Development Grant Program (the “Grant Program”) to 

enhance the quality of life in the City of Palestine and advance the mission of the PEDC which is, in part, 

to provide the leadership and resources to successfully compete for jobs and enhance community wealth. 

 

4. Applicant submitted its Application dated July 1, 2025, for a Community Development 

Grant (“Application”), which is attached hereto as Exhibit “A”. 

 

5. The project which is the subject of this Agreement is the architectural design w o r k  

n e c e s s a r y  f o r  a n  e x p a n s i o n  o f  t h e  C u r i o u s  M u s e u m  l o c a t e d  a t  6 1 9  W  O a k  S t  

w i t h i n  t h e  c i t y  l i m i t s  o f  P a l e s t i n e  (the “Project”). Applicant plans to make a total investment 

of Thirty-Two Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($32,000.00) for the Project. PEDC has found that 

Applicant’s Project will attract resident and visitor participation and contribute to the quality of life & 

business/workforce development which will ultimately add value to the tax rolls of Palestine and other local 

taxing entities. 

6. The PEDC finds the Project is an authorized project under Texas Local Government Code 

505.152 (Museums) and will promote new and expanded business development pursuant to Texas 

Local Government Code 505.158. 

7. The PEDC published general notice of the Project in the Palestine Herald on December 12, 

2024, as required by Texas Local Government Code 505.160. 

8. The PEDC board of directors has approved a grant and funding to the Applicant in an 

amount not to exceed Thirty-Two Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($32,000.00) in Project-related 

expenses. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of mutual covenants and agreements contained herein and 

other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, 

Applicant and the PEDC agree as follows: 
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FUNDING AND PERFORMANCE 

 
1. Agreement to Fund Project: The PEDC agrees to provide the Applicant an amount up to 

and not to exceed $32,000.00 in 4B Revenues to be used to facilitate the Project. 

2. Agreement to Perform: The Applicant agrees to complete the approved Project within one 

year of the execution of the Agreement. The Applicant agrees to recognize the PEDC as a sponsor and 

financial contributor of the Project in all advertising, publicity, and promotional materials, using verbiage 

that identifies the PEDC as a financial contributor to the Project. 

 

3. Project Administration: The Applicant agrees that it will administer or supervise the 

administration of the Project in compliance with the PEDC Community Development Grant Program 

Guidelines absent slight deviations which are hereby approved. 

 

4. No Undocumented Workers: The Applicant agrees that it does not and will not knowingly 

employ an undocumented worker in accordance with Chapter 2264 of the Texas Government Code, as 

amended. Further, should the Applicant be convicted of a violation under 8 U.S.C. § 1324a(f), the Applicant 

will be required to repay the amount of the grant (a public subsidy) provided under the Agreement plus 

interest, at an agreed rate, not later than the 120th day after the date the PEDC notifies the Applicant of the 

violation. 

5. Payments Due: The PEDC will tender the Grant of $32,000.00 to the Applicant upon 

Applicant request for reimbursement of its Project-related expenses only after approval of this performance 

agreement by the City Council of the City of Palestine at its open meeting on July 14, 2025. Up to 80% of 

the total approved Project grant amount may be requested for reimbursement during the course of the 

Project but prior to the final Project completion. Requests for partial reimbursement submitted to the PEDC 

must be accompanied by copies of paid invoices/receipts and proof of payment. The remaining 20% of 

grant proceeds may be paid to Applicant following the PEDC’s receipt of all paid invoices/receipts, proof 

of payment and release of liens; documentation of fulfillment of obligations to PEDC, including the 

Applicant’s final report on the Project. 

 

6. Use of Grant Payment: All funds tendered to the Applicant under this Agreement will be 

used exclusively for the purposes described in the Application. 

 

7. Claw Back: If all or a portion of the Grant funds received by the Applicant are not actually 

used for the Project or not used in accordance with the terms of this agreement or Guidelines, the Applicant 

must return those Grant funds to the PEDC. 

 

8. Severability: The provisions of this agreement are severable, and if for any reason a 

provision of this Agreement is determined to be invalid by a court having competent jurisdiction over the 

subject matter of the invalid provision, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions that can be given 

effect without the invalid provision. Further, in lieu of such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision, 

there will be added automatically as a part of this Agreement, a provision as similar in its terms to such 

illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision as may be possible and be legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 

9. Applicable Law: This Agreement is governed by and construed in accordance with the laws 

of the State of Texas. The Agreement is entered into and fully performable within Anderson County, Texas. 

The Parties agree that venue for any cause of action arising pursuant to the Agreement is proper only in 

Anderson County, Texas. 

 

10. Interpretation: Each party has had the opportunity to be represented by counsel of its choice 

in negotiating this Agreement. This Agreement will therefore be deemed to have been negotiated and 

prepared at the joint request, direction, and construction of the Parties, at arm’s length, with the advice and 

participation of counsel, and will be interpreted in accordance with its terms without favor to any Party. 
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11. No Joint Venture: Nothing contained in this Agreement is intended by the Parties to create 

a partnership or joint venture between any or all of the Parties. 

 

12. Parties in Interest: Nothing in this Agreement shall entitle any Party other than PEDC or 

Applicant to any claim, cause of action, remedy, or right of any term of this Agreement. 

 

13. Survival of Terms: All rights, duties, liabilities, and obligations accrued prior to 

termination will survive termination. 

 

14. Entire Agreement: This Agreement represents the entire agreement of the Parties with 

respect to the subject matter hereof. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have executed this Agreement in the year and as of the date 

indicated. 

 

Executed on the date shown opposite the signature of each party. 

 

For the Applicant(s): 

 

ICEE Success Foundation 

 

By   Date   

Lucinda Presley, Executive Director 

 

 

For the PEDC: 

 

Palestine Economic Development Corporation 

 

By   Date   

Dan Bochsler, Board President 

 

 

For the City: 

 

City of Palestine 

 

By   Date   

Mitchell Jordan, Mayor 
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Curious Museum 
Promoting Creative and Innovative Thinking at the Intersections of the Sciences and Art 

 
Awarded 2024 Palestine Nonprofit of the Year by Chamber of Commerce 

 
I. Applying Organization 

a. Describe the mission, strategic goals and objectives, scope of services, day to day 
operations and number of paid staff and volunteers. 

 
• Curious Mission  

o Mission. Engage youth and adults in fun, engaging, and informative STEAM* exhibits and 
experiences that promote creative and innovative thinking to help facilitate both academic 
and workforce success. *STEAM: Sciences, Technology, Engineering, the Arts, and Math 

• Curious Strategic Goals, Objectives, and Rationale  
o According to national researchers, the future of local, state, and national economies rests 

on the abilities of their workforces to innovate. Curious and its parent institution, ICEE 
Success Foundation, address this need through igniting curiosity, imagination, and 
problem solving in exhibits, programming, curriculum development, teacher professional 
development, research, and collaboration with local, state, national, and international 
partners. They focus on the STEAM intersections with creative (novel idea) and 
innovative (taking the novel idea to application) thinking. They leverage their director’s 
over 25 years’ STEAM experience in the arts, STEM, and STEAM worlds and her 
recognition nationally as a STEAM leader. 

o Curious also accomplishes its goals by being an integral part of a vibrant and successful 
STEAM ecosystem. In this, it works under the umbrella of ICEE Success Foundation, a 
local 501(c)3 nonprofit. It also is a test bed for The Innovation Collaborative, a coalition of 
national arts, STEM, and higher ed. institutions. All entities are legally based in Palestine.  

• History 
o Curious is an outgrowth of a pop-up STEAM exhibit exploring the future of architecture 

from the famous Living Architecture project at the University of Waterloo, Toronto, 
Canada. After the Beesley exhibit, teachers requested hands-on experiences for the 
students. Thus, Curious was developed in collaboration with the Exploratorium in San 
Francisco, CA, an international leader in STEAM museums and opened for 3 months in 
2015 in a downtown location with an option to purchase the building. However, a number 
of factors made purchasing impossible. Palestine ISD then offered a portable building, 
into which Curious moved until April, 2024. Despite an exhaustive search, no building 
that matched Curious’ capacity had been procured, so Curious went into storage.  

o Next, a building whose owners were supportive of Curious’ mission was offered for lease 
with an option to purchase. That is the building and property in which we reopened in 
October, 2024, and are very excited to be able now to redesign it for the future. 

o In this new location, Curious expanded from being open 1 day a week to being open 3 
days a week with plans on being opened at least 5 days a week in the future. 

 
 
 

mailto:https://www.iceesuccess.org/
mailto:https://www.innovationcollaborative.org/
mailto:https://www.philipbeesleystudioinc.com/project/living-architecture-systems/
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• Scope of Services 
o Curious is open to the public and features field trips, summer camps, birthday parties, 

afterschool programs, a museum store, family days and other programs, in addition to 
group visits, and evening events geared to adults around science, tech, and art.   

o Since its reopening in October, 2024, Curious’ attendance has increased 252%. This 
includes, for example, a 120% increase in birthday parties.  

o Field trips are popular. For example, Tyler ISD’s Caldwell Arts Academy 1st grade comes 
yearly and says it is better than the museum in Tyler. 

o Vsitors come from:  
▪ E. TX Counties: Anderson, Angelina, Bowie, Cherokee, Henderson, Nacogdoches, 

Smith, Wood 
▪ TX Counties: Austin, Bell, Bexar, Brazoria, Brewster, Burnet, Collin, Cooke, 

Denton, Ellis, Freestone, Ft. Bend, Galveston, Hardin, Harris, Hidalgo, Hunt, 
Jefferson, Leon, Limestone, McClennan, Montgomery, Nueces, Orange, Tarrant, 
Tom Green, Travis, Washington, Wharton, Williamson 

• Day to Day Operations 
o Days and Hours Open: Friday – Sunday, 10-3 
o Curious staff man the Visitors Services desk, facilitate exhibits, and help lead field trips 
o Please see addendum for senior staff and their duties. 
o Visitor Services staff and educators and their areas of expertise include: Sheryl Davis 

(environmental studies), Brittny Knight (nursing – life science), Kylee Knight (visual art, 
homeschool), Beulah Williams (special needs youth), Jaci Willis (nursing – life science) 

• Number of Paid Staff and Volunteers 
o Paid regular staff: 9 
o Paid seasonal staff (camps, etc.): 3 
o Volunteers: 15 (including staff that volunteer time and excluding Board members) 

 
b. Disclose and summarize any significant, planned organizational changes and describe 

their potential impact on the Project for which funds are requested. 

• Organizational Changes 
o Changes 

▪ The organizational changes that Curious needed were accomplished when we 
reopened in October, 2024. This included a new Operations Manager and new 
Innovation and Outreach Manager, along with new Visitor Services/Education staff. 
We also have added a maintenance staff person to oversee the physical plant and 
surroundings. We plan to add more staff, including a Programming Manager to 
oversee programs. Though she is not technically a staff person, the Curious 
contractor and exhibit fabricator, Kim Keplar, has worked closely with Curious ED 
and staff from the beginning and will continue to do so going forward. 

o Impact 
▪ The impact on the Project being proposed is significant, for the increased staff will 

be able to effectively implement all the changes being brought about by the Project. 
 

II. Project 
• Outline details of the Project for which funds are requested. Include information 

regarding scope, goals, objectives, target audience. 
o Scope 

▪ The Project will occur in July - August, 2025. It will include the following 
deliverables by the architect: architectural program, drawings, renderings, and 
conceptual narrative. 
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o Goals and Objectives 
▪ Develop effective architectural program, drawings, renderings, and conceptual 

narrative to enable Curious to embark on its fundraising campaign and also 
develop the property it is on effectively. 

o Target Audience 
▪ Feasibility study participants, target donors, public donors in the public portion 

of the campaign, and the public. 

• Describe how the proposed Project fulfills strategic goals and objectives for your 
organization. 
o Local Needs. The new Curious facility will provide what is needed by the local 

community. The first step has been to have the Curious Board and staff meet with the 
architect to provide a comprehensive “wish list” of what that could entail. The ICEE 
Success Foundation Board of Directors has voted to support his process in creating a 
new Curious facility and associated exhibit and programming advances. 

o Permanent Facility Need. This Project is central to fulfilling Curious’ strategic goals and 
objectives by providing a facility that can provide fun, engaging, and educational exhibits 
and learning experiences for youth and adults in from Palestine and beyond.  

o Location Need. After an extensive search, Curious has found the perfect spot for its 
museum, thanks to the gracious collaboration of owners Jodi and Rob Trout. The 
advantages of this location are: 1) Being close to downtown and thus able to participate 
in all community events; 2) having significant open space for STEM activities such as 
launching paper rockets; 3) having “green space” where we can engage youth in life 
science through gardens; 4) being located in the influential space being created by the 
Main Street project; and 5) being centrally located and easy to find by visitors. 

o Physical Facility Need. While the property is exactly what Curious needs for its 
permanent location, the buildings need considerable work to constitute a permanent 
museum. Since the Curious ED has worked in the museum world in both small and large 
museums for the last 25 years locally, statewide, and nationally, she has a good sense of 
what is needed. She has brought in well-known museum and other Out-of-School Time 
collaborators to help envision what would be the most beneficial ways for Curious to 
move forward. The first step is creating an engaging museum that supports community 
needs. The next step is providing exciting and engaging museum and visitor experiences 
that attract visitors from outside Palestine. 

o Workforce Development Need. The framework that underpins Curious and ICEE 
Success Foundation is creative and innovative thinking to deliver academic and 
workforce success. The first priority of the building campaign will be to build an 
Innovation Gallery, in collaboration with local inventing firm PCDWorks. This Gallery will 
consist of: 1) a hands-on exhibit space explaining the innovation and inventing process; 
2) a makerspace where visitors can implement creative and innovative thinking to solve 
problems and create. The Curious ED has a colleague at the Smithsonian (in DC) who 
could help collaborate with the Smithsonian’s Lemelson initiative for innovation. 

o STEAM Need. In order for STEAM to be successful, there needs to be engaging spaces 
to provide effective experiences to promote creative and innovative experiences though 
STEAM. This will be accomplished through local, regional, state, and national STEAM 
collaborations. The Curious ED is the leader of a large National Science Foundation-
funded STEAM Out-of-School Time (OST) grant that is in the process of being 
completed. Comprised of 70 STEAM “rock star” researchers and practitioners across the 
US, it determined, for the first time, where STEAM is in OST and where it should head 
next. In this new location, Curious will be perfectly positioned to be a test bed and also a 
driving force for next steps. 
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•  Please also include planned activities, time frame/schedule, and estimated attendance and 
admission fees if applicable. 

o Planned Activities Relevant to Project and Timeframe. In order to realize our goal of 
a new, engaging, and effective STEAM museum, here are the relevant activities for the 
project:  

▪ Assess Community Needs - this was accomplished through interviews with a 
number of community leaders who became collaborators – see Excel list – 2024-25 

▪ Assess Board and Staff Needs - this was accomplished in meetings with them and 
through the meeting with the architect – May-June, 2025 

▪ Architect Complete Architectural Program Drawings And Renderings – the architect 
is working on those as we speak – June- August, 2025 

▪ Launch Feasibility Study – To be conducted by Patrick Willis of Patrick Willis 
Strategic Consulting and Paul Dunne of the Nonprofit Group, both highly respected 
fundraisers, this study will interview 35-50 local leaders to ascertain the feasibility of 
this project. The architect’s drawings are central to being able to determine the 
exact cost of the architectural program we plan – September – November, 2025 

▪ Conduct Silent Fundraising Campaign – This phase hopes to raise 80% of the 
fundraising goal – December – August, 2026 

▪ Conduct Public Fundraising Campaign – This phase hopes to raise the remaining 
20% of the goal – September, 2025 - ~April, 2026. 

• Include the location for Project. 
o 619 W. Oak 

• Detail goals for growth/expansion in future years  
o The project construction will be phased and staged through the coming years. However, 

that phasing and timeline is in the process of being determined. 

 

Has a feasibility study or market analysis been completed for this proposed project?  
• A feasibility study by the above-named fundraising professionals will begin as soon as we have 

the architect’s drawings and are able to determine the exact cost of construction. 
 
Provide specific information to illustrate how this Project aligns with one or more of the 
goals and strategies adopted by Palestine Economic Development Corporation:  
 

Below are ways in which this Project will align with and support PEDC goals and strategies. 
 

• Support cultural, sports, fitness, entertainment and community projects that attract resident 
and visitor participation and contribute to quality of life, business development and growth of 
Palestine sales tax revenue 

Helping Prepare Local Workforce 
• Please see Project - Workforce Development Need above. 

 
Providing Cultural Entertainment 

• Arts 
o Curious has a rich cultural component through its Arts focus. We are finding, through 

research, that not only is science often better understood through its intersection with arts 
content (such as color, line, shape, texture, space, etc.) and arts habits of mind (such as  
envisioning, imagination, risk-taking, persistence, and self-confidence) but the art also 
increases engagement in STEM (Science, Technology, Engineering and Math). Each 
Curious science themed area has an artist displayed who used those scientific principles, 
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such as Forces and Motion – sculptor Alexander Calder, and Light and Color – 
Impressionist Claude Monet. 

o Additionally, in its new location, Curious will build on its ED’s years as education staff at 
an art museum to bring in art exhibits and experiences for the local community and 
visiting public. Associated with that will be cultural events and programming. The Curious 
ED’s ties with the Texas Commission on the Arts will help facilitate that. 

• Museum 
o Having a high-quality STEAM museum in Palestine will enhance the quality of life of its 

residents through its exhibits, programming, and educational opportunities. It also will 
attract businesses which want to move to a location that has quality experiences for its 
workforce.  

 
Providing Community Projects 

• As Curious expands, it can provide local community projects. Examples could include these 
topics with respected speakers and programming around: Well-being, storytelling of the 
community history, and advances in healthcare. 
 

• Highlight and promote Palestine as a unique destination for residents and visitors alike 

Developing Tourism 
• Curious will help put Palestine on the map as a tourist destination through its physical facility, 

its exhibits, its programming, and its partnerships. The first step to accomplish this is creating 
an engaging and exciting physical facility.  

• The Curious Board has hired highly respected architect Janann Pittman from the Jackson & 
Ryan Architectural firm in Houston. She came very highly recommended by a colleague of 
many years, Cheryl McCallum, Chief Strategy Officer at the Children’s Museum Houston 
(CMH). Cheryl has been instrumental the physical expansion of CMH. 

• There is no museum in East Texas, we have been told, that can meet Curious’ high standards, 
engagement, and learning. Enhancing Curious through its building program will serve to 
increase attendance and visits to Palestine through its excellence. 

 
• Meet citizen needs for quality of life improvements, business development and sustainable 
economic growth for residents in the City of Palestine 

Helping Revitalize the Downtown Area 
• Having a new, vibrant, and exciting STEAM museum in the downtown area could help 

revitalize the Palestine downtown area. This could bring more local citizens and visitors to the 
downtown area. Linking Curious with the current Main Street project will contribute to that. This 
also could lead to business development in the downtown area. 

 
Providing Education 

• Since all Curious exhibits are based on scaffolded K-12 state science standards, it is a field 
trip destination. With the new buildings, exhibits, and programming, it will not only even more 
effectively serve the local school district needs but also will draw even more out-of-town field 
trips that could raise Palestine’s footprint. 

 
Enhancing Quality of Life 

• Through all of the above, the quality of life in Palestine can be increased by Curious’ building 
program and the attendant advances in exhibits, programming, and community involvement. 
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